ANNUAL REPORT

OF THE

ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

1938



UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON: 1938

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, Washington, D. C. - - Price 15 cents (paper cover)

• .

CONTENTS

List of tables
Letter of transmittal
Introduction Medical treatment and domiciliary care:
Hospitalization
Hospitalization Domiciliary care
Hospital and domiciliary facilities
Future hospital and domiciliary construction
Operating and per diem costs for hospital and domiciliary facilities_
Physical examinations and out-patient treatment.
Dental activities
Pensions and compensation:
Veterans
Dependents
Summary
Retirement of emergency officers of the World War
Insurance
Finance
Legal activities:
Legislation
Interpretative law
Guardianship
Appeals
Personnel
Statistical tables
Index

C

• .

LIST OF TABLES FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT, FISCAL YEAR 1938

MEDICAL AND DOMICILIARY TABLES

Tabl	le	Page
1.	Clinical laboratory tests and X-ray examinations, fiscal years 1924-38.	43
2.	Out-patient medical service, by service rendered, fiscal years 1924-38 Number of out-patient treatments divided into medical and dental,	43
0.	salary and fee, with percent of fee, fiscal years 1924-38	43
4.	Number of out-patient examinations divided into medical and dental, salary and fee, with percent of fee, fiscal years 1924–38	43 44
5.	Admissions of United States veterans for hospital treatment and domi- ciliary care, fiscal years 1920-38	44
6.	Patients admitted for hospital treatment or domiciliary care during fiscal year 1938, by class of beneficiary, groups of hospitals and type of patient	45
7.	Domiciliary and hospital admissions of United States veterans by branch of service, type of patient, sex and color, fiscal year 1938	46
8.	Beneficiaries remaining under hospital treatment or domiciliary care June 30, 1938, by class of beneficiary, groups of hospitals, and type	40
9.	of patient United States veterans remaining under hospital treatment or domicili- ary care June 30, 1938, by State location of facility or hospital, and	
10	veterans' reported State of residence	48
	United States veterans remaining under hospital treatment or domi- ciliary care, by sex and color, at end of each fiscal year 1919-38	52
11.	United States veterans remaining under hospital treatment at the end of each fiscal year, by type of disease, showing those hospitalized for service connected and nonservice-connected disabilities, 1919-38	52
12.	Domiciliary and hospital discharges of United States veterans, showing results of hospital treatment, and type of patient, fiscal year 1938	53
		•••
	PENSION AND COMPENSATION TABLES	
13.	Number of living veterans who were receiving monetary benefits, and	
	the number of deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving	
	monetary benefits, by wars, at the end of each fiscal year 1910-38	54
14.	Statement showing the average annual value of monetary benefits,	
	exclusive of insurance and adjusted compensation, by wars, at the end of each fiscal year 1910-38	58
15.	Statement showing, by wars and by public and special acts, the number of living veterans who were receiving monetary benefits, the number of deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving monetary	
	benefits, and the aggregate annual value of these benefits on June 30,	50
16	1938 World War compensation—Service-connected active disability awards;	59
10.	comparative analysis of type of major disability, by extent of dis- ability at the end of each fiscal year 1923-38	60
17.	World War compensation—Service-connected active disability awards; extent of disability and degree of impairment correlated with classi-	00
18.	fication of major disability showing number of disabled veterans and monthly value of awards, as of June 30, 1938	62
	number of disabled veterans rated on a temporary basis showing	
	those receiving additional compensation for dependents, and number of dependents, as of June 30, 1938	64
10	VENCERCENCERS, 38 OF JULY AVEL 1933	
	World War veterans receiving pensions for nonservice-connected dis-	01

v

1

LIST OF TABLES

Tabl		Page
20.	World War and regular establishment veterans and dependents of deceased veterans receiving compensation or pension benefits, showing number of cases on which insurance payments are also	64
21.	being made, as of June 30, 1938	65
22.	impairment, as of June 30, 1938 Spanish-American War veterans receiving pensions for nonservice-	
	connected disabilities as of June 30, 1938	66
	Regular establishment service-connected active disability pension awards; degree of impairment correlated with classification of major disability showing number of disabled veterans and monthly value of awards, as of June 30, 1938.	67
24.	Age groups of World War, Spanish-American War, and regular estab- lishment veterans in receipt of compensation and pension benefits, as of June 30, 1938	70
25.	Terminations of compensation or pension disability awards, showing	70
	reasons for terminations during fiscal year 1938 World War compensation, service and nonservice-connected active death awards; number of deceased veterans whose dependents are receiving compensation, showing class of beneficiary and number of demoderts are of June 20, 1938	71
27.	dependents, as of June 30, 1938	71
28.	end of each fiscal year 1923-38	72
	Regular establishment pensions, active death awards; number of deceased veterans whose dependents are receiving pensions, showing class of beneficiary and number of dependents, as of June 30, 1938	73 74
	reasons for terminations during fiscal year 1938	74
	RETIREMENT OF EMERGENCY OFFICERS' TABLE	
31.	Emergency Officers entitled to retirement with pay as of June 30, 1938, classified by organization and rank	75
	ADJUSTED COMPENSATION TABLES	
32.	Number of applications for adjusted compensation received by fiscal years from September 1924 to June 30, 1938	76
33.	Action taken on applications for adjusted compensation to June 30, 1938	76
34.	Dependency death claims awarded on account of adjusted compensa- tion, showing beneficiary as of June 30, 1938	77
	INSURANCE TABLES	
35.	Number of United States Government term and converted insurance claims awarded by fiscal years from October 1917 to June 30, 1938.	77
36.	Term and automatic insurance—active disability and death awards, as of June 30, 1938	78
	Term and automatic insurance terminated disability and death	78
3 8.	Converted insurance claims awarded and terminated during the calendar year 1937, by plan of insurance Report of United States Government life insurance in force December	79
39.	Report of United States Government life insurance in force December	81
40.	31, 1937 Report of United States Government life insurance in force by plan as of December 31, 1937	81

FINANCE TABLES

Tabl		
		Page
41.	Analysis of reported obligations from all appropriations, by purpose, fiscal year 1938	81
	Appropriations and other receipts versus disbursements to June 30, 1938	83
43.	Disbursements made by Veterans' Administration, former Veterans' Bureau, National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, and Pension Bureau, for all wars and Regular Establishment, and annuities and refunds to civil employees under civil service and Canal Zone Retirement Acta	86
44.	An approximate distribution of expenditures by States during fiscal year 1938, showing the number of beneficiaries, as of June 30, 1938_	93
45.	An approximate distribution of expenditures by United States posses- sions and foreign countries during the fiscal year 1938, showing number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938	101
46.	Policy loans—United States Government life insurance fund—Sum- mary for fiscal year 1938.	101
47.	Financial statement of the United States Government life insurance fund by calendar years from origin of fund to December 31, 1937	106
	GUARDIANSHIP TABLES	
48. 49.	Incompetent and minor wards under guardianship—June 30, 1938 Summary of fiduciary accounts, guardians' commissions and attorneys'	108
	fees, for fiscal year 1938.	109

CONSTRUCTION TABLES

50.	Statement showing, by location, the hospital and domiciliary beds under the control of the Veterans' Administration at the close of the fiscal years 1937 and 1938, and the authorized or proposed development of facilities under present appropriations through the	
51.	fiscal year 1940	111 114
	BOARD OF APPEALS TABLE	
52.	Analysis of actions taken on cases disposed of by Board of Veterans'	

14.	Analysis of actions taken on cases disposed of by Board of Veterans	
	Appeals July 3, 1937, through July 2, 1938	121

]

• .

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

JANUARY 3, 1939.

To the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives of the Seventy-sixth Congress:

Pursuant to the provisions of section 6 (c) of the act of July 3, 1930 (Public, No. 536, 71st Cong.), I have the honor to submit the following report of activities of the Veterans' Administration for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1938.

This, the Eighth Annual Report of the Veterans' Administration, reveals through its text the current status of veterans' activities and a summary of new legislation relative thereto. These data are supplemented by statistical tabulations showing in most instances a year by year analysis of each benefit since its origin.

Respectfully,

FRANK T. HINES, Administrator.

• .

ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1938

INTRODUCTION

With the close of this fiscal year of 1938 nearly 20 years have elapsed since the armistice of November 11, 1918. These intervening years have witnessed the birth of a new pension and insurance system for the veterans of the World War; the initiation, development, and termination of a vocational training program; the allowance and payment of adjusted compensation; the inauguration of pensions for the World War group through disability allowance and its subsequent curtailment; the development of a vast hospital program; the enactment, modification, revocation, and simplification of laws governing veterans' relief and changes in organization and practices; experiments, some of them, tried in the fire of experience—efforts, all of them, to meet the problem of some four million men and women who gave their youth to the service of their country and from that service through subsequent years finding themselves in need of assistance, which a Nation has gratefully extended.

The days of experiments in World War veterans' legislation have passed with the increased knowledge gained through the years of the scope and importance of this problem. Perhaps some few inequalities and inconsistencies still exist to be eliminated, but for the most part it appears as the twentieth anniversary of the armistice approaches that, at least for those veterans who were disabled in service, their benefits and rights have been fixed and their security within these rights assured.

But there remains the problem of what security or promise of livelihood may be given aside from medical care to that great number of living veterans of the World War who were not disabled in service and who may not come within the scope of benefits accorded by the Social Security Act.

With the average age of World War veterans increasing year by year, with resultant disability, diminishing earning power, and employment opportunity, impetus is naturally given to movements designed to afford them increased security. So we find throughout the deliberations of veteran groups and among those interested in veterans' affairs, proposals made and questions raised regarding service pensions for the World War veteran group, and as employment opportunity seems increasingly denied to our male citizens over 40, there is heard a rallying cry of jobs or pensions. Such a slogan is natural to any group concerned with their economic independence, as is their expectation that steps be taken to provide reasonable assistance and security for those among them who need care and livelihood.

1

For those veterans who now or who later will need care, the Federal Government has with increasing celerity provided, or approved plans for providing, adequate hospital and domiciliary facilities. We look to there being available 100,000 beds within perhaps 10 years. This is the construction goal, and this number it is believed will suffice to meet needs within our present laws. No greater benefit has been provided for our veterans than that of hospitalization, providing as it does excellent care when one is ill or can no longer carry on. It is well known that under the pressure of adverse economic conditions, hospitalization and domiciliary care increase.

There should be no impairment to the progress of this provision, but in providing and maintaining a service of such widely recognized value to those who benefit from it a material cost factor must necessarily be involved. As an example, our experience shows that the average cost of providing a bed through the construction of a new hospital approximates \$4,000, to equip it \$400, and to operate it about \$950 a year. Thus in the accomplishment of the future program of hospitalization and hospital construction extensive and increasing expenditures will annually be involved.

It is believed that through the development of the present extensive hospitalization program and with a vigorously pursued campaign for the development and maintenance of employment opportunity for veterans not now successfully employed, much can be done to relieve any economic stringency which may obtain among our less-fortunate World War veterans and thus make less important any contemporary consideration among these veterans for an extension of other forms of benefit, any program for which it is generally recognized should be approached most carefully. Surely any material additional benefits which may be sought will be considered in the light of benefits already granted. By all means it is important that the Federal program of veterans' hospitalization be protected and, therefore, it is incumbent upon all those interested, whether they be Federal agencies, service organizations, or civic groups, to bend every effort to meet the economic needs which will increasingly obtain among World War veterans by getting them and keeping them in employment consistent with their several capacities. Employment opportunity today is the most important problem in veterans' relief.

Organization.—Throughout this year there was continued the policy of consolidating field activities when this was possible without impairment from the standpoint of savings in operating costs. Of the 54 regional offices established under authority contained in the World War Veterans' Act of 1924, 36 have been consolidated with hospitals or homes, and during this year several additional mergers were authorized for future accomplishment. In addition, consolidation has been effected in the supply activities at seven stations, in finance activities at two, and in medical activities at one. It is roughly estimated that a saving of approximately 10 percent in operating costs is obtained in combining regional offices with hospitals or homes, and in total this recurring annual saving is of considerable amount. These savings are reflected largely in such items as salaries, miscellaneous medical fee services, supplies, telephone service, rentals, and miscellaneous contract services. The Administration is able to give equal or better service at combined facilities, with a minimum of administrative expense, because of the more extensive activities which are

immediately available to the veteran, especially in connection with his physical examination.

Decentralization.—In order to further take the service of the Government to its veteran claimants, in 1921 there was decentralized to the then district offices of the Veterans' Bureau the adjudication of World War veterans' claims, and there was vested in these offices the function of allowance and denial of claims for disability compensation. In 1924 this function was further decentralized to the regional offices following the enactment of the World War Veterans' Act, 1924, in keeping with the policy to take the service of the then Veterans' Bureau as near as possible to the veteran to be served. Field offices were appropriately staffed for this purpose.

Since that time and until July 1937 there remained centralized the adjudication of claims for pension of veterans of all other wars and claims for death benefits on account of veterans of all wars. Early in 1937 there was proposed by a major cooperating agency the decentralization of the adjudication of compensation claims of dependents of deceased veterans of the World War on the basis that it would expedite the settlement of these current claims. In order to test the possible advantages of such a decentralized procedure the Veterans' Administration in July 1937 inaugurated the decentralization of initial adjudicatory action for World War dependents' claims and claims for burial expenses and allowances by establishing appropriate procedures in eight of its field offices.

Studies of the results of this trial and partial decentralization were not conclusive that better or more expedited service resulted, but there was sufficient basis for believing that expedited service might result, so that shortly after the close of the reported year conclusion was reached to extend the experiment of decentralization to all field offices and to measure the resultant experience against records of achievement on a centralized basis. This complete decentralization of initial adjudication of World War dependent claims will be initiated on a trial basis early in the new calendar year of 1939 and results will be carefully studied to determine the relative efficiency of centralized and decentralized procedures in this field of service.

New hospital and domiciliary construction .- On June 7, 1937, the Administrator of Veterans' Affairs presented to the Federal Board of Hospitalization his views and recommendations on the matter of future policy regarding construction of hospital facilities for veterans. The policy thus outlined was approved by the Federal Board of Hospitalization on July 29, 1937, and by the President on September 20, 1937. Essentially, the new policy provides (a) for the acquisition of as many additional beds as may be required to meet the peak load of the N. P. group, by including each year under a separate appropriation heading sufficient funds to provide the anticipated number of beds at the time such estimates are submitted; (b) that no additional beds be provided specifically for tuberculous cases, except as may be necessary to correct unsatisfactory local conditions or deficiencies; and (c) that no general construction program be undertaken for the general medical and surgical group, but that additional beds for this type be provided in those areas where the available beds are disproportionate to the military population, such deficiencies to be met in part if possible through the use of other Government hospitals.

In furtherance of this policy the Administration during this year prepared and submitted to the Public Works Administration a new construction program designed to meet the expected increase for several years in the N. P. load as well as provide general beds in those areas where the existing accommodations were disproportionate to the military population. By approval of the President, the Veterans' Administration was successful in obtaining funds from this agency, and in June of this year the sum of \$13,268,000 was allotted for these purposes. The original program under this authority consisted of 22 projects in 18 States, including 2 new hospitals. Beds to be acquired totaled 5,635, distributed by types as follows: Neuropsychiatric, 3,423; general medical and surgical, 1,862; and domiciliary, 350. The original approval directed that all construction work be under way by August 15, 1938.

This allotment was in addition to the sum of \$4,500,000 made available to the Administration for new hospital and domiciliary construction by the regular appropriation, Public, No. 534, Seventy-fifth Congress, approved May 23, 1938.

Improved service in the medical care of beneficiaries.—The Veterans' Administration in maintaining its high standard of care and treatment of beneficiaries gives continuous study to the introduction of new diagnostic and treatment methods approved by the consensus of authoritative medical opinion, to the renovation or replacement of unserviceable equipment and supplies, and to the training of personnel.

During this fiscal year the surgical treatment by the several forms of so-called "collapse therapy" has been increasingly practiced, particularly at the nine chest surgery centers established in 1936 at Pittsburgh, Pa.; Castle Point, N. Y.; Hines, Ill.; Legion, Tex.; Oteen, N. C.; Portland, Oreg.; San Fernando, Calif.; Tucson, Ariz.; and Washington, D. C. Sufferers from pulmonary tuberculosis whose condition is not susceptible of improvement by the traditional medical treatment have been benefited by these operative procedures.

A considerable number of beneficiaries suffering from the distressing and rather common allergic disorders (including hay fever, asthma, sensitiveness to certain foods, etc.) have been relieved by the treatment methods taught and practiced at the special allergy clinic established at Pittsburgh, Pa., and available at other field stations.

For several years a large number of sufferers from general paralysis of the insane have received malaria inoculation and other types of heat therapy (diathermy) and a broad study is to be made, based upon this experience, in order to evaluate the results—as reflected in relative extramural social and industrial adjustment and in the mental and physical improvement in those requiring continuance of hospital care. Prior to the introduction of these methods of treatment, death from this disease was the invariable expectation after from 2 to 3 years of distressing symptoms.

Among patients suffering from dementia praecox or schizophrenia, the insulin treatment, introduced by Sakel, of Vienna, and the metrazol therapy, proposed by Meduna, have had and are having utilization under careful supervision. The fact, however, that the best results from these forms of treatment are to be expected when the disease is of comparatively recent onset, whereas the beneficiaries of the Veterans' Administration are in an average age group of 45 years and the duration of their mental disorder is generally of longer duration, must be expected to influence results. An auxiliary measure of much value for demented patients is habit training, which has been progressively developed for several years by instructors selected for their patience, their understanding of and their sympathetic interest in such beneficiaries.

Occupational therapy, including principally outdoor projects reinforced by certain types of indoor workshop activities, has been practiced to an exceptional degree by the Veterans' Administration, and these treatment measures are augmented by diverse recreational opportunities. The spectacle of mental patients seated or standing, idle and dejected, upon the wards, has been reduced to a minimum. Every effort is made to get all such patients occupied and interested, so as to prevent introspection and to awaken that initiative and selfreliance which may and does often lead to hospital discharge and resumption of life in the general community.

Extensive use was made during the year of types of suction apparatus in the treatment of Buerger's disease and other vascular disorders of the extremities.

Medical research projects for the fiscal year included especially the clinical and laboratory study of convulsive disorders (epilepsy, etc.) at Northport, Long Island, N. Y., and work in diseases of the heart and blood vessels, the latter of which is a prominent cause of disability in beneficiaries. The cardiovascular research unit, located in the facility at Washington, D. C., provided a postgraduate course in heart disease, including electrocardiographic diagnosis, in November and December 1937, and the chief of that unit, visiting field stations, gave lectures and practical demonstrations in cardiology to medical staffs. Numerous technical aspects of disability from diseases of the heart and blood vessels are being studied by this unit.

The results of a study of silicosis, made in collaboration with Drs. Leroy U. Gardner and H. L. Sampson, of Saranac Lake, N. Y., were published. This study had particular value in view of the contemporaneous interest in this condition as affecting miners.

The tumor research unit at Hines, Ill., consisting of a research laboratory, clinical photography section, and registry and statistical section, is a valuable adjunct to the tumor clinic there, and numerous articles on the genesis and clinical and pathological features of cancer have been published from this unit.

To the already finely equipped and staffed tumor clinic, at Hines, Ill., was added a new 400-kilovolt X-ray machine for deep roentgen therapy. Other tumor clinics, supplied with radium element and deep X-ray machines, and with trained specialists in attendance, are provided for cancerous patients at the Veterans' Administration facilities in Washington, D. C., Bronx, N. Y., Atlanta, Ga., Portland, Oreg., and Los Angeles, Calif.

For several years diagnostic X-ray equipment has been developed along the lines of shock-proof, ray-proof designs, and has reached a state of comparative perfection. During this year the Veterans' Administration made a number of such installations.

In the field of high-tension diathermy equipment there has been for the past 2 years a strong tendency away from the so-called highfrequency equipment to the much higher frequency equipment referred to as short wave and ultra short wave. The marked superiority of

⁵

this equipment lies in its method of application, which is without metallic contact—the distance from the metal electrode of the applicator to the patients' skin ranging from the thickness of the insulation on the electrode (approximately $\frac{3}{6}$ inch) to several inches. This method of application permits treatment at much higher rates of dosage and at the same time minimizes the possibility of burns. Due to these factors the comfort of the patient is much enhanced and the work of the operator greatly facilitated.

The inevitable acceleration of retirements for disability or age in the older physicians in the service has focused attention for several years upon the recruiting of well-equipped young graduates in medicine. These associate physicians, before assignment to a field station, are given a 4-month training course, including medical administration and procedure.

The postgraduate courses for physicians already in the service were continued at the diagnostic centers located in Washington, D. C., Hines, Ill., and San Francisco, Calif. Training in specialties was provided at other facilities of the Veterans' Administration, or was arranged, at expense of the physicians concerned, in civilian hospitals and clinics. Seven physicians attended a 6-month course in pathology given at Columbia University, New York City.

New Legislation affecting World War dependents.—In order to forestall perhaps some suffering in the cases of thousands of dependent parents of World War veterans whose insurance would commence to expire in 1937, the Congress enacted Public Act No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress. This act greatly increased the rates payable to parents, subsequent to the discontinuance of insurance installments, and also prior to discontinuance if the compensation being paid them and the insurance installments going forward did not equal or exceed the amount of compensation payable under this new act. Increases were also granted to World War widows at ages 50 and 65 in excess of those previously authorized.

The act also fixed the date of commencement of death benefits as the date following the date of death of a veteran, provided claim is filed within 1 year subsequent to death. This provision resulted in retroactive awards to widows, children, and parents in those instances where they did not apply for benefits immediately following the veteran's death. Another provision recognized reenlistment subsequent to November 11, 1918, as World War service, if the veteran had prior service between April 6, 1917, and November 11, 1918.

The increases provided under this act in the great majority of cases have been awarded automatically without necessity of filing a new claim by the beneficiary. In those cases where no compensation was being paid concurrently with insurance installments, notification of possible rights to compensation was furnished with the last insurance installment check. This action has resulted in the filling of a considerable number of claims by persons who had not previously filed claims, or whose claims had been previously disallowed.

Rating policy.—It has been the policy of the Veterans' Administration since its inception to apply the laws enacted by the Congress granting benefits to veterans and to their dependents by the broadest possible interpretation consistent with the spirit of these laws, to be as generous as possible consistent with the facts shown in every case in the evaluation of disability and, after careful consideration of all the facts in the individual case, to resolve reasonable doubt in favor of the veteran or his dependent. With the passing of time it is only human that some, perhaps due to their individual experiences, may fail to give due regard to salient policies which should be of paramount importance in the accomplishment of their work. During the last fiscal year it was deemed advisable to formally reiterate this longstanding policy for the benefit of all concerned. This action has been taken with effective results. Rating agencies have also been advised of the necessity and fairness in according due weight to the character of the veteran's military or naval service, when considering the matter of service connection of his disabilities.

Permanent and total disability not of service origin .-- The existence for some years past of large numbers of unemployed veterans with physical and mental disabilities varying in severity from negligible to obviously incapacitating, together with the increasing age of the veteran group, with its associated increase in disability from causes not related to the military service, combine to make the problem of permanent and total disability from causes not the result of service, one of great and growing importance. The wide variety of disabling conditions encountered, with widely varying ability to overcome the handicap of disability, has made it necessary to make determinations in this regard on an individual basis. Accordingly, if his disabilities meet certain numerical requirements, so as to substantiate their intrinsic severity, favorable determinations are made upon a finding that the disability has rendered the veteran unemployable, upon consideration of his age, occupational experience, and physical and mental adaptability.

As of June 30, 1938, 46,318 World War veterans were in receipt of the pension for permanent total disability, not the result of service, at the rate of \$30 per month. During the year close study was given to the problem, and for part of the time provision was made for reference to the Central Office for special study of all claims not permitting favorable determination under the regulations and rating schedule when the veteran or his representative so requested. The most striking fact apparent from this study has been the great number of influences, apart from the presence of disability and its severity, such as the factor of disability, which must be analyzed to account for unemployment in the individual case. The number of claims not permitting favorable determinations under existing regulations, but presenting any clear substantiation of the fact that disability, and not economic conditions, or the personal equation of the disabled person, was the cause of unemployment, was small. For these reasons no fundamental change in policy has been considered to be in order, although certain changes are being developed principally affecting disabilities characteristic of advancing age, and industrial accidents.

Enrollment of veterans for emergency conservation work—Employment.—The veterans' contingent of the Civilian Conservation Corps was established by Executive order in May 1933. Veterans were enrolled under the provisions of that order until the passage of the Civilian Conservation Corps Act on June 28, 1937.

The provisions of that act did not materially affect the policy and procedure made applicable in the selection of veterans for the veterans' contingent of the corps or the participation of the Veterans' Administration therein which had been in effect during the preceding 4 years.

⁷

The act, however, contained two important limitations of interest to veterans, namely, that the provisions thereof shall continue for a period of 3 years after July 1, 1937, and no longer, and that the maximum number of war veterans who might be enrolled in the corps at any one time was 30,000.

Further, the act authorized the President to utilize the services and facilities of such departments or agencies of the Government as he might deem necessary for carrying out the purposes of the act. In harmony with this provision the President by Executive order designated the Veterans' Administration as a cooperating agency which action gave it representation on the Director's Advisory Council.

The primary functions of the Veterans' Administration in this respect have been to determine the eligibility of applicants for membership in the veterans' contingent, to select from the eligible applicants the requisite number to maintain the authorized quota at full strength, and to certify such selectees to the War Department for physical examination and enrollment. This work has been accomplished by some 54 field activities of the Veterans' Administration.

Certain eligibility requirements must be met before a veteran may be enrolled in the Civilian Conservation Corps. He must be a citizen of the United States; must have had service in the armed forces of the United States during a period of war; must have been honorably discharged from such service; must be unemployed and in need of employment, and must be physically able to perform ordinary manual labor. It is also required that a veteran establish a permanent address within the State from which he is selected for enrollment. Transient veterans must return to their permanent addresses in order to obtain enrollment.

At the close of the fiscal year ending June 30, 1937, there were 21,961 veterans in enrollment status. The total authorized veterans' quota as of July 1, 1937, was 25,000. During July and October 1937 and January and April 1938 authorizations were issued for the filling of vacancies within the authorized quota which had resulted because of discharges to accept employment and for other reasons.

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 1938, there were 17,707 veterans enrolled in the corps to fill vacancies. At the close of the fiscal year there were 22,544 veterans in enrollment status.

Effective as of July 1, 1938, the Civilian Conservation Corps veterans' quota was increased from 25,000 to 27,200 by authority of the Director of the corps, and authorization was issued to enroll 5,300 veterans during the month of July 1938 in order to bring the contingent to full strength.

The total number of veterans who have taken advantage of Civilian Conservation Corps work since the original enrollment in June 1933 is approximately 150,000, and the total number of other persons who have benefited by the participation of this number of veterans in the corps is more than 300,000.

The continuation of the Civilian Conservation Corps affords the veteran who is unable to obtain employment in private industry an opportunity to provide for the needs of his family and to render a useful service to the community as well as to the Government.

The Veterans' Administration does not maintain an employment service, but it has continued to cooperate with the United States Employment Service of the Labor Department, other Government agencies, and recognized veterans' organizations in an effort to relieve unemployment among veterans. This cooperation has been extended through the field offices of the Veterans' Administration.

The Administrator of Veterans' Affairs is an active member of the Federal Advisory Council to the Director of the United States Employment Service and is chairman of the Committee on Veterans' Placement Service of that Council.

Reports of the United States Employment Service of the Labor Department as of June 30, 1938, indicate that there were 443,196 unemployed veterans registered for employment. This figure indicates that there continues to exist a need for concentrated effort on the part of the several agencies concerned.

MEDICAL TREATMENT AND DOMICILIARY CARE

HOSPITALIZATION

54,117 Remaining under treatment.—At the expiration of this fiscal year, the total hospital load of the Veterans' Administration was 50,899 as compared with 46,416 on June 30, 1937, an increase of 4,483, or approximately 9.66 percent during this period. This increase was dis-tributed by types as follows: Tuberculosis, 72; neuropsychiatric, 71 2,864; and general medical and surgical, 1,547. At the close of this -1217 year 76.32 percent of the veterans under hospitalization were receiving treatment for disabilities not of service origin, as compared with 74.37 16.5 γ percent on June 30, 1937.

دور

2/12/

 $-\lambda A$

The total patient load at the expiration of this year was composed 2.115 of 50,670 United States veterans, classified by service as follows: World War, 45,496; Spanish-American War, 2,638; Civil War, 62; all other wars, expeditions, and occupations, 90; and Regular Estab-10.56 lishment 2,384. treatment for diseases or injuries determined to be of service origin, of whom 10,385 had service in the World War; 29 in the Spanish-There were 11,998 United States veterans under

In addition to United States veterans there were under treatment 37 veterans of countries allied with the United States in the World War; 120 employees of the Civilian Conservation Corps and Works Progress Administration; and 72 miscellaneous beneficiaries. Included in the 50,670 United States veterans are 333 female and 4,948 5240 3.16

colored beneficiaries. 33.17 $(7.52)^{-3.16}$ $(7.52)^{-3.16}$ Of the patients in hospitals at the close of this year 9.64 percent were under treatment for tuberculosis, 57.54 percent for neuropsychiatric diseases, and 32.82 percent for general medical and surgical conditions. This represents a marked change in the character of the patient load since June 30, 1923, when 41 percent of the patients were classed as tubercular, 39 percent as neuropsychiatric, and 20 percent as general.

Of the 50,670 United States veterans under treatment at the end of this year 47,285 were in facilities controlled by the Veterans' Administration, 2,512 in other Government hospitals, and 873 in State or civil institutions. Over 63 percent of the United States veterans in all hospitals are receiving treatment in facilities located in the State of their reported home addresses. $\chi_{4,1}$

981

48 . 55

12647

113

Admissions.-Since March 3, 1919, when the acquisition of Government hospital facilities was first authorized for the treatment ψ of veterans of the World War, there have been 1,863,289 admissions of United States veterans to hospitals, of which 152,966 were made during this year, an increase of more than 8 percent over 19374 The admissions for 1938 were the highest of any fiscal year to date (and exceeded by 4,304 the previous peak year of 1932)-0.1

202

Since June 7, 1924, when hospitalization was first authorized for the veterans of all wars without regard to the origin of their disabilities,

 $t_{1}^{(1)}$ $t_{2}^{(1)}$ $t_{1}^{(1)}$ $t_{2}^{(1)}$ $t_{2}^{(1)}$ treatment of disabilities not connected with service. Over 91 percent of the admissions this year were on account of non-service-connected disabilities.

1.5

67768

40.9

12136

12.51 12.57

13240 1005-16 1055-16 1055-16

.10.0-Of the United States veterans admitted to hospitals/during this year 89.2 percent had service in the World War and 7.6 percent in 2661 the Spanish-American War. In addition to United States veterans 194 there were 1,395 admissions of other patients, including 119 allied veterans, 947 employees of the Civilian Conservation Corps and Works 1675

787 Progress Administration, and 329 miscellaneous beneficiaries. An analysis of the types of hospital admissions during this year shows that 63,965 or 41.8 percent of the total, were first admissions;

83,951, or 54.9 percent, readmissions; and 5,050, or 3.3 percent, admissions by transfer from other facilities. 56'/2 3.4 missions by transfer from other facilities.

During this year 10,989 admissions were authorized for the observa- 4^{2} tion or treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis; 10,750 for psychotic or mental diseases; 12,686 for other neurological disorders, and 118,541 for general medical and surgical conditions. 131,696 There were 956 female and 14,154 colored veterans admitted to hospitals during this year. 84.6 20,23214.0

Of the 152,966 admissions of United States veterans during this year, 130,939, or 85.6 percent, were made to facilities controlled by the Veterans' Administration; 19,954, or 13 percent, to other Government hospitals; and 2,073, or 1.4 percent, to civil or State hospitals.

Turn-over.-During the fiscal year 1938 the patient turn-over in all types of Veterans' Administration hospitals was approximately once every 4 months. Based upon the experience of this year, hospitals devoted principally to the treatment of neuropsychiatric diseases have a complete patient turn-over once every 2 years. The relatively low turn-over rate experienced for this type of case is due to the long and continuous hospital treatment usually required and a low mortality rate. During this fiscal year the turn-over rate for hospitals utilized primarily for the treatment of tuberculosis was about once every 4% months. The turn-over rate for this year in hospitals treating a majority of general medical and surgical patients was approximately once every 1% months. 221504 Discharges.—During this fiscal year 202,081 patients were under

-966. V hospitalization, of whom 200,626 were United States veterans. The total number of patients treated represents an increase of approxi-10 mately 5 percent over 1937. Of the United States veterans treated Allt 149,956 were discharged after an average of 76.9 in-patient days. 119,107, or 79.43 percent of the total discharges. The incomplete Patients who remained until the completion of treatment numbered cases totaled 30,849 and include 7,267 cases in which further treat-10.5V ment or care was required in another facility or out-patient clinic,

71741

816 1

124

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 11 14142

7969 7,782 cases in which the patient was transferred to domiciliary care in the same facility, 15,497 cases in which the patient was discharged for personal reasons, i. e., against medical advice, leaving without permission, etc.; and 303 cases not entitled to hospitalization under the laws now in effect. Approximately 78' percent of the United States veterans discharged during this year had been under treatment for general diseases or conditions; 15 percent for neuropsychiatric 15 diseases; and 7 percent for pulmonary tuberculosis. In 74 percent of the completed and 59 percent of the incomplete cases recovery or some improvement was effected. 10.111 + 10.810 + 6.10some improvement was effected.

6.15

19411

17.90

1568

14.41

5.75 6.44

1345

12714

1200

2901

119

202-

141

Deaths in hospitals during this year totaled 10,117, or 6.75 percent. \leq of the discharges, as compared with 10,051, or 7.04 percent in 1937. Of the total deaths, 6,620 or 65.44 percent occurred among patients ¹ under treatment for general conditions; 1,979, or 19.56 percent, for pulmonary tuberculosis; and 1,518, or 15 percent, for neuropsychiatric diseases. Considering the total discharged after treatment for each type of disability during this year, 18.54 percent of the pulmonary tuberculosis cases resulted in death, 5.67 of the general, and 6.72, percent of the neuropsychiatric. Of the 6,620 deaths among general 37patients, approximately 36 percent were caused by diseases of the circulatory system, including organic heart disease, and approximately Q During the year 116,401 World War veterans were discharged after 34-33 percent by malignant tumors and diseases of the digestive system 10,467 for disabilities of service origin. There were 6,375 cases in which the veteran was admitted for 8:16 which the veteran was admitted for examination or observation, and 15-66 cases classed as emergency. The remaining 16,647 discharges of United States veterans were classified by service as follows: Spanish-10 American War, 87 service-connected and 11,618 non-service-connected; Regular Establishment, 2,327 service-connected and 2,175 non-serviceconnected; Civil War, 2 service connected and 199 non-service-connected; and miscellaneous occupations, rebellions, etc., 2 serviceconnected and 237 non-service-connected. In addition to United 916-2 States veterans there were 1,226 discharges of other patients, 94 of which were for veterans of countries allied with the United States in the World War, 853 for employees of the Civilian Conservation Corps and Works Progress Administration, and 279 for miscellaneous 1420 beneficiaries.

Included in the total of 149,956 discharges of United States veterans during this year are 7,782 cases classified as intrafacility transfers, i. e., cases in which the veteran was transferred from hospital treatment to domiciliary care within the same facility.

DOMICILIARY CARE

Remaining.-On June 30, 1938, the veteran population reported as present in domiciliary status in facilities under the control and juris- 15,426 diction of the Veterans' Administration totaled 14,254, as compared 111/2 with 11,038 on June 30, 1937, an increase of 3,216 during this fiscal period. 13,100

The number present in domiciliary status on June 30, 1938, was divided as to color and sex as follows: White males, 12,665: white バッグウ females, 54; and colored males, 1,535.

The percentage distribution of the membership, by wars, as of June 30, 1938, was as follows: Civil, 0.03; Spanish-American, 6.11;

36

0.01

12 ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 41.15

10640

446

6418

1.52

1 11

13720

. 9.K . '

World, 89.46; other wars, expeditions, and occupations, 0.18; and peacetime service in the Regular Establishment, 4.22. 3.79

The approximate average age of the veterans of each of the major wars who were present in domiciliary status at the close of this fiscal year was as follows: Civil, 93; Spanish-American, 63; and World, 45. Of the veterans remaining under domiciliary care at the end of this year, 10,104 were disabled by general medical and surgical conditions, 3,844 by neuropsychiatric diseases, and 306 by tuberculosis.

Over three-fourth's of the domiciled veterans on June 30, 1938, were under care in facilities located in California, Wisconsin, Ohio, Tennessee, Virginia, and Kansas.

In conformity with the act of August 27, 1888 (U. S. C., title 24, sec. 134), the Federal Government is required to reimburse State or Territorial homes for disabled volunteer soldiers at the rate of \$120 per year for each person domiciled therein who is eligible for similar care in facilities controlled by the Veterans' Administration. During this year an average of 5,622 such persons were cared for in these homes, thereby creating an obligation of approximately \$674,640 on

homes, thereby creating an obligation of approximately \$674,640 on the part of the Federal Government. 9585 34331 711,340? Admissions.—During this year there were 28,585 admissions for domiciliary care, as compared with 24,820 admissions for the fiscal year 1937, an increase of 3,765, or 15 percent. 2.6 4563 15,55

year 1937, an increase of 3,765, or 15 percent. 2.6 4563 15.55 An analysis of the types of admissions shows that 4,808 or 16.82 percent, were first admissions; 20,425, or 71.45 percent, readmissions; and 3,352, or 11.73 percent, admissions by transfer from other facilities. Of the veterans admitted to domiciliary care during this year 25,269 or approximately 88 percent, had service in the World War,

and 1,989, or approximately 7 percent, nad service in the world war, There were 83 female and 2,363 colored veterans admitted for domiciliary care during the year.

Approximately 90 percent of the admissions this year were for non-service-connected disabilities.

Of the veterans admitted during this year 72 percent were disabled by general medical and surgical conditions, 26 percent by neuropsychiatric diseases, and 2 percent by tuberculosis. *Discharges.*—During this year 26,276 veterans were discharged

Discharges.—During this year 26,276 veterans were discharged after an average period of 4% months' domiciliary care. These discharges were classified as follows: 11,292 routine; 8,011 transfers within 44%the same or to other facilities; 49 deaths; 492 ineligible for further care; and 6,432 without formal discharge, including disciplinary 6/ reasons. Approximately 70 percent of the discharges were for veterans with general medical conditions. The principal causes of death among domiciled veterans were diseases of the arteries, organic diseases of the heart, and embolism and thrombosis, which collectively were responsible for approximately 53 percent of the deaths.

Of the total veterans discharged 23,083 were World War veterans, and of these 20,647 were disabled for non-service-connected disabilities. The other discharges were classified as to service as follows: Spanish-American War, 2,001; Regular Establishment, 1,113; Civil War, 26; and all other wars, occupations, and expeditions, 53. Included in the total of 26,276 discharges during this year are 6,273 cases 74. classified as intrafacility transfers, i. e., cases in which the veteran was transferred from domiciliary care to hospital treatment within the same facility.

A 1 1

HOSPITAL AND DOMICILIARY FACILITIES

On June 30, 1938, the Veterans' Administration was operating hospital facilities at 81 locations in 43 States and the District of Columbia. These facilities had a capacity of 51,991 beds, an increase of 4,570 in the number reported on June 30, 1937. Approximately 80 percent of this increase was in beds for mental patients.

Additional hospital beds were acquired during this year through new construction, alterations, or readjustment of space at Alexandria, La., Atlanta, Ga., Bath, N. Y., Bedford, Mass., Camp Custer, Mich., Canandaigua, N. Y., Coatesville, Pa., Columbia, S. C., Fort Lyon, Colo., Gulfport, Miss., Jefferson Barracks, Mo., Lake City, Fla., Lexington, Ky., Los Angeles, Calif., Lyons, N. J., Mendota, Wis., Muskogee, Okla., Northampton, Mass., North Little Rock, Ark., Northport, Long Island, N. Y., Boseburg, Oreg. and St. Cloud Minn

Northport, Long Ísland, N. Ý., Roseburg, Oreg., and St. Cloud, Minn. At the expiration of this year the Veterans' Administration was utilizing 2,521 beds in other Government hospitals, distributed by branch of service as follows: Army, 1,017; Navy, 831; Public Health Service, 586; and Interior Department, 87.

On June 30, 1938, there were 16,798 beds set aside for domiciliary care in facilities under the jurisdiction of the Veterans' Administration as compared with 16,225 on June 30, 1937, an increase of 573. Additional domiciliary beds were acquired at Bath, N. Y., Bay Pines, Fla., Biloxi, Miss., Hot Springs, S. Dak., Kecoughtan, Va., and Togus, Maine. Losses were recorded at Dayton, Ohio, Los Angeles, Calif., Roseburg, Oreg., and Wood, Wis. The facility at Roseburg was converted to the neuropsychiatric type while the other reductions were due to the evacuation of space no longer considered satisfactory.

The total number of beds in facilities controlled by the Veterans' Administration on June 30, 1938, was 68,789 as compared with 63,646 on June 30, 1937, an increase of 5,143.

During the period beginning with the act of March 3, 1919, (Public, No. 326, 65th Cong.), and ending with the act of May 23, 1938, (Public, No. 534, 75th Cong.), the Congress has specifically authorized and appropriated the sum of \$153,722,000 for new hospital, domiciliary, and out-patient dispensary facilities. In addition, there has been expended since 1923 approximately \$24,650,000 from regular fiscal funds for permanent improvements and extensions to Veterans' Administration facilities. This latter figure, however, does not include expenditures for the purposes mentioned at the former national homes for disabled volunteer soldiers prior to their consolidation with the Pension and Veterans' Bureaus in July 1930. Further, the Veterans' Administration has been allotted for improvements and new construction at a number of its facilities, the sum of \$3,041,650 under the provisions of the National Recovery Act of 1933, and the sum of \$13,268,200 under the Public Works Administration Appropriation Act for 1938. In all, a total of \$194,681,850 has been made available for construction purposes during the last 20 years.

FUTURE HOSPITAL AND DOMICILIARY CONSTRUCTION

At the close of this fiscal year construction work was in progress on 22 major projects involving additional beds. These projects, together with the approximate dates for completion, are as follows:

Location	Project	Beds	Estimated date for completion
Dearborn, Mich. Jefferson Barracks, Mo. Kcoughtan, Va. Do. Knoxville, Iowa. Lake City, Fla Legion, Tex. Livermore, Calif. Lyons, N. J. Mountain Home. Tenn. Murfreesboro, Tenn Murfreesboro, Tenn Newington, Conn. Northampton, Mass. Reno, Nev. Roanoke, Va. San Fernando, Calif. White River Junction, Vt. Wood, Wis.	Neuropsychiatric facilities. Alterations to building No. 15. New general hospital. Alterations to main building. New general hospital. Conversion of hospital building to domiciliary. Neuropsychiatric facilities. Readjustment of space. Alterations to building No. 3. Addition to tuberculosis infirmary. Neuropsychiatric facilities. Barrack building. New neuropsychiatric facilities. Alterations to building No. 4. New general facility. New general facility. New general facility. New general facility. New general facility. New general facility. Conversion of hospital building to domiciliary.	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 100\\ 294\\ 209\\ 160\\ 20\\ 28\\ 358\\ 83\\ 387\\ 21\\ 44\\ 26\\ 358\\ 109\\ 110\\ \end{array}$	Apr. 6, 1939 July 15, 1938 Apr. 11, 1939 June 30, 1939 Jan. 31, 1939 Jan. 31, 1939 Aug. 1, 1938 Jbo. July 25, 1939 Dect. 10, 1938 Apr. 6, 1939 Jan. 1, 1938 Jan. 1, 1938 Jan. 1, 1938 Jan. 1, 1938 Aug. 10, 1938 Jan. 1, 1939 Aug. 10, 1938 Jan. 1, 1939 Aug. 28, 1938 Jan. 1, 1939 Apr. 11, 1939 Aug. 28, 1938 Jan. 1, 1939
Total		3, 620	

The 3,626 additional beds to be acquired as the result of work in progress on June 30, 1938, were distributed by types as follows: Tuberculosis, 137; Neuropsychiatric, 1,711; general medical and surgical, 1,237; and domiciliary, 541.

In addition, work was completed in June on three projects providing a total of 269 additional beds. These beds, however, were not available to patients prior to the close of this fiscal year. The projects, together with the number and type of beds provided are as follows: Hot Springs, S. Dak., 95 general beds; Northampton, Mass., 48 neuropsychiatric beds; and Danville, Ill., 126 neuropsychiatric beds.

The approved new construction program of the Veterans' Administration for which funds are available but which had not been placed under contract by June 30, 1938, is as follows:

		Beds		
Location	Project	Hospital	Domicil- iary	
Amarillo, Tex	Barrack building Alterations to Building No. 29. Barrack building. Neuropsychiatric facilities. General facilities. Neuropsychiatric facilities. Neuropsychiatric facilities. Neuropsychiatric facilities. New general hospital. do Barrack buildings. General facilities. New general hospital.	35 368 600 524 45 358 250 250 250 77 300 132	140 392	

		Beds	
Location	Project	Hospital	Domicil- iary
Marion, Ind	General facilities Barrack building do Meuropsychiatric facilities do Neuropsychiatric facilities General facilities Neuropsychiatric facilities do General facilities do Conversion to neuropsychiatric facility Neuropsychiatric facilities do Conversion to neuropsychiatric facility Neuropsychiatric facilities do	48 376 358 134 250 390 35 372 3147 266 20 43 188 185 185	53
Total		6, 593	2, 158

¹ Includes 263 beds to replace unsatisfactory facilities.

¹ Includes 283 beds to replace unsatisfactory facilities. ³ Includes 47 beds to replace unsatisfactory facilities.

The above program provides for the acquisition of 3,811 neuropsychiatric and 2782 general beds. A total of 3,634, or 95 percent, of the neuropsychiatric and 2097, or 75 percent, of the general beds will be obtained from funds allotted to the Veterans' Administration under the Public Works Administration Appropriation Act for 1938.

As shown in another section of this report, there were available on June 30, 1938, in all facilities controlled by the Veterans' Adminis-tration, 51,991 hospital and 16,798 domiciliary beds, a total of 68,789 beds of both types. Upon completion of new construction for which funds are available, it is estimated there will be 62,262 hospital and 18,583 domiciliary beds, a combined total of 80,845 or 12,056 in excess of the number on June 30, 1938.

OPERATING AND PER DIEM COSTS FOR HOSPITAL AND DOMICILIARY FACILITIES

During this year the net operating expense for all hospital and domiciliary facilities controlled by the Veterans' Administration totaled \$49,076,115.42, of which \$44,203,638.42 was for hospital and \$4,872,477 for domiciliary facilities. This amount does not include expenditures for new construction, major alterations, nonexpendable equipment, or those for the diagnostic centers at San Francisco, Calif., and Hines, Ill. Throughout the year there was a daily average of 45,639 patients of all types under treatment, and a daily average of 13,514 beneficiaries receiving domiciliary care, as compared with 41,939 and 10,364 respectively, during the fiscal year 1937.

The per diem cost of operation for hospital facilities used principally for the treatment of tuberculosis was \$3.91 for this year, as compared with \$4.13 for last year. For hospital facilities devoted exclusively to the treatment of neuropsychiatric diseases the per diem rate for this year was \$1.88, as compared with \$1.96 for 1937. The per diem rate for hospital facilities used largely for the treatment of general medical and surgical conditions was \$3.47 for this year, as compared with \$3.66 for last year. For all hospital facilities, the per diem rate for this year was \$2.65, as compared with \$2.81 in 1937, a reduction of 16 cents. The per diem cost of operation for domiciliary facilities this year was \$0.99, a reduction of 14 cents over last year.

PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS AND OUT-PATIENT TREATMENT

During this year field facilities of this Administration made a total of 1,128,587 physical examinations for out-patient purposes, an increase of 49,199 in the number accomplished during the preceding fiscal year. Of the examinations made during this year 1,110,812 or 98 percent were medical and 17,775 or 2 percent, dental. Approximately 99 percent of the medical and 90 percent of the dental examinations were made by physicians on a salary basis as compared with 99 percent and 89 percent, respectively, during the fiscal year 1937. The comparatively few physical examinations made by designated physicians on a fee basis comprise for the most part simple general examination, or cases in which the claimant or beneficiary is not physically or mentally able to travel to the nearest facility and it is more economical to employ a physician in the community than to travel a physician from the facility to and from the veterans' homes.

Treatments furnished during this year totaled 994,968 as compared with 895,208 last year, an increase of 99,760. Of the treatments furnished during this year 899,400 or approximately 90 percent were medical and 95,568 or 10 percent were dental. Approximately 87 percent of the medical and 93 percent of the dental treatments were furnished by physicians on a salary basis as compared with 84 and 92 percent, respectively, during the fiscal year 1937.

During this fiscal year there was authorized for expenditure the sum of approximately \$400,000 for the purchase of orthopedic and prosthetic appliances and repairs thereto. The largest single item of expenditure was \$122,000 for the purchase of artificial legs.

DENTAL ACTIVITIES

During this fiscal year the value of services furnished beneficiaries in dental clinics of the Veterans' Administration if computed on a civilian fee basis would have amounted to \$1,736,920, as compared with \$1,639,505 for the fiscal year 1937, an increase of \$97,415. The actual cost of furnishing this relief was \$904,381, thereby resulting in a net saving of \$832,539, or approximately 48 percent through the operation of these clinics. Of the total value of the services furnished in clinics the sum of \$385,170 was in connection with the treatment of service-connected disabilities and \$1,353,750, or approximately 78 percent of the total, as auxiliary to the treatment of non-service-connected disabilities for which beneficiaries were receiving hospitalization or domiciliary care.

The number of beneficiaries that received dental service in clinics during this fiscal year totaled 66,897, as compared with 59,795 in 1937, an increase of 7,102. In addition, dental services were furnished to 294 members of the Civilian Conservation Corps. Of the beneficiaries furnished dental relief during this year, 63,553 were receiving hospitilization or domiciliary care at the time the service was rendered. The cost per case of furnishing this relief during 1938 was \$13.52, as compared with \$14.83 in 1937, \$14.68 in 1936, and \$25.93 in 1930. The reduction in the cost per case for this year was due largely to the handling of an increase of approximately 12 percent in the number of beneficiaries without any increase in dental officers.

Authorization for dental treatment by private practitioners serving as designated dentists, in those service-connected cases in which it was more economical to furnish relief in this manner, increased from 1,963 cases to the value of \$79,463 in the fiscal year 1937 to 2,000 cases to the value of \$82,133 in 1938.

During this year there were two major changes in policy covering the authorization of dental treatment. The authorization of outpatient dental treatment as a necessary adjunct to the treatment of service-connected general physical disabilities was decentralized to field facilities. Rehospitalization of veterans was authorized to permit of the construction of artificial dentures to replace natural organs extracted as a necessary auxiliary to the treatment of non-serviceconnected general physical disabilities during previous hospital episodes, and where artificial replacement was not made at that time. During the eight months that this policy has been in effect 864 beneficiaries availed themselves of this benefit, requiring the construction of 1,506 artificial dentures.

The demand for artificial dentures is increasing with the advance in age of beneficiaries. During 1938 these clinics constructed 26,063 artificial dentures and made repairs to 7,115 others, as compared with 22,742 new and 5,689 repaired dentures in 1937.

On June 30, 1938, there were 161 full-time dental officers on duty, as compared with 163 on the corresponding date of last year.

PENSIONS AND COMPENSATION

VETERANS

Civil War.-Out of a total of 2,213,365 that served in the Union forces in this war, which terminated 73 years ago, pensions were being paid to 5,048 veterans on June 30, 1938. This represents a reduction of 1,983 in the number of veterans since June 30, 1937. Of those on the pension roll at the close of this year, 933 were in receipt of \$75 per month, one \$85 per month, as authorized by the act of June 9, 1930, while 4,039 were being paid \$100 per month and 4, \$125 per month by reason of being helpless or blind or so nearly helpless or blind as to require the regular aid and attendance of another person. The balance of the pension roll consisted of 29 veterans who were in receipt of pension under the general laws for service-connected disabilities and 42 veterans who were beneficiaries of special acts of The disbursements for pensions to veterans during this Congress. fiscal period totaled \$6,448,253.46, as compared with \$8,967,519.20 for the previous year, a reduction of \$2,519,265.74. There were 9 claims filed during this year. The average age of veterans receiving pensions at the close of this year was 93.

During this year there were no changes in laws or regulations and procedure applicable to the claims of veterans of this war. However, a form letter was addressed to each veteran receiving a basic pension of less than \$100 monthly, informing him of the provisions of section 2 of the act of June 9, 1930, and the conditions precedent to entitlement of \$100 per month.

Indian wars.—On June 30, 1938, pensions were being paid to 2,814 veterans on account of Indian war service, and the disbursements for this purpose amounted to \$1,889,161.99 during this fiscal year. This represents a decrease of 305 in the number of veterans on the roll June 30, 1937, and an increase of \$77,625.32 in disbursements over last year. There were 107 new claims filed during this year. The average age of veterans receiving pensions at the close of this year was 78.

Public, No. 355, Seventy-fifth Congress, enacted August 25, 1937, provides an increase of \$5 monthly in the rates of pension payable to veterans of these wars for one-half, three-fourths, and total disability, and increases by the same amount the rates of pension payable to those veterans for the attained ages of 62, 68, 72, and 75 years. In addition, the act provides a new rate of pension of \$72 monthly for disability requiring the regular aid and attendance of another person. The rate for regular aid and attendance is payable from the date of receipt in the Veterans' Administration of the evidence showing the requisite condition or the date of filing application therefor on or after September 1, 1937, whichever is the later. Under these provisions, pension may not exceed \$50 monthly while a veteran is maintained in the United States Soldiers' Home, a Veterans Administration facility, or a State soldiers' home and the rate for regular aid and attendance may not be allowed while the veteran is receiving such services The review of the 2,995 claims affected by the provisions in kind. of this act was completed prior to the end of the calendar year. Increased pensions were awarded in 2,729 claims, denied in 91 claims, and it was impossible to make current adjustments in 175 claims because the veterans were being maintained in a hospital or institution.

Spanish-American War, Boxer Rebellion, and Philippine Insurrection.—The number of veterans on the roll at the close of this fiscal year was 170,755 as compared with 175,361 on June 30, 1937, a decrease of 4,606. The disbursements for this purpose during 1938 totaled \$98,850,424.84 as compared with \$96,618,456.10 in 1937, an increase of \$2,231,968.74.

Of the 170,755 veterans on the roll, 168,680 were receiving pension payments for disabilities of nonservice origin or for age, 1,907 for conditions determined to be the result of service, and 168 were special act cases.

On June 30, 1938, the average monthly value of all pension awards for non-service-connected disabilities or age was \$48.49, for serviceconnected disabilities \$70.04, and for special act cases, \$23.85.

In addition to 170,755 veterans of this war on the roll at the close of this year there were on the same date 29 veterans who were formerly classed as Spanish-American War veterans but who are now receiving payments at peacetime rates. The average monthly value received by this group on June 30, 1938, was \$35.52. An analysis of the service-connected group by type of major disability indicates that 5 percent are suffering from tuberculosis; 10 percent from neuropsychiatric conditions; and 85 percent are classed as general medical and surgical cases. The average monthly value for these groups is as follows: Tuberculosis, \$75.88; neuropsychiatric, \$79.30; and general medical, \$68.63. In the non-service-connected group 159,224 cases, or 94 percent of the total, are receiving pensions because of disabilities. The average monthly pension in these cases is \$48.61. In addition, 9,456 veterans, or 6 percent of the total, are receiving pensions by reason of age, the average monthly payments being \$46.53. A study of the age of all Spanish-American War veterans shows that 70 percent are between 55 and 65 years of age.

Public, No. 541, Seventy-fifth Congress, enacted May 24, 1938, provides a pension of \$60 monthly for soldiers, sailors, or marines who served honorably for 90 days between April 21, 1898, and July 4, 1902, both dates inclusive, and to nurses who served honorably for 90 days between April 21, 1898, and February 2, 1901, unless prior to the completion of 90 days' service within the respective periods the designated persons were discharged for disability incurred in the service in line of duty. This act also provides pension of \$100 monthly for any soldier, sailor, marine, or nurse, with service as defined above, who is now or hereafter may become, on account of age or physical or mental disabilities, helpless or blind, or so nearly helpless or blind as to need or require the regular aid and attendance of another person. Section 3 of Public, No. 541, Seventy-fifth Congress, provides: "That the pension or increased rate of pension herein provided for shall commence from the date of filing application therefor after the approval of this act in such form as may be prescribed by the Admin-istrator of Veterans' Affairs * * *." Adjudication form 526, revised March 1938, has been prescribed by the Administrator as the form on which claims will be filed under this act. However, where there is already on file a formal application for service pension and benefits are being paid, any writing signed by the veteran or in his behalf, claiming increased pension, constitutes a valid application under the act. Under the first proviso of section 4 of the act no one while an inmate of the United States Soldiers' Home, the United States Naval Home, or any State soldiers' home and while the Government of the United States contributes toward defraying the expense incurred in providing such inmate with domiciliary care shall be paid more than \$50 per month. A veteran who has no dependents and is being maintained in a Veterans' Administration facility, is entitled to pension of only \$6 or \$15 monthly, depending upon whether his disability is service-connected or non-service-connected.

In view of the provisions of paragraph 3 of Public, No. 541, Seventyfifth Congress, claims may not be automatically reviewed but may be considered only upon the filing of a claim for the increased rate. As of June 30, 1938, there had been filed by Spanish-American War veterans, including veterans of the Philippine Insurrection and Boxer Rebellion, 7,051 claims for the pension rate for attainment of age 65, and 1,416 claims for the rate for aid and attendance, totaling 8,467 claims under this enactment, representing more than 32 per centum of the total claims anticipated by Congress when the act was passed. Of the claims filed, slightly more than 46 per centum had been adjudicated on June 30, 1938, and of the unadjudicated claims 95 per centum were awaiting some action on the part of the veteran toward the perfection of his claim. Claims under Public, No. 541, Seventy-fifth Congress, are now being received at the rate of approximately 102 daily.

World War service-connected.—Compensation was being paid on June 30, 1938, to a total of 340,590 veterans suffering from disabilities directly or presumtively connected with service during the World War, an increase of 4,062 in the number on the roll at the beginning of this fiscal period. Of those on the roll at the close of this year 250,668 were receiving payments under Public, No. 141, and 89,922 under Public, No. 2, approved March 20, 1933. There were 226,855 of the group under Public, No. 141 receiving full payments, 21,196 receiving 75 percent of World War rates as presumptive cases, and 2,617 in which part of the payment was made at the full rate and part at 75 percent of the rate, depending on the service-connection of two or more disabilities. The disbursements during this fiscal year totaled \$166,875,-363.36 as compared with \$166,417,519.36 in 1937, an increase of \$457,844.00. An analysis of the major disabilities for which this compensation is being paid discloses that neuropsychiatric diseases are the disabling cause in 19.64 percent of the awards, tuberculosis in 16.56 percent, and general medical and surgical conditions in 63.80 percent The average monthly payments by types, based upon the value of awards at the close of this year, were as follows: Neuropsychiatric, \$50.90; tuberculosis, \$53.67; and general medical and surgical, \$33.28. The average monthly payment for all types was \$40.12. Additional compensation was being paid on account of dependents in 42,715 cases in which the veteran was rated on a temporary basis at an average of \$7.63 per case per month. These dependents included 39,830 wives, 91,719 children, and 2,550 parents. On June 30, 1938, there were 2,740 disabled veterans to whom compensation was being paid who reside outside the continental limits of the United States.

As regards the claims of World War veterans, a renewed effort was made during the fiscal year to insure the proper and complete development of evidence in the prosecution of claims for compensation or pension. The attention of adjudicating agencies was called to the necessity of securing all available evidence by reason of the increasing complexity of the laws and regulations under which individual claims are determined.

The review pursuant to Section 5, Public, No. 304 resulted in increased payments to 2,388 veterans who reenlisted after November 11, 1918, and who had prior service during the World War. These veterans are now paid at war-time (World War) rates. A similar review of claims which had been disallowed or terminated as less than 10 percent March 19, 1933, practically completed within the year, resulted in 976 additions to the war-time service-connected rolls.

Public, No. 648, Seventy Fifth Congress, approved June 16, 1938, which is quoted in detail under "Regular Establishment" also affects World War veterans.

On March 25, 1937, a revision of the definition of misconduct was approved, so that for the purposes of sections 27 and 28, Public, No. 141, Seventy third Congress, despite the omission of the term "Willful" in the latter, the precedents under section 200 of the World War Veterans' Act, 1924, as amended, based upon willful misconduct would be applied. Under Public, No. 2, Seventy-third Congress, misconduct origin, though not willful, including gross negligence, remains a bar to the receipt of monetary benefits.

The adjudication of compensation or pension claims in all field offices was on a current basis at the close of the fiscal year. Adjudication agencies were enjoined to carry out the prime objectives of the Veterans' Administration under the law—among them, the effective protection of service connection under Public, No. 141, Seventy-third Congress, and the assignment of permanent ratings wherever possible under the liberal provisions of existing regulations. Out of a total of 249,909 World War active service connected cases under Public, No. 141, Seventy-third Congress, as of June 30, 1938, 198,381 cases were rated on a permanent basis. This constituted an increase of 15,509 over the showing of the preceding fiscal year.

Close attention was given to all the provisions of the 1933 rating schedule and related regulations, with regard to their adequacy in the evaluation of average impairments in earning capacity, and especially with regard to their adequacy in bringing about proper determinations of permanent total disability when the veteran has become permanently unemployable as a result of physical or mental disability. As one aspect of this study, authority had been given, April 6, 1937, to submit for central office review all claims in which the denial of a favorable rating, or a rating considered inadequate, was considered by the veteran to result from schedular inadequacy. Approximately 637 claims were so submitted, but neither the number, which was comparatively small, nor the evidence of direct relationship between disability and unemployment, lacking in the far majority of claims, warranted a determination that the schedule failed in liberality in such a manner as to affect any large number of claims. The policy was applied to taking into account the effect of such factors as unemployment, the man's environment, his age, and those qualities which determine greatly his ability to obtain employment and carry on. The review afforded an opportunity to evaluate the various items of the rating schedule in cooperation with medical officers detailed for the purpose from two of the diagnostic centers, and the conclusions resulting from this study are being prepared for early release.

World War non-service-connected.—This group of totally disabled World War veterans whose disabilities have been determined to be not due to their military service, is a steadily increasing group as is to be expected with the advancing age of veterans and the hazards of disease and injury in civilian life. During this fiscal year the number on the roll increased from 41,594 to 46,748, all at the present total disability rate of \$30 per month unless reduced to \$6 on account of receiving institutional care at Government expense and having no dependents. Of those on the roll, 465 or 0.99 percent, are over 68 years of age; 1,023, or 2.19 percent are over 62 years of age; and 2,524, or 5.40 percent, are over 55 years of age.

Regular Establishment.—During this fiscal year the number of veterans on the pension roll as a result of disability incurred in service in time of peace increased from 33,036 to 33,062. Disbursements decreased from \$8,947,027.17 in 1937 to \$8,868,785.83, and the average monthly value from \$22.17 in 1937 to \$22.07.

Under Public, No. 648, Seventy-fifth Congress, approved June 16, 1938, liberalization was effected, in determinations under Public, No. 2, Seventy-third Congress, so that compensation or pension is payable for disability resulting from venereal disease if in fact innocently acquired, and so that disabilities incurred on furlough or leave of absence, without regard to the interference caused by the absence, upon performance of regular routine of duty, may be considered in line of duty.

Claims of veterans with service in the regular establishment were indirectly affected by Public, No. 732, Seventy-fifth Congress, "The Naval Reserve Act of 1938," which was enacted on June 25, 1938. Public, No. 159, Seventy-fifth Congress, which was enacted near the close of the fiscal year 1937 amended regulation 1 (a), part II of Public, No. 2, Seventy-third Congress, to grant pension to reserve officers or members of the enlisted reserves of the United States Army, Navy, or Marine Corps, suffering disability while performing active service, including service for training purposes. This act grants a pensionable status to those reservists who were considered to be in the active service by the War Department, Navy Department, or Marine Corps at the time the diseases or injuries or aggravation of preexisting diseases or injuries were incurred. Public, No. 732, Seventy-fifth Congress, in section 304 thereof expressly provides that "For the purposes of this section and of said act all members of the Naval Reserve shall be considered as performing active military or naval service while performing active duty with or without pay, training duty with or without pay, drills, equivalent instruction or duty, appropriate duty, or other prescribed duty, or while performing authorized travel to or from such duties."

DEPENDENTS

War of 1812. Although 123 years have elapsed since the close of this war, there was at the end of this year one person still receiving pension on account of service rendered by a soldier in this war. This beneficiary is Esther Ann Hill Morgan, Independence, Oreg., daughter of John Hill, private, Clark's and McCumber's Companies, New York Militia, pensioned at the rate of \$20 per month.

Carolina King, of Cheektowaga, New York, whose husband was Darius King, a private of Steven's Company, New York Militia, and who was pensioned at the rate of \$50 per month, died June 28, 1938. She was the last surviving widow-pensioner of this war. $_{21}$

Mexican War.—This war ended May 30, 1848, over 90 years ago. On June 30, 1938, there were 195 widows of veterans of this war on the pension rolls, while payments to this class totaled \$116,687.99 in 1938.1 This represents a decrease of 26 in the number on the rolls. June 30, 1937, and a reduction of \$16,088.35 in disbursements for 1937.1 Civil War.—On June 30, 1938.7 pensions were being paid to the

169

-438

Civil War.—On June 30, 1938;¹ pensions were being paid to the widows, children, brothers, and sisters of 66,873 deceased veterans of this war, as compared with 76,131 at the beginning of this fiscal period, a decrease of 9,258. These pensions were being paid to 64,507 widows, 1,151 children, and 1,434 other beneficiaries. There were 8,651 cases in which \$30 per month was being paid, 50,243 in which the beneficiary was in receipt of \$40 per month as provided by law for widows of the attained age of 70 years, and 1,122 in which \$50 per month was being paid as authorized by law for widows who were the wives of soldiers during their service in this war. There were 5,640 cases in which dependents were in receipt of pensions under special acts of Congress, and 1,217 in which the dependents were being paid pensions under the general laws because of the death of the veteran from causes due to military service. The disbursements during this fiscal period totaled

\$32,784,881.19 as compared with \$37,628,438.76 for last year, a decrease of \$4,843,557.57. The peak in the number on the roll was reached in 1912, when the dependents of 304,373 deceased veterans were receiving pensions.

During this year 1,027 widow and 139 other dependent claims were under consideration, of which 811 were disposed of, leaving 312 widow and 43 other claims pending on June 30, 1938. The number of widows and other dependents dropped from the pension rolls during this year by reason of death was 9,831 or 12.91 percent, of the number on the rolls at the beginning of the fiscal year.

Indian wars.—On account of Indian war service the dependents of 4,426 deceased veterans were in receipt of pensions on June 30, 1938, and to this class \$1,628,059.30 was paid during 1938. These figures represent decreases of 164 in the number of cases on June 30, 1937, and \$53,847.36 in disbursements over last year. The dependents receiving pensions on June 30, 1938, totaled 4,463, and were classified as follows: widows, 4,383; children, 73; and others 7. During this year 286 claims were considered, of which 277 were disposed of.

Spanish-American War.—On June 30, 1938, pensions were being paid to the widows, children, and dependent parents of 53,345 veterans of this war as compared with 50,292 on June 30, 1937, an increase of 3,053. These pensions were being paid to 50,570 widows, 9,586 children, and 521 parents, a total of 60,677. To these beneficiaries \$19,332,593.49 was paid during this year, as compared with \$18,305,-668.73 in the previous year, an increase of \$1,026,924.76.

The claims of widows, remarried widows, minor children, and dependents of veterans under consideration during this year numbered 6,657 of which 5,243 were disposed of, leaving 1,414 pending at the close of this year, awaiting receipt of necessary proofs to establish title to pension.

World War—Service-connected death.—On June 30, 1938, compensation was being paid to the widows, children, and dependent parents of 95,118 veterans of the World War who died in service or as a result of diseases or injuries incurred either directly or presumptively in service during said war, as compared with 99,032 at the close of the fiscal year 1937, a decrease of 3,914 cases. This compensation was being paid to 28,135 widows, 37,378 children, and 76,779 parents. Death claims have been paid to date to the widows and dependents of 145,927 deceased veterans.

The disbursements for this purpose during the fiscal year of 1938 totaled \$42,359,416.32, as compared with \$34,301,524.70 in 1937, an increase of \$8,057,891.62. This increase was due to the enactment of Section 3 of Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, August 16, 1937, which increased the rates payable to certain widows and dependent parents not barred from receiving it by receipt of installments of Government insurance, and to the liberalization of the definition of the term "widow" by Section 4 of Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress; and also by a further liberalization contained in Section 3 of Public, No. 514, Seventy-fifth Congress, enacted May 13, 1938, which provides that the widow of a World War veteran shall mean a woman who was married prior to the date of enactment of the act.

An analysis of the principal causes of death of veterans who died as a result of service, and whose dependents are now receiving benefits, discloses that 31 percent died from tuberculosis, 26 percent from

105892 - 38 - - 3

injuries, principally wounds in action, and 23 percent from diseases of the respiratory system, other than tuberculosis.

A study of the awards for this benefit indicates that 35 percent of the deaths on account of which payments were being made on June 30, 1938, occurred prior to July 2, 1921, the official ending date of the World War.

At the close of this year service-connected death compensation payments were being made in 5,845 cases where the dependents reside in United States possessions and foreign countries, the annual value of these awards being \$2,732,100.

of these awards being \$2,732,100. Death not due to service.—The act of June 28, 1934, Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, authorized the payment of compensation to the widows and children of World War veterans who died from causes not connected with service while in receipt of compensation for disability rated at 30 percent or more.

To date 31,677 claims have been adjudicated, of which 7,773 have been allowed. On June 30, 1938, payments were being made on 7,422 cases involving 6,024 widows and 12,419 children. The average monthly value per case is \$29.62, and during this year \$2,623,668.90 was disbursed for this benefit, an increase of \$771,686.03 over 1937. The original act provided that benefits could not be paid unless the compensation payable to the veteran at the time of his death was for disability directly connected with service, thereby excluding cases where the 30 percent rating was based, in whole or in part, upon disabilities presumptively connected with service. Another provision denied benefits wherever death was due to misconduct even though compensation had been paid the veteran for directly service-connected disabilities, including wounds received in action. Public, No. 844, approved June 29, 1936, amended Public, No. 484 by including the presumptive cases and by eliminating the misconduct clause. On August 16, 1937, Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress,

On August 16, 1937, Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, became a law. Section 1 of this act reduced the percentage of disability from which a veteran must have been suffering at death requisite to create entitlement in the widow to 20 per centum, provided a child was born of the marriage. The 20 percentum disability at death was also basis of title in the minor child or children, in case of the widow's death or remarriage. Section 1 of Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, was repealed by section 4 of the act of May 13, 1938 (Public, No. 514, 75th Cong.) and in its place there was enacted section 1 of the latter act which grants the rates authorized in Section 1 of Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, if the veteran was suffering at death from a 10 percent disability, either presumptively or directly incurred in or aggravated by service. Under this section the widow must have married the veteran prior to May 13, 1938.

Regular Establishment.—On June 30, 1938, pensions were being paid to the dependents of 8,725 veterans whose death was determined to be the result of disease or injury originating in line of duty in the military or naval service in time of peace. This is an increase of 616 cases during the fiscal year 1938. These pensioners received during this period \$2,645,831.53, an increase of \$178,754.78 over last year. The dependents of these deceased veterans totaled 13,822 and were divided as follows: Widows, 4,767; children, 5,036; and parents, 4,019. Claims considered during this year totaled 1,835, of which number final action was taken in 1,327 cases.

On June 28, 1938, Public, No. 758, Seventy-fifth Congress, was enacted, granting the rates authorized in Veterans Regulation No. 1 (g), Paragraph 2, to persons entitled to pension under the general pension law (sections 4702 and 4707 R. S. as amended) for death resulting from service rendered prior to April 21, 1898. Only 565 claims are involved.

SUMMARY

The following table shows by wars and for the Regular Establishment the number of living veterans receiving monetary benefits, exclusive of insurance and adjusted compensation, on June 30, 1938, and June 30, 1937, and the total payments to them during the fiscal years 1938 and 1937, together with number of deceased veterans on whose account dependents were receiving compensation or pension benefits on June 30, 1938, and June 30, 1937, and the disbursements to dependents for these purposes during the fiscal years 1938 and 1937.

		1938		1937	
Wars and Regular Establishment	Number on roll June 30	Disbursements during fiscal year	Number on roll June 30	Disbursements during fiscal year	
Total Living veterans		\$402, 768, 695. 97 301, 276, 717. 25	841, 937 598, 510	\$396, 030, 052. 12 299, 659, 837. 31	
Deceased veterans.		101, 491, 978, 72	243, 427	96, 370, 214, 81	
War of 1812, deceased veterans	1	840.00	2	840.00	
Mexican War, deceased veterans	195	116, 687. 99	221	132, 776. 34	
Indian wars	7, 240	3, 517, 221. 29	7, 709	3, 493, 443. 33	
Living veterans	2,814	1, 889, 161. 99	3, 119	1, 811, 536. 67	
Deceased veterans	4, 426	1, 628, 059. 30	4, 590	1, 681, 906. 66	
Civil War	71, 921	39, 233, 134. 65	83, 162	46, 595, 957. 96	
Living veterans	5, 048	6, 448, 253. 46	7,031	8, 967, 519, 20	
Deceased veterans	66, 873	32, 784, 881. 19	76, 131	37, 628, 438. 76	
Spanish-American War		118, 183, 018. 33	225, 653	114, 924, 124, 8	
Living veterans	170, 755	98, 850, 424. 84	175, 361	96, 618, 456. 10	
Deceased veterans		19, 332, 593, 49	50, 292	18, 305, 668. 7	
World War		230, 203, 176. 35	484,045	219, 468, 805. 7	
Living veterans		185, 220, 091, 13	379,963	183, 315, 298. 1	
Deceased veterans		44, 983, 085. 22	104,082	36, 153, 507, 53	
Regular establishment		11, 514, 617, 36	41, 145 33, 036	11, 414, 103. 92 8, 947, 027. 13	
Living veterans	33,062	8,868,785.83		2, 467, 076, 7	
Deceased veterans	8, 725	2, 645, 831. 53	8, 109	2, 107, 070. 7	

RETIREMENT OF EMERGENCY OFFICERS OF THE WORLD WAR

1832-

.15

1799

33 14

On June 30, 1938, there were 1,854 emergency officers of the World War entitled to retirement pay, as compared with 1,869 on June 30, 1937, a decrease of 15 during this fiscal period. Of the 1,854 officers 2 on the active roll at the close of this year, 1,818 were receiving full payment. In the remaining 36 cases, there was a complete forfeiture. of retirement in 23 and a partial in 13. Eighteen of the complete forfeitures were due to the application of section 212 of Public, No. 212, Seventy-second Congress, approved June 30, 1932, which provided that in case the salary of any retired officer (except those whose disability was incurred in combat with an enemy of the United States) in the employ of the Federal Government together with the retirement pay exceeds \$3,000 per annum, the retirement pay should be reduced or discontinued to the extent to which the sum of the two equal \$3,000. Of the remaining five complete forfeitures three were on account of active duty in the National Guard and two because the beneficiary was incompetent and had an estate of over \$1,500. Of the 13 partial forfeitures 7 were due to the application of section 212

19

忭

1

of Public, No. 212, hereinbefore mentioned and 6 because the beneficiaries were receiving retirement pay as enlisted men of the Regular Army.

The average monthly payment for officers receiving full retirement pay was \$136.96, based on the annual value of the roll at the close of this year, as compared with \$136.99 on June 30, $1937_{,}^{5}$ a decrease of 3 cents. 125.9c4

The disbursements for this purpose during the fiscal year 1938 totaled .\$3,117,230 as compared with \$3,138,956 in 1937, a decrease of \$21,726. Of the 1,854 officers entitled to retirement at the close of this year, 1,818 served in the Army, 24 in the Navy, and 12 in the Marine Corps.

INSURANCE

13

At the close of the fiscal year, there were 602,614 Government life (converted) insurance policies in force, aggregating \$2,569,240,190 of insurance as compared with 596,832 policies in force, aggregating 2,577,982,119 of insurance at the close of the preceding fiscal year.

The net increase of 5,782 policies during the fiscal year 1938 is in excess of the increases during the fiscal years 1937 and 1936. There was a decrease of \$8,741,929 in the amount of insurance in force during the fiscal year 1938 as compared with a decrease during the fiscal year 1937, amounting to \$12,500,160. The number of new policies issued during the fiscal year 1938 is 28,335 as compared with 22,983 issued during the previous fiscal year.

A new dividend schedule was adopted January 1, 1938, and there has been reserved for the payment of dividends the sum of \$8,173,000 to be distributed to policyholders entitled in accordance with this schedule on the anniversary dates of their policies during the calendar⁹ year of 1938.

There was in force at the end of the calendar year 1937 a total disability insurance amounting to \$102,811,517 issued in connection with 19,413 Government life-insurance policies in accordance with section 311 of the act as amended July 3, 1930, and total disability insurance amounting to \$2,487,000 issued in connection with 582 policies in accordance with the amendment of May 29, 1928.

Applications.—Applications for United States Government life (converted) insurance, approved during this fiscal year totalled 28,335, aggregating \$84,362,349, as compared with 22,983 applications amounting to \$65,891,266 approved during the fiscal year 1937. The total number of applications approved to June 30, 1938, is 1,005,004 amounting to \$4,307,701,272 insurance.

Policies issued.—The following table shows the number and amount of United States Government life (converted) insurance policies issued by months for the fiscal year 1938.

Date	Number	Amount	Date	Number	Amount
1937 July	2, 179 1, 799 3, 158 2, 706 2, 307 2, 262	\$7, 991, 401 4, 589, 151 8, 597, 279 9, 338, 506 6, 916, 731 7, 144, 930	1938 January February March April May June	$2, 621 \\ 2, 234$	\$5, 648, 822 5, 441, 781 6, 980, 642 6, 458, 600 6, 797, 982 8, 456, 524
			Total	28, 335	84, 362, 349

4

1°.6.6

\$ 136.91

1105
Analysis by plan.—The following table shows the number and amount, the percentage, and the average amounts of United States Government life insurance policies issued to June 30, 1938, classified by plan.

	т	o date	Percent	Average		
•	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	policy	
Ordinary life 20-payment life 30-payment life 20-year endowment 30-year endowment Endowment at age 62 5-year convertible term 5-year level premium term	207, 050 257, 766 36, 862 240, 849 45, 216 44, 726 145, 381 27, 154	\$1,013,791,912 1,013,441,117 181,461,898 617,222,202 187,827,852 209,574,700 960,349,711 124,031,880	$\begin{array}{c} 20.\ 60\\ 25.\ 65\\ 3.\ 67\\ 23.\ 96\\ 4.\ 50\\ 4.\ 45\\ 14.\ 47\\ 2.\ 70\end{array}$	23. 53 23. 53 4. 21 14. 33 4. 36 4. 87 22. 29 2. 88	\$4, 896. 36 3, 931. 63 4, 922. 74 2, 562. 69 4, 154. 01 4, 685. 75 6, 605. 74 4, 567. 72	
Total	1, 005, 004	4, 307, 701, 272	100. 00	100.00	4, 286. 25	

Policies in force.—At the close of this fiscal year there were in force 602,614 United States Government life (converted) insurance policies amounting to \$2,569,240,190 insurance. During this fiscal year 809 policies amounting to \$3,906,101 insurance were reinstated. The following table shows by fiscal years the number and amount of yearly renewable term and United States Government life insurance in force.

Fiscal year ended		enewable term Isurance		States Govern- ife insurance	Total			
J une 30	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount		
1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 1928 1929 1930 1931 1933 1934 1935 1936 1936	300, 926 240, 291 209, 885 177, 328 130, 103 87, 100 266 229 204 91 29 204 91 29	\$2, 980, 660, 235 2, 314, 663, 588 1, 854, 145, 796 1, 609, 030, 534 1, 372, 091, 391 1, 008, 511, 344 672, 074, 816 1, 654, 277 1, 342, 290 1, 142, 314 506, 276 246, 134 	$\begin{array}{c} 253, 164\\ 280, 852\\ 319, 774\\ 353, 215\\ 423, 557\\ 500, 880\\ 660, 108\\ 649, 837\\ 648, 044\\ 641, 218\\ 645, 964\\ 641, 218\\ 616, 069\\ 598, 226\\ 590, 744\\ 593, 064\\ \end{array}$	\$868, 715, 500 1, 033, 736, 886 1, 216, 044, 021 1, 375, 542, 924 1, 492, 937, 338 1, 773, 075, 664 2, 220, 939, 824 3, 111, 994, 905 3, 058, 577, 039 3, 041, 601, 101 3, 022, 938, 351 2, 977, 083, 467 2, 782, 708, 583 2, 666, 733, 150 2, 005, 011, 255 2, 590, 482, 279	$\begin{array}{c} 651,054\\ 581,778\\ 560,005\\ 552,600\\ 552,340\\ 553,660\\ 557,980\\ 660,374\\ 650,066\\ 648,248\\ 648,248\\ 648,055\\ 641,247\\ 616,069\\ 598,226\\ 590,865\\ 593,213\\ \end{array}$	\$3, 849, 375, 735 3, 348, 400, 474 3, 070, 209, 817 2, 984, 573, 458 2, 865, 028, 729 2, 781, 587, 048 3, 113, 649, 182 3, 059, 919, 329 3, 042, 743, 415 3, 024, 414, 627 2, 977, 329, 601 2, 782, 708, 583 2, 666, 733, 150 2, 605, 400, 400		
1937 1938	150 349	356, 519 653, 183	596, 832 602, 614	2, 577, 982, 119 2, 569, 240, 190	596, 982 602, 963	2, 578, 338, 6 38 2, 569, 893, 3 73		

Policies surrendered for cash and paid-up insurance.—United States Government life-insurance policies provide that after having been in force 1 year they may be surrendered for cash or paid-up insurance. During this fiscal year, there were 9,129 policies, representing \$26,202,-985.31 insurance, surrendered for cash. The total number of policies surrendered for cash through June 30, 1938, is 122,873, representing \$388,180,418 insurance.

During this fiscal year policies having a total face amount of \$1,135,500 were surrendered for paid-up insurance, while 213 policies having a total face amount of \$472,722 paid-up insurance were issued. Through June 30, 1938, policies having a total face amount of \$24,405,-520 have been surrendered for paid-up insurance, and 4,497 policies having a total face amount of \$5,521,922.04 paid-up insurance have been issued.

Premium income.—United States Government life-insurance premiums are deposited to the credit of the United States Government life-insurance fund from which are paid claims on account of total permanent disability and death, dividends and refunds. During the fiscal year ending June 30, 1938, premiums amounting to \$62,821,033.94 were received on United States Government life insurance policies. The amount of United States Government life-insurance premiums received to date totals \$1,000,014,326.06.

United States Government life-insurance fund.—The United States Government life-insurance fund is a trust fund administered by the Government as trustee for the sole benefit of the ploicyholders. The Government derives no profit whatever from the administration of the fund which may be used only for the payment of claims under United States Government life-insurance contracts and dividends to the policyholders themselves. All premiums paid on United States Government life insurance and all interest earned thereon are covered into this fund in the United States Treasury. In considering the United States Government life-insurance fund it must be clearly understood that the beneficial interest in the reserves belongs exclusively to the policyholders.

Dividends.—Dividends on United States Government life insurance represent a return from the excess of the premiums paid over the actual current cost of the insurance protection, provided the reserves necessary to cover the future liability assumed on account of the combined benefits, including both total permanent disability and death, have been accumulated.

All policies of United States Government life insurance include a provision granting benefits on account of total permanent disability, which is exceptionally valuable due to the fact that there is no limit as to the age before which such disability must occur. The premiums charged for this combined benefit, including both death and total permanent disability are the *net* premiums for the death benefit only, based on the assumption that the deaths will occur in accordance with the American experience table of mortality and that the invested funds will earn 3½ percent interest. There is no loading added to the net premium for expenses, since the Government pays all the cost of administration as well as the losses resulting from the extra hazard of the military or naval service.

The cost of providing the benefits on account of total permanent disability is not the same for all policyholders, but varies with the plan of insurance and the age of the insured. It is greater under the life plans than under the endowment plans for the reason that under the former the protection is continued for the whole period of life, while under the latter, it ceases at the end of the endowment period. Furthermore, the cost under any given plan increases with the age of the insured.

Since no additional premium is charged for the benefit granted on account of total permanent disability, it is necessary to make provision for the cost of this benefit out of earnings which otherwise would be considered as surplus, if no benefit on account of total permanent disability were provided, before any part of these earnings can be distributed as dividends.

The present schedule of dividend payments is the result of an extensive study made by competent and disinterested consulting actu-

aries of the experience over a period of years under United States Government life insurance and it equitably reflects the sources from which gains and savings are derived. Under this schedule, those policies on which the premiums and earnings to date have been adequate to build up the entire reserves required on account of both the death and total permanent disability benefits provided in the policy are entitled to and are receiving dividends. Those policies which have not yet accumulated the necessary reserves will not become entitled to dividends unless and until the reserves required have been accumulated.

There were 407,524 dividends amounting to \$7,409,905.18 paid during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1938. The total dividends paid to date are 7,757,754 amounting to \$84,022,647.06.

130

9

2 Chil

 n_{r_i}

VI.

date are 7,757,754 amounting to \$84,022,647.06. 40.675Converted claims.—Through June 30, 1938,9a total of 37,303 awards 123had been made on account of death and 11,646 by reason of permanent and total disability. These death awards involved the payment of insurance in the amount of \$212,641,245, of which \$153,631,240 was disbursed in lump-sum payments to 28,255 beneficiaries. Death cases numbering 3,393 having insurance amounting to \$13,733,157 have been terminated due to expiration of installment payments. Payments of converted insurance averaging \$35.34 monthly are being made to 10,116 permanently and totally disabled veterans. 32.3ν

During the calendar year 1937' awards were made to the beneficiaries of 2,723 deceased veterans, and 1,184 awards were made to veterans with permanent and total disabilities as compared with 3.110- 24/2 3 and 826, respectively, during the calendar year 1936. An analysis of the principal plans of insurance on which death claims

were paid during the calendar year 1937¹ shows that 27 percent of the policies were ordinary life, 23 percent were 20-payment life, 17 percent 20-year endowment, and 13 percent 5-year convertible term. Of the policies on which disability claims were paid during the same period, 21² percent were 5-year convertible term, 31 percent were ordinary life, 18 percent 20-payment life, and 14 percent were 20-year \$32,393

endowments to be a construction of a state of the second of the second state of the se automatic insurance during this year totaled \$82,521,520, and to date \$2,089,005,964, which is \$1,634,668,881 in excess of the \$454,-337,083 received in premiums. On June 30, 1938, monthly installments of term insurance were being paid to 11,582 permanently and totally disabled veterans and to the beneficiaries of 106,392 deceased veterans, as compared with 12,040 disability and 119,966 death awards on June 30, 1937. The relatively large decrease in death awards during this year was due principally to the termination of 9.110.9,832 cases between October 1937 and June 30, 1938, by the payment of the last of 240 monthly installments. A much larger reduction can be expected in the next fiscal year because of the many veterans who died in 1918 and 1919. The other factor contributing to this decrease was the payment in lump sum of the commuted value of the unpaid installments upon the death of the beneficiary named in the policy, as authorized in section 303 of the World War Veterans' Act. These lump sum payments totaled \$8,172,526 during this year and \$185,069,425 to date. In addition, \$695,851 was paid during this year on 175 compromise cases authorized under Public, No. 78, Seventy-third Congress, June 16, 1933, of which 123 were disability and 52 death cases. To date \$4,140,588 has been paid on 1,023

 $\mathbf{29}$

30511

10

11130

ψ

115.

11

19:04.1

30 ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 355, 58%

compromise/cases authorized under this act, of which 746 were disability and 277 death cases. Permanent total disability payments averaging \$47.96 per month are being made on insurance valued at \$96,602,881. The States having the largest number of veterans receiving these payments are as follows: New York, 999; California, 985; Pennsylvania 634; Illinois, 598; and Massachusetts, 484. An analysis of the disabilities for which term insurance is being paid discloses the fact that neuropsychiatric diseases are the disability cause in 49.91 percent of the awards, tuberculosis in 24.10 percent,

and general medical and surgical conditions in 25.99 percent. Awards of insurance to permanently and totally disabled veterans have been terminated in 26,760 cases. In 14,96 percent of these cases the reason for termination was recovery/and in 82.25 percent the death of the veteran.

Considering the terminations among veterans permanently and totally disabled because of tuberculosis, 13.45 percent recovered, 85.25 percent died. In the neuropsychiatric group, 16.32 percent recovered and 76.21 percent died, while in the general medical and surgical group 18.39 percent recovered and 77.53 percent died. 11.31,

It is noted that of the 106,392 death claims on which installments (are now being paid, 90,938, or 85.47 percent of the veterans died prior to the official closing date of the World War, July 2, 1921. These payments) are being made to 57,357 parents, 19,111 widows, 2,128 children, and 27,796 other beneficiaries. The largest number of active death awards are in the following States: New York, 9,862; Pennsylvania, 7,706; and Illinois, 5,938.

Payments of automatic insurance (provided for those who were permanently and totally disabled or who died within 120 days after entrance into service and before making application for term insurance) are being made to 289 permanently and totally disabled veterans, of whom 196, or 67.82 percent, are suffering from neuropsychiatric diseases; 52 or 17.99 percent from tuberculosis; and 41 or 14.19 percent from general medical and surgical conditions. In the cases of 1,544 deceased veterans, this insurance is being paid to their beneficiaries, classified as follows: 1,201 parents, 175 widows, and 168 children. During this fiscal year, 3,616 cases were terminated by the payment of the last of 240 monthly installments.

FINANCE 12.5

The actual net disbursements from appropriations and trust funds of the Veterans' Administration (including adjustments on lapsed appropriations) during this fiscal period were as follows:

Appropriations:	Disoursements
Salaries and expenses	\$85, 752, 149, 00
Printing and binding	128, 369, 72
Hospital and domiciliary facilities and services. Veterans'	110,000.11
Administration	9, 311, 252, 65
National Industrial Recovery, Veterans' Administration.	0, 011, 2021 00
1933-39	35, 607, 12
Army and Navy pensions and military and naval compen-	
sation	402, 783, 695, 97
Military and naval insurance	82, 521, 520, 30
Adjusted service and dependent pay	1 352 099 16
Vocational rehabilitation	1 1, 084, 69
Military and naval family allowance	1 889. 40
Miscellaneous	40, 111, 61
¹ Credits.	

Trust funds:	Disbursements
United States Government life-insurance fund	² \$31, 635, 613. 35
Adjusted service certificates	13, 837, 588, 33
Army allotments	¹ 419. 71
General Post Fund	192, 438. 01
Funds due incompetent beneficiaries	117, 846. 38
Personal funds of patients, Veterans' Administration	2, 123, 823. 93
Total	629, 829, 721. 73
1 Credita	

³ Includes encumbrances.

The amount shown for the appropriation "Salaries and Expenses" includes net disbursements of \$1,345,000 from allotments made to other Government agencies for the care and treatment of Veterans' Administration beneficiaries.

LEGAL ACTIVITIES

LEGISLATION

The fiscal year embraced the close of the first session of the Seventyfifth Congress (July 1, 1937-August 21, 1937), all of the second session (November 15, 1937-December 21, 1937), and all of the third session (January 3, 1938-June 16, 1938). During this period 1,765 bills were introduced pertaining to veterans' benefits, many of which had for their purpose material changes in existing laws affecting veterans' Of these, 1,032 were public bills and 733 were for private relief. There were prepared 567 digests on bills introduced on and relief. after July 1, 1937, and the current action of Congress reported thereon. Digests on 633 bills which had been introduced in the Seventy-fifth Congress prior to July 1, 1937, and which were still pending during the fiscal year were also maintained on a current basis in order to reflect congressional action thereon. There were 27 drafts of proposed bills prepared in accordance with the requests of committees and Members of Congress. Eighty-nine résumés and studies of various laws concerning rights of veterans and their dependents were prepared. One hundred ninety-nine reports were furnished committees of Congress on pending legislation and six were furnished to individual Fifty-one reports were furnished the Bureau of the Members. Budget and the President regarding proposed legislation.

New legislation.—Public, No. 288, Seventy-fifth Congress, first session, August 14, 1937, amends section 4 of the Adjusted Compensation Payment Act, 1936, as amended, to provide that the amount of any payment on account of an adjusted service certificate of a deceased veteran (including any payment heretofore made) which, under the law of the State or country pursuant to which the estate of the deceased veteran would be distributed, would otherwise escheat to such State or country, shall escheat to the United States and shall be covered into the general funds of the Treasury.

Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, first session, August 16, 1937, an act to liberalize the provisions of existing laws governing service-connected benefits for World War veterans and their dependents, and for other purposes, provides as follows:

Section 1 provides that compensation to a widow, child, or children of a deceased World War veteran under Public, No. 484, Seventythird Congress, as amended by Public, No. 844, Seventy-fourth Congress, shall not be denied if the veteran was suffering from a service-connected disability of 20 per centum degree or more at time of death. The prior minimum degree of disability required was 30 per centum. The section does not apply to a widow unless a child was born of her marriage to the veteran.

Note.—This section was repealed by section 4, Public, No. 514, Seventy-fifth Congress, third session, May 13, 1938.

Section 2 amends section 4 of Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, so as to permit a post mortem finding of service connection. A ruling of the Comptroller General (A-68297; Dec. 14, 1935) precluded such determinations under Public, No. 484.

Subject to certain limitations which will hereafter be noted, section 3 provides for increases in rates of service-connected death compensation as follows: For widows between 50 and 65 years of age, an increase from \$35 to \$37.50 a month; for widows over 65, an increase from \$40 to \$45 a month; for a dependent parent, an increase from \$20 to \$45 a month. In case of both a dependent mother and father, the rate for each is increased from \$15 to \$25 a month. If a deceased veteran's dependent is receiving compensation and insurance in an amount equal to or in excess of the amount of compensation authorized by the section, the increased rate is not applicable. As to widows and children the total compensation payable may not exceed \$75 a month.

Section 4 defines the term "widow of a World War veteran." While the delimiting marriage date of July 3, 1931, is retained, a new provision includes a widow of a World War veteran regardless of the date of marriage, provided a child was born of such marriage. The section also provides that compensation shall not be payable to a widow unless there was continuous cohabitation with the veteran from date of marriage to date of death, except where there was a separation without fault on the part of the widow.

NOTE.—This section was repealed by section 4, Public, No. 514, Seventy-fifth Congress, third session, May 13, 1938.

Section 5 provides that, except as to emergency officers' retirement pay, reenlistment after November 11, 1918, and before July 2, 1921, provided there was prior service between April 6, 1917, and November 11, 1918, shall be considered as World War service under the laws providing benefits for World War veterans and their dependents.

Section 6 provides that death compensation shall be effective as of the date of death of the World War veteran if claim is filed within 1 year after death. Previously such an award was effective from date of application.

Section 7 adds a new section, to be known as section 312, to the World War Veterans' Act, 1924, as amended, providing that as to automatic insurance, yearly renewable term insurance, and United States Government life (converted) insurance issued prior to December 15, 1936, the permanent loss of the use of both feet, of both hands, or of both eyes, or of one foot and one hand, or of one foot and one eye, or of one hand and one eye, or the loss of hearing of both ears or the organic loss of speech, shall be deemed total permanent disability for insurance purposes.

Section 8 grants authority to the Administrator of Veterans' Affairs to pay to the dependents of an incompetent veteran receiving compensation under title III of the act of March 28, 1934 (Public, No. 141, Seventy-third Cong.), who disappears, the amount of compensation payable to dependents of deceased veterans who die from war service connected disabilities, except that payment shall not exceed the amount of compensation payable at the time of the veteran's disappearance. A similar provision already exists with reference to benefits payable under Veterans regulations promulgated pursuant to Public, No. 2, Seventy-third Congress.

Section 9 makes the penal and forfeiture provisions relating to pensions and compensation contained in Public, No. 2, Seventy-third Congress, applicable to claims for compensation under Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, as amended by Public, No. 844, Seventyfourth Congress, and this act.

Public, No. 338, August 23, 1937, extends further time for naturalization to alien veterans of the World War under the act approved May 25, 1932 (47 Stat. 165), and also extends the same privileges to certain veterans of countries allied with the United States during the World War.

5

Public, No. 354, August 25, 1937, Third Deficiency Appropriation Act, fiscal year 1937, appropriates \$6,713.25 for payment of judgments and authorized claims affecting the Veterans' Administration.

Public, No. 355, August 25, 1937, granting pensions and increases of pensions to certain soldiers who served in the Indian wars from 1817 to 1898, and for other purposes, provides increased pensions for Indian war veterans so that a veteran aged 62 will receive \$25 per month in place of the prior rate of \$20; aged 68, \$35 in place of the prior rate of \$30; aged 72, \$45 in place of the prior rate of \$40; aged 75, \$55 in place of the prior rate of \$50. The measure provides an increase from \$20 to \$55 per month for disability in place of \$20 to \$50 authorized under prior law. There is also provided a pension of \$72 per month for Indian war veterans who are now or may hereafter become, on account of age or physical or mental disability, helpless or blind, or so nearly helpless or blind as to require the regular aid and attendance of another person. It also contains a limitation that an amount in excess of \$50 per month shall not be paid to any person under the provisions of the measure while an inmate of the United States Soldiers' Home or of any national or State soldiers' home.

Public, No. 357, August 25, 1937, to afford protection of pension benefits to peace-time veterans placed on the pension rolls after March 19, 1933, and for other purposes, cancels paragraph X of Veterans Regulation No. 10, as amended. That paragraph contained restrictive provisions as to the payment of pensions to a person holding an office or position, appointive or elective, under the United States Government, or the municipal government of the District of Columbia, or under any corporation, the majority of stock of which is owned by the United States. The paragraph had become almost inoperable as a result of legislation enacted by the Congress subsequent to March 20, 1933.

Public, No. 434, Seventy-fifth Congress, third session, February 24, 1938, provides "That the Attorney General of the United States is hereby authorized to agree to a judgment to be rendered by the presiding judge of the United States court having jurisdiction of the case, pursuant to compromise approved by the Attorney General upon the recommendation of the United States attorney charged with the defense, upon such terms and for sums within the amount claimed to be payable, in any suit brought under the provisions of the World War Veterans' Act, 1924, as amended, on a contract of yearly, renewable term insurance which may be now pending or hereafter may be filed, and the Administrator of Veterans' Affairs is hereby authorized and directed to make payments in accordance with any such judgment: *Provided*, That the Comptroller General of the United States is hereby authorized and directed to allow credit in the accounts of disbursing officers of the Veterans' Administration for all payments of insurance made in accordance with any such judgment: *Provided further*, That all such judgments shall constitute final settlement of the claim and no appeal therefrom shall be authorized."

Public, No. 440, March 5, 1938, First Deficiency Appropriation Act, fiscal year 1938, appropriates \$26,243.25 for payment of judgments and authorized claims affecting the Veterans' Administration.

Public, No. 494, April 26, 1938, "An Act to authorize the transfer of certain military reservations to other agencies of the Government and to the people of Puerto Rico, and for other purposes," provides for the transfer from the War Department to the Veterans' Administration of 23 acres of the Fort Miley, Calif., Military Reservation.

Public, No. 510, May 13, 1938, establishes the 11th day of November in each year as a legal holiday to be known as Armistice Day, and to be dedicated to the cause of world peace.

Public, No. 514, May 13, 1938, has two general purposes, viz, to liberalize the provisions of Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, June 28, 1934, as amended, and to prescribe a definition of the term "widow of a World War veteran."

Section 1 amends section 1 of Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, as amended by section 1 of Public, No. 844, Seventy-fourth Congress, June 29, 1936, and section 1, Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, August 16, 1937, so as to reduce the requisite degree of service connected disability from 20 per centum to 10 per centum and to remove the limitation which bars payment of compensation to a widow unless a child was born of her marriage to the veteran.

Section 2 amends section 4 of Public, No. 484, Seventy-third Congress, as amended by section 2 of Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, which provides for establishment after the death of the veteran of service connection of disability and degree thereof at time of death by changing the degree of disability which must be shown to have existed at the veteran's death from 20 per centum to 10 per centum. It also removes the time limit for filing proof and evidence of degree of disability at time of death and service-connection thereof.

Section 3, which incorporates the second general purpose of the act, provides that for the purpose of payment of compensation under the laws administered by the Veterans' Administration the term "widow of a World War veteran" shall mean a woman who was married prior to the date of enactment of the act to the person who served. The delimiting date of marriage under the prior law was July 3, 1931, except that the definition included as a widow a woman who was married to the veteran at any time, providing a child was born of that marriage. The act eliminates the latter provision and includes marriages prior to May 13, 1938, the date of enactment of Public, No. 514.

This section contains the following provisions of the prior law, section 4 of Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress, August 16, 1937: (1) provisions governing proof of marriage, except that the law of the place where the ceremony was performed at the time thereof will no longer be for application; (2) the requirement, as to the widow of continuous cohabitation with the person who served from date of marriage to date of death, except where there was a separation which was due to the misconduct of, or procured by, the person who served, without the fault of the widow; and (3) denial of compensation to a widow who has remarried either once or more than once, and where compensation is properly discontinued by reason of remarriage it shall not thereafter be recommenced.

Section 4 repeals sections 1 and 4 of Public, No. 304, Seventy-fifth Congress.

Public, No. 534, May 23, 1938, Independent Offices' Appropriation Act, 1939, provides a total appropriation for the Veterans' Administration of \$547,917,500, made up of the following items: \$93,000,000 for various administrative expenses, including repairs, alteration or improvement of existing facilities; \$112,500 for printing and binding; \$410,000,000 for compensation, pensions, gratuities, and allowances, including emergency officers' retirement pay and annuities; \$40,055,-000 for military and naval insurance; \$250,000 for adjusted service and dependent pay; and \$4,500,000 for construction of hospital and domiciliary facilities.

Section 5 of this Act provides as follows:

SECTION 5. No part of any appropriation contained in this Act or authorized hereby to be expended shall be used to pay the compensation of any officer or employee of the Government of the United States, or of any agency the majority of the stock of which is owned by the Government of the United States, whose post of duty is in continental United States unless such person is a citizen of the United States, or a person in the service of the United States on the date of the approval of this act who being eligible for citizenship has filed a declaration of intention to become a citizen or who owes allegiance to the United States.

Public, No. 541, May 24, 1938, "granting pensions and increases of pensions to certain soldiers, sailors, and nurses of the War with Spain, the Philippine Insurrection, or the China Relief Expedition, and for other purposes," provides as follows:

Section 1 provides a pension of \$60 a month to veterans who served 90 days or more in the Spanish-American War, including the Philippine Insurrection and the China Relief Expedition, between April 21, 1898, and July 4, 1902, and have been honorably discharged or who, having served less than 90 days, were discharged for disability incurred in service in line of duty, upon reaching the age of 65 years. The prior service pension rate for Spanish-American War veterans aged 65 was \$30 a month, unless the veteran were disabled, in which case the pension rate ranged from \$20 to \$60 a month, depending upon the degree of disability. The prior law required the attainment of age 75 years to be eligible for \$60 where the pension was based upon age alone.

Section 2 increases the prior rate of \$72, payable if the veteran, as described in the preceding paragraph, is helpless or blind or so nearly helpless or blind as to need or require the regular aid and attendance of another person, to \$100 a month.

Section 3 provides that pensions under the Act shall commence from the date of application therefor, after approval of the act.

Section 4 provides that the act shall not affect or diminish additional pension to those on the Army and Navy Medal of Honor Roll; that pensioners who are inmates of the United States Soldiers' Home or any national or State soldiers' home shall not be paid more than \$50 a month under the Act while the Government contributes toward defraying the expense incurred in providing such inmates with domiciliary care; and that any pension paid under the act shall be in lieu of any other pension to which a person might be entitled under any other war service pension act.

Section 5 provides that the Act shall not be construed to diminish or reduce any pension heretofore granted.

Public, No. 648, June 16, 1938, amends Veterans Regulation No. 10-Series with respect to two provisions. The first amendment changed the definition of what constitutes incurrence of disease or injury "in line of duty", as set forth in paragraph VIII, Veterans Regulation No. 10-Series. Prior to the amendment a disability incurred while on furlough or leave of absence for a period of time which was considered to interfere materially with the performance of regular duty was not deemed to have been incurred in line of duty. This limitation is removed by Public, No. 648. Incurrence of disability during authorized furlough or leave of absence irrespective of the duration thereof, will not be considered in the same category with disability incurred while on actual duty.

The second amendment changes the definition of "misconduct disability" as contained in paragraph IX, Veterans Regulation No. 10-Series, so as to remove the phrase "other than through the sexual relation" which previously barred payment of pension to a veteran or his dependent by precluding establishment of innocent acquirement of venereal disease through the marital relation.

Public Resolution No. 122, June 21, 1938, the "Work Relief and Public Works Appropriation Act of 1938" contains several provisions relating to veterans.

Section 10, title I, provides that in the employment of persons on emergency relief projects, applicants in actual need whose names have not theretofore been placed on relief rolls shall be given the same eligibility for employment as applicants whose names have heretofore appeared on such rolls, but "that the fact that a person is entitled to or has received either adjusted service bonds or a Treasury check in payment of an adjusted compensation certificate shall not be considered in determining actual need of such employment."

Section 11, title I, provides that first order of preference in employment shall be given to "Veterans of the World War and the Spanish-American War and veterans of any campaign or expedition in which the United States has been engaged (as determined on the basis of the laws administered by the Veterans' Administration) who are in need and are American citizens."

The second paragraph of section 15, title I, grants a preference in retention in Federal employment in the District of Columbia to soldiers, sailors, and marines, their widows, and wives of injured soldiers, sailors, and marines who themselves are not qualified.

Title II, Public Works Administration projects, allots not to exceed \$200,000,000 for four classes of Federal construction projects, one of which is "for hospitals and domiciliary facilities of the Veterans' Administration (including the acquisition of land and sites therefor) and any such allotments shall be available for the purposes and under the conditions specified in the appropriation for 'Hospitals and domiciliary facilities' in the Independent Offices Appropriation Act, 1939." Public, No. 697, June 22, 1938, provides that members of the Navy and Marine Corps who enlisted between April 21, 1898, and July 4, 1902, and who were discharged for fraudulent enlistment because of minority or misrepresentation of age and who were otherwise entitled to honorable discharge, shall be held and considered to have been honorably discharged from the Navy or Marine Corps on the date of actual separation therefrom. Members of the Army similarly situated were granted similar relief by Public, No. 108, Seventy-fifth Congress, May 25, 1937.

Public, No. 723, June 25, 1938, Second Deficiency Appropriation Act, fiscal year 1938, appropriates \$15,730.25 for payment of judgments and authorized claims affecting the Veterans' Administration.

Section 206 of this act contains a provision similar to Section 5, Public, No. 534, Seventy-fifth Congress, May 23, 1938, previously quoted.

Public, No. 732, June 25, 1938, providing for the creation, organization, administration, and maintenance of a Naval Reserve and a Marine Corps Reserve, contains a provision in section 304 which affects the Veterans' Administration. That section, after extending to any member of the Naval Reserve who is physically injured in line of duty while performing active military or naval service, or to the beneficiaries of any such Reservist who dies as the result of such physical injury the benefits prescribed by law for civil employees of the United States who are physically injured in the line of duty or who die as a result thereof, provides:

That where a person who is eligible for the benefits prescribed by this section is also eligible for pension under the provisions of the Act of June 23, 1937, entitled "An Act to amend the provisions of the pension laws for peacetime service to include Reserve officers and members of the enlisted Reserves" (50 Stat. 305), he shall elect which benefit he shall receive, and for the purposes of this section and of said Act all members of the Naval Reserve shall be considered as performing active military or naval service while performing active duty with or without pay, training duty with or without pay, drills, equivalent instruction or duty, appropriate duty, or other prescribed duty, or while performing authorized travel to or from such dutics.

The act of June 23, 1937, (Pub., No. 159, 75th Cong.), cited in the foregoing quotation amends Veterans Regulation No. 1 (a), part II, paragraph I (a), governing eligibility for peacetime service-connected disability or death in line of duty to provide that active service, including service for training purposes, performed by a Reserve officer or member of the Enlisted Reserves of the United States Army, Navy, or Marine Corps, shall be considered as active service for the purposes of granting pension under part II of Veterans Regulation No. 1 (a), as amended.

Public, No. 734, June 25, 1938, is designed to facilitate the disposition of property left by deceased veterans on premises used as Veterans' Administration facilities and to eliminate certain difficulties, delays, and expenses heretofore incurred in the disposition of such property.

Section 1 provides that if a person dies in a Veterans' Administration facility, leaving a will probated under the law of his domicile or of the place where the facility is located, the personal property of such decedent situated at the facility shall vest in the person or persons entitled thereto under the provisions of his will. If the decedent leaves property at the facility not disposed of by will it will vest in the persons entitled to take the same by inheritance under laws of decedent's domicile. This provision does not apply to property to which the United States is entitled, except where such title is divested out of the United States.

Upon demand, the property will be delivered to a qualified administrator, after which neither the United States nor any officer or employee thereof shall be liable therefor.

Sections 2 to 7, inclusive, deal with assets left or found on the premises of a soldiers' home, a hospital, or a facility now under the jurisdiction of the Veterans' Administration, either of known or unknown ownership. These sections provide an expeditious method of transferring possession of property left or found on a facility to the person previously designated by the deceased or to certain classes of relatives under varying circumstances as to the existence or nonexistence of administration and cover cases where a decedent left a will as well as those in which he did not and sale of unclaimed property and disposition of the proceeds thereof. The provisions are made applicable to property on hand at the date of enactment as well as that subsequently left or found in facilities. They apply to all property of the decedent which is on the reservation. The sections also apply to any property left or found on the reservation. Provision is made for notice to be given in the manner prescribed.

Section 8 provides for the relinquishment to the States, Territories, insular possessions, or dependencies of the United States of jurisdiction pertaining to the administration of estates of decedents as may have been ceded to the United States by such authorities respecting the Federal reservation on which is situated any Veterans' Administration facility.

Section 9 defines the term "Veterans' Administration facility" as used in this act.

Section 10 authorizes the Administrator of Veterans' Affairs to promulgate regulations to effectuate the provisions of the act. Decisions of the Administrator, or anyone acting for him, shall not be reviewable administratively by any other officer of the United States.

Public, No. 758, June 28, 1938, provides that dependents of members of the armed forces who served prior to April 21, 1898 (commencement of Spanish-American War), who died while in such military service or by reason of disease or disability incurred therein, shall receive pensions at the rates provided by paragraph III, Part II, Veterans Regulation No. 1-Series. These rates apply to dependents of persons who served subsequent to April 21, 1898, during other than a war period.

Public, No. 774, June 29, 1938, "to provide for a national cemetery in every State," authorizes the Secretary of War to accept on behalf of, and without cost to, the United States, from any State title to such land as he deems suitable for national cemetery purposes. Upon acquisition of the land, the Secretary would be authorized to establish thereon a national cemetery and to provide for its care and maintenance.

INTERPRETATIVE LAW

During the year approximately 1,073 formal and precedent opinions were rendered interpreting the provisions of the various laws granting benefits to veterans and their dependents and the laws governing administrative activities embracing contracts, property, fiscal matters, personnel, etc. Of these opinions 66 pertain to pensions, 59 to compensation rights, 107 to insurance benefits, 62 to medical treatment, domiciliary care, and hospitalization in veterans' hospitals, 37 to adjusted compensation, 3 to emergency officers' retirement, 6 to claims of creditors, 24 to questions on burial, 435 to questions of marriage and divorce, 38 to legitimacy of children, 32 to furnishing information, 23 to recognition of attorneys and attorneys' fees, and 181 to questions of administration, contracts, property damage, and other miscellaneous matters.

In addition, 6,643 memorandum opinions, etc., were prepared.

In passing upon applications of admission to practice before the Administration during the fiscal year 1938 the following matters were completed: 474 applications of attorneys were approved and 37 denied, 2 applications of agents were approved and 10 denied.

Civil litigation .- Thirty suits were disposed of as follows: 1 suit filed in the Court of Claims for balance due on contract, judgment for plaintiff; 2 suits for damages, 1 against Administration official for personal injuries, judgment for plaintiff; 1 against Administration official for personal injuries, dismissed; 2 injunctions, 1 suit to restrain payment of pension money into pension fund, dismissed, 1 suit for injunction and appointment of receiver, dismissed; 1 mandatory injunction, suit for pension money due veteran's estate, dismissed; 7 mandamus suits, dismissed; 10 recovery suits, 1 to recover erroneous payments of compensation, judgment for plaintiff, 1 to recover overpayment of insurance, dismissed, 4 to recover adjusted service certificates erroneously issued, dismissed, 1 to recover insurance payments made in error, dismissed, 1 to recover insurance due veteran's estate, dismissed, 1 to recover damages for failure to complete contract, dismissed, 1 to recover proceeds under adjusted service certificate, dismissed; 6 recovery-post fund cases, to recover pension money deposited in Post Fund, dismissed; 1 subrogation, suit for personal injuries, dismissed.

Criminal prosecution.—In addition to directing investigations through field offices, the Veterans' Administration cooperates with the several investigating agencies of the Government in developing the facts concerning possible violations of law. The evidence in cases developed solely by the Veterans Administration is submitted to the Department of Justice with a brief of the facts and law for the consideration of the appropriate United States attorney. Cases developed in cooperation with the Federal Bureau of Investigation of the Department of Justice or the Secret Service Division of the Treasury Department are by those agencies submitted to the appropriate United States attorneys. The Veterans' Administration, however, cooperates with the United States attorney in the further handling of the cases upon request of the Department of Justice.

When requested by the Department of Justice, the Veterans' Administration prepares tentative forms of indictments covering offenses committed in connection with Veterans' Administration activities and cooperates in making a research of the laws. The major portion of the offenses involved are covered by penal provisions within the several acts administered by the Veterans' Administration, but where these statutes do not cover a particular offense, the case is prepared

105892-38-4

under the appropriate provision of the Federal Criminal Code or other applicable Federal penal statute.

There were pending in the Veterans' Administration on June 30, 1937, 288 cases which were in the course of consideration and investi-During the fiscal year, 539 complaints of violations of laws gation. were received, considered, and investigated, which, with the number on hand, made a total of 827 cases. Two hundred and forty-two of these cases were submitted to the Department of Justice for consideration of United States attorneys and 408 were closed without reference to the Department of Justice on account of the lack of evidence, expiration of the period of the statute of limitations, and so forth. A total of 177 cases remained in the course of investigation on June

30, 1938. There were pending in the Department of Justice on June 30, 1937, a total of 261 cases. There were submitted during the fiscal year 242 cases, making a total of 503 cases. Of these, 266 were disposed of by the Department of Justice, leaving a balance on June 30, 1938, of 237 cases.

The 266 cases were disposed of as follows:

Acquittals	3
No bills	
Convictions	104
Closed by Department of Justice	97
Nolle prosequi	16
Defendant died after indictment	3
Defendant died before indictment	1
Statute of limitations bars prosecution	3
Filed away with leave to reinstate	2
Total	266

In explanation it may be stated that the 97 cases closed by the Department of Justice were cases wherein it was believed that, on account of mitigating circumstances, a successful prosecution would not be obtained. Nevertheless, there having been a prima facie showing of guilt, the Veterans' Administration took the position that the proper enforcement branch of the Government should consider the evidence.

GUARDIANSHIF

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 1938, there was no Federal legislation directly affecting the guardianship program; however, several States enacted legislation with more specific provisions respect-85,225 ing trust investments. 84,749 9

The number of the beneficiaries under guardianship remained practically stationary-85,977 on July 1, 1937, and 85,865 on June 30, 1938. Minors decreased from 43,040 to 42,651, but incompetents in-creased from 42,937 to 43,214.

(4 These beneficiaries' estates received during the year a total of \$45,454,906.51 through payments and earnings, approximately onehalf million less than in the preceding fiscal year. The total amount of such estates increased, however, over 12 million dollars to a total of \$156,870,857.23. Illegal investments of over 1 million were decreased \$670,744,08 to \$670,744.08, 465,552.19

Losses were reported as follows: Embezzled or misappropriated	#170 110 FC
Embezzled or misappropriated	\$172, 112. 56
Lost on deposits	20, 910. 01
Lost on investments	128, 836. 25
Recoveries and savings for beneficiaries by chief attorneys' offices:	
Recoveries and savings for beneficiaries by chief attorneys' offices. Of amounts embezzled or misappropriated	312, 980. 85
On investments and expenditures	391, 993. 34
On commissions	31, 943. 71
On fees14_364_751	13, 629. 61
On contemplated investments and expenditures prevented	204, 499. 25
On contemplated investments and expenditures prevented Legal services rendered	362, 360. 05

Total recoveries and savings______91___5246.65__1, 317, 406. 81

Actual cash collections for beneficiaries totalled \$545,118.99; and for the Government-escheated funds and repayments-\$68,310.17.

In two cases—*Hines* v. Lowry (In re Garmes) 300 N. Y. S. 603, Ibid 1344 and *Hines* v. Copsey (In re Copsey) 76 Pac. (2d) 691 (Adv.)—the State courts allowed attorney fees notwithstanding the provisions of Section 500, World War Veterans' Act on the basis of the decision of the Supreme Court in the case of *Hines* v. Stein, 298 U. S. 94. In the Garmes case, involving a fee of \$1,500, the Supreme Court granted certiorari May 23, 1938. In the Copsey case, involving a fee of \$4,000, certiorari was denied, the Supreme Court of California having remanded the cause for determination of a reasonable fee. The pending case, which doubtless will be decided during the next term, will establish an important precedent respecting fees in guardianship cases

APPEALS

At the expiration of this fiscal year, there were appeals pending in 12,854 cases. This represents a reduction from 19,081 in the pending load as of June 30, 1937. Of the appeals pending on June 30, 1938, 4,703 were physically before the Board of Veterans' Appeals for consideration; 306 had been recalled and were pending receipt by the Board; 2,008 had been certified as ready for appellate consideration and were awaiting recall, and 5,315 were pending development and certification by the agencies of original jurisdiction. Under the procedure obtaining, when an appeal is filed it is incumbent upon the agency having custody of the file, together with the veteran or his representatives, to certify that the evidence has been fully developed and that no further evidence is available material to the question at issue. The responsibility for the actual development of the evidence rests with the agency of original jurisdiction.

During the fiscal year, appellate action was taken on 42,553 issues, involving 20,944 appellants, the ratio of decisions to appellants being 2.03. Despite the care used in the development of the evidence by agencies of original jurisdiction, it was found to be necessary to remand 1,589 cases for further development and in many instances the Board of Veterans' Appeals undertook the indicated additional development.

As of June 30, 1938, formal hearings were pending in 1,093 of the cases actually before the Board of Veterans' Appeals. The volume of pending hearings was greatly reduced during the fiscal year through the cooperation between the field agencies and accredited representatives in holding recorded hearings in the field for submission to the Board of Veterans' Appeals. During the fiscal year, 7,349 formal hearings were held before the Board of Veterans' Appeals.

The appeals disposed of during the fiscal year involved benefits to veterans of all wars and the regular establishment and their dependents under the various laws administered by the Veterans' Administration. For an analysis by wars and kind of claim, see table 52.

PERSONNEL

On June 30, 1938, there were on the rolls of the Veterans' Administration 36,434 employees (exclusive of those on a per diem and per hour basis) whose aggregate gross annual salaries, including allowances, totaled 59,874,159 as compared with 35,190 employees and 58,445,240 in annual salaries on June 30, 1937, a net increase of 1,244 employees and \$1,428,919 in aggregate annual salaries. This increase in personnel was due almost entirely to the operation of additional hospital and domiciliary facilities, the beds for these purposes having increased 4,570 and 573 respectively during this fiscal period. Of the total personnel on the rolls at the close of this fiscal year, 5,029 were assigned to central office and 31,405 to field stations located in 47 States, the District of Columbia, and insular offices.

In making new appointments and in effecting discontinuances, the policy of extending preference to ex-service employees has been carefully followed. The same preference has been extended in filling vacancies in staff positions. At the close of this year 71.99 percent of the male and 12.49 percent of the female employees on the rolls of the Veterans' Administration were ex-service, while 51.69 percent of the total personnel had such status.

The foregoing figures include member employees in Veterans' Administration facilities. On June 30, 1938, there were 1,528 member employees receiving aggregate annual salaries of \$737,064. During July 1937 the Veterans' Administration and the United

During July 1937 the Veterans' Administration and the United States Civil Service Commission reached an agreement whereby disabled veterans hospitalized or domiciled in Veterans' Administration facilities could receive the necessary training therein to prepare for the civil-service examinations given for the positions of telephone and elevator operators. During this year 151 veterans took advantage of this opportunity.

STATISTICAL TABLES

MEDICAL AND DOMICILIARY TABLES

TABLE 1.—Clinical laboratory tests and X-ray examinations, fiscal years 1924-38

Fiscal year	Classified lab	oratory tests	X-ray examinations			
	Out-patient		Out-patient	In-patient		
1938 1937 1936 1935 1933 1934 1933 1931 1930 1929 1928 1927 1926 1924	$\begin{array}{r} 361,000\\ 365,841\\ 222,282\\ 128,758\\ 296,272\\ 442,539\\ 393,897\\ 176,181\\ 163,346\\ 169,712\\ 191,196\end{array}$	2, 381, 366 2, 189, 743 2, 024, 927 1, 977, 968 1, 578, 211 1, 646, 167 1, 582, 659 1, 045, 771 910, 683 851, 636 817, 269 759, 256 708, 538 665, 944 285, 938	181, 040 182, 486 176, 998 150, 034 69, 644 107, 819 228, 064 229, 297 112, 694 113, 390 104, 836 107, 829 114, 997 128, 355 132, 213	370, 875 356, 009 331, 402 302, 898 224, 024 266, 344 302, 049 193, 67 195, 531 146, 058 129, 329 114, 256 103, 000 97, 765		

NOTE.---Veterans' Administration homes not included prior to 1932.

ł

TABLE 2.—Out-patient medical service, by service rendered, fiscal years 1924-38

Fiscal year	Individ- uals treated	Treat- ments	Individ- uals ex- amined	Examina- tions	Opera- tions	Anes- thetics	Sent to hospital	Hospi- tal visits	Hom e visits
938	269, 302 206, 029 256, 652 263, 776	994, 968 895, 208 1, 166, 095 804, 406 575, 816 830, 115 895, 298 829, 040 786, 599 795, 725 873, 577 1, 044, 124 1, 257, 967	387, 119 353, 682 394, 346 330, 753 215, 472 542, 400 842, 133 821, 569 325, 112 303, 635 322, 302 338, 761 331, 947	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 128, 587\\ 1, 079, 388\\ 1, 094, 109\\ 885, 349\\ 559, 554\\ 1, 350, 452\\ 2, 057, 712\\ 1, 933, 605\\ 950, 252\\ 890, 020\\ 871, 756\\ 922, 364\\ 9336, 744\\ 1, 144, 330\\ 1, 144, 330\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3, 145\\ 3, 281\\ 2, 537\\ 1, 851\\ 867\\ 522\\ 746\\ 877\\ 968\\ 1, 679\\ 2, 364\\ 2, 600\\ 4, 289\\ 5, 863\end{array}$	25 21 31 23 64 38 123 65 245 323 423 1,081 2,177 3,085	102, 355 81, 249 73, 126 58, 148 35, 874 116, 822 133, 337 109, 682 93, 448 82, 792 73, 472 73, 472 71, 340 67, 871 59, 916	8, 726 8, 646 4, 029 4, 164 6, 929 15, 514 20, 759 18, 544 15, 319 18, 572 19, 666 28, 800 49, 259 81, 680	36, 652 40, 620 41, 824 43, 015 41, 293 54, 367 55, 867 48, 651 42, 156 42, 305 38, 633 34, 972 35, 063 38, 091

 TABLE 3.—Number of out-patient treatments divided into medical and dental, salary and fee, with percent of fee, fiscal years 1924-38

Fiscal year		Medic	al		Dental						
	Total	Salary	Fee	Percent fee	Total	Salary	Fee	Percent fee			
1938	899, 400 816, 702 1, 081, 252 744, 035 540, 384 752, 213 803, 782 742, 060 705, 802 721, 732	783, 547 689, 053 931, 665 561, 038 345, 973 566, 156 594, 333 568, 656 507, 139 602, 500	115, 853 127, 649 149, 587 182, 997 194, 411 186, 057 209, 449 173, 394 138, 663 118, 923	12.9 15.6 13.8 24.6 36.0 24.7 26.1 23.4 19.6	95, 568 78, 506 84, 843 60, 371 35, 432 77, 902 91, 516 86, 980 80, 797 72, 903	88, 759 72, 071 76, 997 53, 543 29, 465 55, 539 64, 664 65, 747 64, 036	6, 809 6, 435 7, 846 6, 828 5, 967 22, 363 26, 852 21, 233 16, 761	7. 8. 9. 11. 16. 28. 29. 24. 20. 24. 20.			
928 927 926	747, 019 793, 389 950, 397	602, 809 649, 598 718, 298 904, 475	118, 923 97, 421 75, 091 45, 922	16.5 13.0 9.5 4.8	73, 993 80, 103 80, 188 93, 727	62, 226 68, 366 72, 998 87, 446	11, 767 11, 737 7, 190 6, 281	15. 14. 9. 6.			
925 924	1, 141, 152 1, 515, 433	1, 099, 089 1, 456, 585	42, 063 58, 848	3.7 3.9	116, 815 187, 884	111, 103 179, 933	5, 712 7, 951	4. 4.			

Ý

Fiscal year		Medic	al	Dental						
	Total	Salary	Fee	Percent fee	Total	Salary	Fee	Percent fee		
1938	1, 110, 812 1, 063, 001 1, 075, 263 867, 624 548, 320 1, 322, 161 2, 018, 787 1, 895, 918 920, 537	1, 097, 723 1, 047, 230 1, 054, 267 831, 608 501, 850 1, 240, 265 1, 771, 911 1, 593, 994 892, 290	13,089 15,771 20,996 36,016 46,470 81,896 246,876 301,924 28,247	1. 2 1. 5 2. 0 4. 2 8. 5 6. 2 12. 2 15. 9 3. 1	17, 775 16, 387 18, 846 17, 725 11, 234 28, 291 38, 925 37, 780 29, 715	$\begin{array}{c} 15,944\\ 14,601\\ 16,648\\ 15,505\\ 9,517\\ 22,827\\ 31,118\\ 32,217\\ 25,623\\ \end{array}$	1, 831 1, 786 2, 198 2, 220 1, 717 5, 464 7, 807 5, 563 4, 092	10. 10. 11. 12. 15. 19. 20. 14. 13.		
929. 928. 927. 927. 926. 925. 925.	867, 201 850, 023 903, 127 915, 433 1, 120, 256 1, 327, 591	843, 287 830, 962 880, 956 886, 972 1, 084, 097 1, 273, 547	23, 914 19, 061 22, 171 28, 461 36, 159 54, 044	2.8 2.2 2.5 3.1 3.2 4.1	22, 819 21, 733 19, 237 21, 311 24, 074 35, 704	20, 286 19, 191 17, 478 19, 830 22, 014 33, 111	2, 533 2, 542 1, 759 1, 481 2, 060 2, 593	11. 11. 9. 6. 8. 7.		

 TABLE 4.—Number of out-patient examinations divided into medical and dental, salary and fee, with percent of fee, fiscal years 1924-38

 TABLE 5.—Admissions of United States veterans for hospital treatment and domiciliary care, fiscal years 1920-38

1938 1937 1936 1935 1934 1932 1932	Но	spital treat	tment	Domi- ciliary care		Hosp	Domi- ciliary care		
	Total	Govern- ment fa- cilities and hos- pitals	State and civil	Govern- ment facili- ties	Fiscal year	Total	Govern- ment fa- cilities and hos- pitals	State and civil	Govern- ment facili- ties
1938 1937 1936 1935 1934	1, 863, 289 152, 966 141, 537 120, 365 106, 897 63, 900 136, 626	1, 666, 736 150, 893 139, 455 117, 915 104, 771 63, 151 132, 791	196, 553 2, 073 2, 082 2, 450 2, 126 749 3, 835	28, 585 ¹ 24, 820 ¹³ , 009 ⁸ , 656 ⁸ , 305 ¹³ , 492	1929 1928 1926 1926 1925 1924 1923 1922	83, 188 73, 270 71, 967 69, 441 76, 812 64, 053 82, 814 134, 354	80, 262 70, 854 69, 145 64, 279 68, 474 51, 652 59, 451 86, 392	2, 926 2, 416 2, 822 5, 162 8, 338 12, 401 23, 363 47, 962	
1932	136, 626 148, 662 109, 649 92, 115	132, 791 142, 555 104, 522 88, 481	6, 107 5, 127 3, 634	13, 492 19, 593	1921 1921 1920	91, 440 43, 233	48, 070 23, 623	43, 370 19, 610	

.

¹ Includes 21 admissions to civil institutions in United States possessions.

			Hospital treatment															
Class of beneficiary	Grand	Grand total Domi- ciliary care	All facilities and hospitals			Vet	Veterans' Administration facilities			Other Government hospitals			Sta	State and civil hospitals				
	totai		Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychia- tric	General	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychia- tric	General	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychia- tric	General	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychia- tric	Gen- eral
Grand total	182, 946	28, 585	154, 361	11,056	23, 471	119, 834	132, 297	9, 579	21, 954	100, 764	19, 984	1, 251	1, 303	17, 430	2, 080	226	214	1, 640
United States veterans World War Service connected Nonservice connected Emergency Observation or exam- ination for insurance, pension, of compensa-	181, 551 161, 727 12, 805 138, 914 3, 488	28, 585 25, 269 2, 251 23, 018	152, 966 136, 458 10, 554 115, 896 3, 488	10, 989 9, 510 2, 165 6, 681 375	23, 436 21, 386 2, 287 17, 845 370		130, 939 117, 966 9, 293 100, 724 2, 304	9, 516 8, 617 1, 831 6, 166 297	21, 922 20, 032 2, 141 16, 736 298	99, 501 89, 317 5, 271 77, 822 1, 709	19, 954 16, 496 1, 138 13, 404 1, 094	1, 249 681 262 347 56	1, 303 1, 160 113 961 65	17, 402 14, 655 763 12, 096 973	2,073 1,996 123 1,768 90	224 212 22 168 22	211 194 33 148 7	1, 638 1, 590 68 1, 452 61
tion	6, 520 13, 607 120 13, 487 198 2 196	1, 989 30 1, 959 27 27	6, 520 11, 618 90 11, 528 171 2 169	289 284 5 279	884 1, 215 13 1, 202 14 14	5,34710,1197210,0471572155	5, 645 9, 210 73 9, 137 147 2 145	273 238 4 234	857 1, 120 12 1, 108 13 13	$\begin{array}{r} 4,515\\ 7,852\\ 57\\ 7,795\\ 134\\ 2\\ 132 \end{array}$	860 2, 343 17 2, 326 24 24	16 34 1 33	21 89 1 88 1 1	823 2, 220 15 2, 205 23 23	15 65 	12 12	6 6	9 47 47
ditions, and occupa- tions. Service connected. Peacetime service. Service connected. Nonservice connected. Nonservice connected. Allied Veterans. C. C. and W. P. A. Miscellaneous	281 279 5, 738 2, 774 2, 964 119 947 329	56 	225 2 223 4, 494 2, 231 2, 263 119 947 329	1 1, 194 1, 028 166 20 16 31	21 21 800 263 537 6 18 11	203 2 201 2, 500 940 1, 560 93 913 287	188 1 187 3, 428 1, 499 1, 929 83 947 328	1 660 516 144 16 16 31	20 737 225 512 3 18 11	$167 \\ 1 \\ 166 \\ 2, 031 \\ 758 \\ 1, 273 \\ 64 \\ 913 \\ 286$	37 1 36 1,054 726 328 29 1	534 512 22 2	1 1 52 33 19	36 1 35 468 181 287 27 1	12 6 6 7	 2	11 5 6 3	1 1 2

- <u>)</u> .

TABLE 6.—Patients admitted for hospital treatment or domiciliary care during fiscal year 1938, by class of beneficiary, groups of hospitals, and type of patient

х

														Hos	oital	treatm	ent							
	т	otal adm	issions		Do	micilia	ary car	Ð		All typ) 6 5			monar erculos		Psy	chot	ic	Othe psyc	r neu chiatr		(General	
Branch of service	al	Ma	le			М	ale			Ma	le		М	ale		Ma	le		Ма	le		Ma	ıle	
	Grand total	White	Colored	Female	Total	White	Colored	Female	Total	White	Colored	Female	White	Colored	Female	White	Colored	Female	White	Colored	Female	White	Colored	Female
Total	181, 551	163, 995	16 517	1, C39	28, 585	26, 139	2, 363	83	152, 966	137, 856	14, 154	956	9, 869	1,076	44	9, 760	925	65	11, 651	930	105	106, 576	11, 223	742
Veterans' Administration U. S. Public Health Serv- ice U. S. Army	5, 310 5, 809	144, 178 4, 489 5, 394	804 397	17 18	28, 585	26, 139	2, 363		130, 939 5, 310 5, 809 8, 835	4, 489 5, 394	804 397	1	154	42 17	44	9, 528 13 103 49	$^{2}_{3}$	33	10, 524 265 289 498	39 14	2	89, 489 4, 057 4, 295 7, 465	721 363	610 15 17 4
U. S. Navy U. S. Interior State Civil	8, 835 33 2, 040	8, 322 29 1, 583	·ī	3					8, 833 33 2, 040	29	1	3				26 41	<u>ī</u>	3 29	2			1, 100 1, 268		 96

TABLE 7.—Domiciliary and hospital admissions of United States veterans by branch of service, type of patient, sex and color, fiscal year 1938 🛔

									Н	ospital t	reatmen	t						
Class of beneficiary	Grand total	Domi- ciliary	All fa	acilities a	nd hospi	itals	Vet		lministra lities	tion	C	ther Go hosp	vernmen itals	t	Sta	te and ci	vil hospi	tals
	totar	care	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychi- atric	Gen- eral	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychi- atric	Gen- eral	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychi- atric	Gen- eral	Total	Pul- monary tuber- culosis	Neuro- psychi- atric	Gen- eral
Grand total	65, 153	14, 254	50, 899	4, 908	29, 286	16, 705	47, 506	4, 443	28, 558	14, 505	2, 515	302	280	1, 933	878	163	448	267
United States veterans World War Service connected Nonservice connected Emergency Observation or examina- tion for insurance pen-	64, 924 58, 248 11, 329 46, 045 655	14, 254 12, 752 944 11, 806 2	50, 670 45, 496 10, 385 34, 239 653	4, 857 4, 278 623 3, 517 131		14, 636 761	47, 285 42, 589 9, 925 31, 949 523	4, 394 3, 984 569 3, 295 113	28, 543 25, 898 8, 693 17, 051 99	14, 348 12, 707 663 11, 603 311	2, 512 2, 067 209 1, 745 94	301 139 40 93 6	280 259 88 167 4	1,931 1,669 81 1,485 84	873 840 251 545 36	$ \begin{array}{r} 162 \\ 155 \\ 14 \\ 129 \\ 12 \end{array} $	444 425 220 191 7	$267 \\ 260 \\ 17 \\ 225 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 1$
sion or compensation Spanish American War Service connected Nonservice connected Civil War Service connected	219 3, 509 45 3, 464 66 1		219 2, 638 29 2, 609 62	7 115 2 113	$\begin{array}{c} 62 \\ 1,068 \\ 12 \\ 1,056 \\ 11 \end{array}$	$150 \\ 1,455 \\ 15 \\ 1,440 \\ 51$	192 2, 415 21 2, 394 59	7 104 1 103	55 1, 047 8 1, 039 11	$130 \\ 1,264 \\ 12 \\ 1,252 \\ 48$	19 200 4 196 3	4 1 3	12 12	19 184 3 181 3	8 23 4 19	7	7 9 4 5	1 7 7
Nonservice connected All other wars, expeditions, and occupations Service connected	65 116	3 26	62 90	1	11 39	51 50	59 82		11 39	48 43	3 8	1		3				
Nonservice connected Regular establishment. Service connected Nonservice connected Allied veterans C. C. C. and W. P. A Miscellaneous	116 2, 985 1, 840 1, 145 37 120 72	26 601 256 345	90 2, 384 1, 584 800 37 120 72	$ \begin{array}{r} 1 \\ 463 \\ 379 \\ 84 \\ 11 \\ 8 \\ 32 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 39 \\ 1,567 \\ 1,065 \\ 502 \\ 10 \\ 4 \\ 5 \end{array} $	$50 \\ 354 \\ 140 \\ 214 \\ 16 \\ 108 \\ 35$	82 2, 140 1, 384 756 29 120 72	306 228 78 9 8 32	39 1, 548 1, 053 495 6 4 5	$ \begin{array}{r} 43 \\ 286 \\ 103 \\ 183 \\ 14 \\ 108 \\ 35 \\ \end{array} $	8 234 196 38 3	1 157 151 6 1	9 8 1	7 68 37 31 2	10 4 6 5	1		

TABLE 8.—Beneficiaries remaining under hospital treatment or domiciliary care, June 30, 1938, by class of beneficiary, groups of hospitals, and type of patient

NOTE.-Includes beneficiaries on less than 30 days leave.

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR \mathbf{OF} VETERANS' AFFAIRS

47

.

												Rep	orted S	tate or	reside	nce									
State in which vet- eran is hospitalized or domiciled	Total	Alabama	Arizona	Arkansas	California	Colorado	Connecticut	Delaware	District of Columbia	Florida	Georgia	Idaho	Illinois	Indiana	Iowa	Kansas	Kentucky	Louisiana	Maine	Maryland	Massachusetts	Michigan	Minnesota	Mississippi	Missouri
Grand total	64, 9 24	1, 284	440	997	6, 042	851	662	100	754	1, 19 9	1, 473	296	4, 295	1, 633	1,032	1,071	1, 227	1, 164	546	903	2, 188	1, 925	1, 304	879	2, 422
United States	64, 262	1, 284	440	997	6,042	851	662	100	. 754	1, 199	1, 473	29 6	4, 295	1, 633	1,032	1,071	1, 227	1, 164	546	903	2, 188	1, 925	1, 304	879	2, 422
Alabama Arizona Arkansas California Colorado Connecticut Delaware	1, 719 540 1, 423 6, 819 1, 119 215	583 6 38 7 6	257 2 126 20	36 5 549 9 4	67 7 5, 749 16	2 2 30 558	4 5 1 131	1	9 1 2 5 2	107 4 8	$\begin{array}{c} 273\\1\\6\\5\\3\end{array}$	9	9 27 4 56 13		1 9 1 17 3	3 7 51 21 104	40 3 5 5 5 5	129 4 44 10 5	 2 2	3 2 1 7 4	1 4 1 18 3 50	3 7 2 24 4	5 20 5	158 20 4 1	24 17 168 34 48
District of Co- lumbia Florida Georgia Idaho	586 828 1, 396 212	3 14 111		 1 1	2 2 2	2 1	1	1	293 9 1	3 591 210	4 120 595	1	1 7 5	2 3	1	1	3 4 2	1 1 9	1	59 1	4 4 1	2 1 1	2	3 3 8	2
Illinois. Indiana. Iowa Kansas. Kentucky Jouisiana. Maine. Maryland. Masachusetts Michigan. Minnesota Mississippi	4,893 1,669 1,300 2,016 789 554 1,039 1,445 1,445 2,307 1,150 1,450 1,636	23 5 1 3 16 2 	1	28 2 4 56 24 24 1 28	7 9 10 3 3 3 3 1 4	6 3 2 16 	$2 \\ 3 \\$	1 35 	8 6 2 1 6 	11 9 2 4 1 2 2 1 1 56	7 7 6 7 6 7 1 6 1 49		3,045 25 7 42 28 2 1 5 5 11 3 12	309 822 4 16 32 3 15 1 6	40 8 755 66 1 1 22 3	$55 \\ 34 \\ 85 \\ 626 \\ \\ 1 \\ \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 3$	62 88 1 3 470 1 3 	$10 \\ 5 \\ 1 \\ 17 \\ 6 \\ 360 \\ 1 \\ 3 \\ \\ 1 \\ \\ 451$	4 1 371 2 143 2	1 1 1 559 1 1 1	4 10 3 2 361 2 1, 563 4 4	133 33 1 6 2 3 1, 014 3	19 12 29 4 1 1,091	22 2 4 10 34 1 1 450	1 493 54 238 618 48 2 2 8 1 10

TABLE 9.—United States veterans remaining under hospital treatment or domiciliary care June 30, 1938, by State location of facility or hospital, and veterans' reported State of residence

Missouri	529	1	1	1	1 4	1			1	-	1	1	82			6			1				1		427
Montana	103				1						-	2	- 		1										
Nebraska	158			1		1								1	5	10									1
Nevada																									
New Hampshire.	13			1															2						
New Jersey	1, 069	2			1		4		8	1	1		3					2	-	2	2	2			
New Mexico	350	3	14	5	13	5	l î		Ĩ	2	l î		10	8	3	6	3	7		-	-	~	1		
New York	6,005	3		ľ	6	2	239	10	17	ĩ	i i		îĭ	5	1	ĭ	4	i	6	11	47	14	2	1 1	ĩ
North Carolina	754	42		4		1 1	2	1 10	34	88	89		4	, K	1	•	19	11	ľ	38	5	1		12	Â
North Dakota	82			*		1	-			00	0.0	1	-	5	1		15			00			18	12	U
Ohio	4,050	8		5	11		3		35	10			186	257	12		327			11	12	388	10		81
Oblahamia	379	•		1 4		*	0		00	10	11	1 1	100	201	12	4	321	:	1	11	12	380	0	0	01
	590			1 '	41					· • • • • • •		10	2	;-		2		. 1			2	3	2		
Oregon	2,464		1		41			28	6	2		10				2	1			10	2	3	2		
Pennsylvania	2,404				4			20	0	2			3	1	1	z		1		10	1 .1	1			
Rhode Island								;-		2											17				
South Carolina	546	1						1		2	38														
South Dakota	497	1	1	1	1	119	1				1	1	5	3	14	11	3					1	22		5
Tennessee	2, 598	97	2	155	8		6		33	56 2	187		31	19	4	6	111	41	1	21	12	9	2	120	48
Texas	1,476	5	4	29	2	1	1			2	1		8	1	2	7	1	26		1		2		8	8
Utah	97				1	3						2													
Vermont	7																				3				
Virginia	2,575	12		7	13		16	20	154	18	40		11	9	2		10	5	6	162	27	6	4	6	7
Washington	1,044		2		14	2					1	104	1	3	1	2					1	1	3	1	
West Virginia	198			1													30								
Wisconsin	2,869	3		7	26	3	6		4	3	6	2	629	61	47	8	10	3	1	4	18	253	45	2	52
W yoming	649		5	2	8	81	1				Î	19	1	1	7	10	3		i	-	2	2	6	-	10
United States posses-			_				-				-		_	-			-		-			-	-		
sions	662					1	1																	1	
Alaska	7					1	1					1													
Canal Zone	6																								
Hawaii	79															•••••									
Philippine Is-	10																								
lands	141					1																		1	
Puerto Rico	429																								
ruerto Alco	429																								
		1				1	•				•						I .		1	1	1		l.	1	

NOTE.-Includes veterans on less than 30 days leave.

											Rep	orted	State o	or resid	dence											itside
State in which veteran is hospitalized or domiciled	Montana	Nebraska	Nevada	New Hampshire	New Jersey	New Mexico	New York	North Carolina	North Dakota	Ohio .	Oklahoma	Oregon	Pennsylvania	Rhode Island	South Carolina	South Dakota	Tennessee	Texas	Utah	Vermont	Virginia	Washington	West Virginia	Wisconsin	Wyoming	Unknown or outside United States
Grand total	299	584	56	211	1, 327	249	5, 305	1, 240	248	2, 761	818	612	4, 010	32 0	902	341	1, 551	2, 612	190	116	1, 724	1,030	790	1, 908	183	850
United States	299	584	56	211	1, 327	249	5, 305	1,240	248	2, 761	818	612	4,010	320	902	341	1, 551	2, 612	190	116	1, 724	1,030	790	1, 908	183	188
A labama Arizona Arkansas California. Colorado Connecticut. Delaware District of Colum- bia Florida. Georgia. Idaho. Illinois Indiana. Iowa. Kansas Kansas Kansas Kansas Maryland Maryland Minesota Minnesota Minnesota	2 1 13 1 5 2	334 2 7 19 41		211 	1, 327 2 3 111 3 4 3 2 2 2 1 9 16 6 4	245 6 5 28 45 	$\begin{array}{c} 3,303\\ \hline 2\\ 17\\ 2\\ 42\\ 13\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\$	1,240 72 2 3 7 1 1 16 8 108 4 6 1 1 58 10	240 4 	$ \begin{array}{c} 2,761 \\ 5 \\ 100 \\ 4 \\ 299 \\ 6 \\ \\ \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 121 \\ 281 \\ 3 \\ 9 \\ 24 \\ \\ 3 \\ 122 \\ 2 \\ 31 \\ \\ 6 \\ \end{array} $	813 14 12 185 25 44 1 1 1 1 23 2 5 5 148 1	612 	4,010 5 8 1 39 22 25 9 6 1 21 66 6 2 1 20 374 374 8 8 3 4	1 1 1 66 1 168 	302 44 3 5 2 14 5 2 14 5 2 11 2 15 1 3 9	341 	1, 531 81 6 64 13 5 4 4 4 87 47 35 1 8 62 9 3 89	$\begin{array}{c} 2, 612 \\ \hline \\ 63 \\ 18 \\ 238 \\ 70 \\ 80 \\ \hline \\ 70 \\ 80 \\ \hline \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 9 \\ \hline \\ 65 \\ 15 \\ 4 \\ 212 \\ 3 \\ 131 \\ \hline \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 89 \end{array}$	190 42 23 5 1 1	110 2 1 1 1 1 1 	1, 724 41 2 1 4 3 94 5 4 1 92 1 92 1 4	1,030 3 2 97 4 25 2 2 2 1 25 2 2 1 21 21 21 21 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 	3 4 1 4 21 4 4 1 21 4 1 16 1 17 85 1 2 1	1, 908 1, 908 1 22 1 2 3 1 1 196 38 4 8 2 10 11 3 3	103 3 2 5 1	188 2 2 43 4 1 1 1 4 7 3 1 1 6 14 7 4 2
Missouri. Montana Nebraska New Hampshire New Jersey. New Mexico New York	98 1	130 		11 1 1 5	784 2 322	121	1 232 6 4, 544	 1 1 1	1	1 1 29	15		1 13 4 640		1 2 	9 1 1	2 3 4	3 94 4		1 1 1 13	 1 1 8	 1 2	 1 	1 2 1	1	 3 11

TABLE 9.—United States veterans remaining under hospital treatment or domiciliary care June 30, 1938, by State location of facility or hospital, and veterans' reported State of residence—Continued

$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	North Carolina North Dakota					9		11	145	62	34			9	1	44] <u>-</u> -	41	2]		60		30	2		1
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Ohio	2	5		2	8			1 -	2	,				1				15			31	4				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Oregon	7		5		2		2			1		396	1							1		100		1	i	9
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Rhode Island													2, 195	38			2		1							7
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	South Carolina	23	43	;-						10			;-	1		340		1									
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 ennessee	1	3		1	10		24	255			8					163						92	$\frac{2}{57}$	$\frac{2}{2}$	20	
vermont	Utah	2	1	10			12	2	1		2	39	1	3		1		9				-			3		
	Vermont Virginia		· · ·					1						1							2					6	
Washington 9 3 3 1 2 1 2 1 1 101 1 1 1 103 3 1 1 1,189 -779 4 -5	Washington	9					1		355	2	29	3	101	115	4	45	1	103	5	1	1	1, 189		79	4		5
West Virginia	West Virginia Wisconsin	3	8							4	17															-	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Wyoming	124	48				19	4	1	$\frac{1}{7}$		3	8		1		37	12	24	37				3	1,470		11 7
sions.	sions	1																							Ť		
Alaska.	ABSKE	1																					1 1				662 7
Hawaji	Hawaii																··										6
Philippine Islands	Philippine Islands.																										79 141
Fuerto Rico	ruento Kico																										

. .

NOTE.-Includes veterans on less than 30 days leave.

TABLE 10.—United States veterans	remaining	under hospital	treatment or domiciliary
care, by sex and color	•, at end of	each fiscal yea	r, 1919–38

		Tot	al		н	ospital tr	eatmen	t	:	Domicili	ary care	
Fiscal year		M	ale			Ma	le			м	ale	
jour	Grand total	White	Col- ored	Fe- male	Total	White	Col- ored	Fe- male	Total	White	Col- ored	Fe- male
1938 1937 1936 1935 1935 1938 1939 1931 1932 1931 1932 1931 1932 1923 1927 1928 1927 1928 1927 1928 1927 1928 1922 1924 1922 1924 1923 1924 1924 1923 1924 1921 1921 1921	64, 924 57, 180 51, 128 51, 922 48, 849 44, 644 62, 255 51, 980 51, 980 52, 310 24, 915 25, 310 24, 915 26, 611 26, 869 26, 237 17, 471 3, 279	58, 054 51, 419 46, 239 46, 700 44, 415 40, 900 56, 684 47, 298 27, 981 25, 475 23, 927 23, 464 23, 075 24, 578 20, 328 20, 328		284 267 371 336 244 200 192 194 177 241 240 220	50, 670 46, 142 41, 542 142, 599 33, 457 43, 567 34, 948 30, 311 27, 487 25, 809 26, 610 21, 730 23, 611 26, 860 26, 237 17, 471 3, 279	45, 389 41, 594 37, 833 38, 540 30, 844 39, 845 32, 223 27, 981 25, 475 23, 927 23, 464 23, 075 24, 578 20, 328 20, 328					1, 535 1, 175 1, 145 1, 036 962 1, 093 1, 816 1, 915	

Status on original admission.
 Permanent status of veteran.
 Includes domiciliary members receiving hospital treatment.

NOTE.--Veterans in United States possessions not included prior to 1927.

TABLE 11.—United States					
of each fiscal year, by	type of disease,	showing the	ose hospitali	ized for	service-
connected and non-service	e-connected disab	ilities, 1919–3	38		

			Total				Pulmor	ary tub	erculosiz	
Fiscal year ended June 20-	Grand		vice ected	Nonsconne	ervice cted 1		Ser conn	vice ected		ervice ected 1
	total	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent	Total	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent
1938	50,670	11,998	23.68	38,672	76.32	4.857	1,004	20.67	3, 853	79.33
1937	46, 142	11,824	25.63	34, 318	74.37	4, 789	1,064	22.22	3,725	77.78
1936		11,668	28.09	29,874	71, 91	4, 539	1,076	23.71	3, 463	76.29
1935	42, 599	12,046	28.28	30, 553	71.72	5, 134	1, 269	24.72	3,865	75.28
1034	39, 445	12,390	31.41	27,055	68.59	5,032	1,241	24,66 29,25	3, 791	75.34
1933		14,080	42.08 35.49	19, 377	57.92 64.51	5, 425 6, 499	1,587 2,026	29.25	3,838 4,473	68.83
1932		15, 460 15, 701	44.93	28, 107 19, 247	55.07	6, 193	2,020	39.88	3,723	60.12
1930		16, 219	53.51	14, 092	46.49	6, 274	3,055	48.69	3, 219	51.31
1929	27, 487	15, 664	56.99	11,823	43.01	6, 121	3,178	51.92	2,943	48.06
1928	25,899	16, 271	62.82	9,628	37.18	6,045	3, 513	58.11	2,532	41.89
1927		17,902	70.73	7,408	29.27	6,658	4,612	69.27	2,046	30.73
1926	24,915	19,903	79.88	5,012	20.12	7, 308	6, 112	83. 63	1, 196	16.37
1925	26,610	22,771	85.57	3, 839	14.43	9, 314	8,416	90.36	898	9.64
1924	21,730	21, 730	100.00			8,082	8,082	100.00		
1923	23, 611	23, 611	100.00			9, 577	9, 577	100.00		
1922		26,869	100.00		• • • • • • • • •	10,849	10, 849 10, 337	100,00 100,00		
1921 1920		26, 237	100.00 100.00			10, 337 6, 018	10, 337 6, 018	100.00		
1920		17,471	100.00			1, 362	1, 362	100.00		
TATA	3, 279	3, 279	100.00			1, 302	1, 302	100.00		

See footnotes at end of table.

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 53

 TABLE 11.—United Sated veterans remaining under hospital treatment at the end of each fiscal year, by type of disease, showing those hospitalized for service-connected and non-servic-connected disabilities, 1919-38—Continued

1		
Nons conn	Service Nonse onnected connec	
Num- ber	m- Per- Num- r cent ber	Per- cent
}	40 100.00	
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

¹ From 1925 through 1930—veterans remaining who were admitted under authority of sec. 202-10, World War Veterans' Act 1924. From 1931 through 1933—veterans remaining who were admitted under authority of sec. 202-10; under laws governing admissions to national homes; and examinations or observations for insurance, compensation, and disability allowance. From 1934 through 1937—veterans remaining for treatment of disa.jlities classified as nonservice connected according to act of Mar. 20, 1933.

NOTE.-Veterans in United States possessions not included prior to 1927.

TABLE 12.—Domiciliary and hospital discharges of United States veterans showing results of hospital treatment and type of patient, fiscal year 1938

					Т	ype of	patien	t				
١		Fotal			ilmon percul		Neur	opsyc	hiatric	G	lenera	}
	Cases	Av- er- age days	Per- cent	Cases	Av- er- age days	Per- cent	Cases	Av- er- age days	Per- cent	Cases	Av- er- age days	Per- cent
Domiciliary care Hospital treatment Hospitalization complete Results of treatment:	¹ 26, 276 ² 149, 958 119, 107	76.9	100.00	10, 685 5, 233	163. 0 150. 6	100, 00 48, 98	22, 598 16, 426	193. 2 156. 9	100.00 72.69	116, 673 97, 448	46. 5 45. 5	100. 00 83. 52
Arrested Apparently arrested	190	34.5 678.8 321.9	. 13		678. 8 321. 9	1.78	58 0	81.5	2.57	6, 4 74	30. 2	5. 55
Quiescent Improved		349.1	. 06	86	349.1 218.5	. 81	10, 047	107 4	44.46	70, 400	49.4	60.34
Unimproved Died	4,081	77.3	2.72	139	236.0	1.27	1, 107	147.5	4.90	2,838	42.4	2.43
Condition not stated.	10, 117 16, 514			1, 979 2, 224	219. 1 10. 9	18. 52 20. 81	1, 518 3, 174			6, 620 11, 116		5.67 9.53
Hospitalization incom- plete Results of treatment: Apparently recov-	30, 849	121. 1	20. 57	5, 452	175. 0	51.02	6, 172	289.8	27. 31	19, 225	51.7	16. 48
Improved	214 17, 854 6, 504			2, 611 31, 651			2,721		12.04		66.3	. 10 10. 73 2. 07
Condition not stated_	6, 277							12.8			10.4	3. 58

Includes 6,273 intrafacility transfers.
 Includes 7,782 intrafacility transfers.

³ Includes 23 terminal cases discharged with unfavorable prognosis.

PENSION AND COMPENSATION TABLES

TABLE 13.—Statement showing number of living veterans who were receiving pension, compensation, disability allowance, or emergency officers' retirement pay; also the number of deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving compensation or pension benefits at the end of each fiscal year, the amounts disbursed for these benefits during the fiscal years 1910–38, and the total amounts disbursed to June 30, 1909, and 1938, for each war and regular establishment

· · · · ·		То	tal		W	ar of 1812			War with	n Mexico	
Fiscal year	Livit	ng veterans	Deceas	ed veterans	Living veterans 14.01973648	Decease 32.197	i veterans 054.09		veterans 8,117,32	Deceased	1 veterans 1548.08
1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount
¹ Total to June 30, 1938 ³		\$13, 285, 8	39, 931. 85		\$14, 019, 736. 48	\$32, 19	\$ 864. 09	\$28, 74	8, 117. 32	\$32, 45	8, 703. 80
1739	602:151	307512130.31	239,674	109,191,738.02		7,1	790.00 \$840.00	• • •		/68 195	\$116,687.99
(7.3.4 938	600, 848	\$301, 276, 717. 25	236, 105 243, 427	\$101, 491, 978. 72 96, 370, 214. 81		$\frac{1}{2}$	\$840.00			221	132, 776. 34
937	598, 510 600, 562	299, 659, 837, 31 299, 000, 808, 47	243, 427 251, 470	99, 991, 669. 31		2	1,390.00			247	154, 135. 42
936		278,006,898.15	252, 982	96, 400, 271. 42		4	2, 681.00			294	180, 316. 20
933	581, 225	227, 797, 923. 21	257,630	93, 578, 863, 67		7	3, 222. 50		1 85,00	351 415	198, 558. 20 285, 133. 68
933	997,918	428, 456, 151. 69	272, 749	122, 103, 190. 54		7	3,906.67 4,000.00		1 1.043.86	413	325,080.46
932	994, 351	421, 367, 015. 55	283, 695	124, 409, 746, 13 123, 736, 384, 42		8	5.391.00		1 10.00	547	344, 975, 00
931		364, 652, 558. 50 290, 474, 801. 10	289, 205 298, 223	123, 730, 384, 42		10	5, 703, 34		504.00	630	394, 394. 21
930		287, 065, 745, 65	396,003	131, 754, 896, 41			7, 201.67	1	2, 239, 26	730	470, 454. 35
929		286, 640, 666, 14	317.798	124, 124, 672, 17		14	8,9)3.34	4	5,886,00	845	538, 520. 46
927		277, 854, 011. 13	326, 575	125, 775, 666. 43			9,805.66	6	7,732.39	970	561, 233.84
926	472,623	247, 259, 215. 27	334, 465				7,400.00	9	12,045.66 15.818.54	1,080 1,257	422, 747.03 491, 078.92
925	456,530	223, 164, 174. 32	332, 609	123, 583, 895. 22			9, 392.00 13, 383.00	31	29.347.47	1, 437	551, 253, 55
924	_ 427, 153	223, 395, 622.00	335, 394	122, 094, 147. 01 132, 882, 345. 08			18,010,00	49	47.981.33	1,636	669, 866, 4
923		255, 724, 424. 72 253, 423, 940. 08	341, 404 341, 437	132, 882, 345.08			19,957.00	73	59, 814, 62	1.878	716,098.6
922	430,942	² 253, 425, 940.08 ² 253, 258, 718.55	345, 881	126, 767, 155, 55			24, 160, 21	109	74, 546.06	2, 135	813, 478. 58
921 920		201, 186, 125, 16	349,916	115, 231, 904, 41			21, 145.03	148	62, 665. 46	2,423	614,017.1
919		132, 926, 906. 52	335, 616	100, 533, 728.83		. 81	17,704.33		88, 499.09	2,741	669, 657. 1
918		99, 451, 229. 30	307,865	80, 725, 464. 72			21, 118. 12	289	116, 383.00	3,064	767,471.2 683,920.8
917	. 370, 147	105, 714, 609, 65	302.964	55, 180, 444. 29			18,701.94	384 513	158, 134.59 213, 118, 76	3,422	590, 161, 7
916	403,372		306, 200	46, 293, 253. 21			18, 848.00 22, 348.90	680	213, 118.76	4, 253	648, 817, 4
915	437,723			46, 732, 695, 64 47, 334, 291, 93			22, 348.90	893	354, 799, 79	4, 235	705, 729, 9
914	470.623			47, 234, 291, 93			32, 171.07	1,142	411, 416.35	5, 123	773, 283, 5
913	503,633 538,362			47, 854, 609, 63			37.819.20	1, 313	341, 756.88	5,533	826, 428. 7
912 911				47, 856, 899, 72		. 279	44, 347. 45	1,639	428, 221.22	5, 982	894, 696. 8
1910		2 112, 366, 059. 23		47, 607, 996. 85			51, 279. 90	2,042	521, 385. 79	6, 359	942, 598.8
Total to June 30, 1909			82, 513. 73	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	\$14, 019, 736. 48	\$31, 73	37, 660. 36	\$25, 5	17, 653. 00	\$16, 9	75, 131. 07

54 ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR. \mathbf{OF} VETERANS'

AFFAIRS

		India	n wars			Civil	War			Spanish-Am	erican Wa	r
Fiscal year	Livin	g veterans	Decease	d veterans	Livi	ng veterans	Decea	sed veterans	Livii	ng veterans	Deceas	ed veterans
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount
Total to June 30,		126,912.66	33,82	14,392,91		8,006,5	83,061.	14	1,18	°,912,614.63	122	273,109,
1938.	\$44, 3	72, 780. 67	\$32, 25	59, 729. 57		\$7, 973, 404	, 309. 50	~		1, 83 6, 898. 87		041, 098. 67
5.9 938	6.525	1,854/3/99 \$1,889,161.99	4,5 51	1,564,563,34	3,516	4,622304.21	57915	28,556,447.43	165.110	105,065,718.76	55,882	20,232,07
37	$\frac{2,814}{3,119}$	1, 811, 536. 67	4, 420	\$1,628,059.30 1,681,906.66	5,048	\$6, 448, 253. 46	66, 873	\$32, 784, 881. 19	170, 755	\$93, 850, 424, 84 95, 618, 456, 10	53, 345	\$19, 332, 593.
36	3, 513	2,019,230.01	4, 590	1, 081, 906, 66	7,031 9,664	8, 967, 519, 20 12, 298, 487, 29	76, 131	37, 628, 438. 76 43, 338, 321. 98	175, 361	95, 618, 456. 10	50, 292	18, 305, 668.
35	3, 899	2, 138, 494. 97	4, 745	1, 714, 071. 03	13, 273	16, 144, 255, 36	87, 543 100, 290	43, 338, 321, 98	179, 169 164, 502	91, 872, 486. 05	48,872	16, 711, 619.
34	4, 370	2, 178, 191.07	4,606	1, 537, 856. 10	18, 455	20, 051, 397. 35	100, 250 112, 577	47, 385, 327. 36 49, 763, 325. 78	164, 502 165, 231	66, 252, 826. 14 47, 933, 272. 10	39,045 35,022	11, 500, 469.
3	4, 774	2, 908, 111. 40	4,446	1,807,596.17	23, 877	31, 300, 417, 78	125, 638	66, 972, 158, 65	194, 473	109,016,660.00	38, 797	7, 680, 839. 16, 288, 992.
2	5, 102	2, 867, 166. 98	4,453	1, 708, 423.07	31,090	31, 300, 417. 78 37, 958, 493. 14	139, 924	66, 972, 158, 65 69, 907, 267, 74	197.073	99, 118, 249. 74	36, 802	14 640 207
1	5, 360	2, 884, 716. 78	4, 302	1,650,201.69	39, 449	45, 952, 130, 16 46, 086, 774, 40	153, 437	76,041,620.30	193, 792	88, 997, 801. 76	33, 437	14, 640, 207. 13, 258, 678.
80 29	5, 454 5, 574	2, 942, 208. 17 2, 929, 346. 20	4, 191	1,612,907.05	49,018	46, 086, 774. 40	167, 674	79, 698, 159. 03	186, 811	71, 369, 072. 55	30, 919	12, 381, 648.
8	5, 267	2, 618, 189, 84	4,000 3,604	1, 522, 188. 52	59, 984	57, 119, 891. 76	181, 235	86, 474, 399. 92	179, 218	65, 461, 824. 31	28,643	12, 381, 648. 11, 383, 879.
27	3, 207 3, 915	1, 356, 291, 82	3, 100	1, 338, 753. 96 657, 474. 60	74,972	69, 710, 306. 28	197, 934	79, 958, 669. 91	165, 075	60, 058, 722. 71	26, 195	10, 615, 696.
26	3, 821	1, 309, 510. 41	3,081	590, 675, 53	90, 049 106, 844	81, 665, 502, 37 85, 735, 598, 99	212, 642 226, 650	84, 827, 706, 21 85, 870, 024, 28	139,091	47, 716, 422. 69	23, 547	9, 516, 405.
25	3,924	1, 351, 707, 92	3,034	607, 402, 11	126, 626	95, 455, 326, 21	220, 050 241, 193	80, 870, 024, 28	122, 388	24, 233, 115.04	20,811	5, 990, 103. 5, 369, 624.
24	3, 893	1, 350, 004. 25	2,937	569, 219, 40	146, 815	107, 377, 798. 96	253, 136	90, 753, 068, 15 95, 622, 156, 20	101, 871 85, 038	19, 728, 876, 36 16, 118, 296, 53	18,363	5, 369, 624.
23	3, 923	1, 340, 124, 36	2,828	567, 252. 69	168, 623	130, 616, 234. 36	264, 580	108, 308, 697, 58	68, 393	14, 083, 567, 00	16, 104 13, 167	5,021,566.
2	3, 867	1, 276, 274. 80 1, 094, 925. 24	2,748	520, 034. 94	193,881	133, 105, 620, 62	272, 194	103, 045, 623. 70	45,955	9, 698, 181, 14	9, 198	3, 803, 254.
1	3, 784	1, 094, 925. 24	2, 569	470, 937. 17	218, 877	141, 413, 236, 45 112, 335, 359, 85	281, 225	105, 171, 403, 19	31,066	4, 424, 397.09	8, 216	1, 941, 159. 1, 747, 172.
20	3, 745	1, 209, 715.83	2,483	536, 593. 14	243,629	112, 335, 359, 85	290, 100	90, 250, 946. 19	23, 144	3, 023, 119. 18	7, 288	1,600,979
9	3, 4 36 2, 4 21	1, 191, 146. 37	2,027	370, 391, 12	271, 520	119, 463, 920. 53	296, 823	92, 747, 970, 23	23, 382	3,008,785.41	4,869	1, 600, 979. 869, 403.
7	2, 421	644, 756.07 143, 099.07	1,817	295, 160. 34	298, 971	92, 728, 510. 46	292, 822	77, 673, 508. 68	23, 538	3,044,661.86	3,975	760, 467.
6	676	140,099.07	1,743	270, 898.31	329, 437	99, 581, 750. 81	288, 889	52, 588, 827. 76	24,060	3, 087, 058. 10	4, 215	696, 621.
5	786	173, 415, 46 199, 772, 96	1,902 2.046	301, 656, 48 313, 93 3 , 22	362, 529	106, 686, 622, 52	291, 478	43, 745, 130. 97	24, 101	3,076,733.88	4, 371	723, 491.
4	915	225, 664. 88	2,040	313, 933, 22 334, 582, 52	$396, 645 \\ 429, 646$	112, 571, 005, 38 118, 780, 198, 65	294, 961	44, 097, 766. 05	24,370	3, 105, 807.74	4, 542	745, 893.
3	1,066	176, 292, 72	2, 330	351, 371, 38	462, 704	118, 780, 198, 65	298, 483 299, 663	44, 597, 352, 88	24, 250	3, 132, 372, 53	4,660	775, 137.
12	1,210	148, 853, 04	2,439	372, 550, 95	402, 704	120, 521, 829, 00 99, 076, 820, 25	299, 663	44, 376, 043. 48 44, 902, 414. 81	$24,160 \\ 23,841$	3, 240, 844, 86	4,855	830, 323.
11	1, 387	168, 688. 24	2,629	406, 398. 28	530, 290	103, 399, 661, 88	303, 466	44, 802, 414, 81	23,841 23,383	3, 130, 991, 22 3, 110, 900, 63	5,009	840, 094.
10	1, 560	184, 294. 60	2, 822	437, 214. 93	563, 057	106, 500, 468. 97	299, 795	44, 525, 862. 10	23, 383	2, 970, 601. 92	5, 107 5, 106	840, 350. 837, 317.
Total to June 30, 1909	\$3, 64	1, 888. 55	\$6, 353	3, 720. 92	\$3, 686, 461, 840, 35				\$19, 352, 369. 39		e7 09	1, 435. 82

•

~~

-

Accrued disability payments.
 Includes unclassified amounts.

105892ģ

ċι

١. 1 • •

.

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

TABLE 13.—Statement showing number of living veterans who were receiving pension, compensation, disability allowance, or emergency officers' retirement pay; also the number of deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving compensation or pension benefits at the end of each fiscal year, the amounts disbursed for these benefits during the fiscal years 1910–38, and the total amounts disbursed to June 30, 1909, and 1938, for each war and regular establishment—Continued

Piscal year Pensions connection rethrement nonservice 1/2 3/4 Number Amount 3418 ST 8/2074 St 8		Regular est	ablishment		Wo	rld War	
Piscal year Pensions connection rethrement nonservice 1/2 3/4 Number Amount 3418 ST 8/2074 St 8			1		Livin	g veterans	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Fiscal year	Living veterans	Deceased veterans	Pensions		Emergency officers' retirement	Disability allowance or nonservice
Total to June 30, 1938 //. 537,739,307,43 colspan="2">colspan="2" colspan="2">colspan="2" colspan="2" co	- 1934	Number Amount		her Amount			52736 17,100,317.8
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$				2. 280, 1103, 52,7	13,454,201.12	\$62.914,561.45	\$253,358,991.48 270,459,309.27
Total to June 30, 1909	936 936 935 936 937 938 939 930 932 933 934 935 936 937 938 939 938 929 928 928 928 928 928 924 924 924 925 926 927 928 929 924 924 925 926 927 928 929 924 925 926 927 928 929 929 921 920 921 921 922 923 924 925 9	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	36 \$9, 232, 90 38 9, 428, 54 41 10, 582, 53 44 10, 582, 53 45 11, 310, 00 47 11, 305, 33 48 10, 943, 76 49 11, 0562, 53 57 16, 900, 30 61 14, 951, 33 63 16, 518, 37 63 16, 518, 37 61 15, 708, 15 24 2, 681, 90	340, 590 \$166, 875, 363, 36 336, 528 166, 417, 519, 36 337, 767 160, 382, 036, 92 336, 876 171, 877, 328, 10 332, 216 139, 445, 822, 97 336, 710 184, 824, 665, 79 328, 658 189, 940, 380, 76 229, 288 181, 900, 493, 14 279, 539 155, 034, 081, 21 262, 138 153, 000, 037, 74 272, 536 150, 980, 629, 28 243, 611 144, 138, 546, 32 226, 484 133, 243, 887, 41 211, 644 104, 130, 215, 12 179, 037 96, 089, 557, 64 183, 080 107, 055, 565, 26 174, 024 106, 783, 660, 77 154, 960 103, 728, 308, 60 134, 408 82, 012, 777, 16 24, 947 6, 539, 114, 57 1, 156 172, 801, 50 1, 156 174, 90, 80 1, 156 172, 801, 50 1, 156 174, 90, 80 1, 156	i, 841 3, 138, 955.76 i, 811 3, 283, 350.64 i, 677 2, 709, 127.88 i, 566 2, 181, 249.52 6, 007 9, 968, 980.32 6, 415 11, 553, 143.57 6, 364 10, 937, 564.04 6, 063 11, 229, 262.01 4, 243 4, 795, 658.76 	41,504 13,758,823.0 37,446 12,710,374.1 33,604 11,453,369.8 29,903 9,784,570.1 412,452 85,186,647.1 407,584 75,458,233.2 229,568 29,689,567.0

;

;

50 ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

						World War-Co	ntinued				
	Living	veterans—Con.				Deceased vet	erans				1
Fiscal year	•	Total	Pe	ensions	Compei	nsation service	Compo servic	ensation non- e connection		Total	Unclassified 3
(12) (12)	Number 296(2)	Amount 187.040.507.12	Num- ber	Amount	Number 79822	Amount 51.436.165.19	Num- ber	Amount 4:89240.92	Number 1/2042	Amount 5582740(5//	Amount
Total to June 30, 1938	\$3,02 	9,727,754.05			,871,910.48 .3 <i>c ₹.01</i> /	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	\$6,	365,866.46 155707+38	\$566	,237,776.94	\$86, 513, 425. 5
	379,963 377,024 372,157 363,655 742,695 285,666 286,428 257,553 243,659 226,533 241,693 179,093 183,147 174,085 155,023 134,484 2,5008 1,180	\$185, 220, 091, 13 183, 315, 298, 17 185, 375, 770, 67 186, 129, 825, 82 151, 411, 651, 61 277, 989, 426, 13 276, 561, 186, 24 222, 538, 236, 76 166, 274, 152, 22 157, 897, 356, 50 150, 991, 994, 81 144, 149, 490, 08 133, 255, 139, 81 104, 141, 275, 72 96, 103, 147, 27 107, 067, 474, 56 106, 798, 612, 10 103, 744, 827, 57 82, 032, 490, 76 5, 554, 822, 72 175, 483, 40		\$3, 555, 60 4, 055, 60 4, 055, 60 4, 529, 00 4, 776, 00 4, 776, 00 6, 076, 00 6, 076, 00 6, 972, 00 6, 972, 00 6, 982, 47 8, 007, 13 8, 694, 53 8, 875, 40 17, 021, 15 14, 323, 82 4, 561, 41	4 95, 118 99, 032 99, 394 99, 229 93, 344 99, 229 97, 448 90, 954 87, 668 82, 827 78, 881 55, 334 55, 334 55, 334 51, 339 42, 945 24, 458 1, 446	168, 563. 77	7, 422 5, 050 2, 994 1, 970	\$2, 623, 668, 90 1, 851, 982, 87 1, 237, 550, 63 652, 664, 06	102, 540 104, 082 102, 653 101, 364 99, 229 97, 460 93, 346 90, 999 87, 685 85, 651 85, 651 85, 651 85, 651 85, 533 55, 333 51, 388 47, 591 42, 997 24, 512 47, 891	\$44 , 983, 085, 22 \$44 , 983, 085, 22 \$35 , 780, 274, 20 \$37 , 721, 302, 81 \$37 , 755, 871, 92 \$5 , 586, 376, 21 \$35 , 586, 376, 21 \$36 , 719, 123, 33 \$1 , 445, 622, 86 \$32 , 970, 453, 87 \$31 , 049, 183, 08 \$30 , 823, 931, 21 \$29 , 343, 542, 07 \$31 , 199, 328, 01 \$25 , 474, 214, 42 \$19 , 412, 416, 24 \$15 , 575, 576, 21 \$17 , 585, 620, 23 \$21 , 126, 958, 91 \$4 , 776, 551, 90 \$173 , 125, 18	4, 978. 1
											9, 027. 9 10, 942. 9 328. 8 2, 057. 9 2, 040. 9

-

2

κ.

³ Includes \$70,000,000 disbursed for War of the Revolution.

.

4 Adjusted.

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

•

TABLE 14.—Statement					
exclusive of insuranc	e and adjuste	d compensation,	by wars,	at the end	of ea ch
fiscal year, 1910–38					

,

•

•

Year	Avera	ge for all veterans	wars,	War of 1812, veter- ans	War	with Me veterans	xico,	Indian	s wars, v	eterans
939	Living 503.35	De- ceased 45428	Total 489.39	De- ceased 340.00	Living	De- ceased 51/8.71	Total	Living 126.36	De- ceased 357.94	Total 495.2
	1	\$426.94	\$476, 66	\$240.00		\$577.48	\$577.48	\$683, 83	\$357.98	\$484.63
1938	\$496.20 489.79	387.88	460.33			578.50	578.50	529,94	357.98	427.55
937	483.61	392.62	456.76	420.00		576.39	576.39	526.94	357.95	430.6
935	448.10	382.52	428.32			579.35	579.35	528, 81	357.88	434.98
934	452, 41 400, 15	384, 66 401, 69	431.60 400.48	514.29 514.29		581.40	581.40 582.07	534,07 533,45	357.48 357.76	443.48
935 934 933 932	400.15	401.09	407.51	514.29		583.68	583.68	529.70	358, 95	450.12
931	451.27	411.45	440.61	525, 00		580.69	580.69	519.35	358, 62	447.79
931 930 929	513.94	404.37 407.00	475.08	540, 00		586.32	586.32	513.16	359, 10	446.2
929	512.94	407.00	473.97	567.27 574.29	. \$864, 00 972, 00	587.11 588.21	587, 49 590, 02	505,76 496,20	$359, 32 \\ 357, 74$	444.5) 439.95
928 927	516,92	369.04	465.53 466.67		1,008.00	588.02	590.61	450.20	355, 70	439.90
927	489.58	350.93	432.12 407.51	360, 00	805.33	358.87	362.56	242.89	148.73	200.86
926 925 924 923	454.07	343.79	407.51	360.00	708.71	358.60	363.27	248.23	149.32	202.20
924	464.01	344.01	411.23	353, 45 354, 60	719.23 729.31	357.62 357.56	365, 26 368, 37	241, 70 242, 12	148,89 149,59	201.79 203.36
923	479.01 499.21	343. 24 345, 71	419.45 431.35	355. 59	712.44	357, 56 357, 30 357, 09	370.59	241.06	148, 79	202.75
921	509.49	347.11	436.41	356.63	692.26	357.09	373.37	240,99	148, 80	203.71
920	421.93	280.36	357.56	232.73	414.36	229.66	240. 29	239.72	148.84	203.49
919	395.10	295.80	345.64	210.52 207.52	368, 04 359, 46	230.56 212.71	240, 56 225, 36	240, 27 239, 57	150,02 148,22	206.78
	279.14 274.42	294.22 195.56	286. 29 238. 92	201.52	359.34	204.39	220.00 220.02	229.45	145, 65	166.14
917 916 915 914	268.85	147.83	216.62	148.59	355.53	145.59	170.64	229, 38	144.5%	166.8
915	263.02	148, 33	215.43	149.01	356.28	146.12	175.09	229,89	144.63	168, 30
914	254.83	147.87	211.97	148, 52 151, 48	352.85 348.76	144.74 144.81	177.97 181.99	231, 82 230, 16	144, 20 144, 19	170,08
913	247, 33 192, 94	148.24 148.13	209.08 176.17	151.45	248.95	144.48	164.52	115, 52	144, 19	134. 6
912. 911	187.89	148.15	173.56	152.43	239.44	144.51	164.92	114.92	106, 05	109.12
910	184, 19	148.64	171.90	150.75	238, 34	144.45	167. 27	109, 68	144.09	131.84
	ļ ļ	Civil	War vet	erens	Spanis	h-Americ	an War	Regula	r establis	
Year		Civil	wai vee			veterans			veterans	
1 641			D			De-			1.10	(
		Living	De-	Total	Living	ceased	Total	Living	De- ceased	Total
234		160.5	458.66	475.44	122.11	367.66	56542	362.94	30	2:12:0
938		\$1, 136. 42	\$459.01	\$506.56	\$584. 52	\$368.48	\$533.09	\$264.86	\$298.76	\$271.9 272.5
1937		1, 129. 54	460.63	517.18	549.37	369.96	509.39	265, 99	299.06	272.5
1936 1935		1,046.73	462.00		523. 24	370. 52		227.53	295, 58	240.7
							490.51	999 51	970.59	1 999 0
1935		1,060.37 1.078.10	462.75		387.52	286.10	368,06	223.51 219.76	279, 58 260, 11	233.8
934		1,078.10	464.68	551.07 566.57	387.52 389.51 523.02	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03	368,06 371,18 499,41	219,76 235,84	260.11 206.25	226.4 230.0
934		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05	464.68 467.73 469.09	551.07 566.57 581.43	387.52 389.51 523.02 516.28	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94	368,06 371,18 499,41 492,15	$\begin{array}{c c} 219, 76 \\ 235, 84 \\ 241, 41 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 260.11 \\ 206.25 \\ 216.32 \end{array}$	226.4 230.0 236.4
934 933 932		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24	464, 68 467, 73 469, 09 469, 63	551.07 566.57 581.43 593.69	387, 52 389, 51 523, 02 516, 28 473, 33	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98	368,06 371,18 499,41 492,15 460,48	$\begin{array}{c c} 219,76\\ 235,84\\ 241,41\\ 236,82 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	226, 4 230, 0 236, 4 233, 6
934 1933 1932 1931		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24 851, 90	464. 68 467. 73 469. 09 469. 63 451. 91	551.07 566.57 581.43 593.69 542.39	387, 52 389, 51 523, 02 516, 28 473, 33 388, 61	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94	368,06 371,18 499,41 492,15	219, 76 235, 84 241, 41 236, 82 235, 09 218, 49	$\begin{array}{c} 260.11 \\ 206.25 \\ 216.32 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
1934 1933 1932 1931 1930 1930 1929 1928		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24 851, 90	464. 68 467. 73 469. 09 469. 63 451. 91	551. 07 566. 57 581. 43 593. 69 542. 39 550. 35 527. 50	$\begin{array}{c} 387.52\\ 389.51\\ 523.02\\ 516.28\\ 473.33\\ 388.61\\ 373.27\\ 356.86\end{array}$	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98 388, 50 390, 86 393, 67	$\begin{array}{c} 368,06\\ 371,18\\ 499,41\\ 492,15\\ 460,48\\ 388,59\\ 375,69\\ 361,90\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 219, 76 \\ 235, 84 \\ 241, 41 \\ 236, 82 \\ 235, 09 \\ 218, 49 \\ 223, 64 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
934		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24 851, 90 850, 25 847, 48 846, 65	464. 68 467. 73 469. 09 469. 63 451. 91 451. 10 406. 38 385. 60	551. 07 566. 57 581. 43 593. 69 542. 39 550. 35 527. 50 522. 75	387. 52 389. 51 523. 02 516. 28 473. 33 388. 61 373. 27 356. 86 343. 72	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98 388, 50 390, 86 393, 67 395, 40	$\left \begin{array}{c} 368,06\\ 371,18\\ 499,41\\ 492,15\\ 460,48\\ 388,59\\ 375,69\\ 361,90\\ 351,20\\ \end{array}\right.$	$ \begin{bmatrix} 219, 76 \\ 235, 84 \\ 241, 41 \\ 236, 82 \\ 235, 09 \\ 218, 49 \\ 223, 64 \\ 200, 34 \end{bmatrix} $	$ \begin{bmatrix} 260, 11 \\ 206, 25 \\ 216, 32 \\ 220, 62 \\ 218, 98 \\ 223, 11 \\ 216, 85 \\ 131, 86 \end{bmatrix} $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
934 1933 1932 1931 1930 1929 1928 1927 1926		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24 851, 90 850, 25 847, 48 846, 65 745, 45	464, 68 467, 73 469, 09 469, 63 451, 91 451, 10 406, 38 385, 60 360, 76	551. 07 566. 57 581. 43 593. 69 542. 39 550. 35 527. 56 522. 75 484. 01	$ \begin{array}{c} 387.\ 52\\ 389.\ 51\\ 523.\ 02\\ 516.\ 28\\ 473.\ 33\\ 388.\ 61\\ 373.\ 27\\ 356.\ 86\\ 343.\ 72\\ 333.\ 57 \end{array} $	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98 388, 50 390, 86 393, 67 395, 40 398, 71	$ \begin{array}{c} 368.06\\ 371.18\\ 499.41\\ 492.15\\ 460.48\\ 388.59\\ 375.69\\ 361.90\\ 351.20\\ 343.04 \end{array} $	219, 76 235, 84 241, 41 236, 82 235, 09 218, 49 223, 64 200, 34 198, 07	260, 11 206, 25 216, 32 220, 62 218, 98 223, 11 216, 85 131, 86 221, 16	226, 4 230, 0 236, 4 233, 6 231, 9 219, 4 222, 2 186, 0 203, 4
934 933		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24 850, 25 847, 48 846, 65 745, 45 698, 75	464, 68 467, 73 469, 09 469, 63 451, 91 451, 10 406, 38 385, 60 360, 76 360, 36	551. 07 566. 57 581. 43 593. 69 542. 39 550. 35 527. 56 522. 75 484. 01 476. 85	$\left \begin{array}{c} 387.52\\ 389.51\\ 523.02\\ 516.28\\ 473.33\\ 388.61\\ 373.27\\ 356.86\\ 343.72\\ 333.57\\ 192.78\end{array}\right.$	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98 388, 50 390, 86 393, 67 395, 40 398, 71 278, 11 290, 76	368, 06 371, 18 499, 41 492, 15 460, 48 388, 59 375, 69 361, 90 351, 20 351, 20 343, 04 205, 81 202, 13	$\begin{array}{c} 219, 76\\ 235, 84\\ 241, 41\\ 236, 82\\ 235, 09\\ 218, 49\\ 223, 64\\ 200, 34\\ 198, 07\\ 191, 55\\ 186, 68\\ \end{array}$	260, 11 206, 25 216, 32 220, 62 218, 98 223, 11 216, 85 131, 86 221, 16 218, 51 216, 65	226, 4 230, 0 236, 4 233, 6 231, 9 219, 4 219, 4 229, 2 229, 2 186, 0 203, 4 197, 8 193, 7
934 1933		1, 078, 10 1, 086, 64 1, 087, 05 1, 076, 24 851, 90 850, 25 847, 48 846, 65 745, 45 698, 70 675, 85 660, 95	464, 68 467, 73 469, 09 469, 63 451, 91 451, 10 406, 38 385, 60 360, 76 360, 76 360, 61 360, 61	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} 387.52\\ 389.51\\ 523.02\\ 516.28\\ 473.33\\ 388.61\\ 373.27\\ 356.86\\ 343.72\\ 333.57\\ 192.78\\ 187.24\\ 181.00 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 286, 10\\ 284, 69\\ 381, 03\\ 362, 94\\ 385, 98\\ 388, 50\\ 390, 86\\ 393, 67\\ 395, 40\\ 398, 71\\ 278, 11\\ 280, 76\\ 245, 28\\ \end{array}$	368, 06 371, 18 499, 41 492, 15 460, 48 388, 59 361, 90 351, 20 343, 04 205, 81 202, 13 191, 38	219,76 235,84 241,41 236,82 235,09 218,49 223,64 200,34 198,07 191,55 186,68 217,58	$\begin{array}{c} 260.\ 11\\ 206.\ 25\\ 216.\ 32\\ 220.\ 62\\ 218.\ 98\\ 223.\ 11\\ 216.\ 85\\ 131.\ 86\\ 221.\ 16\\ 218.\ 51\\ 216.\ 65\\ 212.\ 71\\ \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
934 1933 1932 1931 1930 1929 1929 1928 1927 1924 1924 1924 1924 1922 1924		$\begin{array}{c} 1,078,10\\ 1,086,64\\ 1,087,05\\ 1,076,24\\ 851,90\\ 850,26\\ 847,48\\ 846,65\\ 745,45\\ 698,75\\ 675,85\\ 660,99\\ 647,94\end{array}$	464, 68 467, 73 469, 69 469, 63 469, 63 469, 63 469, 63 469, 63 469, 64 469, 64 669, 649, 649, 649, 64	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	387.52 389.51 523.02 516.28 473.33 388.61 373.27 356.86 343.72 333.57 192.78 187.24 187.24 181.00 177.26	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98 388, 50 390, 86 393, 67 395, 40 398, 71 278, 11 290, 76 245, 28 187, 22		219,76 235,84 241,41 236,82 235,09 218,49 223,64 200,34 198,07 191,55 186,68 217,58 179,49	$\begin{array}{c} 260.\ 11\\ 206.\ 25\\ 216.\ 32\\ 220.\ 62\\ 218.\ 98\\ 223.\ 11\\ 216.\ 85\\ 131.\ 86\\ 221.\ 16\\ 218.\ 51\\ 218.\ 51\\ 216.\ 65\\ 212.\ 71\\ 221.\ 08\\ \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 226.4\\ 230.0\\ 236.4\\ 233.6\\ 231.9\\ 219.4\\ 222.2\\ 186.0\\ 203.4\\ 197.8\\ 193.7\\ 216.4\\ 189.2 \end{array} $
934 933		$\begin{array}{c} 1,078,10\\ 1,086,64\\ 1,087,05\\ 1,076,24\\ 851,90\\ 850,25\\ 847,48\\ 846,65\\ 745,47\\ 698,70\\ 675,80\\ 660,90\\ 647,90\\ 647,90\\ 627,91\end{array}$	464.68 467.73 469.09 469.63 451.91 451.10 451.10 453.560 360.76 360.36 360.36 360.31 360.48 360.48	$ \begin{array}{c} 551.07\\ 566.57\\ 581.43\\ 593.69\\ 542.39\\ 550.35\\ 522.75\\ 6484.01\\ 5446.85\\ 476.35\\ 476.35\\ 4476.7.74 \end{array} $	387. 52 389. 51 523. 02 516. 28 473. 33 388. 61 373. 27 356. 86 343. 72 333. 57 192. 78 187. 24 181. 00 177. 26 158. 89	$\begin{array}{c} 286.\ 10\\ 284.\ 69\\ 381.\ 03\\ 362.\ 94\\ 385.\ 98\\ 388.\ 50\\ 390.\ 86\\ 393.\ 67\\ 393.\ 67\\ 395.\ 40\\ 398.\ 71\\ 278.\ 11\\ 280.\ 76\\ 245.\ 28\\ 187.\ 22\\ 184.\ 96\\ \end{array}$		219,76 235,84 241,41 236,82 235,09 218,49 223,64 200,34 198,07 191,55 186,68 217,58 179,49 175,11	$\begin{array}{c} 260.\ 11\\ 206.\ 25\\ 216.\ 32\\ 220.\ 62\\ 218.\ 98\\ 223.\ 11\\ 216.\ 85\\ 131.\ 86\\ 221.\ 16\\ 218.\ 51\\ 216.\ 65\\ 212.\ 71\\ 21.\ 08\\ 221.\ 08\\ 221.\ 08\\ 221.\ 08\\ 211.\ 93\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 226, 4\\ 230, 0\\ 236, 4\\ 233, 6\\ 231, 9\\ 219, 4\\ 222, 2\\ 186, 0\\ 203, 4\\ 197, 8\\ 193, 7\\ 216, 4\\ 189, 2\\ 183, 5\\ \end{array}$
934 		$\begin{array}{c} 1,078,10\\ 1,086,64\\ 1,087,05\\ 1,076,24\\ 851,96\\ 850,22\\ 847,48\\ 846,65\\ 745,45\\ 698,76\\ 675,86\\ 660,95\\ 667,99\\ 627,97\\ 451,77\\ \end{array}$	464.68 467.73 469.09 469.63 451.91 451.10 451.406.38 385.60 360.76 360.36 360.61 359.35 4 360.45 7 360.81 7 360.81	$\begin{array}{c} 551.07\\ 566.57\\ 581.43\\ 593.69\\ 542.39\\ 557.50\\ 557.50\\ 552.75\\ 542.22.75\\ 542.39\\ 527.50\\ 542.37\\ 542.37\\ 542.75\\ 54476.35\\ 476.85\\ 476.35\\ 476.78\\ 480.06\\ 477.74\\ 480.06\\ 477.74\\ 363.19\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 387, 52\\ 389, 51\\ 523, 02\\ 516, 28\\ 473, 33\\ 388, 61\\ 373, 27\\ 356, 86\\ 343, 72\\ 333, 57\\ 192, 78\\ 187, 24\\ 181, 00\\ 177, 26\\ 158, 89\\ 131, 63\\ 128, 54\\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 286,10\\ 284,69\\ 381,03\\ 362,94\\ 385,98\\ 388,50\\ 390,86\\ 393,67\\ 395,40\\ 398,71\\ 278,11\\ 280,76\\ 245,28\\ 187,22\\ 184,96\\ 174,98\\ 197,15\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 368,06\\ 371,18\\ 499,41\\ 492,15\\ 460,48\\ 388,59\\ 361,90\\ 355,69\\ 361,90\\ 353,69\\ 363,04\\ 205,81\\ 202,13\\ 191,38\\ 178,93\\ 164,34\\ 142,01\\ 140,37\\ \end{array}$	219,76 235,84 241,41 236,82 235,09 218,49 223,64 200,34 198,07 191,55 186,68 217,58 179,49 175,11 173,18 171,15	$\begin{array}{c} 260.\ 11\\ 206.\ 25\\ 216.\ 32\\ 220.\ 62\\ 218.\ 98\\ 223.\ 11\\ 216.\ 85\\ 211.\ 86\\ 221.\ 16\\ 218.\ 51\\ 216.\ 55\\ 212.\ 71\\ 221.\ 08\\ 211.\ 93\\ 203.\ 99\\ 195.\ 95\end{array}$	226, 4 230, 0 236, 4 233, 6 231, 9 219, 4 222, 2 186, 0 203, 4 197, 8 193, 7 216, 4 189, 2 183, 5 180, 5 187, 0
934 933		$\begin{array}{c} 1,078,10\\ 1,086,64\\ 1,087,05\\ 1,076,24\\ 851,90\\ 850,22\\ 847,48\\ 846,65\\ 745,45\\ 698,74\\ 698,74\\ 675,89\\ 660,90\\ 647,99\\ 627,97\\ 451,77\\ 433,61\\ 297,0\end{array}$	464, 68 467, 73 469, 69 469, 69 469, 63 451, 91 451, 10 406, 38 385, 60 5 360, 36 360, 61 3360, 48 7 360, 81 7 280, 65 5 288, 74 1 298, 36	$ \begin{array}{c} 551.07 \\ 566.57 \\ 593.69 \\ 593.69 \\ 5593.69 \\ 550.35 \\ 527.50 \\ 522.75 \\ 5448.01 \\ 476.85 \\ 476.85 \\ 476.86 \\ 476.77 \\ 476.86 \\ 477.74 \\ 7358.77 \\ 358.77 \\ 358.77 \\ 5297.68 \\ 4277.68 \\ 529$	$ \begin{array}{c} 387, 52\\ 389, 51\\ 523, 02\\ 516, 28\\ 473, 33\\ 388, 61\\ 373, 27\\ 356, 86\\ 343, 72\\ 333, 57\\ 192, 78\\ 187, 24\\ 181, 00\\ 177, 26\\ 158, 89\\ 131, 63\\ 128, 54\\ 123, 82\\ \end{array} $	286, 10 284, 69 381, 03 362, 94 385, 98 398, 50 393, 67 395, 40 398, 71 278, 11 280, 76 245, 28 187, 22 184, 96 174, 98 197, 15 200, 26	$\begin{array}{c} 368,06\\ 371,18\\ 499,41\\ 492,15\\ 460,48\\ 388,59\\ 375,69\\ 361,90\\ 351,20\\ 343,04\\ 205,81\\ 202,13\\ 191,38\\ 178,93\\ 164,34\\ 142,01\\ 140,38\\ 178,93\\ 164,34\\ 142,01\\ 140,38\\ 134,87\\ \end{array}$	219, 76 235, 84 241, 41 236, 82 235, 09 218, 49 223, 64 200, 34 198, 07 191, 55 186, 68 217, 58 179, 49 175, 11 173, 18 171, 15 169, 18	$\begin{array}{c} 260.\ 11\\ 206.\ 25\\ 216.\ 32\\ 220.\ 62\\ 218.\ 98\\ 223.\ 11\\ 216.\ 85\\ 131.\ 86\\ 221.\ 16\\ 218.\ 51\\ 216.\ 65\\ 212.\ 71\\ 221.\ 08\\ 211.\ 93\\ 203.\ 99\\ 195.\ 95\\ 218.\ 28\\ 28.\ 28.\ 28\\ 28.\ 28.\ 28\\ 28.\ 28.\ 28.\ 28.\ 28.\ 28.\ 28.\ 28.\$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
934 933 1932 1931 1930 1920 1929 1928 1927 1926 1925 1924 1924 1922 1923 1922 1923 1921 1921 1920 1921 1920 1921 1921 1920 1921 1921 1921 1920 1921 1921 1921 1921 1920 1921 1921 1923 1925 1926 1927 1927 1927 1927 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1920 1919 1919 1918 19		$\begin{array}{c} 1,078,10\\ 1,086,64\\ 1,087,05\\ 1,076,24\\ 851,90\\ 850,22\\ 847,48\\ 846,65\\ 745,45\\ 698,74\\ 698,74\\ 675,89\\ 660,90\\ 647,99\\ 627,97\\ 451,77\\ 433,61\\ 297,0\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 464,68\\ 467,73\\ 469,09\\ 469,63\\ 9\\ 451,91\\ 451,10\\ 451,10\\ 451,10\\ 400,38\\ 6\\ 385,60,76\\ 5\\ 3860,76\\ 6\\ 360,36\\ 9\\ 360,61\\ 9\\ 360,81\\ 360,48\\ 7\\ 280,67\\ 5\\ 298,74\\ 1\\ 298,36\\ 7\\ 106,33\\ 6\\ 1\\ 298,36\\ 7\\ 106,33\\ 6\\ 1\\ 106,32\\ 1\\ 106,32\\ 1\\ 1\\ 106,32\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 106,32\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\$	$ \begin{array}{c} 551.\ 07\\ 566.\ 57\\ 581.\ 43\\ 593.\ 69\\ 542.\ 362.\ 39\\ 542.\ 362.\ 39\\ 542.\ 362.\ 39\\ 542.\ 362.\ 362.\ 39$	$\begin{array}{c} 387, 52\\ 389, 51\\ 523, 02\\ 516, 28\\ 473, 33\\ 388, 61\\ 373, 27\\ 356, 86\\ 343, 27\\ 333, 57\\ 192, 78\\ 187, 24\\ 181, 00\\ 177, 26\\ 158, 89\\ 131, 63\\ 128, 54\\ 123, 82\\ 127, 13\\ 82\\ 127, 13\\ 82\\ 127, 13\\ 128, 82\\ 127, 128, 82\\ 127, 128, 82\\ 128, $	$\begin{array}{c} 286,10\\ 284,69\\ 381,03\\ 362,94\\ 385,98\\ 393,67\\ 399,86\\ 393,67\\ 398,50\\ 398,71\\ 278,11\\ 278,11\\ 290,76\\ 245,28\\ 187,22\\ 184,96\\ 174,98\\ 197,15\\ 200,26\\ 174,98\\ 197,15\\ 200,26\\ 158,52\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 368,06\\ 371,18\\ 499,41\\ 499,41\\ 492,15\\ 460,48\\ 375,69\\ 361,90\\ 351,69\\ 361,90\\ 351,20\\ 343,04\\ 205,81\\ 202,13\\ 191,38\\ 178,93\\ 164,34\\ 142,01\\ 144,37\\ 134,87\\ 134,87\\ 131,81\\ \end{array}$	219,76 235,84 241,41 236,82 235,09 218,49 223,64 200,34 198,07 191,55 186,68 217,58 179,49 175,11 173,18 171,15 169,18 169,04	$\begin{array}{c} 260,11\\ 206,25\\ 216,32\\ 220,62\\ 218,98\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 131,86\\ 221,16\\ 218,51\\ 216,85\\ 212,16\\ 216,65\\ 212,71\\ 221,08\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 216,93\\ 218,$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
934 933		$\begin{array}{c} 1, 078, 10\\ 1, 086, 64\\ 1, 087, 06\\ 1, 087, 06\\ 2, 850, 2, 2\\ 8, 5, 1, 97\\ 8, 5, 0, 2\\ 8, 5, 1, 9, 5\\ 8, 5, 1, 9, 5\\ 8, 5, 1, 5\\ 6, 6, 9, 8, 7, 1\\ 6, 7, 5, 8\\ 6, 6, 9, 7, 6, 7, 5, 6\\ 6, 6, 9, 9, 6, 7, 9, 6\\ 6, 7, 9, 6, 1, 7, 7\\ 4, 3, 6, 6, 2, 9, 7, 0\\ 2, 9, 7, 0, 2, 9, 1, 1\\ 2, 9, 1, 1\\ 2, 9, 1, 1\\ 2, 9, 1, 1\\ 2, 9, 1, 1\\ 2, 9, 1, 1\\ 2, 9, 1\\ 1, 1\\ 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1, 1, 1\\ 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1\\ 1, $	$\left \begin{array}{c} 464, 68\\ 467, 73\\ 469, 09\\ 469, 63\\ 451, 91\\ 451, 91\\ 451, 101\\ 5360, 36\\ 385, 66\\ 385, 38\\ 385, 66\\ 3860, 36\\ 3860, 36\\ 3860, 81\\ 3860, $	$ \begin{array}{c} 551.07\\ 566.57\\ 581.43\\ 593.69\\ 550.42.39\\ 550.35\\ 527.56\\ 522.75\\ 652.75\\ 652.75\\ 476.35\\ 476.35\\ 476.35\\ 476.35\\ 476.35\\ 476.35\\ 476.43\\ 480.06\\ 477.74\\ 363.19\\ 5207.6\\ 363.19\\ 246.31\\ 242.14\\ 363.19\\ 222.16\\ 363.19\\ 246.31\\ 222.16\\ 363.19\\ 222.16\\ 363.19\\ 222.16\\ 363.19\\ 222.16\\ 363.19\\ 222.16\\ 363.19\\ 363$	$\begin{array}{c} 387,52\\ 389,51\\ 523,02\\ 516,28\\ 473,33\\ 388,61\\ 373,27\\ 343,72\\ 333,57\\ 192,78\\ 187,24\\ 181,00\\ 177,26\\ 158,89\\ 131,63\\ 128,54\\ 123,82\\ 127,13\\ 125,79\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 286, 10\\ 284, 69\\ 381, 03\\ 362, 94\\ 385, 98\\ 393, 67\\ 399, 86\\ 399, 67\\ 399, 71\\ 278, 11\\ 278, 11\\ 278, 11\\ 278, 14\\ 99, 76\\ 157, 28\\ 187, 22\\ 184, 96\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 200, 26\\ 158, 52\\ 159, 68\\ 52\\ 100, 68\\ 100$	$\begin{array}{c} 368, 06\\ 371, 18\\ 499, 41\\ 499, 41\\ 492, 15\\ 460, 48\\ 388, 59\\ 375, 69\\ 361, 90\\ 351, 20\\ 343, 04\\ 202, 13\\ 191, 38\\ 104, 34\\ 142, 01\\ 134, 87\\ 134, 87\\ 131, 81\\ 130, 99\\ 130, 99\\ \end{array}$	219,76 235,84 241,41 236,82 235,09 223,64 200,34 198,07 191,55 186,68 217,58 179,49 175,11 173,18 171,15 169,04 170,02	$\begin{array}{c} 260,11\\ 206,25\\ 216,32\\ 220,62\\ 218,98\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 131,86\\ 221,16\\ 211,81\\ 1216,85\\ 131,86\\ 221,16\\ 221,18\\ 221,08\\ 221,08\\ 211,93\\ 203,99\\ 195,95\\ 218,28\\ 195,21\\ 191,78\\ 218,28\\ 195,21\\ 191,78\\ 218,28$	$\begin{array}{c} 226, 4\\ 230, 0\\ 236, 4\\ 233, 6\\ 231, 9\\ 219, 4\\ 222, 2\\ 186, 0\\ 203, 4\\ 197, 8\\ 193, 7\\ 216, 4\\ 189, 2\\ 183, 5\\ 177, 0\\ 180, 5\\ 177, 0\\ 180, 5\\ 177, 9\\ 174, 9\\ 174, 9\\ 174, 9\\ \end{array}$
934 		$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{i}, 078, 10\\ 1, 086, 64\\ 1, 087, 06\\ 1, 087, 06\\ 1, 076, 24\\ 850, 22\\ 847, 48\\ 850, 22\\ 847, 48\\ 866, 745, 45\\ 675, 84\\ 660, 98, 76\\ 675, 84\\ 660, 98\\ 647, 99\\$	$ \begin{array}{c} 464, 68\\ 467, 73\\ 469, 09\\ 469, 09\\ 499, 63\\ 451, 91\\ 451, 10\\ 451, 10\\ 451, 10\\ 451, 10\\ 451, 10\\ 360, 369\\ 360, 369\\ 360, 369\\ 360, 48\\ 3$	$\begin{array}{c} 551.07\\ 566.57\\ 584.43\\ 593.69\\ 542.39\\ 552.75\\ 6\\ 552.75\\ 6\\ 484.01\\ 6\\ 476.45\\ 476.78\\ 484.01\\ 6\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.78\\ 476.45\\ 127.68\\ 476.43\\ 122.14\\ 222$	$\begin{array}{r} 387,52\\ 389,51\\ 523,02\\ 516,28\\ 473,33\\ 388,61\\ 373,27\\ 356,86\\ 343,72\\ 333,57\\ 192,78\\ 187,24\\ 181,00\\ 177,26\\ 158,89\\ 131,63\\ 128,54\\ 123,82\\ 127,13\\ 125,79\\ 129,13\\ 129,129,129,129,129,129,129,129,$	$\begin{array}{c} 286, 10\\ 284, 69\\ 381, 03\\ 362, 94\\ 385, 98\\ 393, 67\\ 399, 86\\ 399, 86\\ 399, 86\\ 399, 86\\ 399, 86\\ 399, 86\\ 139, 80\\ 278, 11\\ 280, 76\\ 245, 28\\ 184, 96\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 200, 26\\ 158, 52\\ 159, 68\\ 159, 60\\ 158, 80\\ 158, 80\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 368, 06\\ 371, 18\\ 499, 41\\ 499, 41\\ 492, 15\\ 460, 48\\ 388, 59\\ 375, 69\\ 361, 90\\ 351, 20\\ 343, 04\\ 205, 81\\ 202, 13\\ 191, 38\\ 191, 38\\ 191, 38\\ 164, 34\\ 142, 01\\ 1140, 37\\ 134, 87\\ 131, 81\\ 130, 99\\ 133, 91\\ 138, 73\\ 138, 73\\ 138, 7$	219, 76 235, 84 241, 41 236, 82 235, 09 223, 64 200, 34 198, 07 191, 55 186, 60, 34 175, 11 173, 18 171, 15 169, 04 170, 02 168, 87 176, 52	$\begin{array}{c} 260,11\\ 206,25\\ 216,32\\ 220,62\\ 218,98\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 131,86\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,10\\ 221,10\\ 221,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,$	$\begin{array}{c} 226.4\\ 230.0\\ 236.4\\ 233.6\\ 231.9\\ 219.4\\ 222.2\\ 186.0\\ 203.4\\ 197.8\\ 193.7\\ 216.4\\ 189.2\\ 180.5\\ 177.0\\ 180.5\\ 177.9\\ 175.9\\ 177.9\\ 175.9\\ 180.5\\ 180.5\\ 177.9\\ 180.4\\ 180.5\\ 177.9\\ 180.4\\ 180.5\\ 18$
934 933 1932 1931 1930 1920 1929 1927 1926 1927 1926 1927 1926 1927 1924 1925 1924 1922 1923 1922 1921 1920 1919 1914 1913 1914 1913 1914 1913 1913 1913 1914 1913 1914 1913 1914 1913 1914 1915 1914 1915 1914 1915 1914 1915 1914 1915 1914 1915 1914 1915 1914 1915 19		$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{i}, 078, 10\\ 1, 086, 64\\ 1, 087, 066, 64\\ 1, 087, 062\\ 1, 087, 062\\ 1, 087, 062\\ 1, 087, 062\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1, 087, 087\\ 1,$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 387,52\\ 389,51\\ 523,02\\ 516,28\\ 473,33\\ 388,61\\ 373,27\\ 356,86\\ 343,72\\ 333,57\\ 192,78\\ 187,24\\ 181,00\\ 177,26\\ 158,89\\ 158,89\\ 158,89\\ 123,82\\ 127,13\\ 124,54\\ 123,82\\ 127,13\\ 124,87\\ 129,13\\ 134,87\\ 123,92\\ 129,13\\ 134,87\\ 123,92\\ 129,13\\ 134,87\\ 123,92\\ 123,92\\ 129,13\\ 134,87\\ 123,92\\ 123,90\\ 123,$	$\begin{array}{c} 286, 10\\ 284, 69\\ 381, 03\\ 362, 94\\ 385, 98\\ 388, 50\\ 390, 86\\ 393, 67\\ 395, 40\\ 399, 67\\ 395, 40\\ 399, 67\\ 1278, 11\\ 278, 11\\ 278, 11\\ 290, 76\\ 245, 28\\ 187, 96\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 52\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 52\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 52\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 52\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 52\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 52\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 108\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 108\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 108\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 108\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 15\\ 208, 108\\ 174, 98\\ 197, 108\\ 198, $	$\begin{array}{c} 368, 06\\ 371, 18\\ 499, 41\\ 499, 41\\ 499, 41\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 15\\ 492, 12\\ 492, $	$\begin{array}{c} 219,76\\ 235,84\\ 241,41\\ 236,82\\ 235,09\\ 218,49\\ 223,64\\ 98,07\\ 191,55\\ 186,68\\ 217,58\\ 179,49\\ 175,11\\ 173,18\\ 169,18\\ 169,04\\ 170,02\\ 168,87\\ 176,52\\ 151,73\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 260,11\\ 206,25\\ 216,32\\ 220,62\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 211,93\\ 211,93\\ 211,93\\ 203,99\\ 195,95\\ 218,28\\ 195,21\\ 191,78\\ 199,99\\ 193,70\\ 194,67\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 226, 4\\ 230, 0\\ 236, 4\\ 233, 6\\ 231, 9\\ 219, 4\\ 222, 2\\ 186, 0\\ 197, 8\\ 193, 7\\ 216, 4\\ 197, 8\\ 193, 7\\ 216, 4\\ 189, 2\\ 183, 5\\ 180, 5\\ 177, 0\\ 180, 5\\ 177, 0\\ 180, 5\\ 177, 9\\ 175, 9\\ 175, 9\\ 175, 9\\ 175, 9\\ 180, 4\\ 161, 6\\ 16$
934 		$\begin{array}{c} {\rm i, 078, 10} \\ {\rm i, 086, 64} \\ {\rm i, 087, 06, 64} \\ {\rm i, 087, 06, 64} \\ {\rm i, 087, 06, 64} \\ {\rm i, 085, 09, 08, 08, 08, 08, 08, 08, 08, 08, 08, 08$	$ \begin{array}{c} 464, 68\\ 467, 73\\ 469, 09\\ 469, 63\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 451, 01\\ 385, 60\\ 386, 01\\ 360, 385\\ 360, 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360\\ 360, 360\\ 360\\ 360\\ 360\\ 360\\ 360\\ 360\\ 360\\$		$\begin{array}{r} 387, 52\\ 389, 51\\ 523, 02\\ 516, 28\\ 473, 33\\ 388, 61\\ 373, 27\\ 373, $	$\begin{array}{c} 286, 10\\ 284, 69\\ 381, 03\\ 362, 94\\ 385, 98\\ 388, 50\\ 390, 86\\ 393, 67\\ 395, 40\\ 398, 71\\ 278, 11\\ 280, 76\\ 245, 28\\ 187, 22\\ 184, 96\\ 197, 15\\ 200, 26\\ 158, 50\\ 158, 80\\ 158, 80\\ 158, 57\\ 158, 56\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 368, 06\\ 371, 18\\ 499, 41\\ 499, 41\\ 492, 15\\ 460, 48\\ 388, 59\\ 375, 69\\ 361, 90\\ 351, 20\\ 343, 04\\ 205, 81\\ 202, 13\\ 191, 38\\ 164, 34\\ 142, 01\\ 178, 93\\ 164, 34\\ 142, 37\\ 134, 87\\ 131, 81\\ 130, 99\\ 133, 91\\ 138, 73\\ 91\\ 138, 73\\ \end{array}$	219, 76 235, 84 241, 41 236, 82 235, 09 223, 64 200, 34 198, 07 191, 55 186, 60, 34 175, 11 173, 18 171, 15 169, 04 170, 02 168, 87 176, 52	$\begin{array}{c} 260,11\\ 206,25\\ 216,32\\ 220,62\\ 218,98\\ 223,11\\ 216,85\\ 131,86\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,16\\ 221,10\\ 221,10\\ 221,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,10\\ 211,22\\ 102,$	226.4

۲,

1

TABLE 14.—Statement showing the average annual exclusive of insurance and adjusted compensation, fiscal year, 1910-38.—Continued	l value of monetary benefi ts, , by wars, at the end of each	
Jistai year, 1010 by Continued		

					World	War				
		Liv	ing veter	ans			Deceased	veterans		
Year		Com- pensa-	Dis- ability allow-	Emer- gency			Compe	nsation		Total
	Pen- sions	tion (service- con-	ance or non-	officers' retire- ment	Total	Pen- sions	Service- con-	Non- service- con-	Total	10000
1939		nected) 479,18	service	pay 1632.58	46302	<u></u>	nected 531,22	nected	51152	<u>173.1</u> 0
	\$240.67	\$481.39 481.64 481.69 481.43 476.08 524.42	\$319.95 320.21 319.44 315.16 307.32 189.05	\$1, 637. 19 1, 640. 91 1, 638. 41 1, 627. 64 1, 617. 42 1, 653. 60	\$467.44 469.58 471.13 471.58 467.12 350.22	\$283.64	\$457. 42 351. 08 ?52. 06 347. 99 ?37. 04 336. 46	\$355, 48 352, 99 356, 55 359, 20	\$450.04 351.17 352.19 348.20 337.04 336.45	\$463. 81 444. 12 445. 69 445. 17 439. 24 348. 63
1932 1931 1930 1929 1928	234.95 249.95 254.45 253.33 247.15	529, 43 532, 60 528, 69 528, 98 539, 31			354.86 403.32 553.21 547.40 539.26 541.38	300.00 284.00 278.40 275.29 280.94 283.76	335, 75 334, 83 330, 77 329, 55 327, 91 326, 83		335.75 334.83 330.76 329.54 327.90 326.82	352, 64 393, 15 499, 48 493, 45 486, 52 486, 94
1927 1926 1925 1924 1923	241.00 221.88 215.02 226.29 235.59	541. 44 474. 14 452. 78 445. 60 445. 87			474.08 452.72 445.53 445.81	285.47 294.86 288.00 250.34	324.34 317.31 306.93 307.87		324.33 317.30 306.93 307.84	435.40 420.55 411.63 413.78
1922 1921 1920 1919 1918	226. 24 232. 01 224. 84 236. 07 219. 50	448. 30 448. 81 449. 32 378. 92 332. 27			448. 22 448. 72 449. 19 378. 57 329. 98	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	315.68 315.99 316.44 318.30 319.19		315.94 316.33	418.02 417.53 417.00 348.64 322.85

TABLE 15.—Statement showing by wars and by public and special acts the number of living veterans who were receiving monetary benefits, the number of deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving monetary benefits, and the aggregate annual value of these benefits on June 30, 1938 (exclusive of insurance and adjusted compensation)

ł

		Total	P	ublic acts	Sp	ecial acts
	Num- ber	Annual value	Num- ber	Annual value	Num- ber	Annual value
Grand total	836, 953	\$398, 942, 027, 52	829, 549	\$396, 142, 104		\$2, 799, 923. 52
Living veterans	600.848	298, 138, 572, 00	599, 777	297, 882, 468	1,071	256, 104. 00
Deceased veterans	236, 105	100, 803, 455. 52	229,772	98, 259, 636	6,333	2, 543, 819. 52
War of 1812: Deceased veterans.	1	240.00			1	240.0
Mexican War: Deceased veter-	_					
ans	195	112, 608, 00	179	107, 400	16	5, 208. 00
Indian Wars	7.240	3, 508, 740, 00	7.088	3, 472, 680	152	36,060.0
Living veterans	2.814	1, 924, 308, 00	2,736	1, 906, 020	78	18, 288. 0
Deceased veterans	4,426	1, 584, 432, 00	4,352	1, 566, 660	74	17, 772. 0
Civil War	71, 921	36, 432, 276.00	66, 239	34, 095, 648	5,682	2, 336, 628. 0
Living veterans	5,048	5, 736, 624. 00	5,006	5, 711, 664	42	24, 960. 0
Deceased veterans	66, 873	30, 695, 652, 00	61, 233	28, 383, 984	5,640	2, 311, 668. 0
Spanish-American War	224, 100	119, 465, 964.00	223, 869	119, 398, 308	231	67, 656. 0
Living veterans	170, 755	99, 809, 148.00	170, 587	99, 761, 064	168	48,084.0
Service-connected and	,				{	
special act cases	2,075	1, 650, 888.00	1,907	1, 602, 804	168	48, 084. 0
Nonservice connected	168,680	98, 158, 260.00	168, 680	98, 158, 260		
Deceased veterans	53, 345	19, 656, 816.00	53, 282	19, 637, 244	63	19, 572. 0
Service-connected and					1	
special act cases	1,586	597, 264. 00	1, 523	577, 692	63	19, 572. O
Nonservice connected	51, 759	19, 059, 552. 00	51, 759	19, 059, 552		
World War	491, 709	228, 058, 860. 00	491,706	228, 056, 940	3	1, 920. 0
Living veterans	389, 169	181, 911, 840.00	389, 166	181, 909, 920	3	1, 920. 0
Service connected and			,			
special act cases	340, 590	163, 957, 152, 00	340, 587	163, 955, 232	3	1,920.0
Nonservice-connected	46,748	14, 956, 992.00	46,748	14, 956, 992		
Emergency officers' re-			1		ł	
tirement pay	1,831	2, 997, 696. 00	1,831	2, 997, 696		-
Deceased veterans.	102, 540	46, 147, 020. 00	102, 540	46, 147, 020		
Service connected	95, 118	43, 508, 676.00	95, 118	43, 508, 676		
Nonservice connected	7,422	2, 638, 344.00	7,422	2, 638, 344		
Regular Establishment	41, 787	11, 363, 339. 52	40, 468	11, 011, 128	1,319	352, 211. 5
Living veterans	33,062	8, 756, 652.00	32, 282	8, 593, 800	780	162, 852. 0
Deceased veterans	8,725	2, 606, 687. 52	8,186	2, 417, 328	539	189, 359. 5

		1	l'otal			Fempo	rary partia	1	,	l'empo	erary total		Р	erman	ent partial	1		Permai	nent total	1
Fiscal year	Number	Percent	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Number	Percent	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Number	Percent	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Number	Percent	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Number	Percent	Monthly value	A verage monthly value
<u> 42 4</u> 1938		m.oc	13,659,567	30/0/2	44213	22	1.43.1					40	1. AC	111	S. H. SH			Q.	3):0,24	99.12
1938	310, 590 336, 528 337, 767 336, 876 336, 710 328, 658 299, 288 279, 539 262, 138 257, 536 243, 611 226, 484 211, 644 179, 037	100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00 100,00	515, 005, 006 13, 507, 032 13, 558, 242 13, 515, 117 13, 180, 139 14, 714, 893 14, 500, 192 13, 283, 319 12, 315, 797 11, 555, 558 11, 574, 308 10, 991, 795 8, 948, 740 7, 985, 670 6, 648, 270	540 . 12 40. 14 40. 14 40. 12 39. 67 43. 70 44. 12 44. 38 44. 06 44. 08 44. 08 44. 94 45. 12 39. 51 37. 73 37. 13	51, 142 65, 403 74, 770 84, 436 74, 742 109, 930 106, 811 91, 392 81, 295 72, 609 66, 445 64, 304 72, 876 81, 632	15.02 19.43 22.13 25.06 22.505 32.65 32.50 30.53 29.08 27.70 25.80 26.40 32.18 38.57 46.55	2, 111, 389 2, 399, 084 2, 665, 645 2, 389, 806 3, 704, 865 3, 649, 544 3, 172, 663 2, 850, 988 2, 538, 006 2, 290, 856 2, 147, 180 1, 999, 585 1, 827, 835	$\begin{array}{c} 32.28\\ 32.09\\ 31.57\\ 31.97\\ 33.70\\ 34.17\\ 34.71\\ 35.07\\ 34.95\\ 34.48\\ 33.39\\ 27.44\\ 22.39\\ 21.40\\ \end{array}$	2, 723 3, 122 11, 481 12, 318 11, 577 11, 651	 55 63 68 81 94 341 3.74 3.87 4.17 4.52 5.46 7.36 9.68 12.56 12.88 15.87 	$\begin{array}{c} \$169, 637\\ 190, 343\\ 204, 144\\ 247, 366\\ 295, 364\\ 1, 072, 173\\ 1, 145, 300\\ 1, 064, 916\\ 1, 053, 294\\ 1, 052, 927\\ 1, 247, 004\\ 1, 574, 655\\ 1, 897, 505\\ 2, 304, 685\\ 1, 905, 075\\ 2, 496, 200\\ \end{array}$	90, 25 90, 29 90, 84 94, 61 93, 39 92, 98 91, 99 90, 40 88, 79 88, 67 87, 81 86, 66 86, 67	144, 548 143, 721 129, 187 103, 518 81, 538 56, 976	70 46 67 59 64 51 67 33 53 23 52 84 54 06 54 37 55 14 53 03 45 53 38 53 38 53 31 82	7, 734, 586 7, 406, 120 7, 438, 854 6, 298, 261 6, 104, 967 5, 644, 467 5, 207, 747 4, 926, 285 4, 994, 335 4, 344, 030 2, 498, 700 1, 761, 175 1, 268, 345	$ $33.63 \\ 33.86 \\ 33.86 \\ 33.88 \\ 33.26 \\ 35.14 \\ 7 \\ 35.16 \\ 35.16 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.25 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.22 \\ 34.26 \\ 34.22$	32, 426 31, 903 32, 450 30, 670 36, 057 35, 884 34, 531 34, 592 33, 122 33, 307 32, 188 28, 151 21, 879	9.52 9.48 9.60	\$3, 235, 788 3, 176, 712 3, 220, 428 3, 195, 986 3, 056, 115 3, 639, 594 3, 600, 381 3, 401, 273 3, 203, 768 3, 038, 340 2, 052, 930 2, 051, 125	\$99.79 99.57 99.24 98.66 99.65 100.94 100.33 98.50 92.62 91.73 91.73 90.90 90.69 90.69 95.62 101.01
1 <u>0:54</u> 1 938	61366	19.69	3412,200	50.65	13,916	~ **					DISEASE		231165 V	10.81	1417-24	3.4.1	1515	N.51	1449:159	12.11
1938 1937 1936 1935 1936 1937 1938 1931 1932 1931 1932 1931 1932 1932 1932 1932 1932 1920 1928 1927 1926 1925 1924 1923	64, 441 64, 047 59, 795 69, 380 67, 916 62, 430 59, 847 56, 205 54, 958 52, 665 49, 773 44, 845 32, 103	19. 64 19. 54 19. 08 19. 01 18. 00 20. 60 20. 67 20. 86 21. 41 21. 44 31. 34 21. 98 21. 19 82. 19 83 21. 19 31, 54 3	$\begin{array}{c} \$3, 404, 867\\ 3, 326, 862\\ 3, 294, 990\\ 3, 260, 565\\ 3, 021, 451\\ 3, 904, 962\\ 3, 819, 103\\ 3, 487, 388\\ 243, 142\\ 2, 996, 577\\ 2, 900, 601\\ 2, 714, 985\\ 2, 320, 345\\ 2, 017, 705\\ 1, 392, 530\end{array}$	\$50. 90 50. 61 51. 13 50. 53 56. 28 56. 23 55. 86 54. 19 53. 32 52. 78 51. 55 46. 62 44. 92 49. 26 49. 28	21, 159 23, 099 24, 553 20, 133 31, 425 30, 431 26, 755 24, 097 22, 356 21, 639 20, 789 20, 789 20, 807 21, 052	4, 75 6, 29 6, 84 7, 29 9, 33 9, 26 8, 94 8, 62 8, 53 9, 10 8, 53 9, 95 8, 59 8, 59 8, 63	1, 031, 049 930, 599 851, 084	34.98 34.97 34.56 35.50 38.45 38.47 38.54 38.62 38.07 37.46 35.36 27.08 20.50 20.52	659 701 762 872 759 3,581 3,749 3,528 3,475 3,376 3,475 3,376 3,570 4,463 5,921 7,230 5,288 6,247	0. 19 . 21 . 23 . 26 . 23 1. 06 1. 14 1. 18 1. 25 1. 29 1. 39 1. 39 1. 34 2. 95 3. 41	61, 277	80, 39 80, 42 80, 91 87, 08 87, 80 87, 25 85, 79 83, 08 80, 69 81, 38 78, 59 77, 60 82, 22 83, 81	34, 311 28, 515 25, 041 23, 167 24, 743 15, 649 15, 146 14, 248 13, 548 12, 730 12, 669 11, 506 9, 831 7, 157 4, 545 1, 055	 8.47 7.41 6.87 7.45 4.65 4.61 4.76 4.84 	$\begin{matrix} 1, 108, 473\\ 990, 904\\ 928, 017\\ 947, 162\\ 646, 270\\ 622, 927\\ 573, 017\\ 529, 541\\ 483, 116\\ 482, 363\\ 433, 320\\ 322, 085\\ 206, 575\\ 133, 075\end{matrix}$	39. 57 40. 06 38. 28 41. 30 41. 13 40. 22 39. 09 37. 95 38. 07 37. 66 5 32. 76 5 28. 86	15, 738 15, 366 15, 539 15, 455 18, 725 18, 590 17, 899 18, 727 17, 743 17, 743 17, 080 15, 904 13, 214 9, 406 6, 899 5, 153		1, 421, 793 1, 434, 956 1, 413, 477 1, 293, 473	92, 53 92, 35 91, 46 91, 35 92, 72 91, 36 88, 31 79, 79 78, 34 77, 12 75, 17 73, 81 83, 47 99, 99

~

ŕ

۳.. ۱

TABLE 16.—World War compensation—Service-connected active disability awards; comparative analysis of type of major disability, by extent of disability at the end of each fiscal year 1923-38 9

¹ Includes double permanent total cases.

Ļ

.

60

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

. .

- ,- ') 	<u>er:: 4</u>	4.21	<u>بالا</u> ولى ا	500.06	212	102	1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1	TU 58.91	BERCU		s 32,760	81.83	41.50	120	A jule ge	46.3	\ y2?	2.0	blog and	1 011-5
1938 1937 1936 1935 1934 1933 1934 1933 1932 1931 1932 1931 1932 1939 1928 1927 1926 1925 1924 1925 1924 1924 1924 1923	58, 092 59, 141 57, 270 63, 932 63, 371 59, 739 55, 598 56, 535 60, 690 57, 748	$\begin{array}{c} 16.56\\ 16.92\\ 17.20\\ 17.56\\ 17.24\\ 18.99\\ 19.28\\ 19.96\\ 19.89\\ 21.57\\ 23.57\\ 23.70\\ 21.26\\ 21.66\\ 21.84\\ 22.70\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} \$3, 026, 205\\ 3, 070, 957\\ 3, 139, 085\\ 3, 202, 192\\ 3, 139, 232\\ 3, 330, 368\\ 8, 859, 432\\ 3, 711, 091\\ 3, 551, 652\\ 3, 600, 916\\ 3, 905, 822\\ 3, 830, 365\\ 2, 858, 435\\ 2, 858, 435\\ 2, 873, 565\\ 2, 428, 040\\ 2, 721, 530\\ \end{array}$	\$53, 67 53, 92 54, 04 54, 15 59, 91 60, 90 62, 12 63, 88 63, 69 64, 36 66, 33 59, 37 62, 69 62, 10 65, 50	$\begin{array}{c} 2, 541\\ 3, 276\\ 3, 864\\ 4, 263\\ 3, 150\\ 6, 063\\ 6, 449\\ 6, 447\\ 6, 695\\ 6, 545\\ 4, 516\\ 6, 036\\ 13, 702\\ 16, 339\\ 16, 774\\ 18, 221\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 75 \\ .\ 97 \\ 1.\ 14 \\ 1.\ 26 \\ .\ 95 \\ 1.\ 80 \\ 1.\ 95 \\ 2.\ 40 \\ 2.\ 50 \\ 1.\ 75 \\ 2.\ 40 \\ 2.\ 50 \\ 1.\ 75 \\ 2.\ 40 \\ 5.\ 6.\ 05 \\ 7.\ 72 \\ 9.\ 37 \\ 9.\ 95 \end{array}$		57.78 58.84 62.21 62.29 61.86 61.00 60.58 62.71 55.73 36.82 33.38 33.97	408 496 557 747 923 3,287 3,727 3,923 4,226 4,806 6,642 9,418 11,853 14,824 12,278 16,544	Ø. 12 . 15 . 17 . 22 . 28 . 98 1. 13 1. 51 1. 51 2. 58 3. 86 5. 23 7. 00 6. 866 9. 04	604, 809 855, 845	87. 18 87. 20 87. 63 92. 39 95. 05 94. 74 94. 17 93. 21 91. 06 90. 87 89. 96 88. 52 87. 89	46, 339 45, 879 45, 962 46, 064 45, 160 43, 477 39, 591 34, 892 35, 371 38, 701 31, 040 12, 019 5, 515 2, 685 314	$\begin{array}{c} 13.63\\ 13.61\\ 13.68\\ 13.68\\ 13.41\\ 13.23\\ 13.23\\ 12.48\\ 13.49\\ 15.03\\ 12.74\\ 5.31\\ 2.61\end{array}$	2, 094, 060 2, 152, 207 2, 080, 723 1, 917, 463 1, 734, 307 1, 749, 507 1, 904, 379	46. 33 46. 06 45. 83 46. 08 47. 66 47. 86 48. 43 49. 71 49. 46 49. 21 47. 59 16. 80 14. 87 14. 68	7, 709 8, 067 7, 754 9, 422 9, 718 9, 778 9, 778 9, 813 10, 831 11, 254	3.75 4.21 4.62	\$690, 044 708, 323 746, 092 779, 220 774, 642 988, 560 1, 023, 878 1, 025, 393 1, 015, 011 1, 013, 552 1, 113, 442 1, 161, 000 1, 085, 650 934, 025 739, 695 648, 060	97.00 96.78 96.59 99.90 104.92 105.36 104.87 103.73 103.29 102.80 103.16 102.65 101.96 100.47
1959	219.012	له با وا	1:18:12	ريم. ريم	-11 ⁻⁰		RAL ME	DICAL	AND 193	surg	ICAL CO	NDIT	IONS 1	62.16	1284249	292 ^E	dr30	2.21	196,521	112.94
1938. 1937. 1936. 1935. 1934. 1933. 1934. 1932. 1931. 1930. 1932. 1931. 1930. 1929. 1928. 1927. 1926. 1925. 1924. 1923.	$\begin{array}{c} 217,303\\ 213,834\\ 215,234\\ 213,688\\ 125,151\\ 203,398\\ 197,371\\ 177,119\\ 164,094\\ 149,398\\ 141,888\\ 133,198\\ 128,561\\ 120,960\\ 107,835\\ 113,283\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.\ 80\\ 63.\ 54\\ 63.\ 72\\ 63.\ 43\\ 64.\ 76\\ 60.\ 41\\ 60.\ 05\\ 59.\ 18\\ 58.\ 70\\ 56.\ 99\\ 55.\ 99\\ 54.\ 68\\ 56.\ 76\\ 57.\ 15\\ 60.\ 23\\ 61.\ 87\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} \$7, 232, 024\\ 7, 109, 213\\ 7, 124, 167\\ 7, 052, 360\\ 7, 019, 456\\ 6, 979, 563\\ 6, 821, 657\\ 6, 084, 840\\ 5, 521, 003\\ 4, 958, 065\\ 4, 767, 885\\ 4, 767, 885\\ 4, 446, 445\\ 3, 769, 960\\ 3, 094, 400\\ 2, 638, 775\\ 2, 688, 830\\ \end{array}$	\$33. 28 33. 25 33. 10 32. 63 34. 31 34. 56 33. 45 33. 60 33. 38 29. 32 25. 58 24. 47 23. 74	32, 411 40, 968 47, 807 55, 620 51, 459 72, 442 69, 931 58, 190 50, 503 43, 708 40, 290 37, 479 38, 367 44, 241 51, 194	9.52 12.17 14.15 16.51 15.49 21.52 21.28 19.44	\$947, 632 1, 177, 300 1, 363, 840 1, 570, 798 1, 489, 738 2, 119, 535 2, 077, 109 1, 742, 793 1, 511, 965 1, 290, 418 1, 197, 122 1, 075, 670 931, 555 8598, 570	\$29.24 28.74 28.53 29.26 29.70 29.95 29.91 29.95 29.91 29.52 29.71 28.70 24.28 19.23 17.55 16.40	$\begin{array}{c} 807\\ 912\\ 942\\ 1,104\\ 1,44\\ 6,13\\ 4,842\\ 4,126\\ 3,950\\ 3,677\\ 3,851\\ 4,045\\ 4,165\\ 4,541\\ 4,414\\ 6,271\\ \end{array}$	Q. 24 . 27 . 28 . 333 . 43 1. 37 1. 47 1. 38 1. 41 1. 40 1. 49 1. 66 1. 84 2. 14 2. 47 3. 42	94, 294 111, 351 144, 086 445, 324 465, 106	99. 51 100. 10 100. 86 99. 99 96. 54 96. 06 95. 21 93. 84 91. 32 90. 86 89. 26 89. 26 89. 66 86. 71	162, 719 157, 283 148, 091 153, 495 118, 433 115, 022	48. 36 46. 57 43. 96 46. 20 35. 17 35. 00 36. 07 37. 05 36. 79	$\begin{array}{c} \$5, 121, 623\\ 4, 794, 566\\ 4, 626, 653\\ 4, 366, 922\\ 4, 397, 632\\ 3, 499, 784\\ 3, 401, 317\\ 3, 153, 987\\ 2, 943, 899\\ 2, 693, 662\\ 2, 607, 593\\ 2, 433, 590\\ 1, 974, 655\\ 1, 472, 610\\ 1, 095, 845\\ 524, 285\\ \end{array}$	29. 47 29. 42 29. 49 28. 65 29. 57 29. 57 29. 22 28. 43 27. 93 28. 24 28. 09 24. 18 21. 38 22. 03	9, 587 9, 235 9, 202 8, 873 8, 756 6, 854 6, 080 7, 910 7, 576 6, 854 6, 080 5, 566 5, 396 5, 5396 5, 330 4, 361 3, 312 2, 481 2, 163	2.74 2.72	1, 082, 338 1, 046, 596 1, 039, 380 1, 003, 289 938, 000 914, 920 878, 125 795, 238 694, 474 634, 817 611, 500 569, 365 491, 975 372, 875 261, 625 221, 680	113. 33 112. 95 113. 07 112. 84 115. 67 115. 91 116. 03 114. 22 114. 05 113. 32 113. 19 112. 81 112. 58 105. 45

¹ Includes double permanent total cases.

•

.

-

 \mathbf{N}

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 61

•

		0	nd total						Neuro	psychiatric o	liseases				
		Gra	ng totai		End	ocrines	Nervo	us system	Psychia	tric diseases			Total		
Extent of disability and degree of impairment	Num- ber	Percent of grand total	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- b er	Monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Num- ber	Percent of total neuro- psychia- tric	Percent of degree of im- pair- ment	Monthly value	A verage monthly value
Grand total	340, 590	100.00	\$13, 663, 096	\$40.12	3, 640	\$147, 883	46, 155	\$1, 944, 565	17, 103	\$1, 312, 419	66, 898	100.00	19.64	\$3, 404, 867	\$50.90
Total partial ratings	306, 290	89.93	10, 257, 671	33.49	3, 200	104, 199	42.411	1, 548, 115	4, 890	235, 524	50, 501	75.49	16.49	1, 887, 838	37.3
No disability	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 708\\ 81, 776\\ 102, 105\\ 43, 043\\ 24, 508\\ 22, 309\\ 12, 657\\ 10, 695\\ 5, 968\\ 1, 521\\ \hline 51, 142\\ \hline 51, 142\\ \hline 51, 142\\ \hline 6, 674\\ 5, 063\\ 4, 801\\ 2, 600\\ 3, 156\\ 6, 1, 121\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .50\\ 24,01\\ 29,98\\ 12,64\\ 7,20\\ 8,71\\ 3,71\\ 3,71\\ 3,71\\ 1,75\\ 4,55\\ \hline 15,02\\ \hline 3,82\\ 4,17\\ 1,96\\ 1,49\\ 1,49\\ 1,49\\ 1,49\\ 1,49\\ 3,33\\ 3,33\\ 3,33\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 42, 620\\ 1, 057, 397\\ 3, 205, 437\\ 1, 463, 158\\ 1, 056, 458\\ 1, 155, 235\\ 807, 704\\ 788, 722\\ 512, 711\\ 148, 229\\ \hline 1, 675, 890\\ \hline 172, 095\\ 324, 353\\ 222, 244\\ 210, 141\\ 240, 073\\ 155, 263\\ 222, 049\\ 385, 780\\ \hline \end{array}$	24, 95 13, 305 31, 39 43, 51 51, 78 63, 81 73, 75 85, 91 97, 45 32, 77 13, 22 22, 84 33, 30 41, 51 50, 00 59, 72 69, 74 69, 74 92, 20	$\begin{array}{c} 731\\ 7,050\\ 511\\ 211\\ 207\\ 103\\ 201\\ 158\\ 18\\ \hline 1,105\\ 249\\ 401\\ 137\\ 82\\ 72\\ 40\\ 88\\ 83\\ 31\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9,512\\ 24,058\\ 16,311\\ 8,679\\ 10,275\\ 6,337\\ 14,710\\ 12,665\\ 1.652\\ \hline 34,441\\ \hline 3,183\\ 8,883\\ 4,334\\ 4,334\\ 3,369\\ 3.435\\ 2,353\\ 6,040\\ 2,403\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5,069\\ 13,488\\ 7,377\\ 4,582\\ 5,525\\ 2,695\\ 2,154\\ 1,412\\ 109\\ \hline 13,644\\ 1,435\\ 5,199\\ 1,944\\ 1,487\\ 1,678\\ 844\\ 778\\ 844\\ 778\\ 254\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 68, 997\\ 315, 943\\ 237, 875\\ 191, 768\\ 282, 116\\ 167, 741\\ 156, 002\\ 116, 723\\ 10, 951\\ \hline \\ 474, 732\\ 20, 481\\ 119, 689\\ 62, 545\\ 60, 849\\ 83, 846\\ 50, 597\\ 54, 501\\ 20, 037\\ \end{array}$	506 254 178 718 1, 209 591 1, 092 328 14 1, 441 1, 441 45 100 28 294 342 243 342 243 342 62	$\begin{array}{c} 5,406\\ 5,829\\ 5,504\\ 27,113\\ 58,864\\ 32,868\\ 73,074\\ 25,558\\ 1,308\\ \hline \\ 67,477\\ 557\\ 2,175\\ 888\\ 10,335\\ 15,574\\ 12,652\\ 20,229\\ 20,220$	$\begin{array}{c} 6, 306\\ 14, 792\\ 8, 066\\ 5, 511\\ 6, 941\\ 3, 389\\ 3, 457\\ 1, 898\\ 141\\ \hline 16, 190\\ \hline 1, 729\\ 5, 700\\ 2, 109\\ 1, 863\\ 2, 092\\ 1, 127\\ 1, 187\\ 347\\ 347\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} & 9,42\\ 22,11\\ 12,06\\ 8,24\\ 10,38\\ 5,06\\ 5,17\\ 2,84\\ .21\\ \hline 24,20\\ 2,58\\ 8,52\\ 3,15\\ 2,79\\ 3,13\\ 1,68\\ 1,78\\ .52\\ .52\\ \end{array}$	7. 71 14. 49 18. 74 22. 49 31. 11 26. 78 32. 32 31. 80 9. 27 31. 66 13. 28 40. 13 31. 60 36. 80 36. 80 36. 80 37. 61 33. 51 37. 61 30. 96 9. 96	83, 915 345, 830 259, 690 227, 560 351, 254 206, 946 243, 786 13, 911 576, 650 24, 221 130, 747 67, 767 74, 553 102, 855 65, 602 80, 770 80, 770	$\begin{array}{c} 13.3\\ 23.3\\ 32.2\\ 41.2\\ 50.6\\ 61.0\\ 0\\ 70.5\\ 81.6\\ 98.6\\ \hline 35.6\\ \hline 14.0\\ 22.9\\ 32.1\\ 40.0\\ 49.1\\ 58.2\\ 68.0\\ 68.0\\ 68.0\\ \hline 68.0\\ 68.0\\ 77.7\\ \hline \end{array}$
90 to 99 percent Permanent partial	505 255, 148	. 15	42,848	<u>84.85</u> 33.63	2,095	<u>441</u> 69, 758	25	2.187	<u>6</u> 3,449	$\frac{532}{168,047}$	36 34, 311	. 05	7.13	3, 160	87.7
No disability	1,708 68,758 87,901 36,369 19,445 17,508 10,057 7,539 4,847 1,016 1,874	50 20. 19 25. 81 10. 68 5. 71 5. 14 2. 95 2. 21 1. 42 . 30	42, 620 895, 302 2, 881, 084 1, 240, 914 856, 317 915, 162 652, 441 568, 629 423, 931 105, 381 169, 637	24. 95 13. 02 32. 78 34. 12 44. 04 52. 27 64. 87 75. 42 87. 46 103. 72 90. 52	482 649 374 129 135 63 123 127 13 27	6, 329 15, 175 11, 977 5, 310 6, 840 3, 984 8, 670 10, 262 1, 211 2, 644	3, 634 8, 289 5, 433 3, 095 3, 847 1, 851 1, 376 1, 158 84 152	$\begin{array}{c} & 48,516 \\ 196,254 \\ 175,330 \\ 130,919 \\ 198,269 \\ 117,144 \\ 101,501 \\ 96,686 \\ 8,764 \\ \hline 13,646 \end{array}$	461 154 150 424 867 348 771 266 8 480	4, 849 3, 654 4, 616 16, 778 43, 290 20, 216 52, 845 21, 023 776 37, 333	4, 577 9, 092 5, 957 3, 648 4, 849 2, 262 2, 270 1, 551 105 659	6.84 13.59 8.91 5.45 7.25 3.38 3.39 2.32 .16	6, 66 10, 34 16, 38 18, 76 27, 70 22, 49 30, 11 32, 00 10, 33 35, 17	59, 694 215, 083 191, 923 153, 007 248, 399 141, 344 163, 016 127, 971 10, 751 53, 623	13.0 23.6 32.2 41.9 51.2 62.4 71.8 82.5 102.3 81.3
Permanent total Double permanent total	32, 353 73	9.50 .02	3, 217, 742 18, 046	99.46 247.21	413	41,040	3, 575 17	$378,659 \\ 4,145$	11, 731 2	1, 039, 162 400	15, 719 19	23.50 .03	48. 59 26. 03	1, 458, 861 4, 545	92. 239.

 TABLE 17.—World War compensation—Service-connected active disability awards; extent of disability and degree of impairment correlated with classification of major disability showing number of disabled veterans and monthly value of awards as of June 30, 1938

.
		Tub	erculosis			General medical and surgical conditions							
Extent of disability and degree of impairment	Number	Fercent of total tuber- culosis	Percent of degree of impair- ment	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Number	Percent of total general medical and surgical con- ditions	Percent of degree of impair- ment	Monthly value	A verage monthly value			
Grand total	56, 389	100.00	16. 56	\$3, 026, 205	\$53.67	217, 303	100.00	63.80	\$7, 232, 024	\$33.28			
Total partial ratings	48, 880	86.69	15.96	2, 300, 578	47.07	206, 909	95, 22	67.55	6, 069, 255	29.33			
No disability 10 to 19 percent. 20 to 29 percent. 30 to 39 percent. 40 to 49 percent. 50 to 59 percent. 60 to 69 percent. 70 to 79 percent. 80 to 89 percent. 80 to 89 percent.	146 37, 672 3, 559 2, 021 2, 581 648 1, 362 488	. 26 66.81 6.31 3.58 4.58 1.15 2.42 .87	. 18 36,89 8,27 8,24 11,57 5,12 12,74 8,18	2, 084 1, 708, 460 164, 725 95, 629 129, 500 37, 045 92, 393 37, 574	14. 27 45. 35 46. 28 47. 32 50. 17 57. 17 67. 84 77. 00	$\begin{array}{c} 1,708\\75,324\\49,641\\31,418\\16,976\\12,787\\8,620\\5,876\\3,582\end{array}$. 79 34. 66 22. 84 14. 46 7. 81 5. 89 3. 97 2. 70 1. 65	$100,00 \\92,11 \\48,62 \\72,99 \\69,27 \\57,32 \\68,10 \\54,94 \\60,02$	$\begin{array}{r} 42,620\\ 981,398\\ 1,151,147\\ 1,038,743\\ 743,269\\ 674,481\\ 563,713\\ 452,543\\ 320,191\end{array}$	24, 95 13, 03 23, 19 33, 06 43, 78 52, 75 65, 40 77, 02 89, 39			
90 to 99 percent	403	. 71	26.50	33, 168	82.30	977	. 45	64.23	101, 150	103. 53			
Temporary partial	2, 541	4.51	4.97	151, 608	59.66	32, 411	14.92	63.37					
10 to 19 percent. 20 to 29 percent. 30 to 39 percent. 40 to 49 percent. 50 to 59 percent. 60 to 69 percent. 70 to 79 percent. 80 to 89 percent. 90 to 99 percent. 90 to 99 percent.	$ \begin{array}{r} 17\\36\\411\\484\\110\\201\\606\\313\\363\end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} .\ 03\\ .\ 06\\ .\ 73\\ .\ 85\\ .\ 20\\ .\ 36\\ 1.\ 08\\ .\ 56\\ .\ 64\end{array}$. 13 . 25 6, 16 9, 56 2, 29 7, 73 19, 20 27, 92 71, 88	$\begin{array}{c} 204\\ 1, 123\\ 18, 563\\ 22, 487\\ 5, 708\\ 10, 204\\ 39, 837\\ 23, 681\\ 29, 801 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 12.00\\ 31.19\\ 45.17\\ 46.46\\ 51.89\\ 50.77\\ 65.74\\ 75.66\\ 82.10\\ \end{array}$	$11, 272 \\ 8, 468 \\ 4, 154 \\ 2, 716 \\ 2, 599 \\ 1, 272 \\ 1, 363 \\ 461 \\ 106$	$5.19 \\ 3.89 \\ 1.91 \\ 1.25 \\ 59 \\ .63 \\ .21 \\ .05$	86. 59 59. 62 62. 24 53. 64 54. 14 48. 92 43. 19 41. 12 20. 99	147, 670 192, 483 135, 914 113, 101 131, 510 79, 457 99, 486 38, 124 9, 887	$\begin{array}{c} 13.\ 10\\ 22.\ 73\\ 32.\ 72\\ 41.\ 64\\ 50.\ 60\\ 62.\ 47\\ 72.\ 99\\ 82.\ 70\\ 93.\ 27\\ \hline\end{array}$			
Permanent partial	46, 339	82.18	18.16	2, 148, 970	46.37	174, 498	80.30	68.39	5, 121, 623	29.3			
No disability	129 37, 636 3, 148 1, 537 2, 471 447 756 175		. 19 42. 82 8. 66 7. 90 14. 11 4. 45 10. 03 3. 61 3. 94	$\begin{array}{c} 1,880\\ 1,707,337\\ 146,162\\ 73,142\\ 123,792\\ 26,841\\ 52,556\\ 13,893\\ 3,367\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 14.57\\ 45.36\\ 46.43\\ 47.59\\ 50.10\\ 60.05\\ 69.52\\ 79.39\\ 84.18\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1,708\\ 64,052\\ 41,173\\ 27,264\\ 14,260\\ 10,188\\ 7,348\\ 4,513\\ 3,121\\ 871\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} . 79\\ 29, 47\\ 18, 95\\ 12, 55\\ 6, 56\\ 4, 69\\ 3, 38\\ 2, 07\\ 1, 44\\ . 40\end{array}$	100.00 93.15 46.84 74.96 73.34 58.19 73.06 59.86 64.39 85.73	42, 620 833, 728 958, 664 902, 829 630, 168 542, 971 484, 256 353, 057 282, 067 91, 263	24, 95 13, 02 23, 28 33, 11 44, 14 53, 30 65, 90 78, 22 90, 38 104, 78			
Temporary total Permanent total Double permanent total	. 7,099	. 72 12. 59		689,606	87.21 97.14 219.00	807 9, 535 52	. 37 4. 39 . 02	29.47	80, 431 1, 069, 275 13, 063	99.67 112.14 251.2			

۲

-

.

1

Ŀ

,

4

 TABLE 18.—World War compensation—Service-connected active disability awards; number disabled veterans rated on a temporary basis showing those receiving additional compensation for dependents, and number of dependents, as of June 30, 1938

		Total		Те	emporary pa	artial	Temporary tota!				
	Num- ber Monthly n		Average monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	A verage monthly value		
Total veterans on a temporary basis .	53, 016	\$1, 84 5, 527	\$34. 81	51, 142	\$1, 675, 890	\$3 2. 77	1, 874	\$169, 637	\$90. 52		
Without dependents. With dependents	10, 301 42, 715		26. 17 36. 89		252, 648 1, 423, 242				58, 82 96, 28		
Total dependents	134, 099	325, 837	1 7.63	128, 851	292, 861	1 7. 12	5, 248	32, 976	1 20. 79		
Wives Children Parents	39, 830 91, 719 2, 550	169, 918	3.64 1.85 4.29	88,085	131, 302 152, 132 9, 427		1, 443 3, 634 171		9. 47 4. 89 8. 89		
Veterans	42, 715	1, 250, 102	29. 27	41, 129	1, 130, 381	27.48	1, 586	119, 721	75.49		

¹ Average monthly value of additional allowance paid for dependents. ⁹ Includes nurse allowance.

Ķ

Ç

 TABLE 19.—World War veterans receiving pensions for non-service-connected disabilities classified by type of major disability, as of June 30, 1938

Type of major disability	Number	Percent	Monthly value	A ve rage monthly value
Total	46, 748	100. 00	\$1, 246, 416	\$26.66
	19, 697	42. 14	488, 166	24.78
General medical and surgical conditions	8, 430	18. 03	226, 404	26.86
	18, 621	39. 83	531, 846	28.56

TABLE 20.—World War and Regular Establishment veterans and dependents of deceased veterans receiving compensation or pension benefits, showing number of cases on which insurance payments are also being made as of June 30, 1938

		Disability			Death	
Kind of claim	Worl	d War	Regular Estab-	Worl	d War	Regular Estab-
	Service con- nected	Nonserv- ice con- nected	lishment	Service con- nected	Nonserv- ice con- nected	lishment
Total	340, 590	46, 748	9, 230	95, 118	7, 422	356
Compensation or pensions only Compensation or pensions and term in-	331, 108	45, 159	8, 870	47, 344	6, 967	295
Surance.	5, 414	133	176	45, 656	239	55
Compensation of pensions and U.S. Gov-	104		1	1, 044	2	
ernment life insurance	3, 792	1, 456	182	1,000	214	6
Compensation or pensions, term insurance, and U.S. Government life insurance	172		1	74		

¹ Regular establishment cases shown represent only those cases having service formerly considered World War under World War Veterans' Act. **TABLE 21.**—Spanish-American War veterans receiving pensions for service-connected disabilities, showing type of major disability and degree of impairment, as fof June 30, 1938

	Gran	d total		N	suropsych	iatric dise	8.565
Num- ber	Percent of total	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- ber	Percent of total neuro- psychi- atric diseases	Percent of de- gree of impair- ment	Monthly value
1, 907	100.00	\$133, 567	\$70.04	189	100.00	9.91	\$14, 988
75 1, 832	3. 93 96. 07	5, 897 127, 670	78.63 69.69	4 185	2.12 97.88	5. 33 10. 10	262 14, 72 6
128 134	2.88 1.57 6.71 7.03	550 560 4, 835 6, 260	10.00 18.67 37.77 46.72	1 3 5	. 53 1. 59 2. 64	1, 82 10, 00 3, 91	10 50 131
274 376	14. 37 19. 72 10. 07 9. 34 1. 05 20. 29	13, 875 23, 165 13, 995 14, 675 1, 975 39, 030	50. 64 61. 61 72. 89 82. 44 98. 75 100. 85	26 20 21 13 3 84	13.76 10.58 11.11 6.88 1.59 44.44	9.49 5.32 10.94 7.30 15.00 21.71	1, 237 1, 259 1, 533 1, 046 295 7, 815
58	3. 04	8, 750	150.86	9	4.76	15. 52	1, 350
	Tuber	culosis		Gen	eral medic	al and su	rgical
Num- ber	Percent of total tuber- culosis	Percent of de- gree of impair- ment	Monthly value	Num- ber	Percent of total general medical and surgical	Percent of de- gree of impair- ment	Monthl y valu e
92	100.00	4. 82	\$6, 981	1, 626	100. 00	85. 27	\$111, 598
92 [.]	100.00	5. 02	6, 981	71 1, 555	4. 37 95. 63	94. 67 84. 88	5, 635 105, 963
	3. 26	2. 34	100	54 27 120 134	3.32 1.66 7.38 8.24	98. 18 90. 00 93. 75 100. 00	540 510 4, 604 6, 260
16 21 17	17.39 22.83 18.48	5. 84 5. 58 8. 85	804 1, 270 1, 201 80	232 335 154 164	14. 27 20, 60 9, 47 10, 09	84. 67 89. 10 80. 21 92. 14	11, 834 20, 636 11, 261 13, 549
ī	1.09	. 56	80 1				
	ber 1,907 75 1,832 55 30 128 134 274 376 192 178 20 387 58 Num- ber 92 92 92 3 3 128 134 129 128 134 129 128 134 129 134 134 192 192 192 192 192 192 192 192	Num- ber Percent of total 1,907 100.00 75 3.93 1,832 96.07 55 2.88 30 1.57 128 6.71 134 7.03 274 14.37 192 10.07 178 9.34 20 105 387 20.29 58 3.04 Tuber of total tuber-culosis 92 100.00 92 100.00 3 3.26 16 17.39 21 22.83	ber of total value 1, 907 100.00 \$133,567 75 3.93 6,897 1,832 96.07 127,670 55 2.88 550 30 1.57 4.835 128 6.71 4.835 124 6.71 4.835 128 6.71 4.835 124 6.71 4.835 1274 14.37 13,875 376 19.72 23,165 192 10.07 13,995 178 9.34 14,675 20 1.975 387 20.29 39,030 58 3.04 8,750 Tuberculosis Tuberculosis 92 100.00 4.82 92 100.00 5.02 3 3.26 2.34 16 17.39 5.84 216 12.85 5.68	Num- ber Percent of total Monthly value A verage monthly value 1,907 100.00 \$133,567 \$70.04 75 3.93 5,897 78.63 1,832 96.07 127,670 69.69 55 2.88 550 10.00 30 1.57 560 18.67 128 6.71 4.835 37.77 134 7.03 6.260 47.72.80 274 14.37 13,975 50.64 19.72 23,165 61.61 19.72 23,165 178 9.34 14,675 82.44 20 1.05 1,975 98.75 387 20.29 39,030 100.85 58 3.04 8,750 150.86 Tuberculosis Tuberculosis 92 100.00 4.82 \$6,981 92 100.00 5.02 6,981 92 1000.00 5.02 6,981	Num- ber Percent of total Monthly value Average monthly value Num- ber 1,907 100.00 \$133,567 \$70.04 189 75 3.93 5,897 78.63 4 1,807 100.00 \$133,567 \$70.04 189 75 3.93 5,897 78.63 4 1,832 96.07 127,670 69.69 185 55 2.88 550 10.00 1 128 6.71 4,835 37.77 5 134 7.03 6,260 46.72 274 14.37 13,875 50.64 20 100.71 13,995 72.89 21 120 1078 9.34 14,675 82.44 13 202 1.05 1.975 98.75 3 387 20.29 39,030 100.85 84 58 3.04 8,750 150.86 9 Per	Num- ber Percent of total Monthly value A verage monthly value Num- ber Percent of total psychi- atric 1,907 100.00 \$133,567 \$70.04 189 100.00 75 3.93 5,897 78.63 4 2.12 1,832 96.07 127,670 69.69 185 97.88 30 1.57 560 18.67 3 1.59 123 6.71 4.835 37.77 5 2.64 134 7.03 6.200 46.72	Num- ber Percent of total Monthly value Average monthly value Num- ber Percent of total mouro- psychi- atric Percent of de- gree of impair- ment 1,907 100.00 \$133,567 \$70.04 189 100.00 9.91 75 3.93 5,897 78.63 4 2.12 5.33 1,832 96.07 127,670 69.69 185 97.88 10.10 55 2.88 550 10.00 1 .53 1.82 123 6.71 4,835 37.77 5 2.64 3.91 274 14.37 13,875 50.64 26 13.76 9.49 178 9.34 14,675 82.44 13 6.87 30 1.59 10.03 201 1.05 1.975 98.75 3 1.59 15.00 387 20.29 39,030 100.85 84 44.44 21.71 58 3.04 8.750 150.86 9 4.76 <td< td=""></td<>

Note.-Does not include 168 veterans receiving pensions under special acts.

(,

Status of pensions	Number	Percent	Monthly value	Average monthly value
Grand total	168, 680	100.00	\$8, 179, 855	\$48. 49
Paid under Public No. 2	- 447	. 26	7, 125	15.94
For age For disability	- 178 269	. 10 . 16	2, 127 4, 998	11.95 18.58
Paid under service pension laws	168, 233	99. 74 5. 50	8, 172, 730 437, 822	48.58 47.19
For age For disability		94. 24	7, 734, 908	48.66
Degree of impairment:	5, 774	3.42	114, 586	19.85
1/4 1/5		5.57 16 22	233, 021 946, 108	24.78 34.59
\$4 Totally disabled	54, 256	32 17 36 86	2, 691, 894 3, 749, 299	49. 61 60. 31

TABLE 22.—Spanish American War veterans receiving pensions for non-service-
connected disabilities, as of June 30, 1938

TABLE 23. Regular Establishment service-connected active disability pension awards; degree of impairment correlated with classification of major disability, showing number of disabled veterans and monthly value of awards, as of June 30, 1938

•

		Gran	d total					Net	iropsy	chiatric (diseas	ses				Tub	erculos	sis	Gene		al and litions	al and surgical itions	
Degree of impairment		total		r value		ndo- ines		rvous stem		chiatric iseases		,	Fotal			total,	impair-			total, l and ns	of im-		
Degree of impartment	Number	Percent of group	Monthly value	Average monthly	Number	Monthly value	Number	Monthly value	Number	Monthly value	Number	Percent of group total, neuro- nsvchiatric	Percent of degree impair- ment	Monthly value	Number	Fercent of group tuberculosis	Percent of degree i ment	Monthly value	Numb er	Percent of group total, general medical and surgical conditions	Percent of degree pairment	Monthly value	
						GRA	ND 1	TOTAL	-RE	GULAR	. ES'	TABL	ISHM	ENT								<u> </u>	
Grand total	Grand total																						
						REG	ULA	r est	ABLI	ISHMEN	T (1	PRIO	а то	1898)				!!	··'				
Total	1,006 202 169 30	20.08 16.80	\$21, 308 1, 310 1, 890 420	6.49 11.18	1	\$32 8	24 2 4			\$478	40 3 4		1.49	20		100.00 14.28	0. 70 . 59		959 199 164	100.00 20.75 17.10	98.51 97.04	1,838	
50 to 59 percent 70 to 79 percent 100 percent 100 percent with nurse	161 87 160 32	16.00 8.65 15.91 3.18	2, 713 2, 034 4, 710 2, 247	16.85 23.38 29.44	î	24	4 3 5 3	68 72 135 216	35	72	6 7 10 4	17.50	8.05 6.25	168 285	3	42.86 42.86	1. 86 9. 38		30 152 80 150 25	3. 13 15. 85 8. 34 15. 64 2. 61	100.00 94.41 91.95 93.75 78.12	2, 560 1, 866 4, 425	
100 percent with periodic aid	26 130	2.58 12.92	1, 300 4, 539	50. 00 34. 92			2 1	100 90			5 1	12.50	19. 23	250					21 129	2, 01 2, 19 13, 45	80. 77	1, 050 4, 449	
Section 206 cases.	9	. 90	145	16. 11					 										9	. 94	100. 00	145	

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

TABLE 23.—Regular Establishment service-connected active disability pension awards; degree of impairment correlated with classification of major disability, showing number of disabled veterans and monthly value of awards, as of June 30, 1938—Continued
--

		Gran	d total					Neu	ropsy	chiatric d	liseas	ðs				Tub	erculosi	is	Gener	al medica condi		surgical
		total		value	En cri	do- nes	Ner sysi		Psy dis	ehiatric seases		Т	otal			total,	impair-			f group total, medical and conditions	of im-	
Degree of impairment	Number	Percent of group to	Monthly value	Average monthly	Number	Monthly value	Number	Monthly value	Number	Monthly value	Number	Percent of group total, neuro- psychiatric	Percent of degree impair- ment	Monthly value	Number	Percent of group tuberculosis	Percent of degree ment	Monthly value	Number	Percent of group general medics surgical condition	Percent of degree	Monthly value
-				тот	AL I	REGU	LAR	ESTA	BLIS	HMEN'	г (St	UBSEC	UEN'	г то 18	98)							
Total	3, 337 6, 649 2, 149 2, 462 1, 398 1, 023 770	10. 67 21. 26 6. 87 7. 87 4. 47 3. 27 2. 46 . 22 16. 61	104, 471 48, 889 62, 314 45, 246 36, 274 31, 168 4, 112 243, 024	11. 25 15. 71 22. 75 25. 31 32. 36 40. 48 59. 59 46. 79	51 32 65 85 39 6 3 59 1 57	\$9, 518 352 340 974 1, 566 850 180 115 2, 134 40 2, 817 150	2, 627 691 181 608 144 292 82 65 71 2 379 112	\$62, 494 4, 617 2, 401 9, 040 3, 159 7, 685 2, 482 2, 392 2, 663 120 18, 207 9, 728	262 20 284 42 210 21 119 64 2,070	213 4, 261 1, 060 4, 976 771 4, 439 2, 367 88, 659	1,004 233 957 271 541 109 187 194 2,500	16, 36 3, 80 15, 59 4, 42 8, 81 1, 78 3, 05 3, 16 40, 83	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2, 954 14, 275 5, 785 13, 511 3, 433 6, 946 7, 164 160 109, 683	57 38 550 664 262 476 116 1, 602	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$. 72 1. 14 8. 27 1. 82 26. 97 18. 74 46. 53 15. 07 10. 14 30. 84	587 8,705 894 15,456 7,162 15,124 4,382 410 74,151	6, 812 3, 066 5, 142 1, 839 1, 257 1, 027 360 460 59 1, 086	32.08 14.44 24.21 8.66 5.92 4.84 1.69 2.17 .28	86. 53 91. 88 77. 34 85. 57 51. 06 73. 46 35. 19 59. 74 85. 51 20. 91	33, 998 81, 491 42, 210 33, 347 34, 651 14, 204 19, 622 3, 542 59, 190

•

REGULAR ESTABLISHMENT (SUBSEQUENT TO 1898)

34 /

¥

Total	4, 836 2, 195 5, 208 1, 601 1, 874 1, 079 779 597 45	21. 97 9. 97 23. 66 7. 27 8. 51 4. 90 3. 54 2. 71 . 20 16. 09	25, 109	6. 32 9. 97 14. 84 21. 14 22. 97 30. 19 32. 23 37. 87 57. 73 40. 22	27 28 55 83 37 5 1 53 1	\$7, 720 170 272 800 1, 525 806 135 31 1, 889 40 1, 902 150 REG	405 82 461 90 185 56 44 50 2 276 65	867 6, 348 1, 666 4, 101 1, 496 1, 456 1, 756 120 12, 011 4, 911	15 217 13 155 7 56 48 1, 161 10	189 1, 604 1, 667 36, 414	626 125 733 186 377 68 101 151 3 1, 479 77	15. 95 3. 18 18. 67 4. 74 9. 60 1. 73 2. 57 3. 85 . 08 37. 67 1. 96	17. 83 12. 94 5. 70 14. 07 11. 62 20. 12 . 6. 30 12. 96 6. 67 41. 75 29. 62	$\begin{array}{c} 3,832\\ 1,278\\ 10,086\\ 3,410\\ 8,224\\ 1,820\\ 3,091\\ 5,312\\ 160\\ 50,327\\ 5,769\\ \end{array}$	27 15 302 26 586 246 418 102 2 1, 317	86 48 9.67 83 18.76 7.87 13.38 3.27 06 42.16	. 56 . 68 5. 80 1. 62 31. 27 22. 80 53. 66 17. 09 4. 44 37. 17	1714,37050412,8196,56812,5563,6228055,503	4, 183 2, 055 4, 173 1, 389 911 765 260 344 40 747	100.00 27.95 13.73 27.88 9.28 6.08 5.11 1.74 2.30 .27 4.99 .67	86. 50 93. 62 80. 13 86. 76 48. 61 70. 90 33. 38 57. 62 88. 89 21. 08	20, 435 62, 837 29, 933 22, 009 24, 182 9, 462 13, 672 2, 358 36, 661
Total	9, 230 3, 037 1, 141 1, 435 547 587 317 243 171 24 1, 641 87	100,00 32,90 12,36 15,55 5,93 6,36 3,44 2,63 1,85 26 17,78 .94	11, 122 8, 511 1, 514 100, 191	7.39 13.71 18.86 27.47 32.79 39.78 45.77 49.77	66 24 4 10 2 2 1 2 6 	\$1, 798 182 68 174 41 44 45 84 245 915 	910 286 99 147 54 107 26 21 21 21 103 46	1, 534 2, 692 1, 493 3, 584 986 936 907 6, 196	68 5 67 29 54 14 63 16	1,644 582 2,835	378 108 224 85 163 41 86 43 1,024	100.00 17.14 4.90 10.16 3.86 7.39 1.86 3.90 1.95 46.44 2.40	12.45 9.46 15.61 15.54 27.77 12.93 35.39	1, 676 4, 189 2, 375 5, 272 1, 613 3, 855 1, 852 59, 281			8. 43 . 99 2. 02 17. 28 2. 38 13. 29 5. 05 23. 87 8. 19 20. 83 17. 25 11. 49	216 416 4, 335 390 2, 637 594 2, 568 760 330 18, 618	2, 629 1, 010 963 449 346 260 99 114 19 334		86.56 88.52 67.11 82.08 58.94 82.02 40.74 66.67	13, 554 18, 540 12, 262 11, 338 10, 403 4, 699 5, 899 1, 184 22, 292
				RI	GUI	LAR 1	ESTA	BLISH	IME	NT (SPA	NIS	H-AM	ERIC	AN WA	R)							·
Total 10 to 19 percent 20 to 29 percent	29	100.00	\$1, 030	\$35. 52			1	\$ 75	·	\$165		100. 00	20. 69	\$240		100. 00	6. 90	\$30	21	100.00	72. 41	\$760
30 to 39 percent	1 6 1 2	3.45 20.68 3.45 3.45 6.90	9 114 15 15 66	9.00 19.00 15.00 15.00 33.00					 1		 1	16. 67		15					1 6 1	28.58	100.00 100.00 100.00	
70 to 79 percent	1 2	3.45 6.90	43 51	43. 00 25. 50															2 1 2	4.76	100. 00 100. 00 100. 00	66 43 51
100 percent with nurse	10 5	34. 48 17. 24	342 375	34. 20 75. 00			ī	75	3 1	75 75			30.00 40.00	75 150	2	00.00	20.00	30	5 3	23. 81 14. 29	50.00 60.00	

NOTE.-Does not include 780 veterans receiving pensions under special acts.

•

•

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 69

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 70

TABLE 24.—Age groups of World War, Spanish-American War, and Regular Establishment veterans in receipt of compensation and pension benefits as of June 30, 1938

Age group	World War ¹	Spanish- American War	Regular establish- ment
Average age ² Total number veterans	389, 169	62.86 170,755	41. 81 33, 062
Age not stated Under 20		³ 638	4 1, 044 21 1, 175
22 to 29	22		3, 11
35 to 39 40 to 44	18,041 172,800		8, 64 4, 38 3, 12
45 to 49 50 to 54 55 to 59	45.821	1,478 36,458	3, 12 3, 02 1, 96
60 to 64	3,337 1,508	83, 403 34, 033	53 44
70 to 74	636 190	10, 710 3, 075 780	31 24 9
80 to 84	3	789 152 16	2
95 or over		3	

Includes veterans receiving emergency officers' retirement pay, compensation, and pension benefits.
 Average based on 1-year age group of veterans.
 Includes 168 special-act cases.
 Includes 780 special-act cases.

ý

TABLE 25.—Terminations of compensation or pension disability awards, showingreasons for terminations, during fiscal year 1938

	World	i War	Spanish-	Regular
Reasons for terminations	Service connected	Nonservice connected	American War	establish- ment
Total	6, 850	5, 544	5, 943	2, 591
Address unknown—cannot locate claimant	180 19 9	87 1	1	23 2
Claimant reenlisted Death of veteran Disability less than 10 percent. Disability less than permanent total	3, 969 1, 182	3, 606 988	5, 932	409 106
Disability not result of service. Failure to cooperate.	211 255	46 225	2	15 20 20
Forfeiture	4 414	2 259 104		21
Income provision. Less than 90 days, service Misconduct	12	3 17 53		2
Pending investigation, examination, legal decision, etc. Veteran in receipt of other benefit. Miscellaneous	65 47	16 137	7	1,947

TABLE 26.—World War compensation, service- and nonservice-connected active death awards; number of deceased veterans whose dependents are receiving compensation, showing class of beneficiary and number of dependents, as of June 30, 1938.

(Se	rvice connect	ted	Nonservice connected			
(Number	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Number	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	
Total cases on which compensa- tion is being paid	95, 118	\$3, 625, 723	\$38.12	7, 422	\$21 9 , 862	\$29.62	
Widows alone	12,992	422, 693	32. 53	1,922	42, 284		
Widows and children.		627, 745	54.57	4, 102		35.99	
Widow and mother		103, 225	70.90				
Widow, children, and mother		89,959	92.55				
Widow and father	371	27,088	73.01				
Widow, children. and father.	240 320	22, 397	93.32 78.70				
Widow, mother, and father		25, 184					
Widow, children, mother, and father		27,885 170,001			29,956		
Children alone		65, 747	65, 35		29,900		
Children and mother	237	15,922	67.18				
Children and father		21, 965	72.02				
Children, mother, and father		1, 141, 238					
Mother alone		368, 225	35.29				
Father alone	11,766	496, 449	42, 19		1	1	
Mother and lather	11,700	490.449	42.19				
Number of dependents	142, 292	3, 625, 723	25.48	18, 443	219.862	11.9	
Widows	28, 135	915, 255	32. 53	6,024	132, 528	22.0	
Children		493, 370	13.20	12, 419	87, 331	7.0	
Mothers		1, 545, 017	29.25				
Fathers		671.981	28.05				

TABLE 27.—World War compensation, service- and non service-connected active death awards; number of deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving compensation, showing number of dependents as of the end of each fiscal year, 1923-384

	Dece	ased		A verage monthly							
Fiscal	vete		Tot	al	Wid	ows	Chil	dren	Parents	value per case	
year	Service con- nected	Non- service- con- nected	Service con- nected	Non- service- con- nected	Service con- nected	Non- service- con- nected	Service con- nected	Non- service- con- nected	Service con- nected	Serv- ice- con- nected	Non- service- con- nected
	99, 394 99, 229 98, 628 97, 448 93, 334 90, 954 87, 668 85, 634 82, 827	72,2) (7,422 5,050 2,994 1,970	136, 163 130, 138 125, 395 120, 487	29 556 18,443 12,754 7,625 4,989	28, 135 28, 244 27, 512 26, 456 26, 090 24, 757 23, 961 22, 843 21, 754 20, 643 19, 260 18, 565	6, 024 4, 149 2, 531 1, 741	34, 700 32, 765 30, 168 27, 314 25, 172	12, 419 8, 605 5, 094 3, 248	7 ,	44.27 \$38.12 29.26 29.34 29.00 28.09 28.04 27.98 27.56 27.46 27.33 27.24 27.03	29.2 \$29.62 29.42 29.71 29.93
925 925 924 923	65, 958		94, 102				20, 472 17, 396 15, 854		57, 284 50, 198 47, 571	26. 44 25. 58 25. 66	

¹ Adjusted.

72 ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

ŀ

 TABLE 28.—Spanish-American War pensions—Service- and non-service-connected active death awards; number of deceased veterans whose dependents are receiving pensions, showing class of beneficiary and number of dependents, as of June 30, 1938

	Serv	ice connec	ted	Nonservice connected			
	Number	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Number	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	
Total cases on which pensions are being paid	1, 523	\$48, 141	\$31.61	51, 759	\$1, 588, 296	\$30. 69	
Widows alone	8 432	33, 905 3, 652 249 8, 640	36. 42 52. 93 31. 13 20. 00	45, 651 3, 871 2, 237	1, 367, 625 151, 029 69, 642	29.96 39.02 31.13	
Father alone Mother and Father	80 3	1,600 95	20.00 31.67				
Number of dependents	1, 648	48, 141	29. 21	58, 963	1, 588, 296	26. 94	
Widows Children Mothers Fathers	1,000 130 435 83	36, 417 1, 389 8, 688 1, 647	36. 42 10. 68 19. 97 19. 84	49, 522 9, 441	1, 483 , 57 4 104, 722	29.96 11.09	

Note.-Does not include 63 deceased veterans whose dependents are reciving pensions under special acts.

		•					Regi	ılar Establ	ishment		·				
	Total F	Total Regular Establishment			Prior to 1	898	Su	bsequent (co 1898		World Wa	AF 1	Spanish-American War ¹		
	Num- ber	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	A verage monthly value
Total cases on which pensions are being paid	8, 186	\$201, 444	\$24 . 61	313	\$3, 988	\$12.74	7, 392	\$184, 664	\$24. 98	356	\$8, 819	\$24. 77	125	\$3, 973	\$31.78
Widows alone Widows and children Widows and mother Widows, children, and mother	1,833	53, 941 71, 297 2, 398 3, 778	23. 24 38. 90 38. 06	291 3	3 , 698 42	12.71 14.00	$1,896 \\ 1,715 \\ 63 \\ 63$	46, 637 66, 636 2, 398	24. 60 38. 85 38. 06	41 83	978 3, 274	23. 85 39. 45	93 32	2, 628 1, 345	28. 26 42. 03
Widows and father Widows, children, and father Widows, mother, and father Widows, children, mother, and	13	3, 778 485 1, 142 924	51, 05 37, 31 51, 91 44, 00				73 12 21 21	3, 722 448 1, 094 924	50. 99 37. 33 52. 10 44. 00	1 1 1	56 37 48	56.00 37.00 48.00			
father Children alone Children and mother Children and father	6	$1, 313 \\ 14, 286 \\ 1, 412 \\ 267$	54.71 19.81 34.44 44.50	5	72	14. 40	21 634 36 5	$1, 146 \\ 12, 558 \\ 1, 225 \\ 212$	54. 57 19. 81 34. 03 42. 40	3 82 5 1	167 1, 656 187 55	55.67 20.20 37.40 55.00			
Children, mother, and father Mother alone Father alone Mother and father	17 1, 992 525 513	711 30, 161 7, 943 11, 386	41. 82 15. 14 15. 13 22. 19	11 3	140 36	12. 73 12. 00	15 1, 914 487 479	628 29, 016 7, 382 10, 638	41.87 15.16 15.16 22.21	2 67 35 34	83 1, 005 525 748	41.50 15.00 15.00 22.00			
Number of dependents	13, 243	201, 444	15. 21	317	3, 988	12. 58	12,090	184, 664	15. 27	651	8, 819	13. 55	185	3, 973	21.48
Widows Children Mothers Fathers	4, 371 4, 986 2, 745 1, 141	104, 282 43, 528 38, 896 14, 738	23.86 8.73 14.17 12.92	294 9 11 3	3 , 736 76 140 36	12. 71 8. 44 12. 73 12. 00	3, 822 4, 585 2, 622 1, 061	93, 910 39, 809 37, 237 13, 708	24. 57 8. 68 14. 20 12. 92	1 3 0 332 112 77	3, 104 3, 202 1, 519 994	23. 88 9. 64 13. 56 12. 91	125 60	3, 532 441	28. 26 7. 35

TABLE 29.—Regular Establishment pensions, active death awards; number of deceased veterans whose dependents are receiving pensions, showingclass of beneficiary and number of dependents, as of June 30, 1938

¹ Deceased veterans having service considered as wartime prior to enactment of Public, No. 2, 73d Cong.

NOTE.-Does not include 539 special-act cases.

	World	i War	Spanish-	Regular
Reason for terminations	Service connected	Nonservice connected	American War	Establish- ment
Total	4, 941	248	1, 172	285
Child become of age Child marries	129	49 16	236	22
Child's schooling completed Claim withdrawn or payment not desired	679 1 6	17	2 16	24
Claimant in receipt of other benefit Death of payee Dependency of mother or father not shown		14 29	744	169 2
Guardianship	14	1 7		
Misconduct Payee remarried	401	114	$2 \\ 162$	63
Pending investigation, examination, legal decisions, etc. Miscellaneous	21 34	1	1 9	

TABLE 30.—Terminations of compensation or pension death awards, showing reasons for terminations during fiscal year 1938

RETIREMENT OF EMERGENCY OFFICERS' TABLE

TABLE 31.—Emergency officers entitled to retirement with pay as of June 30, 1938, classified by organization and rank

(

							On the roll	l for retiren	nent pay						
			-	Receiving retirement pay											
	Total number entitled Retire- to re- tire- ment feited		Total			Full retirement pay			Partial retirement pay			Disability compensation paid a time of passage of act of Ma 24, 1928, to those now receivin retirement pay ¹			
	рау		Num- ber	Monthly value	A verage monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Average monthly value	Num- ber	Monthly value	Average monthly value	
Grand total	1, 854	23	1, 831	\$249, 808	\$136.43	1, 818	\$248, 996	\$136. 96	13	\$812	\$62.46	1, 685	\$82, 322	\$48.86	
Army: Total	1, 818	· 23	1, 795	244, 741	136.35	1, 783	244, 039	136.87	12	702	58. 50	1, 651	81, 043	49.09	
Colonel Lieutenant colonel Major Captain First lieutenant Second lieutenant	5 21 104 412 723 553	1 12 5 5	5 21 103 400 718 548	1, 476 5, 399 21, 363 63, 707 93, 439 59, 357	295. 20 257. 10 207. 41 159. 27 130. 14 108. 32	5 21 102 394 717 544	1, 476 5, 399 21, 252 63, 376 93, 415 59, 121	$\begin{array}{r} 295.\ 20\\ 257.\ 10\\ 208.\ 35\\ 160.\ 85\\ 130.\ 29\\ 108.\ 68\end{array}$	1 6 1 4	$ \begin{array}{c} 111\\ 331\\ 24\\ 236 \end{array} $	$ 111.00 \\ 55.17 \\ 24.00 \\ 59.00 $	4 16 86 356 667 522	294 761 4, 409 18, 963 32, 247 24, 369	73. 50 47. 56 51. 27 53. 27 48. 35 46. 68	
Navy: Total	24		24	3, 464	144. 33	23	3, 354	145. 83	1	110	110.00	24	1, 023	42. 63	
Commander Lieutenant Lieutenant (junior grade) Ensign Warrant officer	2 9 7 5 1		2 9 7 5 1	504 1, 445 875 530 110	$\begin{array}{r} 252.\ 00\\ 160.\ 56\\ 125.\ 00\\ 106.\ 00\\ 110.\ 00 \end{array}$	2 9 7 5	504 1, 445 875 530	252.00 160.56 125.00 106.00	1	110	110.00	2 9 7 5 1	106 486 216 159 56	53. 00 54. 00 30. 86 31. 80 56. 00	
Marine: Total	12		12	1, 603	133. 58	12	1, 603	133. 58				10	256	25.60	
Captain First lieutenant Second lieutenant	4 6 2		4 6 2	615 776 212	153. 75 129. 33 106. 00	4 6 2	615 776 212	$153.75 \\ 129.33 \\ 106.00$				4 4 2	90 118 48	22. 50 29. 50 24. 00	

¹ Includes only those veterans who were previously paid disability compensation. Does not include complete-forfeiture cases even though they were previously paid disability compensation.

ADJUSTED COMPENSATION TABLES

 TABLE 32.—Number of applications for adjusted compensation received by fiscal years from September 1924 to June 30, 1938

Fiscal year	Applications received	Fiscal year	Applications received
Total	4, 151, 513 5, 147 46, 515 36, 335 18, 686 12, 538 42, 505	1932	161, 641 108, 938 30, 840 138, 689 124, 175 183, 316 397, 008 2, 845, 180

TABLE 33.—Action taken on applications for adjusted compensation to June 30, 1938

Branch of service and type of claim	Number	Amount
Grand total	4, 109, 089	\$3, 762, 780, 775. 21
Cash: (a) Veterans (\$50 or less)	175, 983 11, 438 133, 599 3, 788, 069	5, 792, 457. 21 309, 613. 00 45, 446, 633. 00 3, 707, 591, 392. 00 3, 640, 680. 00
Army: Total	3, 526, 002	3, 184, 113, 219. 85
Cash: (a) Veterans (\$50 or less)	160, 364 10, 441 118, 134 3, 237, 063	5, 392, 614. 85 284, 427. 00 39, 432, 435. 00 3, 135, 724, 383. 00 3, 279, 360. 00
Navy: Total	510, 380	504, 704, 235. 69
Cash: (a) Veterans (\$50 or less)	896 12, 268	377, 855, 69 22, 179, 00 4, 785, 861, 00 499, 273, 360, 00 244, 980, 00
Marine Corps: Total	72, 707	73, 963, 319. 67
Cash: (a) Veterans (\$50 or less)	101 3, 197 68, 720	21, 986. 67 3, 007. 00 1, 228, 337. 00 72, 593, 649. 00 116, 340. 00

TABLE 34.—Dependency death claims awarded on account of adjusted compensation, showing beneficiary as of June 30, 1938

Beneficiary	1	`otal	depende	nent to ents (less 1 \$50)	Pay: depende 0	\$60 bonus (lump sum payments)	
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Amount
Total Widow or widower	35, 515	\$49, 396, 926 11, 621, 585	11, 438 3, 113	\$309, 613 86, 974	32, 402	\$45, 446, 633 11, 264, 191	\$3, 640, 680
Child or children Mother Father Other relatives	11, 976 80, 844 16, 292 410	3, 739, 565 28, 182, 509 5, 694, 987 158, 280	1, 285 5, 920 1, 101 19	32, 286 159, 772 30, 077 504	10, 691 74, 924 15, 191 391	3, 463, 139 25, 405, 477 5, 160, 130 153, 696	244, 140 2, 617, 260 504, 780 4, 080

INSURANCE TABLES

TABLE 35.—Number of U. S. Government term- and converted-insurance claimsawarded by fiscal years from October 1917 to June 30, 1938

	Term an	d automat	ic insuranc	e awards	Converted-insurance awards					
Fiscal year	Total 195,262	Original death ISS 218	Original disability 40,044	Disability changed to death 22 20 6	Total	Original death 34.४/३	Original disability 18.074	Disability changed to death		
1939 Total	420 194, 842	70 155, 148	39, 694	32.5 22,481	3,9 3 8 18,949	32,068	1,193 16,881	567 5,235		
1938	606 365 1, 481 2, 251 1, 407	67 71 93 128 25 130 204 312	328 278 420 478 340 1,351 2,047 1,095	375 371 380 437 451 948 1,050 654	3,772 3,061 3,486 3,572 3,702 3,721 3,825 3,510 2,507	2, 701 2, 714 2, 523 2, 427 2, 234 2, 356 2, 285 2, 147 2, 237	1, 071 947 963 1, 145 1, 471 1, 365 1, 540 1, 363 1, 270	514 515 538 451 457 435 370 353 344		
1930 1929 1928 1927 1927 1926 1926 1924	978 1, 039 2, 055 4, 462 4, 104 3, 761	349 372 532 752 1,370 1,274 1,090	598 606 507 1, 303 3, 092 2, 830 2, 671 2, 504	810 938 680 852 1,538 1,578 1,808 2,456	3, 507 3, 406 2, 914 1, 957 1, 850 1, 464 1, 346	4, 237 2, 205 1, 822 1, 199 1, 014 970 842 883	1, 201 1, 092 758 836 494 504 436	264 218 190 173 149 120		
1923 1922 1921 1920 1920 1919 1919		1,831 3,132 5,424 23,935 107,807 6,250	3, 594 5, 723 7, 310 4, 897 226	2, 456 2, 633 2, 655 1, 867	1, 319 1, 247 585 105	883 902 506 104	436 345 79 1			

k

 TABLE 36.—Term and automatic insurance—Active disability and death awards, as of June 30, 1938

·	Number	Face value of policies
Term and automatic: Total	119, 807	\$999, 638, 511
Disability Death	$11,871 \\ 107,936$	97, 858, 297 - 901, 780, 214
Term: Total	117, 974	991, 696, 164
Disability Death	$11,582 \\ 106,392$	96, 602, 881 895, 093, 283
Automatic: Total	1, 833	7, 942, 347
Disability Death	289 1, 544	1, 255, 416 6, 686, 931

 TABLE 37.—Term and automatic insurance, terminated disability and death awards

 by reason of terminations, as of June 30, 1938

		Term insur	ance	Automatic insurance			
	Num- ber	Face value of policies	Commuted value	Num- ber	Face value of insur- ance	Com- muted value	
Total disability awards termi- nated	26, 760	\$224, 889, 849		203	\$832, 153		
By recovery By death By compromise	4, 004 22, 010 746	33, 813, 117 184, 194, 232 6, 882, 500	2,997,762	56 147•	243, 264 588, 889		
Total death awards terminated	60, 161	468, 912, 845	179, 777, 722	6, 904	29, 814, 549	5, 022, 955	
By lump-sum payments ¹ No beneficiary in permitted class.	50, 025	386, 720, 382	178, 495, 066	2, 565	11, 151, 698	5, 022, 955	
By compromise Escheat to U. S. Government Expired—240 installments completed	³ 277 27 9, 832	2, 555, 620 228, 213 79, 408, 630	1, 142, 826 139, 830	4, 339	18, 662, 851		

¹ In addition 1,267 awards with policies amounting to \$10,056,144 having a commuted value of \$6,574,359 were terminated by lump-sum payments immediately after death of veteran. ⁹ Includes 1 case; judgment on stipulation.

	Converted insurance claims awarded during calendar year 1937											
Plan of insurance	Total permanent disability						Death					
	Policies		Li	Lives Amount of in		insurance	nsurance Policies		Lives		Amount of insurance	
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Amount	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Amount	Percent
Ordinary life 20-payment life	437 259.	30.88 18.30	369 223	31. 17 18. 84	\$2, 590, 929 1, 194, 137	33. 85 15. 60	863 737	26. 61 22. 73	707 620	25.96 22.77	\$4, 728, 093 3, 223, 820	31.03 21.16
Ordinary life	30 192 38	$2.12 \\ 13.57 \\ 2.69$	$ \begin{array}{c} 22 \\ 157 \\ 32 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.86 \\ 13.26 \\ 2.70 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 155,906 \\ 783,763 \\ 185,000 \end{array} $	2.04 10.24 2.42	104 564 122	$3.21 \\ 17.39 \\ 3.76$	82 483 100	3.01 17.74 3.67	517, 936 1, 743, 231 602, 810	3.40 11.44 3.96
Endowment at 62 5-year convertible term: Duration less than 5 years	, ,,	5.02 3.18	59 	4.98 2.87	355, 669 313, 500	4.65 4.10	144 26	4.44 .80	113 23	4.15	747, 424	4.91
Duration less than 5 years Duration more than 5 years Renewed, second period	43 113 134	7.99 9.47	102 114	8.61 9.63	753, 177 947, 352	9.84 12.38	212 144	6.54 4.44	169 126	6.21 4.63	1,229,237 1,002,994	8.07 6.58
Duration more than 5 years. Renewed, second period. Renewed, third period. 5-year level premium term. Extended insurance.	8 19 65	$.57 \\ 1.34 \\ 4.59$	$ \begin{array}{c} 7 \\ 11 \\ 52 \end{array} $. 59 . 93 4. 39	67.000 90,500 210,841	. 88 1. 18 2. 75	$ \begin{array}{r} 31 \\ 65 \\ 211 \end{array} $. 96 2. 00 6. 51	31 60 193	1.14 2.20 7.09	242, 706 362, 979 650, 377	1.59 2.38 4.27
Paid-up life Paid-up endowment	4	. 28	2	. 17	5, 496	.07	15 5	. 46 . 15	13 3	. 48	11, 824 7, 683	.08
Total	1, 415	100.00	1, 184	100.00	\$7, 653, 270	100.00	3, 243	100.00	2, 723	100.00	\$15, 236, 114	100.00

TABLE 38.—Converted insurance claims awarded and terminated during the calendar year 1937, by plan of insurance

.

¢

5

				Converte	d insurance d	lisability c	laims term	inated dur	ing calend	ar year 193	7	
			By re	ecovery					Ву	death		
Plan of insurance	Policies		Lives		Amount of insurance		Policies		Lives		Amount of insurance	
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Amount	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Amount	Percent
Ordinary life	105	25. 12	86	25.44	\$637, 323	28.08	184	31.83	157	31.65	\$1, 123, 954	33. 3
D-payment life D-payment life	88	21.05	71	21.01	410, 500	18.09	89	15.40	74	14.92	466, 925	13.8
-payment life	15	3.59	11	3.26	57,000	2.51	9	1.56	7	1.41	32,000	
year endowment	58 15	13.88	49	14.50	171, 500	7.56	86	14.88	75	15.12	319, 442	9.4
ndowment at 62 ¹	15	3.59 5.26	13	2.07	38, 000 105, 324	1.68 4.64	14 21	2.42 3.63	12	2.42 3.43	51, 284	1.5
year convertible term:	22	5.20	13	3.00	103, 324	4.04	21	3.03	11	0.40	124, 500	3.0
Duration less than 5 years.	97	23.20	84	24.85	748, 651	32, 99	88	15.23	79	15.93	675, 515	20.0
Duration more than 5 years.		2.15	9	2.66	42, 500	1.87	37	6.40	32	6.45	267, 839	7.9
Renewed, second period	5	1.20	4	1.18	40,000	1.76	26	4.50	23	4.64	199, 904	5.9
year level premium term xtended insurance							1	. 17	0	- 	3,000	.0
xtended insurance	4	. 96	4	1.18	18, 703	. 82	23	3.98	20	4.03	108, 710	3.2
Total	418	100.00	338	100.00	2, 269, 501	100.00	578	100.00	496	100.00	3, 373, 073	100.

¹ Includes matured endowments—6 policies, 4 lives, for \$30,324.

NOTE.-In addition to terminations of disability claims tabulated above, 4 claims representing 4 lives for \$12,000, were terminated by compromise.

	Number	Amount
Insurance in force Dec. 31, 1936 Issued during 1937	¹ 595, 713 24, 864	1 \$2, 585, 732, 61
Total	620. 577	72, 881, 687 2, 658, 614, 301
Terminations:		2,000,011,001
Death claims awarded Disability claims awarded	3, 841 742	17, 935, 320 4, 549, 080
Matured endowments Surrendered for cash	200 7, 567	1, 005, 074 21, 450, 353
Surrendered for paid-up insurance. Lapsed. Reduced.	231 6, 349	1, 185, 134 25, 723, 027
Extended insurance expired	131 5, 520	6, 027, 082 499, 329
5-year convertible term expired Canceled rerated disability claims	5, 520 729 7	19, 625, 740 3, 961, 514 38, 068
Total terminations	25, 317	101, 999, 727
Additions:		
Rerated disability claims Paid-up insurance issued	426 231	1, 642, 521 496, 006
Revived Continued under extended insurance	874 3, 530	4, 297, 819 12, 120, 297
Total additions	5, 061	18, 556, 643
Net terminations Insurance in force Dec. 31, 1937	20, 256 600, 321	83, 443, 084 2, 575, 171, 217

TABLE 39.—Report of U.S. Go	Jovernment life insurance in force Dec. 31, 1937, total, all plans
-----------------------------	---

¹ Adjusted figures.

١.

TABLE 40.—Report of U.S. Government life insurance in force by plan, as of Dec. 31, 1937

20-payment life 20-payment life 20-year endowment. 30-year endowment. 30-year endowment at age 62. 5-year convertible term: Duration less than 5 years. Duration more than 5 years. Renewed, second period. Renewed, second period. Five year level premium term. Extended insurance. Paid-up life. Paid-up endowment.	umber	Amount
	136, 865 174, 044 28, 073 103, 375 29, 697 31, 293 24, 093 8, 714 15, 443 20, 955 24, 043	\$699, 901, 740 702, 696, 382 142, 615, 643 289, 329, 060 127, 064, 552 149, 083, 492 1, 599, 500 140, 970, 779 56, 867, 335 103, 848, 296 89, 604, 727 67, 180, 291
	2, 184 1, 253	3, 211, 103 1, 198, 327
Total	600, 321	2, 575, 171, 217

FINANCE TABLES

 TABLE 41.—Analysis of reported obligations from all appropriations by purpose, fiscal year 1938

Salaries \$52, 473, 01	1
Special and miscellaneous payments	7
Supplies and materials:	•
Stationery and office supplies 222, 77	7
Cleaning and toilet supplies 395 50	
Drugs and medicines 747 71	
Hospital and surgical supplies A15 A4	
A-ray supplies and films 200 840	
Dental supplies 69, 29	

TABLE 41.—Analysis of reported obligations from all appropriations by purpose, fiscal year 1938—Continued

.

.

.

Supplies and materials—Continued. Orthopedic and prosthetic supplies	\$371, 818
Occupational therapy supplies	89, 550
T1 . 1	1, 053, 879
Purchase of clothing for veterans (veterans regulation 6 (c))	607, 167
Purchase of clothing for employees	67, 030
Other wearing apparel and sewing supplies	131, 318
Forage and other supplies for animals	89, 655
Provisions	9, 733, 286
Sundry supplies	428, 420
Motor vehicle supplies	78, 332
Communication service:	
Telegraph service	29, 416
T 1 1 1 m multon	187, 203
Other communication service	52, 298
Travel expenses:	
Transportation	1, 137, 732
Subsistance and lodging	337, 835
Transportation of things	943, 770
n : the and binding operating lithographing photographing, and	110 014
typowriting (service) (job work); printing and binding	116, 814
Furnishing of heat light, power, etc.	1,738,230
D-n4-	307, 637
Repairs and alterations	3, 710, 190
Repairs and alterations Special and miscellaneous current expenses Pensions, retirement salaries, annuities, World War allowances, and	254,859
Pensions, retirement salaries, annuities, World War allowances, and	
inguraneo logogi	
Military and naval compensation for death and disability	000 002 101
(World War total)	230, 203, 481 3, 622, 046
Other World War allowances (adjusted compensation)	172, 580, 519
Army and Navy pensions (other wars and peacetime)	82, 284, 685
Military and naval insurance	82, 284, 085
Grants, subsidies, and contributions:	3, 609, 010
Buriolo	674, 621
Reimbursement to States for veterans in State homes	074, 021
Equipment:	994, 341
Furniture, furnishings, and fixtures	281, 152
Educational, scientific, and recreational equipment	133, 938
Other equipment	
Structures and parts and nonstructural improvements to land (including fixed equipment) ¹	8. 499,019
(including fixed equipment)	20175422
Trust funds: Insurance losses (converted insurance)	561091 1018
Personal funds of patients	2, 241, 669
Personal runds of patients	79, 449 64, 443772 188, 221, 861
General post fund Investments (including working capital funds)—Investment trust	64 443712
funds: Government life insurance trust fund	186, 331, 861
Additional amounts transferred to other departments and estab-	
lishments:	
War Dopartment (less amount from War Department for	
C C C members hospitalized)	1, 231, 431
Nouv Dopartment	1, 191, 040
St Dischathe Hospital (Interior Denartment)	
St. Elizabeths Hospital (Interior Department)	65, 000
Public Health Service (Treasury Department)	737, 592
Agriculture Department Public Health Service (Treasury Department) Commerce Department	4, 735
Total	801, 139, 360.
¹ Includes \$1,070,055 from the appropriation "Emergency Relief, Veterans Administra	stign."
- Includes dijutojuga nom vie appropriation andergeney ander,	079,613,626

_		Receipts other	Total	Disbu	rsements	Covered into	Balance
Purpose	Appropriations	than appropria- tions	10081	Fiscal year	To date	Treasury	
Grand total	\$13, 763, 926, 082. 51	\$2, 315, 324, 718. 56	\$16, 079, 250, 801.07	\$629, 829, 721. 73	\$14, 151, 757, 393.06	\$369, 385, 230. 22	\$1, 558, 108, 177. 79
Total	10, 137, 768, 126. 11	509, 237, 785. 79	10, 647, 005, 911. 90	581, 922, 831. 44	9, 767, 398, 147. 44	349, 885, 146. 70	529, 722, 617. 76
Salaries and expenses, 1938	93, 500, 000. 00 86, 700, 000. 00 828, 246, 901. 65 12, 584, 784. 00 125, 000. 00 130, 000. 00 2, 034, 037. 72 1, 188, 500. 00 5, 982, 398. 00 1, 000, 000. 00	9,592.32	5, 500, 000, 00 52, 982, 398, 00 1, 000, 000, 00	78, 998, 574, 74 6, 697, 481, 20 43, 876, 09 1 7, 713, 56 70, 668, 85 57, 695, 93 4, 94 	51, 800, 990. 93 999, 999. 14	363, 745. 19 353, 438. 18	54, 331, 15 5, 906, 28 4, 311, 42 998, 12 1, 807, 462, 20 1, 181, 407, 07 . 86
Loans to veterans for transportation, 1933. Medical and hospital services, 1921-31 and prior years. Hospital and domiciliary facilities and services Hospital facilities and services, 1928-29. Hospital facilities and services, 1924-26. Hospital facilities and services.	488, 184, 592, 00 56, 402, 000, 00 7, 000, 000, 00 8, 000, 000, 00 3, 850, 000, 00		8,000,000,00 3,850,000,00		76, 103. 36 426, 608, 567. 68 46, 586, 398. 10 6, 962, 398. 82 7, 650, 000. 00 3, 846, 117. 20 37, 980, 077. 02	62, 473, 520. 44 58, 946. 89 37, 601. 18 350, 000. 00 3, 882. 80	9, 756, 655. 01
National Industrial Recovery, Veterans' Adminis- tration, 1933-39. Vocational rehabilitation, 1920-July 2, 1928. Vocational rehabilitation. Vocational rehabilitation revolving fund. Military and naval compensation, no year1933	. 699, 360, 370. 80 8, 000, 000. 00 500, 000. 00	28.30	,		3, 018, 699. 79 636, 810, 645. 53 7, 996, 040. 15 7, 759. 46	21, 179. 36 63, 394, 991. 59 15. 30 492, 138. 21	
Army and Navy pensions, 1939 and prior years. Army and Navy pensions, 1939 and prior years. Army and Navy pensions, 1936-37. Army and Navy pensions, 1936-37. Army and Navy pensions, 1933-36. Army and Navy pensions, 1933-34.	2,545,634,895.55 410,000,000.00 400,955,000.00 435,920,000.00 400,760,000.00 376,941,997.00		410,000,000.00 400,955,000.00 435,920,000.00 400,760,000.00 376,941,997.00	${}^{1} 15, 832. 36 \\ 1, 563, 542. 05 \\ 400, 493, 891. 54 \\ 744, 109. 48 \\ 4, 959. 27 \\ {}^{1} 4, 479. 04 \\ \end{array}$	396, 206, 436. 06 397, 970, 963. 57 376, 590, 607. 04	346, 051. 44	39, 713, 563. 94 2, 789, 036. 43 5, 328. 52

.

TABLE 42.—Appropriations and other receipts versus disbursements to June 30, 1938

¹ Credit.

83

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

Purpose	Appropriations	Receipts other	m ()	Disbu	irsements	Covered into	
r urpose	Appropriations	than appropria- tions	Total	Fiscal year	To date	Treasury	Balance
Army and Navy pensions, 1931-33	\$702, 225, 000.00		\$702, 225, 000. 00	1 \$2, 494, 97	\$701, 476, 068, 87	\$748, 931. 13	
Military and naval insurance, 1938 and prior years	88, 752, 000. 00		88, 752, 000. 00	78, 918, 843, 74	78, 918, 843, 74		\$9, 833, 156. 26
Military and naval insurance, 1937 and prior years	101, 120, 000. 00		101, 120, 000. 00	4, 394, 957. 10	87, 655, 513. 56		13, 464, 486, 44
Military and naval insurance, 1936 and prior years Military and naval insurance, 1923-35 and prior	106, 410, 000. 00		106, 410, 000. 00	36, 793. 82	99, 224, 224. 21		7, 185, 775. 79
vears	1, 381, 797, 104, 45						
years. Military and naval insurance	23,000,000.00	\$454, 337, 082. 79	1, 381, 797, 104. 45	1 2, 236, 28	1, 349, 551, 604. 70	32, 244, 656. 38	843. 37
Military and naval family allowance			477, 337, 082, 79 298, 615, 000, 00	1 826, 838. 08	473, 655, 777. 94		3, 681, 304. 85
Marine and seamen's insurance	50,000,000,00	53, 148, 319, 94	298, 615, 000, 00 103, 148, 319, 94	1 889. 40	282, 096, 314.00	15, 900, 000. 00	618, 686. 00
Salaries. Bureau of Pensions, 1931	1, 358, 825, 59	00, 140, 019, 94	1, 358, 825, 59		35, 078, 013. 20	68, 070, 306, 74	
Printing and binding, Bureau of Pensions, 1931	2 11, 685, 00		1, 338, 825, 39		1, 336, 920, 95 10, 762, 92		
Investigation of pension cases, Bureau of Pensions,	11, 050. 00		11,080.00		10, 762. 92	922.08	
1931	150,000,00		150,000.00		125, 964, 33	94 095 67	
ees of examining surgeons, 1930-31	298, 000, 00		298,000.00		292, 896, 99	24,030.07 5 102 01	
Contingent expenses, Bureau of Pensions, 1931	2 20, 731, 00		20, 731. 00		15, 090, 51	5, 105, 01	
alaries and expenses, employees retirement, Bu-	,		20,102.00		10, 000. 31	5, 040. 49	
reau of Pensions, 1931	110, 000. 00		110,000,00		109. 343. 30	656 70	
National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, 1931_	³ 1, 096, 029. 06		1,096,029.06		942, 128, 76	153 000 20	
Vational Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, hos-			-,		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	100, 000. 00	
pital construction, 1931	3 147, 752, 74		147, 752, 74		147, 752, 74		
Vational Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers,			,				
clothing, 1931	³ 9, 602. 96		9, 602. 96		1, 308, 23	8 294 73	
National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, sala-					-,	0,	
ries and incidental expenses, 1931	³ 15, 796. 47		15, 796. 47		7, 719. 96	8,076.51	
itate and Territorial homes for disabled soldiers and						0,010.00	
sailors, 1931-33	1, 728, 317. 03		1, 728, 317. 03	¹ 45. 66	1, 693, 648. 53	34, 668. 50	
Miscellaneous	905, 155. 09		905, 155. 09	40, 111. 61	880, 809. 64	15, 761. 69	8, 583. 76
Trust funds, total	3, 626, 157, 956. 40	1, 806, 086, 932. 77	5, 432, 244, 889. 17	47, 906, 890. 29	4, 384, 359, 245. 62	19, 500, 083. 52	1, 028, 385, 560. 03
United States Government life insurance		1, 340, 779, 007. 18	1 240 770 007 10	91 695 619 95	1.040.045.646.45		
Adjusted-service certificate fund		132, 926, 351, 10	1, 340, 779, 007. 18	31, 635, 613. 35	4 343, 047, 543. 11	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	997, 731, 464. 07
rmy Nevy Merine Corps and Coast Guard al-	3, 020, 137, 530. 40	132, 920, 331. 10	3, 759, 084, 307. 50	13, 837, 588. 33	^{\$} 3, 732, 464, 320. 75		26, 619, 986. 75
rmy, Navy, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard al- lotments		320, 526, 000, 00	320, 526, 000, 00	1 419. 71	200 045 005 55		
ocational rehabilitation, special fund		78. 144. 50	320, 320, 000. 00 78, 144, 50	• 419.71	300, 845, 607. 57	19, 500, 000. 00	180, 392. 43
eneral post fund		2, 681, 813, 38	2, 681, 813, 38	192, 438. 01	78,060.98	83. 52	
loratio Ward fund		21, 742, 33	2, 081, 813, 38	194, 438. 01	4 1, 547, 240. 72 21, 742, 33		1, 134, 572. 66
unds due incompetent beneficiaries		1. 874, 670, 47	1, 874, 670, 47	117, 846. 38	^{21, 742, 33} ⁷ 429, 724, 25		
'ersonal funds of patients, Veterans' Administra-		1, 01 1, 010. 11	1, 011, 010. 41	117,010.38	* 428, 124.25	·	1, 444, 946. 22
tion		7, 199, 203, 81	7, 199, 203, 81	2, 123, 823, 93	⁷ 5, 925, 005. 91		1, 274, 197, 90
	1	.,,	., 200, 200. 01	a, 120, 020, 00	0, 520, 000. 91		1, 4/4, 197. 90

.

TABLE 42.—Appropriations and other receipts versus disbursements to June 30, 1938-Continued

Purpose: Civil service retirement and disability fund, annuities and refunds, to Aug. 31, 1934 Canal Zone retirement and disability fund, annuities and refunds, to Aug. 31, 1934 Disbursements by Bureau of Pensions: Army and Navy pensions, 1790 to June 30, 1931. Maintenance and expenses	
Total	
 ³ Available balance June 30, 1931. ⁴ Includes encumbrances but not investments and loans. ⁴ This amount represents payments made on adjusted service certificates and amounts reimbursed to the United States Government life insurance fund on account from that fund on certificates, under the provisions of the World War Adjusted Compensation Act as amended, and the Adjusted Compensation Payment Act, 1936. ⁶ Net expenditures, investments not included. 	nt of loans made

⁷ Disbursed from July 1, 1935 to date.

TABLE 43.—Disbursements made by Veterans' Administration, former Veterans' Bureau, National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, and Pension Bureau, for all wars and Regular Establishment, and annuities and refunds to civil employees under civil service and Canal Zone Retirement Acts

	Grand total (in-					Veterans'	Administration	Homes
Date	cluding civil- service and Can- nal Zone retire- ment)	Total disburse- ments for relief of veterans	Salaries and expenses ²	Medical and hospital services	Maintenance and expenses for pensions	Veterans' Ad- ministration homes	General post fund	Horatio Ward fund
Total to June 30, 1938	¹ \$23, 010, 719, 975. 17	¹ \$22, 759, 941, 037. 34	\$1, 009, 138, 078. 33	\$426, 608, 567. 68	\$153, 103, 707. 16	\$251, 411, 793. 53	\$ \$1, 547, 240. 72	\$21, 742. 33
Fiscal year 1938 Fiscal year 1937 Fiscal year 1936 Fiscal year 1936 Fiscal year 1933 Fiscal year 1933 Fiscal year 1932 Fiscal year 1930 Fiscal year 1920 Fiscal year 1929 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1926 Fiscal year 1926 Fiscal year 1926 Fiscal year 1926 Fiscal year 1926 Fiscal year 1927 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1927 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1929 Fiscal year 1920	$\begin{array}{r} 833, 994, 175, 08\\ 3, 839, 120, 426, 07\\ 618, 522, 341, 50\\ 534, 022, 038, 08\\ 808, 688, 479, 42\\ 869, 099, 937, 38\\ 783, 359, 332, 16\\ 702, 149, 359, 332, 16\\ 702, 149, 359, 332\\ 688, 351, 143, 11\\ 674, 623, 245, 22\\ 663, 675, 796, 06\\ 6624, 850, 682, 89\\ 663, 338, 507, 48\\ 751, 375, 688, 44\\ 751, 257, 807, 09\\ 667, 451, 947, 41\\ 514, 979, 421, 29\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 629,829,721,73\\ 893,994,175,08\\ 3,839,120,426,07\\ 609,916,432,81\\ 545,838,321,57\\ 833,499,000,44\\ 841,436,894,77\\ 759,367,014,75\\ 654,022,860,91\\ 673,288,573,04\\ 659,870,785,32\\ 644,962,428,25\\ 653,493,578,72\\ 652,870,785,32\\ 644,962,428,25\\ 653,494,962,428,25\\ 653,634,635,578,74\\ 744,669,570,635,578,72\\ 653,654,768,399,74\\ 744,634,695,96,350,16\\ 664,538,414,82\\ 514,979,421,29\\ 701,064,116,29\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 36, 481, 501, 50\\ 42, 322, 943, 48\\ 45, 974, 519, 36\\ 45, 109, 755, 10\\ 35, 754, 971, 52\\ 8, 010, 052, 77\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^4 {}^4 {}^1 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^3 {}^4 {}^3 {}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3 & 1, 750, 00 \\ 3 & 4, 40 \\ 3 & 1, 008, 97 \\ 143, 483, 33 \\ , 374, 314, 45 \\ 1, 272, 203, 23 \\ 1, 276, 511, 65 \\ 1, 214, 565, 95 \\ 1, 327, 252, 47 \\ 1, 436, 001, 05 \\ 1, 489, 087, 39 \\ 1, 992, 062, 97 \\ 1, 394, 079, 47 \\ 1, 384, 921, 55 \\ 1, 395, 014, 09 \\ 1, 491, 614, 916 \\ 1, 491, 614, 916 \\ 1, 491,$	3 25.00 3 11, 647, 16 3 1, 036, 107, 00 11, 264, 170, 98 0, 811, 706, 69 8, 704, 854, 14 8, 114, 856, 87 7, 560, 642, 22 7, 495, 954, 67 7, 783, 165, 73 7, 470, 342, 77 7, 087, 061, 30 7, 277, 540, 41 6, 987, 273, 05	459, 424, 97 170, 525, 63 324, 142, 95 134, 432, 51 52, 037, 62 213, 639, 03	
Fiscal year 1919 Total to June 30, 1918	701, 064, 116, 29 5, 846, 570, 866, 53	5, 846, 570, 866, 53			134, 465, 525. 99	4 150, 028, 612, 96		

				Army and	ł Navy pensions	s and military an	d naval compens	ation
Date Territ	State and Territorial							
	homes	services (con- struction)	ery Veterans' Administration 1933-39	Total pensions and compensation	Participants in yellow fever experiments	Living veterans	Deceased veterans	War of the Revolution
Total to June 30, 1938	\$38, 549, 768. 93	\$103, 024, 991. 14	\$3, 018, 699. 79	\$13, 285, 973, 545. 60	\$133, 613. 75			\$70, 000, 000
Fiscal year 1938	3 *45.66	9, 311, 252. 65	35, 607. 12	402, 783, 695, 97		\$301, 276, 717. 25	\$101, 491, 978. 72	
Fiscal year 1937	3 *1, 071.00	8, 872, 848, 73	90, 876. 63	396, 045, 927. 12	15, 875. 00	299, 659, 837. 31	96, 370, 214. 81	
iscal year 1936	**907.32	1, 933, 263. 04	1,004,575.71	399, 009, 852. 78	17, 375.09	299,000,808.47		
fiscal vear 1935	3*84.34	1, 416, 735, 22	1, 486, 256, 15	374, 425, 539. 57	18, 370, 00	278, 006, 898. 15		
Ciscal year 1934	3 151, 844, 76	2, 769, 263, 77	401, 384. 18	321, 394, 530. 63	17, 743. 75	227, 797, 923. 21		
fiscal year 1933	757, 965, 18	13, 517, 369, 43		550, 585, 092. 23	25, 750.00	428, 456, 151, 69		
Fiscal year 1932	785, 946. 91	12, 875, 744.03		545, 800, 261.68	23, 500.00	421, 367, 015. 55		
Fiscal year 1931	589, 999. 80	9, 040, 319. 81		⁶ 488, 388, 942. 92		364, 652, 558. 50	123, 736, 384, 42	
'iscal year 1930	584, 728.00	8, 241, 384. 73		418, 432, 808. 91		290, 474, 801. 10		
fiscal year 1929	581, 049. 33	4, 044, 328, 83		418, 820, 642, 06		287, 065, 745. 65		
iscal year 1928	574, 930. 32	5, 221, 569, 72		410, 765, 338. 31		286, 640, 666, 14	124, 124, 672, 17	
Piscal year 1927	573, 373, 69	4, 599, 257.84		403, 629, 677. 56		277, 854, 011, 13	125, 775, 666, 43	
'iscal year 1926	612, 100, 35	4, 511, 172.04		372, 281, 487. 71		247, 259, 215. 27	125, 022, 272. 44	
'iscal year 1925	644, 077. 33	3,894 675.86		346, 748, 069. 54		223, 164, 174. 32	123, 583, 895. 22	
liscal year 1924	685, 182, 67	9, 214, 924. 97		345, 489, 769. 01		223, 395, 622.00	122, 094, 147.01	
'iscal year 1923	727, 438, 96	2 644 380 47		388, 606, 769. 80		255, 724, 424, 72	132, 882, 345.08	
Fiscal year 1922. Fiscal year 1921.	813, 351, 84	916, 500.00		377, 158, 125, 82		253, 423, 940.08	123, 734, 185. 74	. .
'iscal year 1921	863, 226.07			380, 025, 874, 10		7 253, 258, 718, 55	126, 767, 155, 55	
Siscal year 1920	. 865, 449, 57			316, 418, 029, 57		201, 186, 125, 16		
fiscal year 1919	839, 284, 44			233, 460, 635, 35		132, 926, 906. 52	100, 533, 728.83	
Fotal to June 30, 1918.	27, 898, 928. 03			5, 395, 702, 474. 96				\$70,000,000

See footnotes at end of table.

.

뉵

TABLE 43.—Disbursements made by Veterans' Administration, former Veterans' Bureau, National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, and Pension Bureau, for all wars and Regular Establishment, and annuities and refunds to civil employees under civil service and Canal Zone Retirement Acts—Continued

			Army and Na	vy pensions and	military and na	val compensation	n-Continued		
Date		War of 1812			Indian Wars			War with Mexico)
	Total	Living veterans	Deceased veterans	Total	Living veterans	Deceased veterans	Total	Living vete ra ns	Deceased veterans
Total to June 30, 1938	\$46, 216, 600. 57	\$14, 019, 736. 48	\$32, 196, 864. 09	\$ 76, 632, 510. 24	\$44, 372, 780. 67	\$32, 259, 729. 57	\$61, 206, 821. 12	\$28, 748, 117. 32	\$32, 458, 703. 80
Fiscal year 1938 Fiscal year 1937 Fiscal year 1936 Fiscal year 1936 Fiscal year 1933 Fiscal year 1933 Fiscal year 1933 Fiscal year 1930 Fiscal year 1930 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1927 Fiscal year 1927	\$40.00 1,390.00 2,681.00 3,222.50 3,906.67 4,000.00 5,731.40 7,201.67 8,903.34 9,805.66 7,400.00 9,392.00 13,383.00 18,010.00 19,957.00		840.00 840.00 2,681.00 3,222.50 3,908.67 4,000.00 5,703.34 7,201.67 8,903.34 9,805.66 7,400.00 9,392.00 9,392.00 13,383.00 18,010.00 19,957.00	3, 517, 221. 29 3, 493, 443, 33 3, 749, 528, 00 3, 716, 047, 17 4, 715, 707, 57 4, 575, 550, 05 4, 554, 918, 47 4, 555, 115, 22 3, 956, 943, 80 2, 013, 766, 42 1, 900, 185, 94 1, 959, 110, 03 1, 919, 223, 65 1, 907, 377, 05 1, 796, 309, 74	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 889, 161, 99\\ 1, 811, 536, 67\\ 2, 019, 230, 01\\ 2, 138, 494, 97\\ 2, 178, 191, 07\\ 2, 908, 111, 40\\ 2, 867, 166, 98\\ 2, 884, 716, 78\\ 2, 942, 208, 17\\ 2, 923, 464, 20\\ 2, 618, 189, 84\\ 1, 356, 201, 82\\ 1, 309, 510, 41\\ 1, 351, 707, 92\\ 1, 350, 004, 25\\ 1, 360, 124, 36\\ 1, 276, 274, 80\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 628, 059, 30\\ 1, 681, 906, 66\\ 1, 750, 297, 99\\ 1, 714, 071, 03\\ 856, 10\\ 1, 857, 586, 10\\ 1, 857, 596, 17\\ 1, 708, 423, 07\\ 1, 650, 201, 69\\ 1, 612, 907, 05\\ 1, 652, 201, 69\\ 1, 622, 907, 05\\ 1, 552, 188, 52\\ 1, 338, 753, 96\\ 657, 474, 60\\ 5590, 675, 533\\ 607, 402, 11\\ 566, 219, 40\\ 567, 252, 69\\ 550, 034, 94\\ \end{array}$	132, 776. 34 154, 135. 42 180, 316. 20	85.00 1,043.86 10,00 504.00 7,732.39 12,045.66 15,818.54 29,347.47 47,981.33 59,814.62	116, 687, 99 132, 776, 34 154, 135, 42 180, 316, 20 198, 568, 20 285, 133, 68 325, 090, 46 344, 975, 00 394, 394, 21 470, 454, 35 538, 520, 46 561, 233, 84 422, 747, 03 491, 078, 92 551, 253, 55 669, 866, 44 716, 098, 63
Fiscal year 1921 Fiscal year 1920 Fiscal year 1919 Fotal to June 30, 1918	21, 145. 03 17, 704. 33	14, 019, 736. 48	24, 160. 21 21, 145. 03 17, 704. 33 32, 011, 827. 34	1, 565, 862, 41 1, 746, 308, 97 1, 561, 537, 49 15, 144, 212, 92	1, 094, 925, 24 1, 209, 715, 83 1, 191, 146, 37 5, 706, 725, 59	470, 937. 17 536, 593. 14 370, 391. 12 9, 437, 487. 33	888, 024, 64 676, 682, 58 758, 156, 19 52, 148, 138, 86	74, 546, 06 62, 665, 46 88, 499, 09 28, 339, 898, 58	813, 478. 58 614, 017. 12 669, 657. 10 23, 806, 240. 28

14

4

A NUMBER OF

88

٠

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

	A	rmy and Navy pe	ensions and militar	y and naval compens	sation—Continued	
Date		Civil War			War with Spain	
	Total	Living veterans	Deceased veterans	Total	Living veterans	Deceased veterans
Total to June 30 1938	,			\$1, 286, 377, 997. 54	\$1, 084, 836, 898. 87	\$202, 041, 098. 67
Fiscal year 1938. Fiscal year 1937. Fiscal year 1936. Fiscal year 1936. Fiscal year 1936. Fiscal year 1936. Fiscal year 1937. Fiscal year 1938. Fiscal year 1938. Fiscal year 1938. Fiscal year 1933. Fiscal year 1930. Fiscal year 1930. Fiscal year 1928. Fiscal year 1929. Fiscal year 1921. Fiscal year 1922. Fiscal year 1921. Fiscal year 1920. Fiscal year 1920. <t< td=""><td>$\begin{array}{c} 46, 595, 687, 96\\ 55, 636, 809, 27\\ 63, 529, 582, 72\\ 69, 814, 723, 13\\ 98, 272, 576, 43\\ 107, 865, 760, 88\\ 121, 993, 750, 46\\ 125, 784, 933, 43\\ 143, 594, 291, 68\\ 149, 668, 976, 19\\ 166, 493, 208, 58\\ 171, 605, 623, 27\\ 186, 208, 394, 36\\ 202, 999, 955, 16\\ 238, 924, 931, 94\\ 236, 151, 244, 32\\ 246, 584, 639, 64\\ 202, 586, 306, 04\\ \end{array}$</td><td>$\begin{array}{c} \\$6, 448, 253, 46\\ 8, 967, 519, 20\\ 12, 298, 487, 29\\ 16, 144, 255, 36\\ 20, 051, 397, 35\\ 31, 300, 417, 78\\ 37, 958, 493, 14\\ 45, 952, 130, 16\\ 46, 086, 774, 40\\ 57, 119, 891, 76\\ 69, 710, 306, 28\\ 91, 665, 502, 37\\ 85, 735, 598, 99\\ 95, 455, 326, 21\\ 107, 377, 788, 96\\ 130, 616, 234, 36\\ 133, 105, 620, 62\\ 119, 463, 920, 53\\ \end{array}$</td><td></td><td>$\begin{array}{c} 118, 183, 018, 33\\ 114, 924, 124, 83\\ 108, 584, 105, 11\\ 77, 753, 295, 20\\ 55, 614, 111, 88\\ 125, 056, 652, 48\\ 113, 758, 457, 43\\ 102, 256, 479, 96\\ 83, 750, 721, 24\\ 76, 845, 704, 25\\ 70, 674, 419, 27\\ 76, 732, 282, 823\\ 30, 232, 218, 67\\ 25, 038, 500, 89\\ 21, 139, 863, 45\\ 17, 886, 821, 28\\ 11, 639, 340, 73\\ 6, 171, 569, 82\\ 11, 569, 82\\ 4, 624, 098, 68\\ 3, 878, 189, 13\\ 6, 133, 476, 58\\ \end{array}$</td><td>$\begin{array}{c} 98,850,424,84\\ 96,618,456,10\\ 91,872,486,05\\ 66,252,826,14\\ 47,933,272,10\\ 109,016,660,00\\ 99,118,249,74\\ 88,997,801,76\\ 71,369,072,55\\ 65,461,824,31\\ 60,058,722,71\\ 47,716,422,69\\ 24,233,115,04\\ 19,728,876,36\\ 16,118,296,53\\ 14,033,567,00\\ 9,698,181,14\\ 4,424,397,09\\ 3,023,119,18\\ 3,002,785,11\\ 47,252,342,13\\ \end{array}$</td><td>$\begin{array}{c} 19, 332, 593, 49\\ 18, 305, 668, 73\\ 16, 711, 619, 06\\ 71, 680, 839, 78\\ 16, 288, 992, 48\\ 14, 640, 207, 69\\ 13, 258, 678, 20\\ 12, 381, 648, 69\\ 11, 383, 879, 97\\ 10, 615, 696, 56\\ 9, 516, 405, 61\\ 5, 990, 103, 63\\ 5, 369, 624, 53\\ 5, 021, 566, 92\\ 3, 803, 254, 28\\ 1, 941, 159, 59\\ 1, 747, 172, 73\\ 1, 600, 979, 50\\ 869, 403, 72\\ 14, 081, 134, 45\\ \end{array}$</td></t<>	$\begin{array}{c} 46, 595, 687, 96\\ 55, 636, 809, 27\\ 63, 529, 582, 72\\ 69, 814, 723, 13\\ 98, 272, 576, 43\\ 107, 865, 760, 88\\ 121, 993, 750, 46\\ 125, 784, 933, 43\\ 143, 594, 291, 68\\ 149, 668, 976, 19\\ 166, 493, 208, 58\\ 171, 605, 623, 27\\ 186, 208, 394, 36\\ 202, 999, 955, 16\\ 238, 924, 931, 94\\ 236, 151, 244, 32\\ 246, 584, 639, 64\\ 202, 586, 306, 04\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \$6, 448, 253, 46\\ 8, 967, 519, 20\\ 12, 298, 487, 29\\ 16, 144, 255, 36\\ 20, 051, 397, 35\\ 31, 300, 417, 78\\ 37, 958, 493, 14\\ 45, 952, 130, 16\\ 46, 086, 774, 40\\ 57, 119, 891, 76\\ 69, 710, 306, 28\\ 91, 665, 502, 37\\ 85, 735, 598, 99\\ 95, 455, 326, 21\\ 107, 377, 788, 96\\ 130, 616, 234, 36\\ 133, 105, 620, 62\\ 119, 463, 920, 53\\ \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} 118, 183, 018, 33\\ 114, 924, 124, 83\\ 108, 584, 105, 11\\ 77, 753, 295, 20\\ 55, 614, 111, 88\\ 125, 056, 652, 48\\ 113, 758, 457, 43\\ 102, 256, 479, 96\\ 83, 750, 721, 24\\ 76, 845, 704, 25\\ 70, 674, 419, 27\\ 76, 732, 282, 823\\ 30, 232, 218, 67\\ 25, 038, 500, 89\\ 21, 139, 863, 45\\ 17, 886, 821, 28\\ 11, 639, 340, 73\\ 6, 171, 569, 82\\ 11, 569, 82\\ 4, 624, 098, 68\\ 3, 878, 189, 13\\ 6, 133, 476, 58\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 98,850,424,84\\ 96,618,456,10\\ 91,872,486,05\\ 66,252,826,14\\ 47,933,272,10\\ 109,016,660,00\\ 99,118,249,74\\ 88,997,801,76\\ 71,369,072,55\\ 65,461,824,31\\ 60,058,722,71\\ 47,716,422,69\\ 24,233,115,04\\ 19,728,876,36\\ 16,118,296,53\\ 14,033,567,00\\ 9,698,181,14\\ 4,424,397,09\\ 3,023,119,18\\ 3,002,785,11\\ 47,252,342,13\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 19, 332, 593, 49\\ 18, 305, 668, 73\\ 16, 711, 619, 06\\ 71, 680, 839, 78\\ 16, 288, 992, 48\\ 14, 640, 207, 69\\ 13, 258, 678, 20\\ 12, 381, 648, 69\\ 11, 383, 879, 97\\ 10, 615, 696, 56\\ 9, 516, 405, 61\\ 5, 990, 103, 63\\ 5, 369, 624, 53\\ 5, 021, 566, 92\\ 3, 803, 254, 28\\ 1, 941, 159, 59\\ 1, 747, 172, 73\\ 1, 600, 979, 50\\ 869, 403, 72\\ 14, 081, 134, 45\\ \end{array}$

T

· •

1

See footnotes at end of table.

TABLE 43.—Disbursements made by Veterans' Administration, former Veterans' Bureau, National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, and Pension Bureau, for all wars and Regular Establishment, and annuities and refunds to civil employees under civil service and Canal Zone Retirement Acts—Continued

				•											
	Rep	gular Establishm	ent		World War										
Date							Living ve	eterans							
	Total	Living veterans	Deceased veterans	Unclassified	Total World War	Total	Service- connected disability compensation ⁸	Emergency Officers' retirement pay	Disability allowance or nonservice pension						
otal to June 30, 1938	\$159, 022, 736. 35	\$121, 283, 428. 92	\$37, 739, 307. 43	\$16, 513, 425. 54	\$3, 595, 965, 530. 99	\$3, 029, 727, 754.05	\$2, 713, 454, 201. 12	\$62, 914, 561. 45	\$253, 358, 991. 4						
scal year 1938	11, 414, 103. 92	8, 868, 785, 83 8, 947, 027, 17	2, 645, 831, 53 2, 467, 076, 75 2, 275, 630, 66		230, 203, 176, 35 219, 468, 805, 74 221, 156, 044, 87	185, 220, 091, 13 183, 315, 298, 17 185, 375, 770, 67	166, 875, 363, 36 166, 417, 519, 36 169, 382, 036, 92	3, 117, 229, 96 3, 138, 955, 75 3, 283, 359, 64	15, 227, 497.8 13, 758, 823.0 12, 710, 374.1						
scal year 1936 scal year 1935 scal year 1934	9, 237, 599, 82 7, 832, 600, 47	7, 434, 834, 45 7, 341, 495, 86 6, 223, 411, 08	1, 896, 103, 96 1, 609, 189, 39 1, 159, 026, 68		219, 851, 128, 63 184, 197, 523, 53 315, 575, 802, 34	186, 129, 825, 82 151, 411, 651, 61 279, 989, 426, 13	171, 877, 328, 10 139, 445, 822, 97 184, 833, 898, 69	2, 709, 127, 88 2, 181, 249, 52 9, 968, 980, 32	11, 543, 369, 8 9, 784, 579, 1 85, 186, 547, 1						
scal year 1933 scal year 1932 scal year 1931	5, 966, 519, 43 5, 269, 558, 41	5, 241, 451, 38 4, 860, 875, 59 4, 279, 663, 04	1, 139, 020, 08 1, 105, 643, 84 989, 895, 37 894, 741, 62		313, 280, 309, 57 253, 983, 859, 62 199, 244, 606, 09	276, 561, 186, 24 222, 538, 236, 76 166, 274, 152, 22	189, 549, 809, 30 181, 911, 075, 67 155, 044, 890, 21	11, 553, 143, 57 10, 937, 594, 04 11, 229, 262, 01	75, 458, 233. 3 29, 689, 567. (
scal year 1930 scal year 1929 scal year 1928	4, 502, 676, 52 4, 095, 763, 23	3, 802, 089, 76 3, 655, 087, 62 3, 255, 566, 50	847, 588, 90 840, 196, 73 859, 498, 44		188, 946, 539, 58	157, 897, 356, 50 150, 991, 994, 81 144, 149, 490, 08	153, 101, 697, 74 150, 991, 994, 81 144, 149, 490, 08	4, 795, 658, 76							
scal year 1927 scal year 1926 scal year 1925	3, 655, 799, 32 3, 350, 284, 66	2, 958, 571, 78 2, 713, 805, 36 2, 471, 169, 57 2, 417, 027, 52	941, 993, 96 941, 993, 96 879, 115, 09 904, 151, 70		164, 454, 467, 82 129, 615, 490, 14 115, 515, 563, 51	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	133, 255, 139, 81 104, 141, 275, 72 96, 103, 147, 27								
scal year 1924 scal year 1923 scal year 1922	3, 532, 595, 71 3, 401, 172, 47	2, 569, 043, 11 2, 485, 436, 80	963, 552, 60 915, 735, 67 954, 383, 44	4, 978, 13	$\begin{array}{c} 125,619,186,05\\ 123,374,188,31\\ 121,330,447,80 \end{array}$	107, 067, 474, 56 106, 798, 612, 10 103, 744, 827, 57	107, 067, 474, 56 106, 798, 612, 10 103, 744, 827, 57								
scal year 1921 scal year 1920 scal year 1919 otal to June 30, 1918	3, 604, 038, 60 3, 701, 782, 83	2, 619, 732, 40	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	16, 508, 447, 41	$103, 159, 449, 67 \\11, 331, 374, 62 \\348, 608, 58$	82, 032, 490, 76 6, 554, 822, 72 175, 483, 40	82, 032, 490, 76 6, 554, 822, 72 175, 483, 40								

	Army and and naval	Navy pensions ar compensation—(nd military Continued			Adjusted compensation					
Date	Wo	rld War-Contin	ued	Military and	United States Government						
		Deceased veterans	5	naval insurance	life insurance	Adjusted-service certificate fund	Adjusted service and dependent pay	Loans to veterans for transportation			
	Total	Service connected	Nonservice				appender par				
otal to June 30, 1938	\$566, 237, 776. 94	\$559, 871, 910. 48	\$6, 365, 866. 46	\$2, 089, 005, 964. 15	• \$ 343, 047, 543. 11	¹⁰ \$3 , 732, 464 , 320. 75	\$52, 800, 990. 07	\$76, 103. 36			
iscal year 1938	44, 983, 085, 22	42, 359, 416, 32	2, 623, 668, 90	82, 521, 520, 30	31, 635, 613, 35	13, 837, 588. 33	1, 352, 099, 16				
iscal year 1937	36, 153, 507, 57	34, 301, 524, 70	1,851,982.87	88, 051, 778, 37	29, 396, 384, 23	282, 656, 226. 02	1, 546, 168, 24				
iscal year 1936	35, 780, 274, 20	34, 542, 723, 57	1, 237, 550, 63	94, 024, 981, 15	28, 296, 446. 29	3, 228, 421, 888. 82	1, 089, 821. 20				
iscal year 1935	33, 721, 302. 81	33, 068, 638, 75	652, 664, 06	100, 355, 245, 92	27, 172, 039, 14	25, 562, 460, 85	1, 361, 408. 31				
iscal year 1934	32, 785, 871, 92	32, 785, 871, 92		103, 268, 273, 83	26, 073, 360. 78	23, 413, 326. 01	1, 895, 111. 07	4, 214, 55 71, 888, 81			
iscal year 1933	35, 586, 376, 21	35, 586, 376, 21		123, 038, 781. 65	28, 061, 672. 89	24, 621, 384, 22	2, 252, 360, 76	71, 888. 81			
scal year 1932	36, 719, 123, 33			123, 740, 592. 58	28, 736, 667. 22	23, 215, 621. 33	2, 480, 264, 29				
scal year 1931	31, 445, 622, 86			117, 924, 352.03	25, 951, 864. 23	19, 391, 652. 05	2, 463, 148. 16				
iscal year 1930	32, 970, 453. 87		. 	122, 768, 894, 22	24, 677, 347. 60	20, 131, 368. 75	3, 130, 214. 35				
scal year 1929	31, 049, 183. 08			121, 349, 027, 79	22, 301, 640. 58	19, 744, 738. 58	6, 453, 346, 34 10, 152, 767, 74				
scal year 1928	30, 823, 931. 21			120, 770, 802. 24	17, 664, 329, 21	17, 098, 354, 86 14, 407, 783, 32	10, 152, 767. 74				
scal year 1927	29, 343, 542. 07	29, 343, 542. 07		120, 963, 998. 81	11, 864, 371, 29 9, 882, 287, 93	14, 407, 783, 32					
scal year 1926	31, 199, 328, 01	31, 199, 328, 01		136, 975, 113, 97	9, 882, 287, 93 8, 962, 316, 34	4, 607, 401, 00					
scal year 1925				104, 136, 493, 50 101, 239, 648, 19	7, 481, 512, 37	4,007,401.00					
scal year 1924				99, 418, 339, 29	6, 700, 194, 79						
scal year 1923.	18, 551, 711, 49 16, 575, 576, 21			102, 988, 870, 13	6, 084, 931, 08						
scal year 1922 scal year 1921					2, 056, 695, 47						
scal year 1921		21 126 058 01		85, 926, 039, 99	47, 868, 32						
scal year 1920					11,000.04						
otal to June 30, 1918											

See footnotes at end of table.

~

-

-421,276,459,60

.

TABLE 43.—Disbursements made by Veterans' Administration, former Veterans' Bureau, National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, and Pension Bureau, for all wars and Regular Establishment, and annuities and refunds to civil employees under civil service and Canal Zone Retirement Acts—Continued

* 1, 038 * 1, 038, 69 * 1, 309, 11 117, 846, 38 2, 123, 823, 93 40, 111, 61 Fiscal year 1937 * 9, 022, 38 * 1, 226, 34 143, 409, 70 1, 987, 069, 51 13, 112, 89 Fiscal year 1936 * 9, 022, 38 * 1, 226, 34 188, 468, 08 1, 814, 112, 47 12, 712, 22 Fiscal year 1935 * 9, 102, 36 * 66, 267, 25 * 633, 58 168, 468, 08 1, 814, 112, 47 12, 712, 22 Fiscal year 1934 * 7, 247, 29 2, 908, 70 94, 51 2, 660, 45 47, 656, 699, 54 527, 11, 109, 11 8, 732, 62 462, 644, 71 34, 837, 092, 05 351, 17, 109, 11 8, 732, 62 492, 644, 71 34, 837, 092, 05 351, 11, 129, 122, 22 7, 700, 707, 00, 100, 17, 16, 52 3992, 317, 41 11, 500, 00 101, 716, 55 23, 992, 317, 41 11, 500, 00 101, 716, 55 23, 992, 317, 41 11, 500, 99, 54 192, 112, 22, 12, 22, 17, 41 11, 752, 459, 90 112, 153, 01 101, 716, 55 23, 992, 317, 41 11, 500, 00 101, 716, 55 23, 992, 317, 41 11, 500, 00 111, 752, 459, 90 112, 153, 01 101, 716, 55 23, 992, 317, 41 11, 500, 20, 20 112, 153, 01 101, 716, 92, 459, 90 112, 153,	Date	Vocational training	Allotments and allowances	Marine and seamen's insurance	Funds due incompetent beneficiaries	Personal funds of patients, Veterans' Administration	Miscellaneous	Civil-service retirement and disability fund to Aug. 31, 1934	Canal Zone retirement and disability fund to Aug. 31, 1934
Fiscal year 1935 *9, 192, 36 *695, 44	Fiscal year 1938	*1, 084. 69 *9, 022, 38	*1, 309, 11 *1, 226, 34		117, 846. 38 143, 409, 79	2, 123, 823, 93 1, 987, 069, 51	40, 111, 61 13, 112, 89		
Fiscal year 1932	Fiscal year 1935 Fiscal year 1934 Fiscal year 1933	*9, 192, 36 *7, 247, 29 *16, 825, 80	*695. 44 2, 998. 70	<u>94, 51</u>			15, 507, 22 2, 690, 45	8, 519, 553. 38 47, 656, 699. 54	86, 355, 31
Fiscal year 1928	Fiscal year 1932 Fiscal year 1931 Fiscal year 1930	*17, 109, 11 *21, 747, 50 *20, 224, 67	8, 732. 62 5, 070. 03 2 , 366. 34	1, 600. 00			4, 818, 00 101, 716, 55 65, 500, 80	27, 470, 075, 06 23, 992, 317, 41 18, 126, 498, 91	192, 967. 55
Fiscal year 1924 106, 961, 887, 06 13, 082, 95 4, 100, 00 *251, 16 8, 552, 197, 74 Fiscal year 1923 149, 499, 849, 53 *273, 582, 36 9, 525, 50 19, 769, 56 7, 740, 922, 48 Fiscal year 1922 106, 061, 141, 22 4, 982, 113, 22 249, 075, 78 631, 456, 93 631, 456, 93 Fiscal year 1921 99, 064, 993, 21 23, 774, 032, 06 56, 911, 56 2, 913, 532, 59 Fiscal year 1920 34, 651, 973, 53 53, 588, 637, 08 514, 881, 79 2, 913, 532, 59	Fiscal year 1928 Fiscal year 1927 Fiscal year 1926	233, 724, 49 2, 206, 256, 01 25, 840, 481, 60	*60, 952, 21 *187, 637, 52 *21, 200, 66	*33, 583. 69			4, 477. 81 21, 341. 53 12, 153. 00	14, 752, 459, 90 13, 394, 643, 51 10, 182, 218, 24	
Fiscal year 1921 99, 064, 993, 21 23, 774, 032, 06 56, 911, 56 2, 913, 532, 59 Fiscal year 1920 34, 651, 973, 53 53, 558, 637, 08 514, 891, 79 2, 913, 532, 59	Fiscal year 1924 Fiscal year 1923 Fiscal year 1922	106, 961, 887, 06 149, 499, 849, 53 166, 051, 141, 22	13, 082, 95 *273, 582, 36	4, 100, 00 9, 525, 50			*251.16 19,769.56	8, 552, 197. 74 7, 740, 992. 48	
Total to June 30, 1918	Fiscal year 1921 Fiscal year 1920 Fiscal year 1919	99, 064, 993, 21 34, 651, 973, 53	23, 774, 032, 06 53, 568, 637, 08 392, 882, 494, 33	56, 911, 56 514, 881, 79 7, 706, 896, 37				2, 913, 532. 59	

¹ Includes revolving fund loans outstanding June 30, 1938, \$7,759.46.

² Salaries and expenses include increase of compensation, printing and binding, administrative expenses, adjusted compensation and administrative expenses. Adjusted Compensation Payment Act, 1936. Medical, hospital, and domiciliary services are included from June 30, 1931, to date and State and Territorial homes for the fiscal years 1934, 1935, 1936.

³ Disbursed from appropriations for previous years.

⁴ Includes construction.

* Disbursements from general post fund from June 30, 1931, to date.

⁶ Gross disbursements for Army and Navy pensions.

⁷ Includes unclassified \$4,978.13.

* In the early fiscal years, disbursements were made from military and naval compensation appropriations for accrued awards, transportation, travel, burial awards, hospital services, etc. Disbursements for disability compensation include approximately \$10,360,600 for these items.

Includes encumbrances.

¹⁰ This amount represents payments made on adjusted service certificates and amounts reimbursed to the United States Government life insurance fund on account of loans made from that fund on certificates under the provisions of the World War Adjusted Compensation Act as amended, and the Adjusted Compensation Payment Act, 1936.

*Credit.

Note.-The total amount disbursed from insurance premiums, allotments deducted from pay of World War veterans while in service, etc., \$1,141,310,020.86.

TABLE 44.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by States during fiscal year 1938, showing the number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938

connected Amount \$2, 964, 717 2, 106, 456	Nonservio	World Living v 20 connected Amount	veterans Emergency	officers' retire- it pay		ing veterans
A mount \$2, 964, 717 2, 106, 456	Number	ee connected	Emergency mer	nt pay		ing veterans
A mount \$2, 964, 717 2, 106, 456	Number		mer	nt pay		ing veterans
\$2, 964, 717 2, 106, 456		Amount	Number	Amount		
2, 106, 456	1.000				Number	Amount
$\begin{array}{c} 3, 191, 501\\ 14, 868, 265\\ 34, 158, 152\\ 2, 443, 876\\ 170, 599\\ 1, 827, 156\\ 2, 705, 527\\ 3, 605, 580\\ 546, 515\\ 7, 108, 143\\ 4, 316, 931\\ 2, 333, 518\\ 1, 825, 066\\ 4, 889, 189\\ 2, 379, 674\\ 918, 930\\ 2, 596, 927\\ 8, 030, 913\\ 4, 650, 730\\ 5, 196, 800\\ 3, 761, 053\\ 5, 063, 833\\ 1, 167, 999\\ 1, 153, 943\\ 2000, 687\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 056\\ 1, 188\\ 3, 793\\ 591\\ 418\\ 43\\ 462\\ 865\\ 1, 173\\ 139\\ 2, 449\\ 986\\ 799\\ 630\\ 1, 133\\ 1, 076\\ 283\\ 548\\ 1, 689\\ 1, 275\\ 1, 079\\ 806\\ 1, 330\\ 212\\ 317\\ 45\\ 112\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \$382, 108\\ 155, 288\\ 408, 178\\ 1, 208, 114\\ 191, 157\\ 139, 349\\ 143, 665\\ 143, 570\\ 305, 507\\ 407, 253\\ 47, 086\\ 706, 632\\ 314, 643\\ 253, 931\\ 208, 117\\ 334, 643\\ 3253, 931\\ 208, 117\\ 334, 643\\ 331, 349\\ 831, 349\\ 831, 349\\ 831, 347\\ 1337, 601\\ 347, 602\\ 347, 602\\ 347, 602\\ 349, 249\\ 349, 249\\ 349, 249\\ 349\\ 349\\ 349\\ 349\\ 349\\ 349\\ 349\\ 3$	$\begin{array}{c} 36\\ 15\\ 23\\ 36\\ 23\\ 231\\ 36\\ 23\\ 2\\ 57\\ 65\\ 52\\ 4\\ 102\\ 31\\ 9\\ 21\\ 18\\ 13\\ 6\\ 31\\ 96\\ 43\\ 24\\ 13\\ 52\\ 8\\ 8\\ 1\\ 5\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \$65, 782\\ 24, 496\\ 40, 204\\ 385, 676\\ 62, 729\\ 35, 447\\ 2, 774\\ 103, 605\\ 110, 962\\ 86, 460\\ 8, 038\\ 52, 561\\ 16, 020\\ 35, 833\\ 52, 561\\ 16, 020\\ 35, 833\\ 29, 340\\ 21, 747\\ 12, 817\\ 152, 381\\ 169, 592\\ 76, 597\\ 76, 597\\ 739, 365\\ 22, 674\\ 90, 004\\ 15, 155\\ 12, 388\\ 1, 318\\ 9, 477\\ 9, 47$	$\begin{array}{c} 8,205\\ 3,271\\ 8,004\\ 30,495\\ 5,560\\ 5,273\\ 394\\ 4,065\\ 5,848\\ 8,403\\ 1,310\\ 18,546\\ 10,378\\ 5,968\\ 4,742\\ 11,925\\ 5,923\\ 2,221\\ 5,123\\ 17,622\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,763\\ 11,334\\ 472\\ 1,334\\ 1,3$	\$3, 412, 607 2, 286, 240 3, 640, 283 16, 462, 055 3, 412, 038 2, 618, 672 187, 038 2, 074, 331 3, 121, 996 4, 099, 293 601, 797 7, 982, 813 4, 684, 135 2, 069, 016 5, 303, 155 2, 782, 770 1, 015, 009 2, 817, 625 8, 747, 743 5, 140, 998 5, 553, 766 4, 066, 414 5, 618, 333 1, 260, 593 1, 263, 593 1, 263, 593 1, 263, 593 1, 263, 593
	$\begin{array}{c} 2,376,674\\ 9,18,930\\ 2,596,927\\ 8,030,913\\ 4,650,730\\ 5,196,800\\ 3,761,053\\ 5,063,833\\ 1,167,999\\ 1,153,943\\ 200,687\\ 616,981\\ 3,349,730\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

TABLE 44.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by States during fiscal year 1933, showing the number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938—Continued

	Number of emergence	veterans or deceas y officers' retirem	sed veterans w ent pay on Ju	hose dependents ne 30, 1938, and d	were receivin lisbursements	g pension benefit for these benefits	s, including co during the fis	ompensation and Ical year 1938
				World	l War			
State				Living	veterans			
	Servicc	connected	Nonservi	ce connected		officers' retire- nt pay	Total liv	ing veterans
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount
New York	24, 479	\$11, 786, 462	4,030	\$1, 176, 158	175	\$303, 576	28, 684	\$13, 266, 196
North Carolina	5, 663	3, 144, 762	1, 260	424, 670	36	59, 246	6, 959	\$13, 200, 190 3, 628, 678
North Dakota	1.518	739, 705	176	56, 902	2	3, 184	1, 696	799, 791
)hio	19,126	8, 865, 165	2, 381	775. 400	94	155, 824	21, 601	9, 796, 389
)klahoma	7,441	3, 296, 119	909	314, 104	16	25, 665	8, 366	3, 635, 888
regon	3, 817	1, 962, 072	501	161, 244	27	46, 262	4, 345	2, 169, 578
'ennsylvania.	22, 233	10, 585, 341	2,495	819, 460	116	193, 354	24, 844	11, 598, 15
chode Island	1,844	867, 461	265	87, 329	4	5.783	2, 113	960, 57
outh Carolina	3, 925	1, 840, 009	908	326, 188	25	42, 816	4,858	2, 209, 01
outh Dakota	1,847	804, 864	250	78, 887	2	3, 420	2,099	887, 17
ennessee	7, 569	3, 754, 316	1, 056	371, 616	37	63, 009	8,662	4, 188, 94
exas	14, 951	7, 296, 606	2, 224	759, 673	84	139, 835	17, 259	8, 196, 11
tah	1, 296	624, 828	99	34, 249			1, 395	659, 07
ermont	1, 141	564, 358	91	28, 737	4	6, 175	1, 236	599, 27
lirginia.	4,922	2, 433, 368	732	237, 510	31	54, 930	5, 685	2, 725, 80
Vashington Vest Virginia	4,606	2, 352, 861	641 364	194, 703	18	27, 823	5, 265	2, 575, 38
Visconsin	3, 580 8, 593	1,554,785 3,859,930	1, 147	126, 840 355, 195	16 45	29, 489	3, 960	1,711,114
Vyoming	8, 595 864	3, 859, 930 401, 272	1, 147	36, 909	45	83, 033 2, 332	9, 785 1, 022	4, 298, 150 440, 513
Total, United States	337, 850	165, 283, 057	45, 983	14, 971, 755	1, 823			
nited States possessions and foreign countries	2, 740	1, 592, 306	40, 865	255, 743	1, 023	3, 105, 203 12, 027	385, 656 3, 513	183, 360, 01 1, 860, 07
Grand total	340, 590	166, 875, 363	46, 748	15, 227, 498	1, 831	3, 117, 230	389, 169	185, 220, 09

	Numbe	er of veterans	or decea	sed veterans ment pay of	whose dep n June 30,	endents were 1938, and dis	e receivin bursemei	g pension l nts for thes	benefits, i se benefit	ncluding e s during th	compensation and emergency officers' retire- he fiscal year 1938					
			W	orld War								India	n wars			
State			Decea	sed veterans				f 1812 de- veterans		n War de- veterans						
	Service	e connected		ervice con- ected		ceased vet- ans					Livin	g veterans	Deceas	ed veterans		
	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Number	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount		
Jabama	2,099	\$966, 555	176	\$66, 531	2, 275	\$1,033,086			7	\$4, 416	8	\$5, 247		\$5, 009		
rizona	535	270, 528	37	12, 470	572	282, 998			1	883	216	140, 112	202	72, 239		
rkansas	1, 571	739, 728	146	57, 793	1, 717	797, 521	· • • • • • • • • •		- 7	4, 122	7	6, 808	29	10, 797		
aliforniaolorado	5,340 1,110	2, 393, 100 503, 910	480 79	151, 233 27, 215	5,820 1.189	2, 544, 333 531, 125		• · · · • • • • • •	18	10, 304	397	271, 147	553	200, 875		
onnecticut	1,003	438.379	98	33. 372	1, 189	471, 751			1	436 589	50 13	34, 163 8, 928	63 18	22, 472 6, 679		
elaware	144	64, 898	9	3, 033	1,101	67, 931			1	589	13	2,211	10	2,041		
istrict of Columbia	811	385, 640	97	32,036	908	417.676					47	32.512	112	42,000		
lorida	1, 344	619, 359	133	47, 367	1, 477	666, 726			4	2,355	41	26,816	55	20, 555		
eorgia	2, 413 257	$1, 123, 109 \\ 109, 972$	239 26	84, 836	2,652	1, 207, 945			4	2,061	8	5, 976	37	13, 505		
łaho linois	4,436	1, 962, 736	20 336	9,899 114,554	283 4,772	119,871 2,077,290			$\begin{array}{c} 2\\11\end{array}$	1,472 6,324	$\frac{33}{113}$	22,752 73,769	61	21,816		
diana	2,416	1,085,151	223	74.898	2, 639	1,160,049			4	2,355	60	40, 406	141 101	51,833 35,829		
)Wa	1,499	630, 952	97	32, 924	1, 596	663, 876			$\frac{1}{2}$	1,472	40	24, 449	39	14, 804		
ansas.	1,278	528, 219	87	25, 851	1,365	554,070			$\overline{6}$	3, 297	82	54, 678	151	53, 712		
entucky	2,440	1, 131, 204	248	90, 162	2, 688	1, 221, 366			4	2, 355	35	23, 824	57	20, 036		
ouisiana	2, 046 645	944, 134 283, 304	117 48	40, 919 18, 655	2, 163	985, 053			2	1, 472	19	10, 215	17	5, 936		
faine farvland	1, 215	548.617	121	41, 750	693 1, 336	301, 959 590, 367			3	1.766	6 64	4, 948 40, 653	$\frac{11}{78}$	3, 710 29, 880		
Tassachusetts	3, 364	1, 553, 730	340	129, 233	3, 704	1, 682, 963			2	1, 178	72	49,411	125	29, 880 44, 041		
lichigan	2,586	1, 117, 935	186	63, 291	2,772	1, 181, 226			ĩ	389	60	40, 360	91	32, 836		
[innesota	1, 919	834, 826	175	61, 134	2,094	895, 960					64	41, 270	68	25, 329		
lississippi	1,670	782.893	146	57,021	1,816	839, 914			3	2,061	4	3, 212	10	4, 081		
fissouri fontana	$3,127 \\ 307$	1,365,925 133,727	255 47	87,378 15,576	3, 382 354	1, 453, 303 149, 303			18	10, 893	66 95	44, 593 67, 306	108	41.295		
ebraska	689	294, 998	55	19, 528	304 744	149,303 314,526			·ī	589	95 36	67, 306 25, 860	64 78	22, 719 28. 458		
evada	38	18 637	10	3,275	48	21, 912			1	589	4	2,003	(° 5	28.408		
lew Hampshire	395	169, 552	27	9, 391	422	178, 943					9	5, 429	13	4, 638		
ew Jersey	2, 299	996, 519	148 i	49, 566	2, 447	1,046,085			1	883	55	38, 455	84	31, 179		

٩,

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS $\mathbf{66}$

			Wa	orld War								Indiar	ı wars	
State			Deceas	sed veterans				1812 de- veterans		n War de- veterans				
	Service	connected		rvice con- ected		ceased vet-					Living	, veterans	Decease	ed veterans
	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Number	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount
Vew Mexico. Yew York Yorth Carolina North Dakota Dhio North Dakota Dhio Yeansylvania thode Island Store Islan	$\begin{array}{r} 439\\7,811\\2,009\\4,299\\1,766\\809\\6,196\\409\\1,503\\404\\2,639\\4,229\\300\\318\\1,999\\1,150\\318\\1,999\\1,150\\318\\1,209\\2,354\\125\end{array}$	\$219, 542 3, 380, 378 921, 773 124, 850 1, 901, 639 784, 063 342, 230 2, 680, 838 186, 225 701, 247 177, 661 1, 222, 239 140, 801 134, 707 882, 329 491, 219 545, 411 978, 051 55, 286	43 509 180 27 393 175 62 509 27 129 30 238 301 27 26 136 88 88 88 155 12	\$14, 626 184, 374 69, 301 11, 484 133, 427 60, 310 19, 602 184, 858 11, 235 46, 189 16, 428 107, 190 9, 797 10, 881 48, 409 32, 100 33, 485 56, 989 3, 615	482 8, 320 2, 189 336 4, 692 1, 941 871 6, 705 436 1, 632 434 2, 877 344 2, 877 344 2, 135 1, 238 1, 297 2, 509 137	$\begin{array}{c} \$234, 168\\ 3, 564, 752\\ 991, 074\\ 1.36, 334\\ 2, 035, 066\\ 844, 373\\ 361, 832\\ 2, 875, 696\\ 197, 466\\ 189, 433\\ 1, 308, 667\\ 747, 436\\ 189, 433\\ 1, 308, 667\\ 1, 962, 387\\ 155, 588\\ 930, 738\\ 523, 319\\ 578, 896\\ 1, 355, 940\\ 58, 901\\ \end{array}$	1 	\$600 240	1 5 5 4 3 3 6 	\$236 3, 238 3, 003 2, 237 1, 766 1, 766 1, 766 3, 533 883 5, 240 22, 492 1, 295 2, 061 2, 061 1, 178 1, 766	$\begin{array}{c} 62\\ 122\\ 5\\ 18\\ 111\\ 55\\ 56\\ 108\\ 4\\ 6\\ 120\\ 15\\ 143\\ 42\\ 3\\ 34\\ 96\\ 6\\ 38\\ 22\end{array}$	\$39, 872 83, 197 3, 908 10, 904 40, 755 37, 128 72, 020 2, 972 3, 472 73, 502 12, 010 101, 456 31, 192 2, 094 24, 702 57, 725 57, 725 4, 903 22, 316 15, 599	89 229 8 18 173 104 141 165 10 8 99 38 396 238 8 53 139 9 9 422 32	\$32,057 85,114 2,968 7,124 66,451 38,179 49,965 63,446 3,970 3,154 37,387 13,876 146,383 91,174 2,597 19,553 49,508 3,154 15,954 11,935
Vyoming Total. United States	89, 273	39, 733, 923	7, 341	2, 596, 963	96, 614	42, 330, 886	1	840	193	115, 805	2, 774	1, 861, 982	4, 387	1, 614, 108
nited States possessions and foreign countries	5, 845	2, 625, 493	81	26, 706	5, 926	2, 652, 199			2	883	40	27, 180	39	13, 951
Grand total	95, 118	42, 359, 416	7,422	2, 623, 669	102, 540	44, 983, 085	1	840	195	116,688	2, 814	1, 889, 162	4, 426	1, 628, 059

TABLE 44.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by States during fiscal year 1938, showing the number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938—Continued

Number of veterans or deceased veterans whose dependents were receiving pension benefits including compensation and emergency officers' retirement pay on June 30, 1938, and disbursements for these benefits during the fiscal year 1938

State		Civil	War			Spanish-An	nerican V	Var		Regular Est	ablishme	ent
	Livin	g veterans	Deceas	ed veterans	Livin	g veterans	Deceas	ed veterans	Livin	g veterans	Decease	ed veterans
	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount
Alabama Arizona Arizona Arizona Arizona Arkansas California Colorado Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Piorida Piorida Idaho Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maine Maryland Michigan Minesota Mississippi Missouri Mostana Mostana	13 10 77 425 65 53 7 7 9 83 22 22 328 200 239 128 52 200 239 128 52 163 203 200 239 128 52 34 7 102 317 17 105	\$16, 200 8, 418 90, 548 523, 905 84, 618 66, 826 111, 174 24, 515 25, 834 413, 454 413, 454 413, 454 413, 454 413, 454 292, 618 264, 354 292, 618 164, 600 164, 298 93, 846 66, 971 198, 615 265, 857 131, 917 38, 562 267, 900 18, 804 133, 074 133, 074 135, 07	280 123 803 4, 880 828 703 165 507 718 200 206 4, 720 3, 984 2, 448 2, 459 1, 937 940 940 811 2, 374 2, 719 940 940 1, 167 2, 979 3, 976 206	\$128, 409 59, 733 381, 819 2, 395, 069 405, 991 349, 278 98, 274 98, 274 99, 2	$\begin{matrix} 1,560\\ 887\\ 887\\ 1,739\\ 1,739\\ 1,860\\ 2,366\\ 3,710\\ 2,386\\ 3,710\\ 2,386\\ 3,710\\ 2,386\\ 3,710\\ 2,386\\ 2,425\\ 2,700\\ 2,387\\ 2,212\\ 2,702\\ 3,737\\ 1,233\\ 2,212\\ 2,807\\ 2,807\\ 1,338\\ 3,5389\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,584\\ 1,578\\ 3,586\\ 1,578\\ 1$	\$939, 127 543, 852 1, 169, 456 12, 435, 459 1, 025, 331 978, 969 183, 642 1, 334, 002 2, 327, 272 1, 207, 975 405, 101 5, 140, 110 3, 415, 706 1, 390, 305 1, 591, 828 716, 836 1, 278, 873 3, 362, 783 3, 196, 856 1, 556, 393 6, 31, 485 6, 303, 773 559, 731	587 185 516 5,274 483 614 114 1,017 900 980 180 180 180 180 185 792 1,153 7711 333 907 2,178 1,553 721 334 1,553 721 334 1,553 721	$\begin{array}{c} \$211, 104\\ 66, 781\\ 190, 504\\ 1, 876, 883\\ 369, 747\\ 317, 738\\ 369, 747\\ 317, 732\\ 357, 295\\ 57, 429\\ 930, 143\\ 548, 192\\ 238, 76\\ 238, 792\\ 930, 143\\ 548, 192\\ 238, 77\\ 238, 7929\\ 434, 275\\ 261, 559\\ 121, 547\\ 329, 039\\ 144, 988\\ 369, 143\\ 369, 143\\ 354, 192\\ 238, 76\\ 144, 988\\ 369, 144\\ 988\\ 144, 988\\ 74, 864\\ 269\\ 369, 144\\ 369, 144\\ 369, 144\\ 368, 144\\ $	509 272 569 3, 673 939 41 1, 375 544 768 1, 085 1, 085 1, 085 1, 085 203 529 970 970 970 938 888 828	\$126, 132 103, 550 150, 635 1, 020, 239 365, 381 104, 663 312, 346 356, 495 201, 952 27, 467 303, 734 260, 950 75, 133 113, 481 261, 744 82, 888 56, 643 146, 479 290, 541 230, 876 119, 281 99, 781 99, 781 99, 781	145 44 96 889 103 85 19 379 141 220 228 76 101 251 251 71 54 212 332 372 77 70 151 231 231 251 770	$\begin{array}{c} \$37, 611\\ 14, 213\\ 25, 634\\ 298, 221\\ 35, 056\\ 25, 803\\ 4, 979\\ 119, 824\\ 46, 311\\ 69, 142\\ 3, 232\\ 65, 229\\ 54, 262\\ 19, 923\\ 28, 495\\ 65, 961\\ 20, 230\\ 12, 773\\ 68, 105\\ 104, 761\\ 52, 159\\ 104, 761\\ 18, 831\\ 41, 305\\ 5, 802\\ \end{array}$
Nevada New Hampshire New Jersey New Mexico New York North Carolina North Dakota Ohio	$ \begin{array}{r} 103\\ 2\\ 30\\ 107\\ 6\\ 310\\ 21\\ 5\\ 430\\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 135, 674\\ 2, 025\\ 37, 752\\ 123, 816\\ 7, 522\\ 382, 182\\ 25, 602\\ 6, 364\\ 555, 814 \end{array}$	1, 139 24 398 1, 455 145 4, 510 298 118 5, 515	555, 150 12, 656 197, 581 726, 136 69, 118 2, 242, 531 139, 615 58, 324 2, 741, 817	1, 578 282 715 5, 327 442 14, 307 2, 012 402 11, 182	978, 835 165, 144 401, 620 2, 699, 304 260, 081 7, 520, 122 1, 168, 333 215, 545 6, 744, 191	409 64 249 1,920 126 5,574 812 98 3,010	149, 360 23, 971 90, 124 685, 396 45, 646 2, 008, 524 299, 595 37, 906 1, 084, 872	185 33 88 667 182 2, 235 694 60 1, 494	48, 838 9, 433 24, 935 177, 669 64, 297 580, 084 190, 454 19, 147 368, 488	46 2 28 212 22 653 172 13 300	12, 805 375 8, 750 66, 797 5, 440 188, 852 49, 242 2, 583 75, 063

•

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS

s 97

	Numbe and e 1938	er of veterar emergency of	ns or de fficers' re	æased veter etirement pa	ans who iy on Ju	se dependen ine 30, 1938,	ts were and dist	receiving pe oursements f	ension be or these	enefits inclu benefits du	ding con ring the	1pensation fiscal year
State		Civil	War			Spanish-An	nerican W	/ar		Regular Est	ablishme	nt
State	Livin	g veterans	Deceas	ed veterans	Livin	g veterans	Decease	ed veterans	Living	, veterans	reterans Deceased vet	
	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount
Oklahoma	109 57	\$135, 243 152, 369	1, 262 946	\$600, 593 465, 414	2,099 2,818	\$1, 232, 611 1, 702, 993	628 631	\$230, 096 226, 554	508 353	\$134,391 85,095	72 75	\$20, 504 20, 358
Pennsylvania Rhode Island	323 14	$\begin{array}{r} 419, 165 \\ 21, 986 \\ 4, 050 \end{array}$	$4.778 \\ 317 \\ 110$	2, 388, 073 151, 978 51, 495	$ 11.786 \\ 855 \\ 1.171 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 6.615,078 \\ 518,803 \\ 712,746 \end{array} $	$3,992 \\ 367 \\ 545$	$1,445,307 \\134,979 \\201,209$	$1,788 \\ 159 \\ 340$	467, 976 40, 527 86, 851	$\begin{array}{r} 434\\77\\126\end{array}$	125, 557 25, 245 31, 618
South Carolina South Dakota Tennessee	2 40 84	46, 790 105, 446	309 1,299	153,572 601,655	650 3, 306	393,555 2,050,756	124 1, 151	45, 621 429, 696	112 956	22,647 243,583	$\frac{11}{210}$	$3,374 \\57,827$
Texas. Utah Vermont		$74,926 \\ 6,364 \\ 25,892$	942 90 436	$450, 250 \\ 47, 519 \\ 217, 693$	5,044 464 465	$2,987,353 \\271,672 \\270,917$	$1,650 \\ 145 \\ 165$	$\begin{array}{c} 603, 096 \\ 53, 433 \\ 58, 616 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.380 \\ 95 \\ 113 \end{array} $	379,687 26,320 25,702	$\begin{array}{r} 372 \\ 23 \\ 26 \end{array}$	121, 964 7, 461 6, 483
Virginia Washington	$\frac{32}{95}$	39,083 128,850		203, 163 560, 070	2,803 4,460 1,553	1,650,1552,634,656929,869	$1,234 \\ 1,009 \\ 476$	450, 187 362, 522 172, 711	747 627 371	191, 140 155, 702 90, 404	$279 \\ 133 \\ 66$	88, 732 40, 373 16, 408
West Virginia Wisconsin Wyoming		$78,832 \\ 160,875 \\ 6,943$	895 1,555 92	427, 953 773, 500 44, 713	1, 555 3, 190 439	$\begin{array}{c} 929,809 \\ 1,873,350 \\ 243,410 \end{array}$	470 802 90	285, 883 33, 850	489 67	134, 415 20, 597	92 17	23, 960 4, 709
Total, United States United States possessions and foreign countries	5, 030 18	6, 424, 820 23, 433	$\begin{array}{r} 66,431\\ 442\end{array}$	32, 572, 579 212, 302	165, 516 5, 239	96, 088, 922 2, 761, 503	$51,489 \\ 1,856$	$\frac{18,627,789}{704,805}$	31,917 1,145	8, 482, 461 386, 325	7, 688 1, 037	2,262,156 383,676
Grand total	5, 048	6, 448, 253	66, 873	32, 784, 881	170, 755	98, 850, 425	53, 345	19, 332, 594	33, 062	8, 868, 786	8, 725	2, 645, 832

TABLE 44.--An approximate distribution of expenditures by States during fiscal year 1938, showing the number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938-Continued

86

.
	pension ment pa	benefits inclu	ding compe 1938, and d	erans whose d nsation and e isbursements	mergency of	flicers' retire-		1		
State	Total	compensation	and pension	h benefits	Militery	and naval	Adjusted service and dependent	Adminis- tration	Construc-	Total disburse- ments
	Living	veterans	Decease	d veterans		irance	pay			ments
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount				
Jabama	10, 295	\$4, 499, 313	3, 306	\$1, 419, 635	2,055	\$1, 392, 883	\$21, 137	\$1, 689, 236	\$31, 340	\$9,053,544
rizona	4 656	3, 082, 172	1, 132	496, 847	2,000	444, 458	3, 319	1, 240, 131	\$31, 340 92, 327	5 , 359, 254
rkansas	10 535	5, 057, 730	3, 168	1, 410, 397	1,651	1, 122, 682	16, 473	1, 428, 195	1, 517, 757	10, 553, 234
alifornia.	55, 368	30, 712, 845	17,434	7, 325, 719	6, 352	4, 332, 297	68, 777	5, 929, 865	69,465	48, 438, 968
olorado		4, 921, 531	2,667	1, 165, 470	1, 548	1,068,891	9, 559	1, 453, 405	222, 830	8, 841, 686
Vennecticut	7, 512	3, 778, 058	2, 522	1,073,887	1,354	943, 296	16.348	533, 135	60,056	6, 404, 780
Oclaware		399, 123	457	194, 094	164	107,978	2,073		00,000	703, 268
District of Columbia		3, 820, 136	2, 923	1, 191, 070	993	662, 970	6, 439	18, 108, 705	97, 374	23, 886, 694
lorida	10, 226	5, 726, 234	3, 295	1, 392, 540	1,647	1, 111, 527	20,666	1, 138, 598	306, 102	9, 695, 667
eorgia daho	11, 337	5, 629, 711	4, 109	1, 745, 440	2,386	1, 534, 119	22, 300	1, 542, 553	118,608	10, 592, 731
llinois	2, 181	1, 082, 951	724	302, 094	505	366, 169	4, 598	426,011		2, 181, 823
ndiana	29, 556 17, 384	13, 913, 880	12, 491	5, 461, 959	6, 616	4, 595, 094	72, 159	5,090,463	40, 478	29, 174, 033
owa	16,384	8, 787, 400	8,450	3, 758, 257	2,903	2,013,229	29, 497	1, 570, 691	66, 514	16, 225, 588
Cansas.	8, 973 8, 202	4, 357, 710	4,819	2, 149, 233	2.624	1, 967, 135	37, 256	1, 200, 308		9, 711, 642
Kentucky	16, 927	4, 121, 621	5, 274	2, 348, 841	1, 903	1, 394, 921	27,308	1, 570, 121	4,442	9, 467, 254
ouisiana		8,012,308	6,090	2,649,729	2,426	1, 690, 965	22, 665	1,089,809	437, 577	13, 903, 053
Jaine	3, 731	3, 990, 110	3, 343	1, 451, 480	1, 927	1, 242, 186	24, 089	928, 594	29, 252	7,665,711
laryland	7, 980	1,887,282 4,350,601	$2,031 \\ 3,347$	902, 770	807	565, 419	10, 565	735, 679	229, 816	4, 331, 531
fassachusetts	24, 833	12, 649, 093	3, 347 8, 715	1, 402, 851 3, 804, 564	1,655	1,074,666	17.273	1.347,733	58, 598	8, 251, 722
lienigan	18 567	8,874,977	7, 318	3, 161, 384	4, 163	2.812,400	51.086	2,626.348	288, 823	22, 232, 314
linnesota	14 443	7, 432, 627	4. 127	1, 777, 516	3, 570	2, 517, 432	36, 149	1,065.688	900, 871	16, 556, 501
11SSISSIDD1	10 532	4. 839, 454	2,582	1, 145, 735	3,157 1,513	2, 265, 325 1, 035, 085	34, 282 17, 456	1, 777, 403	295, 763	13, 582, 916
lissouri	19 544	9, 285, 461	9,320	4, 093, 780	4,007	2,821,560	17,400 33,423	1, 216, 703	221, 801	8, 476, 234
lontana	3 781	1, 931, 384	859	352, 729	4,007	420,639	6, 526	1,359,835 336,830	161, 367	17, 755, 428
ebraska	4 021	2, 454, 665	2, 417	1,063,868	1, 189	878,052	16.723	466, 715		3,048,106
evada	702	397, 455	144	61.358	1, 189	57, 333	1, 125	25, 956		4, 880, 023
ew Hampshire	9 176	1, 135, 493	1, 110	480,036	511	358, 935	5,452	25, 950	35, 323	578, 550
lew Jersey	13,869	6, 778, 855	6, 119	2, 556, 476	3, 250	2, 173, 141	46, 791	959,722	120,660	2,053,559 12,635,645
lew Mexico	3, 260	1, 911, 508	865	386, 665	607	392, 610	1,938	909, 456	120,000	12, 635, 645
lew York	45,658	21, 831, 781	19, 291	8,093,611	11.007	7, 425, 346	141, 796	6, 178, 225	1, 307, 487	
Sorth Carolina	9, 691	5,016,975	3, 484	1, 485, 497	2, 386	1, 585, 152	21, 527	1, 250, 711	1. 307, 487	44, 978, 246 9, 359, 862
Sorth Dakota	9 191	1, 051, 751	583	242, 271	630	473,091	7, 324	249.351		9, 359, 862 2, 023, 788
Dhio	34, 818	17, 540, 101	13,694	6,005,506	5, 794	4, 091, 141	67, 370	3, 216, 739	442, 908	31, 363, 765

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS $\mathbf{66}$ ٠

ſ

۲

TABLE 44.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by States during fiscal year 1938, showing the number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938—Continued

State	pension ment pa the fisca	(veterans or de benefits includ y on June 30, 1 year 1938—Co compensation a	ling compen 1938, and di ontinued	nsation and en	nergency off or these ber Military	icers' retire- I	Adjusted service and dependent pay	Adminis- tration	Construc- tion	Total disburse- ments
	Living	veterans	Decease	d veterans	1180	II ALLOO				
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount				
Oklahoma	11, 137	\$5, 178, 883	4,010	\$1, 735, 511	2, 197	\$1, 576, 557	\$16,740	\$802, 354 871, 346	\$57, 734 108, 496	\$9, 367, 779 7, 082, 358
Oregon	7,629	4, 147, 163	2,668	1, 126, 129 6, 901, 612	1,157 8,428	810, 921 5, 748, 791	18, 303 121, 713	2,874,966	72, 015	34, 891, 491
Pennsylvania	38, 849 3, 145	19, 172, 394 1, 544, 861	16,080 1,207	513, 632	8, 428 559	387, 638	6, 561	184. 340		2,637,032
Rhode Island	3, 145 6, 377	3, 016, 132	2,422	1, 035, 795	1.666	1,050,194	10,961	740, 602	159, 236	6, 012, 920
South Carolina	3, 021	1, 423, 665	977	429, 387	682	510,070	10, 350	512, 796	147, 167	3, 033, 435 12, 967, 606
South Dakota Tennessee	13,023	6, 600, 736	5, 584	2, 416, 961	2, 766	1, 873, 175	27, 333	1, 821, 482	227, 919 3, 411	20, 196, 113
Texas	23,890	11, 739, 536	7, 926	3, 306, 572	4, 767	3, 334, 681 323, 751	53, 530 2, 919	1,758,383 257,771	3, 411	1, 930, 546
Utah	1 2,001 1	994, 625	825 979	351, 480 430, 977	455 395	284, 902	4, 994	63,069	424, 348	2, 132, 165
Vermont	1,837	923, 875 4, 630, 888	4, 135	1,694,434	2,368	1, 640, 151	25, 978	1.868.404	765, 508	10, 625, 363
Virginia	9, 301 10, 543	4, 030, 888	3, 664	1, 537, 853	1,657	1, 180, 149	23, 996	1, 363, 109		9, 656, 955
Washington		2, 815, 122	2,745	1, 200, 300	1,420	1,020,167	17,848	391,067		5, 444, 504
West Virginia	13, 630	6, 489, 114	5,003	2, 136, 103	3, 176	2, 327, 085	35, 972	2, 240, 886	223, 487	13, 452, 647
Wisconsin Wyoming		727, 062	368	154, 108	249	181, 891	1, 621	767, 155		1, 831, 837
		002 012 000	226, 803	97, 524, 163	114, 595	79, 188, 250	1, 300, 288	85, 254, 287	9, 346, 860	568, 832, 048
Total, United States United States possessions and foreign countries	590, 893 9, 955	296, 218, 200 5, 058, 517	220, 803 9, 302	3, 967, 816	5, 212	3, 333, 270	51, 811	626, 232		13, 037, 646
United States possessions and foreign countries	3, 500				•[07 000 510	0.246.960	581, 869, 694
Grand total	600, 848	301, 276, 717	236, 105	101, 491, 979	119, 807	82, 521, 520	1, 352, 099	85, 880, 519	9, 346, 860	081, 009, 094

¹ District of Columbia and central office excluding hospitalization by Army, Navy and Public Health located in the States.

NOTE.—Administration includes all expenditures incident to the maintenance and operations of all hospitals, all forms of medical hospital and domiciliary care. The expenditure of \$47,960,028 (U.S. Government life insurance fund, adjusted-service certificate fund, personal funds of patients, general post fund and miscellaneous) is not included in above figures.

	Nui	mber of ve	etera	ns or dec	cease	d veter pay o	ans w on Jun	hose depe ie 30, 1938	ndent , and	s were rec disbursen	eivin nents	ng pens s for the	ion be ese be	nefits inc nefits dur	ludir ing t	ng con the fit	mper scal	nsation year 19:	and 38	emerge	ency	officer	's ret	irement
							w	orld War							Ma	xican						•		
				Living v	veter	ans				De	cease	d veter	rans			/ar		India	n wa	rs		Civi	il Wa	ar
United States possessions and foreign countries		ervice inected		nservice nected	off retin	mer- ency icers' rement pay		al living terans		ervice mected	se	lon- rvice nected	de	Fotal ceased terans	cea	De- ised erans		iving terans		ceased terans		iving terans		eceased sterans
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount
United States possessions: Alaska. Canal Zone. Guam. Hawaii. Philippine Islands. Puerto Ricco. Samoa. Virgin Islands. Foreign countries: Belgium. British Isles. Denmark. France. Germany. Greece. Italy. Norway. Poland. Rumania. Russia and Siberia. Sweden. Yugoslavia. Other parts of Europe.	49 15 1 326 4 23 179 30 73 312 223 603 377 112 222 6 333 39 90	614 53,983 217,581 213,324 3,336 10,361 106,090 16,888 42,336 8,768 8,768 122,837 358,230 21,891 57,960 15,210 4,186 22,916 22,916	58 105 380 28 6 6 6 1 34 62 8 10 6 4	14, 802 34, 519 127, 515 9, 637 2, 313 2, 506 385 12, 432 22, 743 3, 084 3, 354 2, 313 1, 542	 i	\$1, 318 1, 318 1, 318 5, 585 	53 18 1 153 457 707 4 23 208 3208 82 13 257 665 45 122 26 39 43 99	\$21, 526 8, 402 614 468, 785 253, 418 342, 157 3, 836 10, 361 116, 660 19, 201 50, 427 9, 153 135, 269 380, 973 61, 314 15, 210 4, 186 25, 229 30, 129 61, 443	10 8 10 51 604 510 2 1 1 29 9 499 9 4 99 9 4 99 9 4 99 9 4 99 9 4 99 9 4 1 51 607 1 1 51 2 2 1 1 342 2 1 51 2 1 1 2 2 1 1 2 2 9 1 2 2 1 1 510 2 2 1 1 2 2 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	\$2, 796 4, 088 5, 034 23, 760 315, 188 286, 860 286, 860 286, 860 286, 860 286, 860 286, 860 286, 860 296, 405 10, 381 66, 604 90, 105 141, 050	7 3 15 4 1 1	631 4, 050 6, 382 2, 469 	526 2 1 29 506 94 63 31 342	\$3, 262 4, 817 5, 034 24, 391 319, 218 293, 248 293, 248 294, 248, 248, 248, 248, 248, 248, 248, 24	· • • • •		2 	\$1, 053 1, 235 8, 707 1, 476 1, 366 793 923 1, 366	1 2 1	\$371 371 557 371 2, 263 371 2, 968 371 371 371 371 371 371	3	\$968	22 1 15 1 2 1 1 59 10 28 5 2 10 28 7 7	430 955 478 478 28, 714 4, 537 13, 443 2, 340 1, 027 3, 641

TABLE 45.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by United States possessions and foreign countries during the fiscal year 1938, showing number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938

						pay on	June	30, 1938,	b Due	isbursein			se Den											
							We	orld War							Mex	ican		Indian	Wo	-0		Civil	Wa	r
	-		L	iving v	etera	ns				De	cease	d veter	ans		w	ar		Indian		13				
United States possessions and foreign countries		rvice nected		service	ge off retir	mer- ency icers' ement oay		al living terans		ervice nected	se	ion- rvice nected	de	'otal ceased terans	D ceas vete	sed		ving erans		eased erans		ving erans		reased erans
	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount	Number	Amount
Foreign countriesContd. China Japan Other parts of Asia Cuba Santo Domingo and	9 2 21 8	7, 378 1, 442 11, 539 5, 521	1 1 	482 385			10 3 21 8	7,860 1,827 11,539 5,521	26 7 47 2	13, 172 3, 780 18, 911 933			26 7 47 2	13, 172 3, 780 18, 911 933			· • • • •	·····	 1	371			1 	358 710 1, 313
Haiti Other parts of West Indies Africa Australia Azores	3	$1, 22 \\ 5, 401 \\ 4, 355 \\ 976 \\ 2, 517 \\ 122, 481 \\ $	2	771 9, 752		2, 873	2 12 9 3 305	$1, 22^{*}$ $6, 172$ $4, 355$ 976 $2, 517$ $135, 106$	2 27 3 1 11 212	849 9, 827 1, 470 464 4, 194 90, 173		2, 356	27 3 1 11	$849 \\9,827 \\1,470 \\464 \\4,194 \\92,529$		\$589	1	793		3, 525	1 1 12	1, 157 868 16, 779	10	2, 14
Canada Central America Mexico Newfoundland Panama South America Other miscellaneous	7 31 4 4	4, 029 15, 385 1, 771 2, 071	14		5 .		303 8 35 4 4 24	$\begin{array}{r} 4,704\\ 17,023\\ 1,771\\ 2,071\\ 9,664\end{array}$	1 9 6 1	$\begin{array}{r} 34:\\ 4, 371\\ 1, 731\\ 464\\ 4, 730\end{array}$	2		1	342 5, 125 1, 731 464 4, 730	· · ·	- 294	1	793	2 	742	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	8 	3, 76 47 3, 83
Countries	. 9 	4, 474						4, 474		2, 568			6 →	2, 568										212, 3

TABLE 45.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by United States possessions and foreign countries during the fiscal year 1938, showing number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938—Continued

United States possessions and	s	spanish-An	nerican `	War	ŀ	Regular Es	tablishn	ient		Τα	tal		nava	ary and 1 insur- ince	Ad- justed- service and	Total disburse
foreign countries	Living	g veterans		ased vet- rans	Living	veterans		nsed vet- rans	Livins	g veterans		ased vet- rans			depend- ent pay	ments
	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount		
inited States possessions:												410 400	10	*10 70 0	*****	\$103, 21
Alaska	119	\$55, 302	8	\$4, 473	10	\$3,781	3	\$1,330	184	\$81,662 44,866	$\frac{27}{50}$	\$10,690 17,975	16 17		\$132 301	\$103, 21 76, 75
Canal Zone	79	35, 184	24	7, 597	6	$1,280 \\ 3,008$	14	5,011 3,086	103	44,800	50 21	9, 639	6	2,060	230	17, 31
Guam	5	1,760	4 35	1, 519 13, 736	8 30	3.008 7.120	31	11, 530	297	136, 990	135	57,378	78	47,812	200	242.180
Hawaii	111 2,855	58, 982 1, 500, 718	1,076	411.041	773	255, 403	722	278, 590	4,085	2.009.539	2,416	1,009,279	149	44, 132	2,768	3, 065, 718
Philippine Islands Puerto Rico	2,855	235, 897	1,070	68,049	143	203, 403 54, 001	199	37,963	1.290	632,055	796	400, 580	270	114,087	867	1, 147, 589
Samoa.	440	200, 697	108	425	143	1, 336	4	2,071	1, 200	2,004	8	3, 383	3	2, 317	1,454	9, 15
Virgin Islands	1	- 243	-	120		1,000	i	398	5	4.079	3	1,459	6	4, 187		9,72
Foreign countries:		210					· ·			,	-	-,	-			
Belgium	12	7,407	3	1.094	1	198	2	1, 138	36	17,966	35	13,855	30	19, 571	239	51, 631
British Isles	185	106.416	106	38,709	45	17,994	32	7,200	453	253, 538	710	284, 302	594	407, 612	6, 915	952, 367
Denmark	23	13, 867	12	4, 571	6	3, 188	1	206	65	36, 256	107	42, 304	125	89,027	5, 709	173, 296
France	31	14,656	13	4, 271	4	1, 181	3	1, 152	119	67, 740	90	40, 430	55	38,679	851	147, 700
Germany	43	27,085	35	11,864	7	2,081	15	3, 621	65	39, 685	117	47, 450	53	29,972	465	117, 572
Greece	8	3, 732	12	4,011	5	3, 215	5	718	270	142, 216	359	150, 234	259	166, 259	473	459, 182
Italy	21	10, 135	16	5, 835	8	4,001	16	4,019	694	395, 109	1,695	722, 421	1,514	993, 283	11, 328	2, 122, 141
Norway	69	37, 478	15	6, 248	5	3,015	5	1, 212	120	66, 261	174	71,940	176	126, 439 307, 290	65 526	264, 705 634, 579
Poland	3	1,760	1	365	5	1, 432	6	1, 394	130	64, 506	619 26	262, 257 10, 896	496 23	14, 464	520	41.248
Rumania	1	455			1	223 557	1 3	206 617	24	15,888	158	67, 530	120	71,687	12,240	156, 200
Russia and Siberia					3	557 674	3	576	100	57,762	248	103, 799	209	147.895	12, 210	309.456
Sweden	57	30, 936 1, 226	25	9, 417	3	0/4		411	46	31, 355	114	49.636	61	40.141		121, 132
Yugoslavia Other parts of Europe	3 29	1, 226	25	9, 291	7	3, 568	8	1, 906	137	85, 573	366	159, 246	377	248, 861	1.288	494, 968
China	29 50	25, 110	47	9, 291	2	516	16	7,740	62	33, 486	90	38, 434	21	11,608		83, 528
	22	12, 593	16	6, 224	1	550	4	1, 216	26	14, 970	27	11,220	5	2,773	27	28, 990
Japan Other parts of Asia	22	1, 214	1	243	1	28		., 210	24	12, 781	50	19,870	39	23,070	141	55, 862
Cuba		60, 973	28	10, 187	· · ·		3	823	113	66, 494	37	13, 627	3	1,931	109	82, 161
Santo Domingo and Haiti	9	3, 368	1	365			Ĭ	658	11	4, 596	4	1,872	1	772	39	7, 279
Other parts of West Indies_		5, 674	4	1. 532	2	210	1	357	26	12,849	34	12,671	24	14,804	i 100 l	40, 424

.

•

.

- 2-

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 103

	com	per of vete pensation a during the	and eme	ergency off	veteran: icer's re	s whose d tirement p	epender ay on J	nts were re une 30, 193	eceiving 8, and c	pension b lisburseme	enefits nts for t	including hese ben-				
United States possessions and	5	Spanish-An	nerican	War	1	Regular Es	tablishr	nent		Тс	otal		nav	tary and al insur- ance	Ad- justed- service	Total
foreign countries	Livin	g veterans		ased vet- rans	Living	g veterans		ased vet- rans	Livin	g veterans		ased vet- rans			and depend- ent pay	disburse- ments
	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount		
Africa	17 16 1 808 12 34 2 3 34 16	\$8, 087 9, 382 364 422, 570 5, 416 17, 190 637 2, 230 15, 551 8, 041	2 3 	\$729 1,240 58,624 1,094 2,261 1,167 1,459	$\begin{array}{c} 6\\1\\49\\1\\6\\ \end{array}$	\$1, 175 928 12, 559 71 1, 966 414 652	2 18 3 1 3 2	\$343 4, 787 1, 248 261 1, 147 741	$27 \\ 26 \\ 5 \\ 1, 188 \\ 21 \\ 76 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 60 \\ 28$	\$13, 599 12, 401 3, 809 595, 689 10, 191 36, 972 2, 408 4, 301 25, 629 13, 167	$ \begin{array}{c} 10\\ 14\\ 13\\ 661\\ 8\\ 27\\ 11\\ 5\\ 31\\ 6\\ \end{array} $	\$4, 348 6, 301 4, 537 284, 816 2, 684 11, 892 3, 159 2, 089 11, 045 2, 568	$ \begin{array}{r} 12 \\ 9 \\ 12 \\ 376 \\ 4 \\ 12 \\ 10 \\ 1 \\ 22 \\ 24 \\ \end{array} $	\$8, 593 6, 102 7, 288 277, 005 1, 809 7, 088 3, 258 772 14, 588 11, 695	115 4,383 285 493 	\$26, 540 24, 804 15, 749 1, 161, 893 14, 968 56, 445 8, 822 7, 162 51, 530 27, 430
Total, United States posses- sions and foreign countries.	5, 239	2, 761, 503	1, 856	70 4, 805	1, 145	386, 325	1, 037	383, 676	9,955	5, 058, 517	9, 302	3, 967, 816	5, 212	3, 333, 270	51, 811	12, 411, 41

-

-

1

TABLE 45.—An approximate distribution of expenditures by United States possessions and foreign countries during the fiscal year 1938, showing number of beneficiaries as of June 30, 1938—Continued

Total amount of policy loans issued to date				\$1, 045, 645, 080. 55	
Outstanding policy loans July 1, 1937 New loans issued during fiscal year including renewal of old loans Less:			= \$121, 083, 144. 18	132, 162, 379. 23	
Repayments in cash					
(a) From new loans	6, 172, 927. 13 1, 184, 992. 12 9, 824. 79				
(e) From matured endowments					
Total repayments	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		109, 387, 095. 35		
Net increase in outstanding loans		••••••••••••		11, 696, 048. 83	
Outstanding policy loans June 30, 1938				143, 858, 428. 06	

TABLE 46.-Summary of policy loans for fiscal year 1938, U.S. Government life insurance fund

•

×.

ш.

•

TABLE 47.—Financial statement of the U.S. Government life insurance fund by calendar years from origin of fund to Dec. 31, 1937

	From origin to Dec. 31, 1930	1931	1932	1933	1934	1935	1936	1937
Ledger assets Dec. 31		\$490, 016, 984. 07	\$551, 900, 091, 37	\$609, 523, 765, 03	\$669, 238, 460, 42	\$724, 272, 066, 82	\$787, 219, 345, 37	\$856, 580, 058. 10
INCOME								
	\$507, 084, 729, 86	68, 196, 696, 96	68, 256, 172, 16	66, 794, 984, 48	67, 801, 270, 78	63, 766, 595, 34	62, 961, 611. 33	63, 117, 257, 88
Interest	88, 592, 535, 47	22, 064, 653. 17	25, 143, 162, 56	33, 427, 461, 68	31, 332, 524. 44	34, 419, 559, 95	41, 619, 579.03	38, 317, 126, 65
Dividends deposited by policyholders	373, 914, 35	127, 380, 53	134, 178, 71	68, 970, 16	143, 450, 86	159, 533, 99	175, 109, 49	192, 208, 39
Received from United States on account of the extra hazards of military and naval service Consideration for supplementary installment	49, 809, 351, 44	5, 129, 203, 15	7, 799, 541, 51	4, 763, 353, 49	5, 200, 876, 35	4, 813, 681. 99	2, 680, 730, 77	3, 245, 513, 70
contracts under claims	48, 632, 583, 42	9,071,756,20	14, 629, 695, 26	11, 916, 356, 10	11, 721, 651, 96	12, 516, 063, 55	10, 214, 521.06	11, 689, 682, 21
Other income	7, 100, 805, 11	2, 739, 516, 59	337, 077, 66	24, 705, 88	68, 473, 89	131, 471, 59	312, 406, 55	380, 933. 67
Total income	701, 593, 919, 65	107, 329, 206, 60	116, 299, 827, 86	116, 995, 831, 79	116, 268, 248, 28	115, 806, 906, 41	117, 963, 958, 23	116, 942, 722. 50
Total	701, 593, 919, 65	597, 346, 190, 67	668, 199, 919, 23	726, 519, 596, 82	785, 506, 708, 70	840, 078, 973. 23	905, 183, 303, 60	973, 522, 780, 60
DISBURSEMENTS								
Claims (death and total permanent disability).	115, 630, 714, 81	21, 951, 833, 67	25, 218, 977, 37	21, 714, 505, 32	20, 524, 982, 06	21, 874, 501, 38	19, 372, 556, 37	20, 853, 751, 21
Total disability claims			27, 500, 00	42, 923.00	98, 929, 00	28, 755.00	78, 253, 00	190, 546, 00
Matured endowments	267, 592, 83	216, 294. 39	322, 146, 00	303, 375, 19	548, 362, 86	621, 311. 93	908, 396, 05	1, 005, 073, 31
Surrender values	34, 999, 784, 54	10,003,231.07	16, 270, 157, 40	21, 424, 644, 56	23, 257, 476, 85	12, 808, 597. 61	9, 812, 199, 10	10, 126, 860, 20
Accrued interest on bonds purchased	2, 851, 174, 33		4, 682, 08	41, 027, 25	145, 157, 55	431, 982. 37	458, 778, 44	417, 177, 74
Premiums refunded, disapproved applications, and premiums paid in advance	3, 264, 580, 52	494, 821, 29	1, 021, 759, 60	740, 109, 14	610, 031, 94	479, 412, 20	408, 754, 76	502, 520, 28
Dividends paid policyholders	35, 911, 430, 95	7, 738, 296, 83	7, 270, 066, 72	3, 420, 603, 09	5, 944, 589, 52	6, 237, 309, 71	6, 552, 583, 84	6, 881, 978, 01
Paid on supplementary installment contracts	30, 911, 490, 90	1, 130, 290, 03	1, 210, 000, 12	5, 420, 005, 09	0, 944, 068, 02	0, 237, 303. 71	0, 002, 000, 04	0, 001, 370, 01
under claims	16, 564, 060, 36	4, 927, 017, 06	8, 351, 652, 03	8, 847, 797, 68	9, 266, 183, 71	9, 941, 544, 92	10, 300, 339, 35	11, 122, 197, 49
Other disbursements.	2, 087, 597, 24	114, 604. 99	189, 213, 00	746, 151, 17	838, 928, 39	436, 212. 74	711, 384, 59	987, 773, 81
Total disbursements	211, 576, 935, 58	45, 446, 099. 30	58, 676, 154, 20	57, 281, 136, 40	61, 234, 641, 88	52, 859, 627, 86	48, 603, 245, 50	52, 087, 878, 05
Balance	490, 016, 984, 07	551, 900, 091, 37	609, 523, 765, 03	669, 238, 460, 42	724, 272, 066, 82	787, 219, 345, 37	856, 580, 058, 10	921, 434, 902, 55

4.

ASSETS		1	l	1	ł	1	1	ł
Ledger assets	1	r						
Book value of special Treasury bonds. Book value of all other bonds. Policy loans Adjusted-service certificate loans. Cash on hand.	161, 309, 717. 23 70, 830, 207, 04	130, 243, 355, 69 89, 660, 178, 99 329, 095, 246, 50 2, 901, 310, 19	$\begin{array}{c} 130,230,578,86\\ 110,642,090,88\\ 366,577,661,32\\ 2,073,433,97 \end{array}$	134, 174, 203. 27 121, 763, 599. 55 407, 071, 813. 52 6, 228, 844. 08	$155, 148, 437, 47\\121, 680, 068, 52\\439, 797, 265, 46\\7, 646, 295, 37$	178, 450, 921, 00 127, 579, 849, 54 472, 999, 707, 40 8, 188, 867, 43	$500, 157, 956, 40 \\ 219, 121, 223, 61 \\ 128, 560, 435, 08 \\ 2, 235, 962, 26 \\ 6, 504, 480, 75 \\ \end{cases}$	500, 157, 956, 40 273, 746, 511, 05 138, 468, 345, 35 2, 550, 870, 59 6, 511, 219, 16
Total ledger assets as per "Balance" under income and disbussements	490, 016, 984. 07	551, 900, 091. 37	609, 523, 765. 03	669, 238, 460. 42	724, 272, 066, 82	787, 219, 345, 37	856, 580, 058. 10	921, 434, 902. 55
Nonledger assets								
Interest accrued on bonds, loans, and deferred premiums. Premiums due (grace period). Premiums in course of collection through Gov- ernment departments. Due from United States on account of the estra	14, 278, 094, 53 472, 522, 26 428, 142, 53	19, 468, 395, 84 134, 110, 90 448, 827, 80	21, 645, 967. 16 499, 066. 85 469, 974. 32	19, 354, 545. 04 486, 094. 75 481, 408. 62	19, 223, 098, 94 457, 194, 57 494, 443, 99	19, 997, 274, 39 447, 459, 00 530, 249, 47	19, 045, 841, 47 445, 602, 00 596, 410, 90	19, 504, 058. 98 445, 694. 61 683, 782. 80
hazards of military and naval service Policy liens	88, 205. 52	242, 427, 79 91, 276, 44	92, 119. 26	90, 205. 11	75, 673. 62	70, 871. 82	54, 662. 12	172, 229, 60 55, 021, 10
Total nonledger assets	15, 266, 964. 84	20, 385, 038. 77	22, 707, 127. 59	20, 412, 253. 52	20, 250, 411. 12	21, 045, 854. 68	20, 142, 516, 49	20, 860, 787, 09
Total assets	505, 283, 948. 91	572, 285, 130. 14	632, 230, 892, 62	689, 650, 713. 94	744, 522, 477. 94	808, 265, 200, 05	876, 722, 574. 59	942, 295, 689, 64
LIABILITIES Reserves Present value of future installments on claims Claims in process of settlement Premiums paid in advance Dividends deposited with interest Advance payments from War Department Advance for the set of the set	$\begin{array}{c} 440, 821, 441, 00\\ 36, 322, 257, 37\\ 3, 785, 798, 59\\ 10, 188, 034, 13\\ 342, 660, 934, 13\\ 342, 689, 48\\ 8, 200, 000, 00-\\ 85, 436, 68\\ 5, 109, 430, 67\\ \end{array}$	501, 600, 380, 00 42, 129, 283, 99 4, 670, 299, 96 9, 200, 728, 94 436, 465, 22 442, 993, 77 7, 875, 000, 00 127, 104, 44 5, 742, 873, 82	$\begin{array}{c} 558, 642, 893, 00\\ 50, 575, 735, 82\\ 3, 510, 935, 12\\ 8, 435, 400, 08\\ 522, 889, 16\\ 460, 542, 57\\ 3, 650, 000, 00\\ 148, 920, 48\\ 6, 283, 576, 39\\ \end{array}$	615, 214, 949, 46 55, 782, 021, 24 2, 876, 620, 80 8, 048, 558, 57 556, 783, 40 477, 383, 40 6, 403, 000, 00 181, 397, 07	664, 876, 638, 90 60, 443, 669, 40 2, 944, 128, 43 8, 153, 318, 66 658, 508, 41 495, 329, 66 6, 689, 000, 00 241, 885, 08	723, 629, 394, 14 65, 365, 443, 07 2, 863, 096, 00 7, 884, 643, 10 789, 524, 93 461, 801, 21 6, 950, 000, 00 321, 297, 60	789, 156, 165, 74 67, 680, 524, 24 3, 247, 406, 00 7, 879, 606, 54 938, 500, 35 448, 375, 43 6, 990, 000, 00 381, 996, 29	850, 303, 488, 2 70, 729, 079, 64 3, 173, 005, 00 7, 860, 576, 37 1, 098, 807, 18 427, 250, 32 8, 173, 000, 00 529, 822, 89
Total liabilities	505, 283, 948. 91	572, 285, 130. 14	632, 230, 892. 62	689, 650, 713. 94	744, 522, 477. 94	808, 265, 200. 05	876, 722, 574. 59	942, 295, 689. 64

GUARDIANSHIP TABLES

TABLE 48.—Incompetent and minor wards under guardianship—June 30, 1938

						War	ds				
- Ziele offices	Incon	ipetent	t vet	erans	Oth incor peter	m-	etents		Minors		
	Under guardians	Institution award only	Under legal custodians	Total	Under guardians	Under legal custodians	Total incompetents	Under guardians	Under legal custodians	Total	Grand total
Albuquerque, N. Méx Atlanta, Ga Baltimore, Md Batavia, N. Y Bay Pines, Fia Boise, Idaho Boston, Mass Boston, Mass Builington, Vt Charlotte, N. C Cheyenne, Wyo Cleveland, Ohio Columbia, S. C Dallas, Tex Dalton, Ohio Des Moines, Iowa Detroit, Mich Fargo, N. Dak Fort Harrison, Mont Hinnes, Ill. Huntington, W. Va. Indianapolis, Ind Jackson, Miss Jefferson Barracks, Mo Kansas City, Mo Little Rock, Ark Los Angeles, Calif Louisville, Ky Lyons, N. J. Manchester, N. H. Minneapolis, Minn Muskogee, Okla New York, N. Y. Philadelphia, Pa Portland, Oreg Providence, R. I. Rean, Nev. Roancke, Va. San Antonio, Tex San Francisco, Calif. Seattle, Wash Sioux Falls, S. Dak Touson, Ariz Tusceloosa, Ala Weod, Wis Central office: Washington, D. C. area United States possessions end foreign	1,022 324 772 1,375 177 169 2,693 350 1,018 504 818 1,018 574 818 1,018 687 9700 818 51,018 574 818 1,018 670 818 51,018 553 553 5,008 1,018 553 5,008 1,018 554 403	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 2 1	$\begin{array}{c} 151\\ 823\\ 433\\ 1, 210\\ 1, 601\\ 165\\ 617\\ 1, 147\\ 1, 147\\ 1, 147\\ 1, 147\\ 1, 147\\ 325\\ 774\\ 1, 379\\ 172\\ 2, 806\\ 351\\ 1, 018\\ 509\\ 707\\ 545\\ 374\\ 818\\ 1, 078\\ 545\\ 818\\ 1, 078\\ 818\\ 1, 078\\ 840\\ 137\\ 1, 216\\ 818\\ 1, 078\\ 818\\ 1, 078\\ 545\\ 601\\ 3, 617\\ 1, 391\\ 1, 063\\ 378\\ 556\\ 510\\ 01, 326\\ 510\\ 01, 326\\ 556\\ 556\\ 372\\ 867\\ 375\\ 867\\ 375\\ 867\\ 406\\ 414\\ 414\\ 414\\ 414\\ 414\\ 414\\ 414\\ 41$	$\begin{array}{c} 12\\ 56\\ 46\\ 114\\ 34\\ 114\\ 34\\ 12\\ 125\\ 225\\ 46\\ 61\\ 63\\ 125\\ 225\\ 46\\ 61\\ 61\\ 133\\ 125\\ 225\\ 46\\ 61\\ 143\\ 122\\ 225\\ 46\\ 173\\ 101\\ 111\\ 112\\ 225\\ 218\\ 104\\ 45\\ 52\\ 128\\ 104\\ 45\\ 52\\ 128\\ 104\\ 45\\ 55\\ 208\\ 104\\ 45\\ 55\\ 101\\ 107\\ 10\\ 109\\ 106\\ 109\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100$	7 3 2	$\begin{array}{c} 163\\ 886\\ 479\\ 1, 327\\ 119\\ 1, 781\\ 211\\ 678\\ 1205\\ 1, 305\\ 490\\ 692\\ 1, 305\\ 490\\ 692\\ 1, 306\\ 1, 306\\ 1, 372\\ 947\\ 1, 570\\ 1396\\ 1, 300\\ 543\\ 821\\ 1, 583\\ 189\\ 3, 041\\ 396\\ 1, 300\\ 543\\ 821\\ 667\\ 437\\ 755\\ 1, 155\\ 1, 156\\ 1, 341\\ 1, 583\\ 1, 210\\ 438\\ 1, 583\\ 1, 210\\ 438\\ 1, 583\\ 1, 210\\ 438\\ 1, 583\\ 1, 210\\ 438\\ 1, 583\\ 1, 210\\ 438\\ 441\\ 28\\ 656\\ 915\\ 554\\ 1, 437\\ 555\\ 1, 188\\ 3111\\ 84\\ 441\\ 28\\ 656\\ 102\\ 554\\ 1, 437\\ 555\\ 188\\ 3111\\ 84\\ 463\\ 457\\ 998\\ 462\\ 505\\ 505\\ 505\\ 102\\ 555\\ 1, 202\\ 102\\ 102\\ 102\\ 102\\ 102\\ 102\\ 102\\$	$\begin{array}{c} 269\\ 780\\ 269\\ 765\\ 370\\ 1894\\ 107\\ 762\\ 63\\ 535\\ 534\\ 820\\ 406\\ 423\\ 1,018\\ 108\\ 108\\ 108\\ 108\\ 108\\ 108\\ 108\\ $	$\begin{array}{c} 195\\ 348\\ 201\\ 274\\ 256\\ 499\\ 282\\ 357\\ 94\\ 357\\ 294\\ 190\\ 147\\ 215\\ 557\\ 127\\ 294\\ 190\\ 147\\ 215\\ 557\\ 127\\ 128\\ 160\\ 1, 138\\ 310\\ 344\\ 40\\ 198\\ 339\\ 229\\ 148\\ 231\\ 128\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 148\\ 330\\ 229\\ 231\\ 1231\\ 127\\ 282\\ 282\\ 282\\ 289\\ 276\\ 282\\ 289\\ 276\\ 282\\ 289\\ 276\\ 282\\ 286\\ 276\\ 286\\ 286\\ 286\\ 286\\ 286\\ 286\\ 286\\ 28$	$\begin{array}{c} 464\\ 1, 128\\ 470\\ 1, 039\\ 1, 039\\ 1, 036\\ 180\\ 1, 176\\ 137\\ 851\\ 118\\ 1, 046\\ 629\\ 933\\ 273\\ 2, 219\\ 1, 114\\ 596\\ 1, 233\\ 1, 037\\ 2, 219\\ 511\\ 1, 057\\ 1, 233\\ 2, 219\\ 511\\ 1, 057\\ 333\\ 821\\ 1, 057\\ 1, 376\\ 880\\ 1, 937\\ 1, 376\\ 880\\ 1, 523\\ 1, 098\\ 414\\ 435\\ 1, 971\\ 1, 523\\ 1, 098\\ 4314\\ 4294\\ 635\\ 1, 971\\ 1, 555\\ 6660\\ 165\\ 236\\ 405\\ 688\\ 490\\ 9838\\ 661\\ 1, 776\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 627\\ 2, 014\\ 9, 366\\ 1, 073\\ 299\\ 2, 957\\ 348\\ 2, 381\\ 1, 119\\ 1, 529\\ 2, 361\\ 908\\ 2, 361\\ 1, 572\\ 2, 361\\ 907\\ 2, 357\\ 3, 51\\ 2, 361\\ 1, 286\\ 2, 072\\ 3, 57\\ 2, 37\\ 2, 072\\ 3, 106\\ 1, 136\\ 1$
and foreign	411		 	414	90 4, 563	1 58	505 43, 214	1, 500	$\frac{276}{13, 157}$	1,776 42,651	2, 28
Total	38, 035	513	45	38, 593	4, 003	00	10, 214	23, 484	13, 137	12,001	00,000

4

						Amount of est	ates				-	
	Total	Guardians' commis-	Attorneys'			accordance tate law		d not in with law	Cash bal- ance (funds on deposit	Amounts	Amounts	Amounts lost on
offices	amount of receipts	sions allowed	fees allowed	Total amount of estates	General investment	Deposits in banks or other insti- tutions in lieu of in- vestments	Nonlegal or ques- tionable	Illegal	in banking institutions or other- wise not included in invested amounts)	or misap- propriated	lost on deposits	invest- ments
Albuquerque, N. Mex Atlanta, Ga	\$210, 323, 27 1, 138, 248, 42 575, 352, 51	\$5, 831. 39 29, 632. 06 18, 136. 27	\$2, 568. 29 4, 572. 40 5, 072. 75	\$627, 787, 69 2, 433, 654, 47 2, 422, 707, 94	\$528, 450, 10 1, 982, 260, 42 1, 989, 218, 35	\$98, 027. 44 13, 912. 92	\$600.00	\$300. 00 345. 00	\$1, 010. 15 450, 449. 05 419, 576. 67	\$1,750.00	\$480.64	\$92, 77 590, 34 370, 00
Baltimore, Md Batavia, N. Y	1 057 642 07	18, 136, 27 31, 727, 29 12, 140, 66	16, 783, 06 2, 970, 09	4, 883, 919, 28 1, 251, 461, 77	1, 989, 218, 35 3, 378, 053, 25 1, 069, 487, 97	5, 700. 44	240, 083. 26	4, 643. 33 3, 025. 00	419, 576, 67 1, 255, 439, 00 178, 948, 80	2, 701. 13		1, 232. 85
Bay Pines, Fla. Boise, Idaho. Boston, Mass Burlington, Vt.	499, 785, 80	3, 683, 70	957.80	464, 092, 21	379, 526, 68				84, 565. 53		233.61	62.12
Boston, Mass	2, 288, 199. 56 231, 680. 04	57, 500. 33 5, 790, 86	26, 444. 29 11, 00	7, 121, 667.02 590, 428, 34	2, 496, 131, 46 303, 466, 84	4, 457, 189.00 266, 968.98		300.00	168, 046, 56 19, 992, 52	29, 952. 28	107.34	1, 031. 59
Charlotte. N. C.	[188,081.02	32, 886. 53	5, 494. 08	2, 582, 596, 69	2, 296, 260. 14				286, 336, 55	32, 637. 79	100.77	
Cheyenne, Wyo	102, 770. 35	3, 515, 65 51, 696, 14	787.50 10,774.55	675, 284, 45 4, 116, 662, 70	539, 312, 42 3, 283, 684, 58	34, 388. 01 20, 537, 21	450.00 150,648.21	9, 814. 23 5, 846. 29	91, 319, 79 655, 946, 41	17, 740, 25	531, 55	24, 013. 65
Cleveland, Ohio Columbia, S. C. Dallas, Tex	592, 435, 57	20, 679. 35	7, 182, 56	1, 855, 198, 57	1, 517, 066, 59	71, 473, 28	1, 809. 50	4, 154. 98	260, 694, 22	1, 310. 67		24,013.03
Dallas, Tex	889, 295. 96	18, 560. 39	17, 539, 38	3, 157, 750.84	2,670,932,24			480.00	486, 338. 60	529.01	514.23	
Dayton, Ohio	1, 235, 112 43 425, 210, 76	43, 538. 56	10, 917, 29	4, 122, 439.78 1, 546, 013.59	3, 623, 170, 91 1, 344, 549, 64	24, 344. 92	16, 499. 63	6, 488. 48	451, 935.84	4, 602, 80 2, 979, 78	377.46	
Denver, Colo Des Moines, Iowa	425, 210, 76	12, 380. 33 29, 767, 88	6,046.71 29,649.72	4, 132, 622. 76	3, 791, 892, 57	15.40		300.00	201, 463. 95 340, 414. 79	2, 979. 78	2, 520. 70	2, 268, 10
Detroit, Mich	1, 111, 486, 40	40, 035, 57	4, 593. 10	4. 029, 297. 28	2, 948, 475, 67	10. 10	17,630.98	312, 885, 20	750. 305. 43	13, 616, 58	90.00	3, 881. 35
Fargo, N. Dak	159, 187, 66	6, 483, 95	2,903.07	897, 426, 49	795, 382, 01	20,809.99			81, 234, 49		154.48	200.04
Fort Harrison, Mont	225, 248. 75	5, 993, 95	6, 379. 07	814, 088. 03	633, 012. 70				181, 075. 33			
Hines, Ill	2, 958, 395. 82	132, 667. 96		11, 509, 230.11	10, 210, 692. 22			9,009.19	1, 288, 828, 70		546.54	6, 328. 18
Huntington, W. Va	491, 753. 29	18,654.58	1, 248. 47	1,663,772.38	1, 473, 532. 57		7,050.79	12, 835. 80	170, 353. 22		714.37	
Indianapolis, Ind.	1, 441, 839. 34 490. 066. 76	56, 342. 43 21, 918. 01	30, 152, 92 26, 904, 90	5, 148, 959.90 1, 311, 611.30	4, 447, 998. 99 852, 909. 05	122, 522, 85		124, 080. 35 5, 392. 94	563, 477. 93 320, 786. 46	6, 174. 97 8, 728, 10	720.44	3, 504. 99 3, 747. 52
Jefferson Barracks, Mo		30, 030, 96	8, 384, 99	3, 693, 800. 29	3, 251, 725, 08	122, 02.2. 00		822.77	431, 251, 44	420.58	163.96	0, 141. 02
Kansas City, Nebr		22, 116. 65	7, 358. 48	2,507,645.00	2, 121, 970. 77	16, 346. 20	38, 218. 34	31, 662. 93	299, 446. 76	4. 363. 10	398.95	1,913.86
Lincoln, Nebr		12, 578, 02	5, 097. 69	1,817,905.92	1, 605, 186. 47	41, 337.61	6,070.50		165, 311, 34		1, 241. 99	1, 745. 73
Little Rock, Ark	710, 934.09	28, 080. 52	1,759.05	1. 923, 742. 11	1, 657, 563. 86		220.00		265, 958. 25		1, 873. 61	5, 098. 48
Los Angeles, Calif		38, 411. 19	33, 203. 50	2, 711, 421.67	1, 895, 230. 05	551, 233. 60		931.87	264, 026. 15			3, 181. 50
Louisville, Ky	1,012,748.43	37, 799. 83	7, 279. 98	3, 550, 975, 40	3, 100, 169, 61	85, 616, 72	7, 200. 64	14,059.66 22,116.00	343, 928. 77 144, 809, 83	2, 776. 94	321.51	5, 504.25
Lyons, N. J. Manchester, N. H.	1, 410, 340, 05 194, 830, 63	49, 360. 97 3, 103, 41	7, 437, 75 390, 76	2, 766, 438. 78 711, 984, 29	1, 942, 912, 49 257, 246, 84	656, 600, 46 449, 764, 85	3, 226, 60	22, 116, 00	144, 809, 83	640.04		3, 891. 80
Minneapolis, Minn	1,305,581.83	42, 766, 89	12. 354. 24	5, 788, 581, 26	5, 215, 658, 40	449, 704. 00	1.045.00	1, 740.00	570, 877, 86	9, 173, 81	591.41	44.94
Muskogee, Okla		26, 736. 96	16. 364. 16	3, 639, 807, 04	3, 031, 147, 13		4, 444. 84	10, 559. 83	584, 655, 24	0, 110.01	1, 503. 11	579.99
Nashville, Tenn		34, 566, 06	14, 334. 38	3, 129, 245.88				62, 207. 91	458, 727. 15	247.11	1	16.20

TABLE 49.—Summary of fiduciary accounts, guardians' commissions, and attorneys' fees, for the fiscal year 1938

.

1.

.

Þ

						Amount of est	tates					
	Total	Guardians'	Attorneys'			n accordance tate law		ed not in with law	Cash bal- ance (funds on deposit	Amounts	Amounts	Amounts lost on
Field offices	amount of receipts	commis- sions allowed	fees allowed	Total amount of estates	General investment	Deposits in banks or other insti- tutions in lieu of in- vestments	Nonlegal or ques- tionable	Illegal	in banking institutions or other- wise not included in invested amounts)	embezzled or misap- propriated	lost on deposits	invest- ments
Newington, Conn	\$947, 517.88	\$18, 293.06		\$2, 555, 786. 06	\$922, 065, 90	\$1, 569, 343. 02			\$54, 377. 14		\$830.64	
New Orleans, La	777, 237, 69	18, 472, 45	5,903.74	2,033,049.02	1, 640, 400. 67				392, 648. 35			\$3, 455. 25
New York, N. Y	3, 472, 913. 97	80, 441, 12		15, 189, 040. 97	10, 262, 653, 42	4, 926, 387. 55					67.52	14, 266. 93
Philadelphia, Pa	2, 330, 104. 99	92, 686. 57	27, 615. 15	4, 972, 895. 60	4, 227, 049. 30	289, 245.01		\$3, 275. 25	453, 326.04		1, 555. 95	10, 225. 75
Pittsburgh, Pa	973.814.31	46, 516, 78	11, 849. 07	2, 457, 844. 46	2, 152, 518. 37			14, 351, 41	290, 974.68	\$22, 981. 76		3, 084. 07
Portland, Oreg	436, 163. 42	17, 595. 10	12, 166. 63	1. 562, 868. 97	1, 261, 227. 59	494.45	\$400.00	2, 120.00	298, 626. 93		747.94	1, 031. 44
Providence, R. I.	453, 214, 73	12, 364. 11	2, 115, 78	1, 771, 435, 89	918, 872, 59	812, 346, 76			40, 216, 54			370.44
Reno, Nev	27, 537. 42	597.09	915.00	91,061.17	75, 575, 64	12, 444. 53			3, 041.00			
Roanoke, Va	727. 337. 56	29, 509. 69	3, 490. 52	2, 731, 948, 00	2, 505, 168, 99		10, 496. 69	2,420.16	213, 862. 16	1, 376. 56		291.64
Salt Lake City, Utah	137, 727. 88	3, 458. 78	2,940.75	424, 352. 89	340, 076. 64	1,028.92		1, 500.00	81, 757.33		65.42	444.06
San Antonio, Tex	553, 316. 38	10, 412. 76	11, 916, 80	2,041,099.69	1, 687, 953, 64	61,073.94	1 010 50	110.44	292,072.11	2, 901. 13 763, 50		19, 685, 86
San Francisco, Calif	1, 109, 691. 70	40. 229. 63	52,050.37	4, 695, 452. 73	3, 522, 686, 30	446, 466, 97	4, 619. 53	1, 119.44	720, 560, 49 134, 842, 51		1, 109, 43	
Seattle, Wash Sioux Falls, S. Dak	534, 313. 70	18, 846. 83	9, 291, 42	2, 348, 360, 40 908, 484, 78	1, 373, 749.44 779, 303, 06	839, 768, 45 31, 718, 84	10, 848, 85		86, 614, 03		6, 66	1, 686. 80
	235, 686. 19	6, 160. 32	2,728.65 5,002.14	908, 484, 78 887, 851, 71	462, 519, 92	349, 890.82	10, 848. 85		75, 440, 97			240.00
Togus, Maine Tucson, Ariz	283, 115, 74 260, 396, 73	10, 472, 97 2, 179, 53	549,00	291, 997, 15	154, 025, 87	132,074,22			5, 897.06			- 10.00
Tuscaloosa, Ala	702, 516, 14	2, 179, 53	13, 424, 30	2, 206, 046, 14	1, 701, 775, 00	186, 136, 92		586.54	317, 547, 68			
Wichita, Kans	392, 303, 29	15, 109, 66	2. 214. 23	1, 430, 287, 70	1, 237, 234, 94	190, 827. 99	300.00	100.04	1, 924, 77			60.00
Wood, Wis	1, 222, 951, 44	35, 689, 60	10, 406, 89	5, 979, 356. 50	4, 970, 268, 09	804. 612. 39	300.00	1.363.52	203, 112, 50	3, 305, 76	68,64	4, 693, 76
Central office:	1, 222, 501. 44	00,000.00	10, 100. 00	0, 515, 000. 00	1, 510, 200, 05	001,012.00						,
Washington, D. C.	677, 327, 80	12, 217. 21	664, 00	2,098,504.48	1,710,092.74	200.00			388, 211, 74			
United States Posses-	0			-,,					,			
sions and Foreign	268, 510. 67	7, 773, 41	4, 530. 43	601, 901, 69	290, 838, 18				311, 063. 51			
								.				
Total	45. 454. 906. 51	1,488,579.66	663, 035, 88	156,870,857.23	121,293,697.99	17, 590, 850. 66	701, 914, 18	670, 744.08	16,613,650.32	172, 112. 56	20,910.01	128, 836. 25

.

TABLE 49.—Summary of fiduciary accounts, guardians' commissions, and attorneys' fees, for the fiscal year 1938—Continued

CONSTRUCTION TABLES

 TABLE 50.—Statement showing by location, the hospital and domiciliary beds under the control of the Veterans' Administration at the close of the fiscal years 1937 and 1938, and the authorized or proposed development of facilities under present appropriations through the fiscal year 1940. (The program as outlined for 1939 and 1940 is tentative)

ANNUAL

REPORT

ADMINISTRATOR

Сŀ

VETERANS'

AFFAIRS

Location		vailable 30, 1937	Additio year			vailable 30, 1938		ons fiscal r 1939		vailable 30, 1939		ons fiscal • 1940		vailable 30, 1940
	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary
Albuquerque, N. Mex Alexandria, La Amarillo, Tex			134		259 599				259 599		150		259 599 150	
American Lake, Wash Atlanta, Ga Augusta, Ga	770 200 1, 093		65		$710 \\ 265 \\ 1,096$				710 265 1,096				710 265 1,096	
Batavia, N. Y. Bath, N. Y. Bay Pines, Fla Bedford, Mass.	297 395 197 813	952 390	8 1 2 303	250 50	297 403 195 1, 116	1, 202 440	295	140	297 403 490 1, 116	1, 342 440	35	132 392	332 403 490	1, 474 832
Biloxi, Miss Boise, Idato Bronx, N. Y	207 227 973	399 38		394	207 227 973	793 38			1, 116 207 227 973	793 38	 600		1, 484 207 227 1, 573	793 38
Camp Custer, Mich Canadaigua, N. Y Castle Point, N. Y Cheyenne, Wyo	835 468 479 108		166 647		1,001 1,115 479				1, 001 1, 115 479		524		1, 525 1, 115 479	
Chillicothe, Ohio Cleveland, Ohio Coatesville, Pa	944 1, 136		323		108 944 1. 459		266		108 1, 210 1, 459		45 358 250		$153 \\ 1,568 \\ 250 \\ 15$	
Columbia, S. C Dallas, Tex Danville, Ill	304		314		1, 435 618 1, 650		264		1, 459 618 1, 914		250		1, 459 618 250 1, 914	
Dayton, Ohio Dearborn, Mich Des Moines, Iowa	1, 114 	2,669	114	1 187	1, 100 300	2, 482	351		1, 100 351 300	2, 482		545	1, 100 351 300	3, 027
Dwight, Ill Excelsior Springs, Mo Fargo, N. Dak	225 252 100				225 252 100				225 252 100		¹ 225		252 177	
Fayetteville, Ark Fayetteville, N. C. Fort Bayard, N. Mex	258 450		1 145		258 305				258 305		300		258 300 305	
Fort Harrison, Mont	145	l			145				145				145	

¹ Decrease.

TABLE 50.—Statement showing by location, the hospital and domiciliary beds under the control of the Veterans' Administration at the close of
the fiscal years 1937 and 1938, and the authorized or proposed development of facilities under present appropriations through the fiscal year
1940. (The program as outlined for 1939 and 1940 is tentative)—Continued

	Beds a June 3	vailablə 10, 1937	Additio year	ns fiscal 1938		vailable 10, 1938		ns fiscal 1939		vailable 30, 1939		ns fiscal 1940	Beds av June 3	vailable 0, 1940
Location	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary	Hospital	Domicil- iary
Fort Lyon, Colo.	643		162						794				794	
Gulfport, Miss	628		160		788				788				788	
Hines, Ill	1,750				1,750				1,750				1, 750	
Hot Springs, S. Dak	206	389	1 20	95	186	484	95		281	484			281	484
Huntington, W. Va	210				210				210		132		342	
Indianapolis, Ind					172				172		170		342	
Jefferson Barracks, Mo			29		415		100		515			515	515	
Kecoughtan, Va		1.449	104	115	516	1,564	294	209	810	1, 773			810	1, 773
Knoxville, lowa	1.015	1,110	-01		1,015	-,			1,015		528		1, 543	
Lake City, Fla			27		327		20		347				347	
Legion, Tex.					402		20		422				422	
Lexington, Ky	259		300		559				559				559	
Lincoln, Nebr	197		4		201		48		249				249	
	312		1 1		312		28		340				340	
Livermore, Calif.	1,576	4.028	144	1 63	1,720	3.965	346	1 368	2.066	3, 597	376	53	2,442	3,650
Los Angeles, Calif	895	4,020	139		1, 034	0,000	358	0.00	1, 392		358		1,750	
Lyons, N. J					1, 500		6		1, 506		134		1,640	
Marion, Ind	. 1, 500				450		, v		450				450	
Memphis, Tenn	- 450				295				295		1		295	
Mendota, Wis	236		59		642				642				642	
Minneapolis, Minn	- 642				042				012	1	250		250	
Montgomery, Ala			1	1		1.590			556	1,673			556	1,673
Mountain Home, Tenn		1, 599	11	19	556	1, 590			000	1,010	777		777	-,
Murfreesboro, Tenn									423		35		458	
Muskogee, Okla			15		423				286		00		286	
Newington, Conn					265		21		775				775	
Northampton, Mass	- 611		72		683		92		1. 135		372		1, 507	
North Chicago, Ill					1, 135						312		1, 347	
North Little Rock, Ark			491		1, 347				1,347				2, 220	
Northport, L. I., N. Y			828		2, 220				2, 220				850	
Oteen, N. C.	850				850				850				375	
Outwood, Ky	375				375				375				1, 167	
Palo Alto, Calif	1,063		4		1,067				1,067		100		1, 107	
Perry Point, Md	1,306		1 10		1, 296				1,296				1, 290	
Pittsburgh, Pa	505				505				505		266		383	
Portland, Oreg					383				383			1	26	
Reno, Nev							. 26		. 26					
Roanoke, Va	635				635		. 358		993				993	e
Roseburg, Oreg		350	369	1 344	560	6			i 560	6	I		560	ı 0

Rutland Heights, Mass	467				467	1	1	1	467	1	1	,	1 467		
St. Cloud, Minn	752		294		1,046				1.046				1,046		
Salt Lake City, Utah	104				104				104		20		1,046		
San Fernando, Calif	244				244		109		353				353		
San Francisco, Calif	336				336				000						
Sheridan, Wyo	598	1			598		5		603				336		►
Sunmount, N. Y	520				520		, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		520				603		ંન
Togus, Maine	294	775		382	294	1. 157				1. 157			520		그
Tueson, Ariz	358				358	1			358				294	1, 157	- 4
Tuscaloosa, Ala	346				346				346				358		q
Tuskegee, Ala	1,498	F							1,498				577		Ð
Waco, Tex	947				947				1,498				1, 498		5
Wadsworth, Kans	734	1.386			734	1, 386	1		1		185		1, 132		-
Walla Walla, Wash	400	1,000			400	1, 300				1, 386		350	734	1, 736	- H
Washington, D. C.	327				327				400				400		- E
Whipple, Ariz	600		1 191		409				327				327		- 8
White River Junction, Vt							110		409				409		H
Wichita, Kans	180				100				110		77		187		Ĥ
Wood, Wis	1, 178	1,801		1 110	1, 178	1, 691			180		77		257		
		1,001		. 110	1,178	1, 691		249	1, 178	1, 940			1, 178	1, 940	►
Total	47. 421	16, 225	5, 057	1, 286	51, 991	16, 798	2 010	001	55.100						Ð
	11, 121	10, 220	1487	1,280	51, 991	10, 798	3, 212	681	55, 192	17, 111	7,045	1,472	62, 012	18, 583	≥
			101	- 713			1 11	1 368			1 225				8
		<u> </u>			1	1	1	I	I		1			1	

1 Decrease.

TABLE 51.—Statement of the amounts expended or obligated for individual projects under appropriations for hospital and domiciliary construction, from Mar. 3, 1919, to date, together with amounts expended for betterments out of annual appropriations of the former Veterans' Bureau and the Veterans' Administration, June 30, 1938

Location	Public, 326, 65th; and subsequent deficiency appropriations, \$11,393,682.60 ¹	Public, 384, 66th; first Langley Act, \$18,600,000	Public, 194, 67th; second Langley Act, \$17,000,000	Public, 197, 68th; third Langley Act, H. F. S. 24-26, \$3,850,000	Public, 197, 68th; Public, 587, 68th; H. F. S. 26–27, \$8,000,000 ²	Public, 587, 58th; Public 480, 70th; H. F. S. 4 and 5 N. Y., \$13,000,000 ³	Public, 480, 70th; fifth act, H. F. S. 28–29, \$7,000,000
labama:		(1				
Montgomery. Tuscaloosa							
Tuscaloosa		\$1, 985, 252.00				\$1,000.00	\$271, 234. 0
Tuskegee		<i>¶</i> 1, 000, 202. 00					
rizona: Tucson]		1, 150, 351. 17	275, 733. 9
Whipple	\$28, 354, 95	555, 185, 80					
when mene:							
Hot Springs (Army)							
North Little Rock		238, 950. 17					280, 814. 1
alifornia:				1			
Camp Kearney (closed)	_ 26, 907. 24						
Livermore			\$1, 351, 211. 25				
Los Angeles							
Palo Alto	159, 546. 88	1, 250, 400. 00		¢1 150 951 97		111,010.00	
San Fernando			103, 409. 33	\$1, 150, 251. 27			
San Francisco							
onnecticut:	09 007 76						
New Haven (closed)						1, 198, 589. 61	
Newington							:
District of Columbia: Washington	050 744 00					225, 499. 23	
Walter Reed (Army)					\$878,006.03	271, 561. 02	
lorida: Bay Pines							
Jacksonville (closed)	28, 958, 60						
Lake City	146, 894, 08	256, 821.04					
lake Chy						F00 070 00	1
Atlanta	202, 027. 94					599, 279. 89	
Augusta	42, 856. 27	819, 126. 66					.
daho: Boise	111, 826. 25				.		
llinoid		1	1				
Danville				·			
Dwight						433, 423, 15	865, 533, 5
Hines North Chicago	. 3, 343, 414. 74			1 040 027 07			

Indianapolis Marion		161 210 07	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Iowa:		101, 210. 07					
Des Moines.							
Knoxville.			1, 205, 652, 09			293.40	245, 889, 25
Kansas:					i	1	
Wadsworth		16.601.76					
Wichita							
Kentucky							
Lexington. Outwood						926, 914, 20	70, 717, 47
Outwood	2 210 032 23						
Pikesville (abandoned)			15, 280, 88				
Pikesville (abandoned) Louisiana: Alexandria	107 719 14	57.598.18	10, 100, 00			357, 208, 16	1,049,967,73
Maine: Togus							-, ,
Maryland:							
Fort McHenry (closed)	67 614 54						
Perry Point		458 484 19					
Massachusetts:		100, 101, 10					
Bodford					1.022.995.99	671.331.19	329, 903. 09
Northampton Rutland Heights West Roxbury (closed)			2 450 930 44		1,022,000,00		6, 000, 00
Butland Heights		786 601 37	2, 100, 000. 11				
West Roxbury (closed)	71.566.40	1001001101					
Michigan		1		1			
Camp Custer			1 932 715 49				
Dearborn							
Minnesota:							
Minneapolis		1		506, 090, 34	1, 365, 195, 91		
St. Cloud			900 501 95		., 000, 100.01	3, 939, 01	250, 756, 81
Mississippi:			000, 051.00			0,000.01	200, 100, 01
Biloxi					1		
Gulfport			830 216 36				
Minner							
Missouri: Excelsior Springs Jefferson Barracks. St. Louis (closed) Montana: Fort Harrison Nebraska: Lincoln.			297 518 47			607 887 04	7,500,00
Jefferson Barracks		1 197 189 20	201,010.11			145, 942, 25	
St Louis (aloged)	4 141 60	1, 101, 100. 20				110, 012. 20	
Montana: Fort Harrison	07 508 22						
Nobroska: Lincoln	01,000.22			•••••		954 034 00	75 000 00
Nevada: Reno						001,001.00	10,000.00
New Jersev:							
Cape May (closed)	21 000 20						
Lyons	21,000.20					60, 138, 60	1, 838, 681. 85
New Mexico:					••••••	00, 190. 00	1,000,001.00
Deming (closed)	3 719 25						
Fort Boyerd	0, 114.00	060 273 41					
Fort Bayard	38, 411. 80	960, 273.41	·····		.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

¹ This figure includes: Mar. 3, 1919, Public, No. 326, \$9.050,000; Mar. 6, 1920, Public, No. 155, \$500,000; June 5, 1920, Public No. 246, \$295,000; Mar. 1, 1921, Public, No. 338, \$400,000
 Mar. 4, 1921, Public, No. 389, \$300,000; June 16, 1921, Public, No. 18, \$500,000; rents at Perryville, Md., \$68,682.60.
 ³ This figure includes \$3,000,000 from the fourth act.

TABLE 51.—Statement of the amounts expended or obligated for individual projects under appropriations for hospital and domiciliary construction, from Mar. 3, 1919, to date, together with amounts expended for betterments out of annual appropriations of the former Veterans' Bureau and the Veterans' Administration, June 30, 1938—Continued

Location	Public, 326, 65th; and subsequent deficiency appropriations, \$11,393,682.60	Public, 384, 66th; first Langley Act, \$18,600,000	Public, 194, 67th; second Langley Act \$17,000,000	Public, 197, 68th; third Langley Act, H. F. S. 24-26, \$3,850,000	Public, 197, 68th; Public, 587, 68th; H. F. S. 26-27, \$8,000,000	Public, 587, 58th; Public, 480 70th; H. F. S. 4 and 5 N. Y., \$13,000,000	Public, 480, 70th; fifth act, H. F. S. 28-29, \$7,000,000
ew York:							
Bronx		\$2 460 054 22					
Castle Point.			¢1 610 79				
Danville (closed)							
Fox Hills (closed)							
Hudson Street (P. H. S.)	250, 700, 19						
Northport Long Island	339,700.12			A100 087 80			
Stepleton (D U S)	017 770 00		231, 121, 30	\$198, 375.70	\$3, 028, 541. 83	\$357,976.30	
Suppount (r. n. s.)	217,779.93						
Hudson Street (P. H. S.) Northport, Long Island Stapleton (P. H. S.). Sunmount th Carolina:			1, 816, 926. 43				
Oteen							
th Dakota:	11, 913, 48	419, 079, 91				145, 263. 84	\$628, 228. 82
Fargo		1					
rargo					11, 679. 50	238, 859. 48	
J. Chilliantha							
Deuten		007 770 00	1, 575, 450. 77			849.00	255, 509. 79
Chillicothe Dayton ahoma: Muskogee		837,778.08					
anoma: Muskogee				375,000.00	100, 000. 00		
gon: Portland		1					
						1, 307, 651. 91	
nsylvania:		1					
Coatesville						1, 592, 383. 58	178, 776. 03
Parkview (closed)	12,643.50						
Pittsburgh th Carolina: Greenville (closed)		125, 325. 00	1, 213, 042. 53			183, 301. 21	
th Carolina: Greenville (closed)	610, 242. 89						
th Dakota: Hot Springs		977.02		532, 375. 66		36, 764. 00	
nessee: Memphis		·	872, 817.06				
as:							
Corpus Christi (closed)	139, 296, 11						
Houston (closed)	42, 182, 28						
Legion					1, 182, 000. 00		
inia:	•						
Norfolk (P. H. S.)							
Sewells Point (closed)	69, 542. 38						
shington:							
American Lake Walla Walla			1, 382, 983. 78				65, 950, 00
Walla Walla		443, 455. 79					236, 553, 16
CONSID:							
Waukesha 6 Wood	466, 393. 69						
Wood		1, 302, 559 49					

118 AVVI

Wyoming: Sheridan Squipment Fechnical services urplus Miscellaneous		209, 799. 84	285, 121, 50 299, 591, 33 25, 916, 08		527. 118. 83	35, 386. 26 3, 882. 80	61, 580. 74 7 350, 000. 00	254, 446. 28	13, 649. 19 37, 601. 18
Total	11,	393, 682. 60 18,	600, 000. 00	17, 0	000, 000. 00	3, 850, 000. 00	8, 000, 000. 00	13, 000, 000. 00	7, 000, 000. 00
Location	Public, 29, 71st; sixth act, \$15,950,600	Public, 878, 71st; seventh act, \$20,877,000	Public, 26 Cong \$21,250,		Special act for individu projects, \$12,473,585	al fund, total allocated,	S Annual appro- priations, fiscal years 1924 to 1938, \$24,392,800.53 4	General post fund, \$1,117,038.88 #	Total, \$177,945,757.01
Alabama: Montgomery				050.00					
Montgomery Tuscaloosa	\$980.961.22	\$137, 462, 02	\$44,	990.00			\$95 700 R5	-	\$44, 950.00 1, 144, 222.89
T uskegee		280, 946, 17	287,	193.94		\$29, 113. 6	251, 356, 50		3, 106, 096, 28
rizona:						1			0, 100, 000. 20
Tucson Whipple	253, 028, 62						114, 553. 10		1, 793, 666. 86
rkansas:			664,	937.19			142, 189. 14		1, 390, 667.08
Fayetteville		831, 529, 39					40 040 44		879, 591, 85
Hot Springs (Army)	1,050,000,00								1,050,000,00
North Little Rock	194, 174. 52	600, 000. 00	323,	376.73					2, 594, 511, 18
alifornia:									2,001,011.10
Camp Kearney (closed)									26, 907, 24
Livermore. Los Angeles	17, 698. 00		89,	142.10			393, 907. 81		1, 851, 959, 16
Palo Alto		825,017.41	576,	395.36	\$3, 955, 339.	94 39, 756. 73		\$79, 406. 28	5, 768, 612.06
San Fernando		7,000.00	100	055 24	49, 837.	59			3, 230, 620. 19
San Francisco	1 000 000 00	239, 484, 24	199,						1, 576, 879. 94
olorado: Fort Lyon	1,000,000.00	441, 436, 34	464	654 37			- 24, 793.00		1, 264, 277. 24
onnecticut	1	· ·					- 111,088.00		1, 317, 382. 96
New Haven (closed)									23, 227, 76
Newington		119, 689. 26	72,	860. 71					1, 462, 453. 03
istrict of Columbia:				[,		-, -02, -00.03
Washington	•••••						- 584, 365. 54		1, 769, 608, 77
Walter Reed (Army)									1, 149, 567.05
Bay Pines			705	710 70	1 040 000				
Jacksonville (closed)			/05,	713.70	1, 046, 082. 9	90	- 154, 604, 81 - 374, 300, 73	149, 617. 81	2, 056, 019. 22
Lake City								1	28, 958, 60

. .

⁴ This amount is not the total amount expended by the construction service from the annual appropriations but that part which was expended for additions and betterments,
⁴ This figure is the amount obligated or expended since consolidation of veterans' activities, July 1930,
⁶ Annexed to Wood, July 9, 1931.
⁷ This is the amount appropriated for the Evergreen School for the Blind.

TABLE 51.—Statement of the amounts expended or obligated for individual projects under appropriations for hospital and domiciliary construction, from Mar. 3, 1919, to date, together with amounts expended for betterments out of annual appropriations of the former Veterans' Bureau and the Veterans' Administration, June 30, 1938—Continued

Location	Public, 29, 71st; sixth act, \$15,950,000	Public, 878, 71st; seventh act, \$20,877,000	Public, 260, 74th Cong., \$21,250,000	Special acts for individual projects, \$12,473,585	Public Works fund, total allocated, \$3,041,650	Annual appro- priations, fiscal years 1924 to 1938, \$24,392,800.53	General post fund, \$1,117,038.88	Total, \$177,945,757.01
eorgia:			\$140 CT4 CD			\$144, 309, 96		\$1.095.292.48
Atlanta	A010 000 14	\$216, 422, 87	\$149, 674. 69		¢0 750 99			2, 579, 218, 74
Augusta laho: Boise	\$219,900.14	241. 332. 35			<i>\$</i> 5, 105. 22			591, 470, 90
ano: Boise		241, 332. 33				200, 012.00		001, 110110
linois: Danville		526 274 07		8 4983 730 81	56, 881, 14	172. 248. 50	\$37, 192, 23	1, 686, 436, 65
		030, 314. 91		* \$300, 100.01	00,001,11	39, 743, 70	401, 101 =0	331, 235, 76
Dwight.		C1 E40 99		402 261 14		1, 936, 849. 66		7, 208, 817, 39
Hines North Chicago		01, 042. 20		452, 201.14		887, 588. 59		3, 325, 249, 30
						001,000.00		-,,
idiana: Indianapolis	550,000,00	74 311 32				64, 459, 61		688, 770, 93
Marion				691, 165, 54	39, 498, 42			1, 523, 476, 47
waton			182,001.15	001,100.01	00, 100, 12	,		
Des Moines		921, 497. 31				69, 635, 93		991, 133, 24
Knoxville	248 880 30		645, 237, 90					2, 541, 455, 12
			010,201.00					
Wadeworth		1, 165, 820, 25				116, 547, 18	7,877.00	1, 306, 846. 19
ansas: Wadsworth Wichita	579 430 34	181, 215. 07				17,098.20	7, 877.00	777, 743. 61
entucky:	010, 100.01	101,210.01						
Levington		97, 175. 95	585 426.14			88, 851. 79		1, 769, 085. 55
Lexington Outwood		01,110.00	000, 120111			188, 095, 00		2, 398, 127, 23
Pikesville (abandoned)					1			15, 280. 88
ouiciana: Alevandria			131.511.99			170, 478. 20		1, 877, 483. 40
ouisiana: Alexandria Jaine: Togus			347,093.77		1, 132, 357, 89	241, 944. 91	193, 182. 48	2, 524, 377. 34
farvland:					-,,	ŕ		
Fort Mellenry (closed)								67, 614, 54
Fort McHenry (closed) Perry Point	193, 626, 68	290, 923, 31	280, 461. 77	149, 577. 80		1, 552, 191.00		3, 121, 316. 68
faceachneatte		1	1					
Bedford	327, 454, 19	306, 380, 16	516, 632.16					3, 445, 455. 52
Bedford Northampton			292, 839.62		. 28, 160. 37	511, 391. 11		3, 289, 321. 54
Destland Haighta		281 198 01				901, 852. 33		2,069,581.71
West Roxbury (closed)				23, 405. 32				94, 971. 72
<i>l</i> ichigan [.]								0.001.445.54
Camp Custer Dearborn	420, 921.79		_ 287, 553.00			220, 255. 28		2, 861, 445. 56
Dearborn		1, 368, 337. 54						1, 368, 337. 54
dinnesota.			1	(1			0.144 500 54
Minneapolis t. Cloud		. 87, 641. 90						2, 144, 522. 54
r. Cloud	17, 525, 18	221, 433.00	582, 909. 58			358,801.00		2, 335, 866, 53

118 A

Mississippi: Biloxi Gulfport	449. 739. 25	73, 897. 32	457,004.46	893, 917. 10		102, 377. 90 348, 167, 11	109, 023. 21	1, 636, 219. 99 1, 874, 029, 88
Missouri:	110, 100. 20 -		210, 001.10			010,10111		-,,
		1			1	65, 561, 00		978, 466, 51
Excelsion Springs Jefferson Barracks St. Louis (closed) Montana: Fort Harrison			194, 721, 72			237, 409. 28	130, 150, 38	1, 905, 412, 83
St. Louis (closed)			154, 121. 12					4, 141, 60
St. Louis (closed)						403 782 33		929, 268, 94
		00,007,00				70 994 70		1, 197, 986, 41
Nebraska: Lincoln		89,007.02				18,001.18	••••••	84, 364, 34
Nevada: Reno		84, 304. 34						01,001.01
New Jersey:	1 1		1			1		21, 999, 29
Cape May (closed) Lyons						101 704 00		3, 949, 572. 39
Lyons	1,038,073.77	34, 642. 50	786, 241. 58			191, 794. 09 [-		3, 949, 012. 38
New Mexico:								3, 712, 35
Deming (closed) Albuquerque	[
Albuquerque	1, 160, 901. 79 .					54, 126. 46		1, 215, 028. 25
Fort Bayard.						100, 570, 00 .		1, 099, 255. 21
New York:								
Bath		581, 965.00	210, 866. 23		59, 995. 27	104, 961. 09 .		957, 787. 59
Batavia		801, 004, 38						920, 018. 16
Bronx	441, 719, 30	801, 004. 38			66, 799. 50	266, 701. 97		4, 236, 174. 99
Bronx Canandaigus Castle Foint Danville (closed) For Hills (closed)	1, 576, 183, 58		1, 108, 166, 50			117, 298. 38		2, 801, 648. 46
Castle Point	6,725,17		-,,			249, 409, 85		2, 740, 491.01
Danvilla (closed)	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		7, 504. 63
								83, 829. 64
Hudson Street (P U S)	-							359, 700, 12
Hudson Street (P. H. S.) Northport, Long Island Stapleton (P. H. S.)	810 407 05		1 455 979 92			234, 040, 65		6, 316, 435, 31
Stoplaton (D TT S)	310, ±01.00		1, 100, 012. 22					217, 779, 93
Supreton (F. H. S.)		174 160 45				527 931 00		2, 519, 017. 88
North Carolina: Oteen		514 807 40		06 055 81				2, 778, 885. 73
		51 066 59		90, 800. 81		84 804 67		387, 400. 17
North Dakota: Fargo		51, 900. 52				01,001.01	**************	001, 100. 11
Ohio:		100 047 00	407 004 40		1 1	600 425 06		3, 580, 695, 08
Chillicothe		439, 245. 98	087, 204. 48	1 440 140 50	20,000,00	410, 982, 69	3, 458, 88	3, 088, 582, 30
Dayton		53, 551. 20	301, 442. 87	1, 449, 140. 50	32, 222. 02		135, 496, 00	5, 088, 382, 30 980, 845, 32
Oklahoma: Muskogee			157, 052, 06			213, 297. 26	135, 490. 00	980, 840. 82
Oregon:					1 1			1, 446, 429, 94
Portland		77, 676. 03				61, 102.00		
Roseburg			74, 311. 02	1, 056, 260. 19	35, 000. 00	18, 974.00	122, 750. 35	1, 307, 295. 56
Pennsylvania:	1				1			
Coatesville	148, 507. 95	883, 796. 62	566, 923. 77					3, 518, 141. 17
Parkview (closed)								12, 643. 50
Pittsburgh		402, 483, 65				322, 785. 71		2, 246, 938. 10
South Carolina:		· ·						
Columbia		1,025,340.37	419, 269, 08			96, 197. 06		1, 540, 806. 51
Greenville (closed)								610, 242.89
South Dakota: Hot Springs		300.00	166, 711, 90			84, 356.00		821, 484, 58
			,					, -
Mamphia	306 435 31					210, 811, 18		1.480.063.55
Tennessee: Memphis Mountain Home Murfreesboro			500 545 51	638, 910, 67	13. 512. 53	35, 810, 00	4, 975, 79	1, 193, 754, 50
TATORNEENIN DOMIG			000,010.01	000, 010, 01	10,020,00	00,010.00	-,	1, 508, 333.00

Balance from Roseburg that was made generally available by Public, No. 260. 74th Cong., Aug. 12, 1935.

ANNUAL REPORT ADMINISTRATOR OF VETERANS' AFFAIRS 119

 TABLE 51.—Statement of the amounts expended or obligated for individual projects under appropriations for hospital and domiciliary construction, from Mar. 3, 1919, to date, together with amounts expended for betterments out of annual appropriations of the former Veterans' Bureau and the Veterans' Administration, June 30, 1938—Continued

Location	Public, 29, 71st; sixth act, \$15,950,000	Public, 878, 71st; seventh act, \$20,877,000	Public, 260, 74th Cong \$21,250,000	Special acts for individual projects, \$12,473,585	Public Works fund, total allocated, \$3,041,650	Annual appro- priations, fiscal years 1924 to 1938, \$24,392,800.53	General post fund, \$1,117,038.88	Total, \$177,945,757.01
Cexas:								
Corpus Christi (closed) Houston (closed)								\$139, 296. 1
						\$938 046 92		42, 182. 2
Waco	\$1 AAG GO1 90	0010 10E MM	#000 00# 00					1, 418, 946. 2 2, 586, 474. 6
Jtah: Salt Lake City /ermont: White River Junction	464,057.75	EF4 100 07		1		10 850 00		483, 916, 7
						19, 009. 00		554, 132. 9
Kecoughtan Norfolk (P. H. S.) Roanoke			741, 757, 36	\$51, 208, 61	\$48, 419, 20	453, 424, 97	\$25, 872, 31	1 000 000 4
Norfolk (P. H. S.)					····	100, 121. 81	\$20, 872. 31	1, 320, 682. 4 889, 831. 7
Roanoge Sewells Point (closed)		284, 448. 40	814, 143. 30		1, 364, 371. 26	60, 601. 23	115, 889, 16	2, 639, 453, 3
								69, 542. 3
American Lake		164, 656, 00				200 604 50		
Walla Walla		96, 686. 71				316, 446, 00		2,004,214.3 1,093,141.6
Vest Virginia: Huntington	699, 869. 12	150,000.00				125, 832. 49		975, 701, 6
Waukesha .								
Wood	5,906.27	283, 968, 63	296, 707. 55	17. 499. 85	62.852.57	28, 998.00	2, 147, 00	495, 391. 6
Vvoming	-,	,	230,707.00	11, 200.00	02, 852. 57	302, 755. 59	2, 147.00	2, 274, 396. 9
*Cheyenne		448, 177. 79				27, 863, 77		476, 041, 5
Sheridan quipment		218, 519. 64						780, 638. 1
echnical services	468, 912. 66	625,001,80	637, 333, 82	190 750 00				494, 921. 3
urplus	9,662.00	34, 097, 12			21 170 26			3, 288, 314.0
nobligated		415, 562. 76	3, 531, 245. 34	178, 727. 88	1, 770, 85			850, 235. 7 3, 957, 876, 4
fiscellaneous		14, 950. 43						30, 719. 2
Total	15, 950, 000. 00	20, 877, 000. 00	21, 250, 000. 00	12, 473, 585, 00	3, 041, 650, 00	24, 392, 800. 53	1, 117, 038, 88	177, 945, 757, 0

BOARD OF APPEALS TABLE

				Total ac	tions			
Claims involved	Previ- ous de- cisions affirmed	Previ- ous de- cisions reversed	Previ- ous de- cisions reversed in part	Modi- fied de- cisions	Re- manded	With- drawn	Dis- missed	Total
Disability:								
World War	29, 196	2, 184	953	7	1, 287	328	61	84, 016
Regular Establishment	1, 542	116	53	1 i	146	25	10	1, 893
Spanish-American War	596	17	17	· ·	35	7	10	677
Civil War	6	- î					0	011
Indian wars	30	-			1			31
Death:	1							31
World War	3, 739	146	6		66	42	57	4.056
Regular Establishment	232	23	ĭ		5	1	4	266
Spanish-American War	318	20	-		ด้	6		359
Civil War	47	6			i	Ĭ	Ů	55
Indian wars	11							11
Mexican War	3							3
Insurance	719	12	1		38	102		872
Adjusted compensation	9	4			1	1	1	16
Miscellaneous	4	5						9
Total	36, 452	2, 534	1,031	8	1,589	513	144	42, 271
Original review								282
a b b b b b b b b b b								
Grand total								42, 553
Total cases considered								20, 944
Ratio of actions to cases								2.03

TABLE 52.—Analysis of actions taken on cases disposed of by Board of Veterans' Appeals, July 3, 1937, through July 2, 1938 .

Adjusted compensation:	Page
Action taken on applications to June 30, 1938, table 33	76
Applications by fiscal years, table 32	76
Dependency death claims awarded on account of, number and amount	
of table 34	77
Admissions, hospital and domiciliary:	10 19
Analysis of there is a set of the set time of notions table 6	45
By beneficiary, groups of hospitals, and type of patient, table 6 By branch of service, type of patient, sex, and color, table 7	46
By fiscal years, 1920–38, table 5	44
Age, average, of veterans receiving monetary benefits, by wars, table 24	70
Allied veterans:	-
Admissions to hospitals, by groups of hospitals, and type of patient,	
table 6	45
Remaining under hospitalization, by groups of hospitals and type of	
patient, table 8	47
Appeals (see also table 52)	41
Appropriations:	81
Analysis of obligations from all, by purpose, table 41	83
And other receipts versus disbursements to June 30, 1938, table 42 Beds, hospital and domiciliary—existing and development of—under	00
present appropriations, table 50.	111
Civilian Conservation Corps (see also tables 6 and 8)	7
Clinical laboratory tests and X-ray examinations for fiscal years 1924-38,	
table 1	43
Colored beneficiaries (see also tables 7 and 10) 9, 10,	11, 12
Compensation:	
Death:	
Analysis of	22
Awards, active:	54
At end of each fiscal year, 1918–38, table 13 Average annual value at end of each fiscal year, 1918–38,	71
table 14	58
By general laws and special acts, table 15	59
By kind of claim table 20	64
By relationship to veterans, tables 26 and 27	71
Terminated, number and reason for termination, table 30	74
Disability	
Analysis of	17
Awards active:	54
At end of each fiscal year, 1918–38, table 13	04
Average annual value at end of each fiscal year 1918-38,	58
table 14 By kind of claim, table 20	64
Comparative analysis of type of major disability, by extent,	01
at end of each fiscal year, 1923-38, table 16	60
Reted on temporary basis, showing number of dependents,	
and additional compensation received, table 18	64
Showing degree of impairment and extent of disability cor-	
related, with classification of major disability, table 17	62
Terminated, number and reason for termination, table $25_{}$	70
Construction:	
Expenditures and obligations for individual projects, March 3, 1919,	114
to date, table 51	117
present appropriations, table 50	111
Hospital and domiciliary, future	14
month and dominimaly received a second second second	

.

123

.....

Costs, operating, hospital and domiciliary	Page 15
Deaths:	10
In hospitals during year	11
In homes during year Dental activities (see also tables 3 and 4)	12 16
Dispursements:	10
All wars, table 43	86
Appropriations and other receipts versus, to June 30, 1938, table 42	83
All wars, table 43. Appropriations and other receipts versus, to June 30, 1938, table 42. Fiscal year 1938, by type of benefit and States, table 44.	93
Fiscal year 1938, by type of benefit, United States possessions and foreign countries, table 45	101
Discharges:	101
Domiciliary care	12
Hospital Results of treatment and type of patient, table 12	10
Results of treatment and type of patient, table 12	53
Dividends, United States Government life insurance Domiciliary:	28
Care (see also admissions, discharges, and remaining)	11
Facilities:	11
Available June 30, 1938	13
Existing and development of, under present appropriations, table 50	
Expenditures and obligations for construction of, table 51	111
Operating costs. (See Costs, operating, hospital and domicili-	114
arv .)	
Total authorizations and appropriations for, since February	
1919 Emergency officers. (See Retirement of.)	13
Emergency officers. (See Retirement of.) Examinations:	
Medical and dental salary and fee table 4	
	44 16
X-ray, fiscal years, 1924-38, table 1 Expenditures for all purposes, fiscal year 1938 Facilities, hospital and domiciliary (see also tables 50 and 51)	43
Expenditures for all purposes, fiscal year 1938	30
Facilities, nospital and domiciliary (see also tables 50 and 51)	13
Finance 9, 10,	11, 12
Analysis of reported oppositions from all appropriations by numbers	30
IISCAL VEAF LYAA, TADIE 41	81
Appropriations and other receipts versus dispursements table 19	83
DY SUBJES BUG LYDE OF DEDETT, TISCAL VEAR 1938 toble AA	93
By United States possessions and foreign countries, and type of benefit, table 45	104
Disbursements for all wars, table 43 Policy loans, United States Government life-insurance fund, fiscal year 1938, table 46 Statement of United States Covernment life income for bl	101 86
Policy loans, United States Government life-insurance fund, fiscal	00
year 1938, table 46	105
dar years, table 47	106
Admitted, analysis of (see also tables 5, 6, and 7)	10
	10
Remaining, analysis of (see also tables 8 9 10 and 11)	
	10
Guardianship Action in connection with accounts of fiduciaries, etc., table 49	40
Incompetent and minor wards under, table 48	109 108
nospital lacinties:	108
Available June 30, 1938	13
Existing and development of, under present appropriations, table 50_ Expenditures and obligations for construction of, table 51	111
VICIALLIA CUSIS. UNER COSIS, ODERSTING DOSDITAL and dominitians)	114
10131 SULDOFIZSTIONS and appropriations for since February 1010	13
Hospitalization. (See Admissions, discharges, remaining, and turn-over.)	10

:

•

ĵ

Insurance:
Activities
Applications for Claims:
Converted (see also table 35)
Death, awarded and terminated, converted insurance, calendar
year 1937, by plan of insurance, table 38
Term and automatic (see also table 35)
Death and disability awards:
Active, term and automatic, as of June 30, 1938, table 36
By fiscal years, 1918–38, table 35
Terminated, term and automatic, by number and reason for termi-
nation, table 37
Dividends paid Financial statement of United States Government life-insurance fund
Financial statement of United States Government life-insurance fund
by calendar years, origin of fund to December 31, 1937, table 47
Government life policy loans, table 46
In force (see also tables 39 and 40)
Policies:
By plan of insurance
Issued
Surrendered for cash and paid-up insurance
Laboratory tests, clinical, table 1
Legal activities:
Guardianship (see also tables 48 and 49)
Interpretative law:
Civil litigation
Criminal prosecution
Affecting World War dependents
Public, No. 288, amending the Adjusted Compensation Payment
Act relative to the disposition of certain veterans' estates
Public, No. 304, liberalizing the provisions of existing laws govern-
ing service-connected benefits for World War veterans and their
dependents, and for other purposes
Public, No. 338, extending time for naturalization of alien veterans
and extending the same privileges to certain veterans of coun-
tries allied with the United States during the World War
Public, No. 354, Third Deficiency Act. 1937, appropriating funds
for the payment of judgments and authorized claims against the
Veterans' Administration
Public, No. 355, granting increased pensions to certain Indian War
veterans
Public, No. 357, affording protection for pension benefits to peacetime
veterans placed on the pension rolls after March 19, 1933
Public, No. 434, authorizing the Administrator to make payments in
accordance with judgments rendered on yearly renewable term
insurance.
Public, No. 440, First Deficiency Appropriation Act, fiscal year 1938,
appropriating funds for the payment of judgments and authorized claims against the Veterans' Administration
Public No 404 transforming 22 cores of the Dark Miles Miles
Public, No. 494, transferring 23 acres of the Fort Miley Military Reservation to the Veterans' Administration Public, No. 510, establishing November 11th each year as a legal
Public No 510 establishing November 11th each year of a logal
holiday
Public, No. 514, liberalizing the provisions of Public, No. 484, Seventy-
third Congress, as amended, and defining the terms "widow of a
World War veteran"
Public, No. 534, appropriating funds for administration, medical,
hospital, and domiciliary services; printing and binding; for the
payment of retirement pay: military and payal insurance; ad-
justed service and dependent pay
Public, No. 541, granting pensions and increases of pensions to certain
soldiers, sailors, and nurses of the War with Spain, the Philippine
Insurrection, or the China Relief Expedition, and for other purposes.

Legislation, new-Continued.	Page
Public, No. 648, amending Veterans Regulation No. 10-Series with	
respect to the definition of disease or injury in line of duty and	
mission dust disability	36
Public Resolution No. 122, "Work Relief and Public Works Appro-	
priation Act of 1938" relative to employment of veterans and appro-	36
priation of funds for Federal construction projects Public, No. 697, granting honorable discharges to members of the	30
Navy and Marine Corps who enlisted between April 21, 1898, and	
July 4, 1902, who were discharged for fraudulent enlistment on	
account of minority or misrepresentation of age if the service was	
otherwise honorable	37
Public, No. 723, Second Deficiency Appropriation Act, fiscal year	
1938, appropriating funds for the payment of judgments and author-	37
ized claims against the Veterans' Administration Public, No. 732, extending the benefits for peacetime service connected	94
disability or death in line of duty to include members of the Naval	
Reserve and Marine Corps Reserve	37
Public, No. 734, facilitating the disposition of property left by de-	
ceased veterans on premises used as Veterans' Administration	
facilities	37
Public, No. 758, providing for dependents of members of the armed	
forces who served prior to April 21, 1898, at the rates provided by	90
Paragraph III, Part II, Veterans Regulation No. 1—Series Public, No. 774, providing for a national cemetery in every State and	38
authorizing the Secretary of War to accept donations of sites	38
Neuropsychiatric patients:	00
Admitted, analysis of (see also tables 5, 6, and 7)	10
Discharged, analysis of (see also table 12)	10
Remaining analysis of (see also tables 8, 9, 10, and 11)	. 9
Turn-over rate for	10
Organization, merger of field activities	$\frac{2}{16}$
Out-patient relief (see also tables 2, 3, and 4)	10
Patients. (See Admissions, discharges, turn-over, and remaining.)	
Pensions: Average annual value of, for each war and all wars, 1910-38, table 14	58
Civil War (see also tables 13, 14, and 15):	
Dependents	22
Veterans	17
Disbursements for, during 1938:	93
By States, table 44 By United States possessions and foreign countries, table 45	101
Indian wars (see also tables 13, 14, and 15):	101
Dependents	23
Veterans	18
Marian War (see also tables 13, 14, and 15)	22
Pensioners on roll by wars and type of benefit at end of each fiscal	
year, 1910-38, table 13	54
Regular establishment (see also tables 13, 14, 15, 20, 23, 24, 25, 29,	
and 30): Dependents	24
Veterans	21
Veterans	
29, and 30):	-
Dependents	23
Veterans	18 59
Under general laws and special and public acts, table 15 War of 1812 (see also tables 13, 14, and 15)	22
World War (see also tables 13, 14, 15, 19, 20, 24, 25 and 30)	21
Permanent and total disability-not of service origin	7
Porsonnal activities	42
Rating policy	6
Remaining:	
Patients and domiciliary members: Analysis of	9, 11
Analysis of By class and type of beneficiary and groups of hospitals, table 8	47
By say and color and fiscal years, table 10	$\overline{52}$
By State location of facility and veterans' State of residence,	
table 9	48

ų

Retirement of emergency officers of the World War: Active awards at end of each fiscal year, 1929-38, table 13 Analysis of	Page 54 25
Average annual value at end of each fiscal year, 1929-38, table 14	58
Organization and rank of those retired with pay, table 31	75
Sex and color of veterans admitted for or remaining under hospital treat- ment or domiciliary care, by branch of service and type of patient.	
	46, 52
Treatments:	, -
In-patient. (See Admissions, discharges, and remaining.)	
Out-patient (see also tables 2 and 3)	16
Tubercular patients:	
Admitted, analysis of (see also tables 5, 6, and 7)	10
Discharged, analysis of (see also table 12)	10
Remaining, analysis of (see also tables 8, 9, 10, and 11)	- 9
Turn-over rate for	10
Turn-over, rate of, in hospitals	ĨÕ
Wards, incompetent and minor, under guardianship, table 48 Women beneficiaries. (See Female beneficiaries.)	108
X-ray examinations, table 1	43

Ο

.

127

• .

• .

• .